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d
FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LIEMBRE

Year ended December 31,

HZN2ANBLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 2024F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
REVENUE (VPN 980,643 1,172,182 1,194,209 1,371,805 1,610,867
Gross profit =5 330,180 374,167 361,664 417,399 463,725
PROFIT BEFORE TAX A0 8 61,180 59,445 35421 30,633 105,367
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfisEe (BH) (6,970) 4,267) (20) 587 (3,406)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 54,210 55,178 35,401 31,220 101,961
Attributable to: BN :
Earnings attributable to Owners BBEBRARAES
of the Company AR & 54,210 55,178 35,401 31,220 101,961
Basic and diluted (RMB) HAR#E
(AR¥%TT) 067 0.67 011 0.09 0.29
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204F 20214 20224F 20234 20245
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR TT ARBETT AR¥TR
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE 1,674,443 1,889,224 2,026,436 2301269 2,887,759
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE 500,649 669,909 636,054 846,502 893,477
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE 801,919 818,594 903,435 1117290 1,394,912
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE 689,612 876,479 859,594 953692 1,207,574
NET ASSETS EEFRE 683,561 864,060 899,461 1,076,789 1,178,750
EQUITY g
Equity attributable to Owners BERAATRE
of the Company A B 5 683,561 864,060 899,461 1,076,789 1,178,750

—ZPUEELR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERHRE

Hou Zekuan

L oo =

®mEE

Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board

HITESREFE

NG

Dear all Shareholders,

I'would like to present the annual report of the Group for the fiscal year 2024 to all
Shareholders on behalf of the Board of FOLANGSI CO,, LTD.

“Excellence is our eternal pursuit; innovation is our unwavering
commitment. We have earned a good reputation with professionalism
and established a distinguished brand with quality. Our continuously
upgraded service network and expanding operational asset portfolio
will help FOLANGSI stride towards the global stage, allowing the world
to witness the outstanding quality of Chinese services.”

REVIEW OF 2024

In 2024, we made breakthrough progress by adhering to the philosophy of
“excellence and innovation, professionalism and quality” and being guided
by the three major strategies of “empowering service network, diversifying
service offerings, and internationalization”, propelling the Company to achieve

eye-catching results in 2024:
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Effectiveness of the strategic layout was remarkable

In terms of empowering service network, we have effectively promoted the
expansion of our service network through diversified methods such as equity
acquisitions, asset mergers and acquisitions, and empowerment partnerships.
By continuously optimizing our network structure and integrating high-quality
resources in the industry, we have not only improved our service response time
and customer satisfaction, but also further optimized our customer ecosystem,
with our customer base covering more benchmark companies in the industry;

In terms of diversifying service offerings, we have continued to enrich our
equipment offerings, successfully expanding emerging intralogistics equipment
such as electric loaders, forging a new engine for performance growth, and
creating a full range of intralogistics equipment solutions to satisfy customers’
diversified needs;

In terms of internationalization layout, we have taken Hong Kong as our
business fulcrum to steadily advance our globalization process, striving to make

our cost-effective products and services available to the global market.

Operational results reached a new high

1. Operational results reached a new high, with both
revenue and profit achieving leapfrog growth

The double-digit growth in revenue throughout the year 2024 fully reflected
the strong market competitiveness and development potential of the
Company. At the same time, the profitability of the Company has achieved
a breakthrough on all fronts, with all profitability indicators reaching record
highs. The net profit increased by more than 200% year-on-year, and
return on equity (ROE) increased by more than 180% year-on-year, which
fully demonstrated the continuous enhancement of the profitability of
the Company. The achievement of these results is inseparable from the
Company'’s precise grasp of market demand, strict control over product
quality, and meticulous management of operating costs. Meanwhile, the
business of each segment has shown a balanced development trend, laying

a solid foundation for the long-term development of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEW|E

2.

The management scale of intralogistics equipment has
exceeded 56,000 units, with the winning of a bid for big
orders of 1,000 units

A new breakthrough was achieved in the intralogistics equipment
subscription business, with the scale of equipment managed by the
Company successfully exceeding 56,000 units in 2024. Additionally, we have
successfully won a large-scale subscription order of over 1,000 units from
a leading enterprise in the food industry, further consolidating our leading
market position in the sector. Our continuously optimized service model
provided customers with more flexible and efficient equipment solutions,
aiming to meet the diverse needs of different customers and ensure their
lasting satisfaction and loyalty to our services.

Successfully acquired Nichiyu (Shanghai), achieving brand
synergy and customer resource sharing

The mergers and acquisitions as well as integration achieved initial results.
During the year, we successfully acquired the entire shareholding of the
premium forklift brand, Nichiyu (Shanghai), which marked an important
milestone in the development of the Company. The rich and high-quality
international customer resources of Nichiyu (Shanghai) have formed a strong
synergy with our existing service system, which has not only enhanced
the Company’s market position and branding effectiveness, but also
expanded our asset scale and customer coverage, effectively boosting the

improvement of the future brand strengthen of the Company.

Innovation-driven development continued to deepen

We have continued to deepen our efforts in the fields of technological innovation

and digital operations. We have also steadfastly adhered to an innovation-driven

development strategy, increasing our investment in new technologies such as

loT, big data, and cloud computing. This commitment has driven the Company’s

process of digital operation, enabling real-time monitoring and remote system

management of intralogistics equipment. Through the analysis and application

of big data, we have effectively enhanced equipment operational efficiency,

improved customer experience, and safeguarded equipment operation safety.
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In 2024, through the continuous investment in new technologies and
independent research and development, we obtained new authorization for
over 20 core intellectual property rights, which has built a wider moat for our
technological innovation, provided strong legal protection for our brand building,
and forged stronger core competitiveness for our market expansion.

OUTLOOK FOR 2025

“Seizing the Momentum, Advancing with Resolve, and Collaborating for
New Achievements”

Looking ahead to 2025, we will upgrade our development strategy, adjust our
operating strategies, and continue to deepen innovation. We strive to achieve
sustained growth in the Company’s revenue and profits, while actively fulfilling
our social responsibilities to propel the Company toward new glories.

Strategic Upgrade

In 2025, we will sharpen our international perspective and accelerate our shift to
a light-asset model grounded in the “separation of three rights”, and build a new
“platform + service” business model. We will deepen digital empowerment to
build an intelligent operation and management platform, aiming to implement
the Company’s strategic upgrade with the development strategy of “building
a world leading high-dimensional shared ecosystem for B2B industrial and
intralogistics equipment”.

The light-asset operation model after transformation, founded on the separation
of "ownership, management rights and right of use”, will unlock and highlight
the Company’s strong core strengths in operating and managing assets. By
entrusting asset operation, the Company’s development will break free from

structural constraints, enabling faster and scale growth of the Company.
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Operation Strategy

1.

Steady Growth — Optimize Business Structure, Expand
Platform Business and Promote New Product Categories

We will solidify and expand existing businesses to capture greater market
share. Investments in subscription, maintenance and repair services, and
equipment sales business will refine our business mix and boost profitability.
Additionally, we will actively drive new business development, particularly in
platform business, by evolving the platform merchant model to adapt swiftly
to market demands and rapidly expanding business scale. With respect
to the electric loader business, the Company has established a dedicated
electric loader business division to drive its development, intensifying
marketing efforts and enhancing product competitiveness to fuel rapid
expansion and provide strong support for the overall performance growth
of the Company.

Strengthen Internal Controls — Improve Risk Control
System to Ensure Compliance

Robust internal controls are essential to the Company’s long-term
development. In 2025, we will further refine our internal control system,
reinforce risk and compliance management, and establish and improve
internal control policies and processes. Heightened scrutiny of critical areas
such as finance, procurement and sales will prevent operation risks, and
ensure that all the Company’s business management activities are legal,
compliant and orderly.

Enhance Service — Establish Quick Response Mechanisms
to Improve Customer Experience

Service is one of our core competencies. Guided by our service philosophy
of “customer first”, we will empower our service team, streamline service
processes to establish quick response mechanisms. By exploring innovative
service approaches, we aim to constantly solidify our service foundation and
improve service levels, and deliver high-quality, efficient, attentive services

that deepens customer loyalty.
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4. Strengthen Organization — Optimize Organization
Structure to Enhance Operation Efficiency

Our organization and systems underpin our development. In the coming
year, we will further refine our organization structure, optimize personnel
allocation, clarify departmental responsibilities and authorities, and enhance
inter-departmental collaboration to improve organization efficiency.

Fulfilling Social Responsibility

The Company will remain dedicated to its corporate social responsibilities,
strengthening corporate culture building, and nurturing a positive, cohesive and
collaborative corporate culture that strengthens employee engagement and
unity. We will also advance a circular economy model and practice sustainable,
recyclable development principles by increasing investment in energy-saving
renewable products and green remanufacturing technologies.

Commitment to Shareholder Returns

We will adhere to the principle of “maximizing shareholder interests”, keep
optimizing our capital structure, maintain prudent operating strategies and
reasonable dividend policies to create long-term value for Shareholders.

Looking forward, we will uphold our operating philosophy of “innovation-driven,
quality-first, customer-centric”, striving to build a world-leading high-dimensional
shared ecosystem for B2B industrial and logistics equipment that creates lasting
value for Shareholders, customers, employees and society.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere greetings and
highest respect to all the hardworking employees of FOLANGSI over the past
year and to the families who stand behind them! | also would like to extend my
heartfelt gratitude and best wishes to government departments at all levels, the
Shareholders, customers, suppliers, partners and friends from all walks of life who
have long cared for and supported the development of FOLANGSI!

Hou Zekuan
Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board

Guangzhou City, the PRC, March 19, 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB 5w AT

MARKET OVERVIEW

In 2024, the intralogistics equipment solutions industry was poised to embrace
new opportunities and challenges, driven by favorable policies and growing
market demand, as there was an urgent need to improve efficiency in China’s
logistics sector. In 2021, the ratio of China's social logistics costs to its GDP
stood at 14.6%, which was significantly higher than the 8.3% and 5.7% of the
United States and Japan, respectively. Such a gap indicates substantial room for
improvement in reducing social logistical costs and enhancing the efficiency of

logistical resource utilization in China.

Favorable policies driving demand for intralogistics
equipment solutions

In 2024, the National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry
of Transport of PRC continued the policy outlined in the National Logistical
Hubs Layout and Construction Plan issued in 2018, and proposed at the Central
Economic Work Conference to implement a special initiative to reduce overall
social logistics costs, aiming to establish approximately 150 national logistical
hubs by 2025 and lower the ratio of total social logistical costs to GDP to
around 12%. Such policy support has injected strong momentum into the
logistical industry, encouraging enterprises to adopt intelligent and centralized
management strategies to reduce logistical costs. Against such a backdrop,
both logistical and industrial enterprises were witnessing a significant increase
in demand for intralogistics equipment solutions, particularly for intelligent
devices and centralized management systems, which presented new market
opportunities for providers of intralogistics equipment solutions.

Diversification of intralogistics equipment solutions

The sustained high level of China’s logistical index indicates robust demand
for logistical services. Intralogistics equipment solutions help logistical and
industrial enterprises optimize resource allocation and reduce operational costs
by providing them with specialized equipment and services, thus driving the

development of the industry.
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Demand for intelligent devices: The accelerating pace of informatization and
intelligentization across various industries has led to the widespread adoption
of advanced technologies in daily operations. In the intralogistics sector, the
innovative application of intelligent technologies has significantly improved
equipment utilization efficiency. The rapid development of loT technology has
further enhanced operational efficiency, enabling real-time monitoring and
management of more devices, thus optimizing resource allocation. These trends
have led to a consistent increase in demand for intelligent equipment among
logistical and industrial enterprises, as they strive to establish a competitive
edge. For providers of intralogistics equipment solutions, integrating loT
technology into their solutions and promoting device intelligence have become
key strategies to enhance their core competitiveness. Through continuous
technological innovation and service optimization, they can not only meet the
growing demand for intelligent solutions but also secure a leading position in
a highly competitive market. Moving forward, intelligence will remain a critical
driver for intralogistics equipment solutions, helping solution providers achieve
efficient, precise, and sustainable operations.

Diversification of equipment types: In line with national policies aimed
at reducing overall logistics costs, enterprises are increasingly turning to third-
party intralogistics equipment solutions to lower operational expenses, while
relentlessly improving the efficiency of their own intralogistics operations.
Intralogistics equipment is characterized by high procurement costs, intensive
maintenance requirements, strong professional expertise, and significant
management challenges, which pose hurdles for enterprises attempting to build
their own logistics equipment systems. Third-party intralogistics equipment
solution providers, leveraging their professionalism and economies of scale, offer
comprehensive and efficient equipment and service support, which not only
lessens the complexity of equipment usage and management but also reduces
the need for significant asset investments. By accelerating the integration of social
logistics equipment supply chains, third-party providers can significantly enhance
resource utilization efficiency while aligning with national policy directives.
As demand for intralogistics equipment solutions grows across industries,
diversification of equipment types will emerge as a key development direction
for solution providers. To remain competitive, they must expand their range of
equipment offerings and optimize their services to meet the diverse needs of
clients, thereby contributing to the reduction of social logistics costs and the

improvement of resource utilization efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Expansion of equipment management and maintenance market: \\ith
the rapid development of the logistical and industrial sectors, enterprises
need to acquire a large amount of intralogistics equipments to meet their
growing operational demands. However, such equipments require not only
regular examination and maintenance but also continuous technical upgrades
and optimization to adapt to diverse operational scenarios and increasing
efficiency requirements. Due to the high level of professionalism in equipment
management and maintenance, enterprises often face challenges such as high
maintenance costs, difficulty in management, and delayed technological updates
when maintaining the equipments by their own. Therefore, an increasing number
of enterprises are turning to professional logistics equipment solutions to
alleviate their burdens and enhance operational efficiency, which has generated
strong market demand for third-party intralogistics equipment solution
providers. Equipment owners can entrust their equipments to professional
providers for full-lifecycle management, including services such as equipment
monitoring, regular inspection, daily maintenance, and technical upgrades. Such
an entrusted operation and management model not only ensures that their
equipments remain in optimal operating conditions but also significantly reduces
management costs and labor inputs. By entrusting equipment management
to professional companies, equipment owners can allocate more resources to
their core businesses, thereby improving their overall operational efficiency and
market competitiveness. Professional equipment management service providers,
leveraging their extensive industry experience and technological advantages,
can tailor efficient management solutions for customers, ensuring optimal
equipment performance and operational safety. This service model not only
achieves optimal resource allocation but also provides enterprises with enhanced
competitiveness and sustainable development potential. As market demand for
equipment management services continues to grow, this sector will become an
indispensable part of the logistical industry, driving it in the direction of more
intelligent, professional, and efficient development.

With the increasing demand for intelligent equipments and equipment
management services, the intralogistics equipment solution industry is expected
to experience further consolidation and unprecedented opportunities. The
Company takes a positive view of this trend and believes that by continuously
innovating and optimizing its services, it can provide customers with more
efficient solutions, thereby enhancing its own competitiveness. We are confident
that, as the industry’s intelligent transformation accelerates, the Company will
meet with greater development opportunities in future markets and inject strong

momentum into the transformation and upgrade of the entire logistical industry.
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GROUP OVERVIEW

We are a leading intralogistics equipment solution provider in China. We take
“improving asset utilization and saving social resources” as our mission. Focusing
on intralogistics equipment subscription services, we strive to provide enterprises
with one-stop solutions for intralogistics equipment utilization and management.
We provide services that span the entire lifecycle of intralogistics equipment,
including equipment subscription, repair and maintenance, and disposal. In
2024, we adhere to our three major development strategies of “Empowering
Service Network, Diversifying Service Offerings, Internationalization” to further
consolidate our established leading market position. In 2024, we achieved notable
success in finance as a result of our stable business expansion in conjunction with

improvement of our operation capability and scope.

“Empowering service network”

In 2024, with the development strategy of “Empowering Service Network” at our
core, we actively expanded our service network through diversified approaches
including acquisition of equity interests in other companies, purchase of assets, as
well as empowering partnerships. As of December 31, 2024, we have established
85 offline service outlets in 48 cities across China, managing over 56,000 units of
intralogistics equipment.

The effective layout of the empowering service network strategy accelerates the
expansion of our service network and asset scale, significantly enhancing our
profitability. In particular, the acquisition of Nichiyu (Shanghai) has introduced a
well-regarded high-end brand in the industry to the Company, bringing about
significant brand synergies, thereby enhancing the Company’s market influence.
On the other hand, Nichiyu (Shanghai)’s service team possesses excellent
electric vehicle maintenance capabilities, which benefits us in multiple way
by enhancing and optimizing our service system through improving service
experience, boosting operation efficiency and driving technological innovation,
which in turn facilitates the Company to secure a more advantageous position
in the equipment service field. Moreover, Nichiyu (Shanghai) has an established
high-end clientele comprising over a thousand customers, this has effectively
optimized our customer ecosystem and has bolstered our capabilities for
future business expansion and capturing market opportunities, enhancing the
stability and risk resilience of our business, thereby promoting the sustainable
development of our Company.

The service network enhancement, the service efficiency improvement, the
synergistic effect between our brands, the customer ecosystem optimization and
the asset scale expansion collectively drive the continuous enhancement of the
Company's market position.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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“Diversifying service offerings”

In 2024, the second growth curve of the Company has emerged with significant
growth. In its initial year of launch, the electric loader business marked the
beginning of a dynamic new journey with remarkable momentum.

New product recorded a notable achievement in the first year
of launch

The fleet size of the new product line has been rapidly increasing and
our market share in the relevant market has also been expanding quickly,
demonstrating our strong brand influence and market development
capabilities.

With the achievement of revenue of over a million with a relatively higher
gross profit, the new electric loader business division has contributed to the
profit of the Company considerably, and has served as a new driver of the
Company's business growth, further enhancing its profitability.

The successful launch of the electronic loader business
division opens up a market with tremendous development
potentials

Broad market prospect: With the tightening of environmental policies and
the advancement of the “Dual Carbon” target, the market demand for
electric engineering machinery is expecting exponential growth, signifying
immense market potential in the future.

Significant synergy: The Company’s extensive experience in equipment
operation and management, along with its professional service team, is
applicable to electric loaders, enabling it to provide customers with efficient
and convenient one-stop services to safeguard their interests. Meanwhile,
the Company is actively diversifying its business offerings, thereby realizing
cross-selling opportunities and enhance profitability.

Clear strategic layout: The Company has been constantly increasing
its investment in its business, expanding the rental fleet scale under
its management, optimizing its service network, striving to establish a
nationwide platform for electric loader equipment services.
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“Internationalization”

In 2024, we established Folangsi (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (“Folangsi Hong
Kong") and streamlined our business processes. Looking forward, Hong Kong
will act as a pivot to steadily advance the Company’s globalization initiatives,
particularly for our core business, the subscription services. We are committed to

bringing Chinese services to the global market.

Through proactive expansion into overseas emerging markets and reinforcing
our presence in the international market, particularly those countries supported
by the national “Belt and Road” initiative, the revenue contribution derived from
newly emerged markets has accounted for over 50% in the increment in revenue
of our international business in 2024. Meanwhile, our business model has been
constantly evolving, from merely a component trading business, gradually
transforming to a comprehensive overseas service solution provider who offers
“Component + Machinery + Services” solution packages. We have achieved
exceptional results through tapping into the overseas machinery trading, and has
recorded over ten million revenue therefrom, which fully demonstrates positive
reception of our cost-effective products in the international market, laying a

strong foundation for our internationalization development initiative.

Echoing national policies and driving green development
through innovation, the equipment remanufacturing factory
has entered full-scale production

The Central Economic Working Conference took place from December 11, 2024
to December 12, 2024, during which a special action to reduce logistics costs
across society was proposed, while we have consistently prioritized innovation
as a core driver, actively responding to national policies and dedicating to the
green circular economy with concept of environmentally friendly development.
These efforts have been focused on lowering social logistics handling costs. In
2024, our equipment remanufacturing factory achieved full-scale production,
demonstrating strong development momentum and outstanding market

competitiveness.
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force promoting green transformation of the industry BEE

The deep remanufacturing industry has emerged as a driving

18

The annual production volume of deep remanufacturing equipment
has exceeded 2,000 units, recording a year-on-year increase of 85% and
achieving rapid growth. This has further driven the continuous growth of
our Company's market share and strengthened our leading market position.

The variety of deep remanufacturing equipment has continued to
increase, diversifying from counterbalanced forklifts to walkie stackers, with
a more complete product portfolio, the Company is capable of meeting
customers’ diverse demands, thereby significantly strengthening our market
competitiveness.

The deep remanufacturing equipment exhibits exceptional
performance in functionality with reliable quality that is comparable
to brand-new equipment. This offers customers a cost-effective choice,
effectively reducing equipment engagement and management costs, and is
highly favored in the market.

Component remanufacturing has achieved growth in multiple
dimensions, creating a new model for the circular economy

Component remanufacturing experienced extensive growth in multiple
dimension, including product portfolio diversification and enhancement
in processing capabilities, covering products from electronic control units,
driver units, electrical appliances, electrical motors, attachments, door frame
and other core components. The annual remanufactured components
volume surpassed 20,000 units, representing a year-on-year increase of 54%,
which enriched our product offerings and significantly strengthened our
market competitiveness.

With high-quality and reliable performance, our remanufactured
components significantly extend equipment lifespan, lower equipment
maintenance costs, support the growth of the circular economy, and
generate notable social benefits.
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Innovation drives cost reduction and efficiency enhancement,
enabling remanufacturing processes achieving an industry-
leading level

By continuously increasing investment and optimizing remanufacturing
processes to improve efficiency and product quality, the Company can
provide robust technical support for the sustainable development of
remanufacturing business. In particular, the refined remanufacturing
processes have led to a nearly 10% reduction in remanufacturing costs,
resulting in a significant boost to profitability.

The full-scale production of the equipment remanufacturing factory is
a key milestone in the Company'’s pursuit of green development and the
advancement of the circular economy. In the future, the Company will
continue to adhere to innovation-driven development, continuously
improving the remanufacturing capabilities to offer customers better
products and services, and make greater contributions to the green
development of the industry and the realization of the national “Dual
Carbon” target.

Strategy Enhancement

Intralogistics equipment has long been associated with inherent challenges
such as high acquisition and maintenance costs, technical complexity, and
management difficulties. However, most companies are not experts in
intralogistics equipments, they may need assistance in equipment monitoring,
inspection, maintenance and operation. As a result, it is difficult for enterprises
to obtain satisfactory services from traditional service providers that offer
equipments with limited maintenance support. Our comprehensive “Equipment +
Platform + Service” intralogistics equipment solution provides flexible
subscription solutions, covering equipment assembling, operational guidance,
regular maintenance and real-time monitoring, to help customers reduce costs
on fixed asset procurement and subsequent maintenance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

In 2025, we implement a strategic upgrading by introducing the operation
concept of acting as an “intralogistics equipment management platform
provider”, allowing our "Platform + Service” model to extend beyond our own
equipments, enabling equipment proprietors with relevant equipments to
entrust us with its operation. Through our platform, the Company can provide
professional equipment operation and management services to a wide range of
customers, which expands the application scenarios of platform on the basis of
our existing product portfolio.

This shift in market positioning not only rapidly expands the scale of equipment
asset managed by the Company, it effectively achieves a light-asset operating
model, and also broadens our business scope, extending our service offerings
from providing intralogistics equipment solutions for customers who have
demand for equipment subscription, to offering service solutions to forklift
manufacturers who look to upgrade their equipments and asset owners who
have demand for equipment management services. Upon transformation and
upgrading of our operating model, this light-asset operating approach effects the
separation of “ownership, management rights, and right-of-use” of assets, making
that the "ownership” of intralogistics equipment no longer hinders our business
expansion, allowing us to serve customers in a more flexible manner and creating
a new service scope and profit model of our intelligent asset operation and
management system. This new operating model is expected to serve as one of
the key drivers of our future business growth, further facilitating us to deepen
our market penetration in the intralogistics equipment service market and
consolidating our leading market position.

Our successful listing of shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since
November 2023 has contributed capital power to the Company for development,
and our strong financial performance in 2024 delivered an impressive answer to
our investors for their trust. In the future, the Company will continue to optimize
capital structure, maintain a prudent business strategy, review operational policies
and development strategies in due course, seize new business opportunities
and achieve comprehensive development. Our ambition is to take our business
to new heights and realise the development strategy of “building a world-
leading high-dimensional shared ecosystem for B2B industrial and intralogistics

equipment”.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Our Business Model and Service Offerings

Our intralogistics equipment solutions comprise the following three business
segments during the Reporting Period:

Intralogistics Equipment Subscription Services: We provide
intralogistics equipment to customers for their usage with value-added
services, including but not limited to, equipment selection, on-site operation
training, general and necessary maintenance and repair, and real-time
monitoring of equipment status and operation through our Intelligent
Asset and Operation Management Platform. In managing this business
segment, we charge customers services fees mainly based on types and
configurations of equipment selected, duration they use the subscribed
intralogistics equipment, and customization of related services (if applicable).

Maintenance and Repair Services: In this business segment, we
generate revenue from providing on-site maintenance and repair services
to customers for their intralogistics equipment. We charge fees either on
project basis for one-off repair services, or based on service plans where
we charge fees on monthly basis for certain contract period covering
equipment specified in the relevant agreement.

Sales of Intralogistics Equipment and Parts: \We sell new intralogistics
equipment and parts to enterprises in China and abroad; and used
intralogistics equipment to enterprises in China. We conduct sales through
our own sales team directly to end customers. We had a broad range
of customers, such as manufacturers, logistics companies, and trading
companies, with intralogistics need, including movement of heavy goods

and material in indoor and limited outdoor spaces.

As the intralogistics equipment solution market expands, we will continuously
seek to further distinguish ourselves from other industry players in future by
progressively optimizing the supply, allocation and full lifecycle management
of assets, driving the efficiency, quality and power reform in both upstream
and downstream, as well as advocating for sustainable development and the
sharing economy. As such, we aim to establish a solid foundation for our Group's
success in the long run so as to remain competitive in the rapidly-evolving field of
business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Our Technology

We consider technology capability our key strength to continuously innovate
our service offerings, enhance customers’ experience and optimize operation
efficiency. We have always adhered to innovation-driven development. We have
continuously devoted resources in developing and optimizing our comprehensive
technology platform, namely Intelligent Asset and Operation Management
Platform. This platform enables us to integrate and connect key operating
sectors, as well as assets involved, through which, we have been able to facilitate
an intelligent, efficient and cost-effective management on equipment operation
and utilization, service supervision, as well as asset management. Furthermore,
leveraging this platform, we believe we are able to achieve quick expansion of
our business network across China, as well as management of equipment and

customer portfolio with consistent quality and optimized operational efficiency.

Our Intelligent Asset and Operation Management Platform, consists of (i) loT
Smart Terminals, which consist of sensors, wearable devices, and other smart
hardware serving as gateway for the collection and transmission of information
on equipment status and usage patterns, which lay the foundation for our
efficient business management and customer interaction; (ii) Operating
Information Analysis System, which enables centralized management of
intralogistics equipment and parts, and integrates, processes and analyzes
comprehensive information in relation to our fleet and usage patterns collected
through loT Smart Terminals. This system delivers to us detailed equipment
information at multiple dimensions as well as analytical diagrams designed to
present key operating information of such equipment at multiple dimensions,
based on which, our management may quickly make business decisions in
relation to relevant operation arms on a well-informed basis; and (iii) Information
Management and Application, where we integrate information and analytical
results developed through loT Smart Terminals and Operating Information
Analysis System, to facilitate proper equipment and technician dispatch, remote
control of our equipment, cost-efficient maintenance and repair service plans,

and customization of services, etc.

OUTLOOK

Since its establishment in 2007, the Company has steadily evolved through years
of innovation and development, transforming from a dealer of intralogistics
equipment into a market-leading provider of integrated intralogistics solutions.
This achievement is attributed to the Company’s keen ability to seize market
opportunities, continuously deepened innovation capabilities, and successful
strategic upgrades of key business models during each market uptrend. Looking
ahead, we are committed to our strategic goal of “building a world-leading high-
dimensional shared ecosystem for B2B industrial and intralogistics equipment”
to drive sustainable growth and reach new milestones through the following
strategic initiatives.
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Strategy Upgrade

With the rapidly growing market demand for intralogistics equipment
management services, the Company is taking the lead in introducing the
operational concept of an “intralogistics equipment management platform
provider” in 2025. This strategy enhancement expands our “Platform + Services”
operating model beyond our own equipment, making it accessible to all
equipment holders and enabling them to entrust us with the operation and
management of their equipment. This transformation in our business model
has not only broadened the service scope of our intelligent asset operation
and management system, optimized the Company’s asset structure, and
strengthened its profitability model, but also rapidly expanded our business scale,

which is expected to become a key driver of future financial growth.

In 2025, we will be committed to advancing the above strategy enhancements,
breaking the constraints of intralogistics equipment “ownership” on business
expansion, and providing services to customers in a more flexible manner. At
the same time, through this new model, we can further transform upstream
and downstream players, as well as potential competitors, into partners or even
customers, thereby driving structural innovation in the industrial chain of the
intralogistics equipment integrated solutions market. In conjunction with the
empowering partnership operation model under the "Empowering Service
Network” development strategy launched in 2024, the Company will integrate
its product portfolio, expand customer coverage, increase market penetration,
enhance brand image, and strengthen its market leadership, while simultaneously
reshaping the supply chain ecosystem by building a sustainable, mutually
beneficial, and highly efficient market environment.

“Steady Growth, Strengthen Internal Control, Enhance
Service, and Strengthen Organization” Business Strategy for
Comprehensive Operational Enhancement

In the context of the current complex and volatile economic conditions, we
fully recognize the importance of deepening our expertise, pursuing progress
while ensuring stability, strengthening customer relationships, and enhancing
our organizational framework. To this end, the Company has formulated a
comprehensive business strategy of “Steady Growth, Strengthen Internal Control,
Enhance Service, and Strengthen Organization” aimed at comprehensive
operational enhancement and overall competitiveness improvement.

“Steady Growth’ is at the core of our market-leading position. As a provider
specializing in intralogistics equipment solutions, we will continue to strengthen
our cooperation with logistics and industrial customers to better understand their
needs and provide more targeted solutions. By optimizing our product structure,
expanding our service scope and innovating our service model, we strive to
make steady progress in the market and ensure the continuous growth of our

Company's performance.
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“Strengthen Internal Control’ is an important foundation for the Company's
sustainable development. We will further improve our internal management
system and strengthen the control of key areas such as finance, procurement,
and sales to ensure the efficiency and compliance of our operations. Through
the establishment of a comprehensive internal control system, we will effectively
identify and respond to potential risks, optimize resource allocation, and enhance
overall operational efficiency.

"Enhance Service’ is the key to enhancing customer satisfaction and loyalty.
We will continue to optimize our service system, providing more comprehensive
and professional technical support to ensure that our customers have the best
experience when using our equipment. At the same time, we will place greater
emphasis on customer feedback, continuously improve our rapid response
mechanism, and promptly adjust our service strategy to meet the evolving needs
of our customers.

“Strengthen Organization” is an essential pillar for driving the Company's
growth. We will continue to refine our organizational structure, enhance
collaboration efficiency between departments, and ensure the seamless flow
of information. By building a highly efficient team, we will better respond to
market changes, improve operational efficiency, and strengthen our market

competitiveness.

We firmly believe that through continuous efforts and unwavering dedication,
the Company will achieve even greater heights in the future. We will continuously
enhance our products and services to meet the ever-growing needs of our
customers, providing them with superior solutions. At the same time, we will
actively drive industry progress and innovation, striving to lead market trends.
Through close collaboration with customers and partners, we aim to tackle
challenges together, seize opportunities, and foster the overall development
of the industry. Riding on favorable policies, we are committed to advancing
the national green economy, reaching new milestones, and achieving mutual
success. By contributing more to social and economic development, we move
closer to realizing our vision of “building a world-leading high-dimensional shared

ecosystem for B2B industrial and intralogistics equipment”.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% 5 8
Revenue A

The Group’s revenue primarily came from three business segments: (i) AEBHWAETEREZAEEH I ()HBAY
intralogistics equipment subscription services, where we charge customers fees 7RI AR - MR MR ERLE HEB S
based on the duration they use relevant intralogistics equipment; (i) maintenance ~ AR BRENHARAZLRE : (i) EEEERE -
and repair services, where we provide maintenance and repair services for Bl ARFENSAYRREREEEREERS
customers' intralogistics equipment; and (iii) sales of intralogistics equipment ~ K (i) Z AW R ZEREGHHEE DR MEE2
and parts, where we sell new and used intralogistics equipment as well asrelated  FTR = FIH AW KRR EREEREEARETF

parts that meet customers’ demands. H)ESK o

The following sets forth a breakdown of the Group's revenue from three business 7 £ B 72 & 22024512 A318 1 F & & & Z=2023
segments for the year ended December 31, 2024 and the year ended December ~ F12A3IHIEFERRE = KE B D AU ARA

31,2023: T
|
For the year ended December 31, Year-on-year
BZ12A3MALEE percentage
2024 2023 change
RILLBED T
20244 20234F )
RMB’000 % RMB'000 % %
AR®TR ARBFTT
Intralogistics equipment %N R E] A RS
subscription services 796,049 49.4 766,811 559 3.8
Maintenance and repair HEEERS
services 202,830 12.6 185,818 13.5 9.2
Sales of intralogistics SAYMREEREGEE
equipment and parts 611,988 38.0 419,176 30.6 46.0
Total @t 1,610,867 100.0 1,371,805 100.0 174
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The Group's revenue increased by 17.4% from approximately RMB1,371.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB1,610.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the following reasons:

1. Our revenue from intralogistics equipment subscription services increased
by 3.8% from approximately RMB766.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2023 to approximately RMB796.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2024, primarily due to the business expansion and enhanced operational
capabilities of the Group in 2024, which fostered the Group's subscription
services, thereby gaining further market recognition, driving an increase in
customer coverage, growth in the Company’s managed equipment scale,

and continuous revenue growth;

2. Our revenue from maintenance and repair services increased by 9.2% from
approximately RMB185.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
approximately RMB202.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024,
primarily driven by the continuous accumulation of the Group's service
technology and the expansion of our offline service network, which
facilitated the growth in serviced customers and regional coverage of the
Company, as well as the overall business scale of the Company; and

3. Our revenue from sales of intralogistics equipment and parts increased
by 46.0% from approximately RMB419.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB612.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, primarily driven by the Group’s continuous expansion
of product categories for intralogistics equipment and parts, as well as the
implementation of proactive domestic and international market expansion
strategies, resulting in broader business coverage and higher revenue
growth of the Company.

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales increased by 20.2% from approximately RMB954.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB1,147.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024, which is in line with the growing trend of
the Group's revenue.
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FBFRER=ER

TR AEBRE Z204F02ANBIEFEFER
B E2023FNA3NBLEFENIRWA D EBE 5B
FHREFEAHBEM:

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The table below sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s gross profit and gross
profit margin by revenue segments for the year ended December 31, 2024 and
the year ended December 31, 2023:

|
For the year ended December 31, Year-on-year
BZ12B831ALEE percentage
change of
2024 2023 gross profit
ERNE L
Ekalsd
20245 2023%F )]
Gross Gross
Gross profit Gross profit
profit margin profit margin
ER EFR EM E R E
RMB’000 % RMB'000 % %
AR®TT AREF T
Intralogistics equipment 5 AW &8 5] RS
subscription services 253,303 31.8 238,922 31.2 6.0
Maintenance and repair HEEERS
services 84,526 41.7 76,573 41.2 104
Sales of intralogistics SAYMREEREGEE
equipment and parts 125,896 20.6 101,904 24.3 235
Total #at 463,725 28.8 417,399 304 11

The Group's gross profit increased by 11.1% from approximately RMB417.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB463.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024, which is in line with the growing trend of the
Group's revenue. Meanwhile, the increase in the proportion of the Group’s total
revenue accounted for by sales of intralogistics equipment has led to a slight
decline in the Group’s overall gross profit margin. This is the result of the Group's
optimisation of its business structure and global resource allocation.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by 8.9% from
approximately RMB91.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
approximately RMB99.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily
due to increase in office and staff expenses of marketing department attributable
to the Group's increased business volume and expansion of service outlets.

NREBOEFNBE E203FE2A31BIEFEEHLD
AN REN745 B JT 8 hN1aw = & =2024F12A31
ALtEENHARMIB/EE L ZEKEAR
EEMBRAERBE -ZCRAT SAMRR
HHELAEBRRKWALMN LA  SHAEE
BEEMEBM TR U AESEELEBE
BREHRERIEMNER -

HERDHER

AEBMBEERD HE BB HE E2023F12A31
BIEFENHOARBNBEETEMNNREEE
2024FNANBILEFEMNHARBOIEET £
ERAAASEEKELNERE B ERE
PR AMABERAEN -
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Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses increased by 12.3% from approximately
RMB169.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately
RMB190.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to (i)
the increased administrative employee headcount arising from expanding
the administrative team to support business development; (ii) the additional
depreciation charge for the New Hefei Factory (construction completed in the
fourth quarter in 2023); and (iii) the acquisition of Nichiyu (Shanghai), which
resulted in an increase in administrative employee headcount.

Other Income and Gains

The Group's other income and gains increased from approximately RMB6.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB43.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024. Such increase was primarily due to (i) acquisition
gains from the acquisition of Nichiyu (Shanghai) of approximately RMB27.4 million
in 2024; and (i) income derived from renting out of factory buildings amounted
to approximately RMB6.8 million.

Other Expenses

The Group's other expenses decreased from approximately RMB45.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB1.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the recognition of one-off expenses
incurred in relation to the Group's listing in 2023.

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs increased by 22.8% from approximately RMB85.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to approximately RMB104.5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to increased interests on bank loans
and financing borrowings to support business development.

Income Tax Expenses/(Credit) and Effective Tax Rate

The Group recorded income tax expenses of approximately RMB3.4 million and
effective tax rate of 3.2% for the year ended December 31, 2024, while it recorded
income tax credit of RMB0.6 million and effective tax rate of negative 1.9% for the
year ended December 31, 2023. The change was primarily due to the increase in

taxable profit.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the above, our profit for the year increased by 226.9% from
approximately RMB31.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
approximately RMB102.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Liquidity, Financial Resources, Treasury Policies and Capital
Structure

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had current assets of approximately
RMB893.5 million, representing an increase of 5.5% from approximately RMB846.5
million as at December 31, 2023, primarily due to (i) the expansion of the
Company'’s business scale and continuous regional coverage, resulting in an
increase in inventory; and (i) the growth in sales revenue for the year, resulting
in a year-on-year increase in trade receivables. The Group had current liabilities
of approximately RMB1,394.9 million, representing an increase of 24.8% from
approximately RMB1,117.3 million as at December 31, 2023, primarily due to
increased bank and other borrowings to support business development. As a
result, the Group'’s net current liabilities amounted to approximately RMB501.4
million as at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023: RMB270.8 million). The
Group's current ratio was 0.64 at December 31, 2024 as compared with 0.76 as at
December 31, 2023, which equals to total current assets divided by total current

liabilities as at the end of the year.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately RMB205.4 million (December 31, 2023: RMB200.8 million), which
is mainly funded by funds generated from operations and proceeds raised from
the listing in 2023. As at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Group's
total facilities for bank and other borrowings amounted to RMB4,614,197,000 and
RMB3,032,161,000, respectively of which RMB2,010,605,000 and RMB1,582,858,000
had been utilized.

The H Shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since the Listing Date.
There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company during
the Reporting Period. The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares
including the Unlisted Shares and H Shares.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards its
treasury policies to ensure the liquidity requirements from daily operations as well
as capital expenditures are met.

We aim to maintain sufficient cash and facilities to meet our liquidity
requirements. We finance our working capital requirements through a
combination of funds generated from operations and alternative funding
resources from equity and debt. The primary objectives of our capital
management are to safeguard our ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support our business and maximize
Shareholders’ value. No structured deposit was purchased during the Reporting
Period.
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The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of
changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders or issue new
shares.

Capital Expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s capital expenditures amounted
to approximately RMB172.5 million, representing a decrease by 32.0% from
approximately RMB253.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily
due to an increase in financing procurement and a decrease in expenditure on
buildings in 2024.

Pledge of Assets

As at December 31, 2024, the Group pledged assets of approximately RMB479.9
million as collateral for bank borrowings or any other financing activities,
representing an increase of 14.6% from approximately RMB418.8 million as at
December 31, 2023.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Foreign Exchange Rates

The Group's business operations are mainly conducted in the PRC with most
of the transactions settled in RMB, being the Group’s functional currency.
Meanwhile, the Group had certain transactions with overseas customers, which
were mostly settled in U.S. dollars. As of December 31, 2024, the Group had not
entered into any exchange contracts or any hedging transactions or instruments
against exposure to fluctuations in the exchange rate of RMB against U.S. dollars.
However, the Group will monitor foreign exchange risks regularly and consider
hedging significant foreign currency risks when necessary.

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.
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Employees and Remuneration Policies

We recognize the importance of talent for sustainable business growth and
competitive advantages. We believe that our success depends on our ability to
attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. As at December 31, 2024, we had
2,014 (December 31, 2023: 1,733) full-time employees, all of whom were based in
China. Our total employee benefit expense (excluding Directors’ and Supervisors’
remunerations) were RMB260.9 million (2023: RMB222.6 million) for the year
ended December 31, 2024. The remuneration is determined based on the terms
of reference, the prevailing industry practice and the educational background,
experience and performance of the staff, the importance of the post, the amount
of time he/she devotes to the post, etc. These policies are reviewed regularly.
Besides salaries, the Group also provides other fringe benefits to its employees,

including year-end bonuses, allowances and benefits in kind.

We are committed to equal employment opportunity and employee diversity.
Equal opportunities are given to employees in respect of recruitment, training
and development, job advancement, and compensation and benefits. Under our
internal policies, the employees shall not be discriminated against or deprived
of such opportunities on the basis of gender, ethnic background, religion, age,
marital status, family status, disability, pregnancy or any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable laws and regulations.

We believe we have maintained good relationships with our employees and the
employees are not represented by a labor union. During the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report, we did not experience any strikes or any
labor disputes with our employees which have had or are likely to have a material
effect on our business.

The Group provides training sessions tailored to the needs of its employees
in different functions. Topics covered by such training sessions include our
corporate culture, internal rules and policies and professional knowledge, know-
hows and skills. We also provide training to management and administrative
personnel at all levels, in order to enhance their leadership capabilities. Such
training sessions are conducted in both online and offline forms. We also offer
external training opportunities to our management team and technicians.

Significant Investment and Material Events during the
Reporting Period

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Material Acquisitions and Disposals of
Subsidiaries, Associates or Joint Ventures” in this annual report, the Board is not
aware of any significant investment and events which could have a material
impact on our operating and financial performance for the year ended December
31, 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

Share Pledge

During the Reporting Period, there was no pledge by our Controlling
Shareholders of their interests in the Shares to secure the Company’s debts or to
secure guarantees or other support of its obligation before the listing.

Bank and other Borrowing and Gearing Ratio

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB2,010.6 million (2023: RMB1,582.9 million). Please refer to note
23 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report for more details
of the interest rate.

As of December 31, 2024, our gearing ratio, calculated as bank loans and other
borrowings divided by total equity as of the same date, was approximately 170.6%
(2023:147.0%).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates
or Joint Ventures

On July 18, 2024, the Board has approved the entering into of the equity transfer
agreement (the "Equity Transfer Agreement”) among Folangsi Hong Kong
(as the purchaser), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mitsubishi
Logisnext Co,, Ltd. (as the vendor) ("Mitsubishi Logisnext”), Nichiyu (Shanghai),
the Company (as the purchaser’s guarantor) and Logisnext Forklift (Shanghai)
Co, Ltd. (¥ &+ X B (L /§) B BR 2 7)) (as the vendor’s guarantor), pursuant to
which Mitsubishi Logisnext conditionally agrees to sell and Folangsi Hong Kong
conditionally agrees to acquire the entire equity interest in Nichiyu (Shanghai). On
August 31, 2024, upon completion of the transaction under the Equity Transfer
Agreement, Nichiyu (Shanghai) has become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated July
18,2024, July 25, 2024 and September 2, 2024 for further details.

Save as the aforesaid, we did not have any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, consolidated affiliated entities, associates or joint ventures during the
year ended December 31, 2024.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

As of December 31, 2024, save as disclosed in the section headed “Net Proceeds
from the Global Offering and Use of Proceeds” in this annual report, we did not
have any existing plans for other material investments or capital assets.

Events Subsequent to the Reporting Period

The Group is not aware of any significant events which could have a material
impact on our operating and financial performance after the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hou Zekuan ({RI2E), aged 56, is the founder of our Company, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board of our Company. He established our
Company on December 5, 2007 and has been a Director of our Company since its
establishment. He was re-designated as an executive Director on April 3, 2023. He
is primarily responsible for the overall management and Board-related work.

He has over 30 years of experience in the intralogistics equipment industry. He
founded our Company together with Mr. Hou Zebing in December 2007, and
acted as our executive director and general manager from December 2007 to
November 2010 and then served as our executive director from November 2010
to October 2012. Since October 2012, he has been our chairman of the Board. He
served as a supervisor of Foshan Shunde Rongqui Lixin Forklift Co., Ltd. (8 1L 7T
JIE 1% [ & 4 ik X B A [R A &) ("Ronggui Lixin"), one of our wholly-owned
subsidiaries, from December 2007 to December 2021, and he was responsible for
managing supervisors and providing independent advice. Since July 2018, he has
also served as a director of Ferretto Intelligent Equipment (Shanghai) Co,, Ltd. (35
B EE e B (L /8) B R A R)) (‘Ferretto Intelligent”). Since August 2019,
he has been a director of Hefei Xunyun Intelligent Equipment Co,, Ltd. (& B &l
EEEEEE A RA 7)) (‘Hefei Xunyun”), where he has been responsible for
providing strategic advice regarding development. Since May 2024, he has been
a director of Folangsi Hong Kong, where he has been responsible for overall

management and daily operations.

Prior to founding our Company, he served as the section head of Anhui Tixiem
Forklift Co,, Ltd. (R 16 A % B X BB R X)), a company primarily engaged
in the manufacture and operation of a wide range of forklift trucks and forklift
accessories, and he was responsible for production and procurement from April
1994 to April 2006.

He obtained his bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from Xi'an Jiaotong
University (75 %& 32 8 K 2 ) in the PRC in July 1990. He obtained an engineer
certificate from the department of Industrial Machinery of Anhui Province (% 1
& T % # 4% E2) since November 1995.

Mr. Hou Zekuan is the elder brother of Mr. Hou Zebing, an executive Director
and general manager (chief executive) of our Company and the elder cousin of
Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan, an executive Director and deputy general manager of our
Company.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
B EERSAREERE

Mr. Hou Zebing ({&££), aged 50, is the co-founder of our Company, an
executive Director and general manager (chief executive) of our Company.
He joined our Group on December 5, 2007. He was appointed as a Director on
October 6, 2012 and was re-designated as an executive Director on April 3, 2023.
He is primarily responsible for the overall management and daily operation.

He has over 24 years of experience in the intralogistics equipment industry. He
founded our Company together with Mr. Hou Zekuan in December 2007, and
acted as our supervisor from December 2007 to November 2010, then served as
the general manager from November 2010 to October 2012. He has been serving
as the director and general manager since October 2012. Since 2001, he has
accumulated extensive experience in management by serving as the executive
director and senior management at our subsidiaries, including as: (i) an executive
director and general manager of Guangzhou Xinze Forklift Leasing Co,, Ltd. ( /&
M E X B & A& R A A)) (‘Guangzhou Xinze") since May 2010, and he
is responsible for overall management and daily operations; (i) an executive
director and general manager of Guangzhou Pengze Machinery Equipment Co.,
Ltd. (B N B8 72 # 3% % B PR A A)) since March 2010, and he is responsible
for overall management and daily operations; (i) an executive director and
general manager of Zhuhai TCM Forklift Co, Ltd. (Bk /8 AR I XN EF R A
7)) since September 2004, and he is responsible for overall management and
daily operations; (iv) an executive director and general manager of Zhongshan
TCM Forklift Sales Co, Ltd. (F7 LI #5878 3% # X = §5 % B R ‘A 7)) (‘Zhongshan
TCM") since March 2003, and he is responsible for overall management and
daily operations; (v) an executive director and general manager of Ronggui
Lixin from February 2001 to December 2022, and he was responsible for overall
management and daily operations; (vi) an executive director and the general
manager of Tianjin Folangsi Technology Co,, Ltd. (K2 @R & Bl S AR 2 al)
since February 2024, and he was responsible for the overall management and
daily operation; and (vii) a director and general manager of Nichiyu (Shanghai)
since August 2024, and he is responsible for overall management and daily
operations.

Prior to founding our Company, he served as the secretary of the Youth League
Committee of Hubei Communication Technical College (4 1t 2 i@ B % &
fiT £ Bt ), a full-time public general institution of higher learning, and he was
responsible for the work of the Communist Youth League from September 1996
to December 2000.

He received his bachelor’s degree in automotive engineering from Changsha
Transportation College (RZIBEERT) (currently known as Changsha University
of Science & Technology (& 7 ¥2 T K £2)) in the PRC in June 1996.

Mr. Hou Zebing is the younger brother of Mr. Hou Zekuan, an executive Director
and the chairman of the Board of our Company and the younger cousin of
Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan, an executive Director and deputy general manager of our
Company.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan (2 B &F), aged 51, is an executive Director and deputy general
manager of our Company. He joined our Group on December 5, 2007. He was
appointed as a Director on October 6, 2012 and was re-designated as an executive
Director on April 3, 2023. He is primarily responsible for the management of
supply chain, base, and other related operations.

He has extensive experience in the intralogistics equipment industry. He has
been engaged in various roles in our Company since February 2012, including
(i) the assistant to chairman from February 2012 to December 2015, and he was
responsible for supervising business affairs and the construction of the supply
chain of the procurement center; (ii) the director from October 2012 to June
2013, and he was responsible for the management of supply chain and relevant
operation; (iii) the deputy general manager from January 2016 to November
2016, and he was responsible for supply chain management and other related
operations; (iv) the director and deputy general manager from August 2016 to
December 2018, and he was responsible for supply chain management and other
related operations; and (v) director and deputy general manager since January
2019, and he is responsible for supply chain and supply base management and
other related operations. He has been a director of Hefei Langyun 10T Technology
Co, Ltd. (& BB B &= ¥ Bt Bt £ B IR 2 7)) ('Hefei Langyun”) since February
2019, and he is responsible for the overall management. In addition, he served as
a sales manager of Ronggui Lixin from March 2001 to January 2012, and he was
responsible for the sales management.

He received his bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering and automation
from Beijing Economic and Technological Research Institute (3b 7 48 77 % i off
1 2B ) in the PRC in July 1998.

Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan is the younger cousin of Mr. Hou Zekuan, an executive Director
and the chairman of the Board of our Company and the elder cousin of Mr. Hou
Zebing, an executive Director and general manager (chief executive) of our
Company.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
B EERSAREERE

Ms. Ma Li (55 BE), aged 36, is an executive Director and secretary to the Board.
She joined our Group on March 18, 2008. She was appointed as a Director on
February 10, 2018 and was re-designated as an executive Director on April 3, 2023.
She is primarily responsible for investor relations management and equity affairs
management, corporate governance.

She has extensive experience in financial management. She served as the
financial officer of our Company from March 2008 to January 2012, then was
promoted as the financial controller from February 2012 to September 2017, and
she was responsible for the overall management of the financial center. Ms. Ma
has been serving as the secretary of the Board and Director of our Company since
September 2017 and February 2018, respectively.

She has been the supervisor of our subsidiaries, including (i) Ferretto Intelligent
since July 2018; (i) Anhui Folangsi Machinery Co., Ltd. (LA T B PR~
7)) since August 2018; (iii) Hefei Langyun since February 2019; (iv) Hefei Xunyun
since August 2019; (v) Shenyang Folangsi Forklift Sales Co,, Ltd. (/25 F5 #5 BA HT X
B E G A7) (‘Shenyang Folangsi’) since November 2011; and (vi) Tianjin
Folangsi Technology Co,, Ltd. (X /2 f# BA BT Bl # B R 2 7)) since February
2024, and she is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
advice.

She received her college degree in accounting from Hubei Communications
Technical College (8 3k 32 38 B 3£ 5 117 22 BT ) in the PRC in June 2008.

Mr. Zhou Limin (/& FI K), aged 57, currently served as an executive Director and a
deputy general manager of the Company. He joined the Company on December
5, 2007, and was appointed as executive Director on June 14, 2024. He is primarily
responsible for the product technology research and development management.

He served as a sales manager of Zhongshan TCM Forklift Sales Co,, Ltd. (P LI ##
7038 1§ X B §5 & & BR A 7)), and he was responsible for sales management
from March 2006 to December 2007. He also served as a director of the Company
from October 2012 to November 2016, where he was responsible for product
technology and research and development management.

He has extensive experience in the manufacturing industry. Prior to joining the
Group, he served as a sales manager of Xi'an Tiexi Em Forklift Sales Co,, Ltd. (78 %
195 70 12 18 X B8 $5 & B R A 7)), a company engaged in forklift sales and service,
and he was responsible for corporate service from February 2002 to March 2006.
He also worked at Xi‘an Aviation Engine (Group) Co., Ltd. (8 & fin 2= 3% 8 #
(5 E) B BR A A]), a company engaged in aircraft engine manufacturing, from
December 1985 to December 2000.

He received his college’s degree in mechanical design and manufacturing

through online education from Wuhan University of Technology (/& ¥2 T K £2)
in the PRC in July 2076.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Yu Chuanfen (818%), aged 52, was appointed as an non-executive
Director on June 14, 2024. He is primarily responsible for providing strategic
advice on the development of our Company.

He has extensive experience in the construction machinery industry. From
July 1994 to September 2002, he held various positions in Liuzhou Kangda
Engineering Machinery Co,, Ltd. ()1 BZ 3 T 32 # # & BR 2 A1), a subsidiary
of Guangxi Liugong Group Co,, Ltd. (& 78 #l T & B & R 2 A) ('LiuGong
Group”), and his last position was the vice general manager. Since September
2002, he worked in Guangxi LiuGong Machinery Co., Ltd. (EFE# TH#k A% (55
FRAF]) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000528.
SZ) ("Guangxi Liugong”), a subsidiary of LiuGong Group, where he has since
held various positions, including as the vice president, the president, the deputy
secretary of the party committee, vice chairman, senior vice president, etc.
Specifically, he served as the vice chairman of the board of Guangxi Liugong from
December 2013 to December 2021 and senior vice president of Guangxi Liugong
since December 2021. From March 2015 to December 2020, he successively served
as a member of the party committee and the vice president of LiuGong Group.
From November 2019 to December 2021, he also successively served as the vice
president and senior vice president of Guangxi Liugong Group Machinery Co.,
Ltd. (/& Fa 0 T & B 1% #% & IR 2 8]). He is also currently the chairman of the
board of (i) Guangxi Zhongyuan Machinery Co. Ltd. (& 78 7P /R # # & R 2 7))
since February 2017; (ii) Sineng Petroleum Chemical Co, Ltd. (Rl 8¢ A /B TH
& A &) since August 2017 (iii) Liuzhou Liugong Forklift Co,, Ltd. (#P N #) T X &
B BR 2 7)) since February 2021; and (iv) Guangxi Weixiang Machinery Co,, Ltd. (&
78 2 A0 # 1 8 PR 2 &) since March 2022, respectively.

He obtained a bachelor’s degree in welding processes and equipment from the
department of Materials Science and Engineering of Huazhong University of
Science and Technology (£ A1 32 T K 2 #f #} £ 2 8 T 32 ) in the PRCin
July 1994. He also obtained the Quialification Certificate of Intermediate Level of
Specialty and Technology (9 £ % 2 £ 1l & #% 7% &) for engineers issued by
the Personnel Department of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (& 78 #t i&
B8 & AEEE) in September 1999.
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INDEPENDENT NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chiang Edward (¥%&#), aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on April 3, 2023. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent advice and judgement to the Board.

He has over 16 years of experience in corporate financing. He has been a
non-executive director of Top Education Group Ltd. CEM X & S 2 £ BB R
A 7)) since September 2020, one of Australia’s primary and best-in-class private
tertiary education providers whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 01752.HK). He has also been a director of investor relations department of
Minsheng Education Group Company Limited (R £ 2 B % B B R A 7)) since
May 2017, a company committed to constructing a vocational education service
system and whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 015609.
HK), and he is responsible for planning and executing investor relations strategies.
From January 2015 to June 2017, Mr. Chiang served as a senior manager of Town
Health International Medical Group Limited (R R R E & £ B AR A A)),
a comprehensive medical center with diversified medical services and whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 03886.HK), and he was
responsible for PRC projects and Mainland China operations. He has accumulated
extensive experience in corporate financial management by serving as the senior
management at various enterprises, including as: (i) a corporate finance manager
of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (FTZEE = @ @ E R B R A
7)), a financial service provider based in Hong Kong, where he was responsible
for corporate financing transactions in Hong Kong from January 2013 to January
2014; (i) a manager and licensed representative of South West Capital Limited (7§
7 Bk & A BR 2 7)), a company engaged in dealing in securities and advising on
corporate finance, where he was responsible for advising on corporate finance
from April 2012 to January 2013; (iii) a corporate finance manager of Huntington
Asia Limited (% B 22 ) & BR 2 7)) (currently known as Octal Capital Limited
(\F & @A R 27, acompany engaged in financing services, where he was
responsible for advising on corporate finance from June 2011 to April 2012; and
(iv) an associate and was promoted to assistant manager of VC Capital Limited (f&
At & B BR A A, a company engaged in dealing in securities and advising on
corporate finance, where he was responsible for advising on corporate finance
from May 2008 to December 2010.

He received his bachelor’s degree in Arts from Macquarie University in Sydney,
Australia in November 2005.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Fan Xia (¥ E8), aged 47, is an independent non-executive Director of our
Company. She has been an independent director of our Company since August
18, 2018. She was re-designated independent-non executive Director on April
3, 2023. She is primarily responsible for providing independent advice and
judgement to the Board.

She has been a professor of South China University of Technology (Z£ & 2 T K £2) a
public comprehensive research university, and she is responsible for teaching and
research related works since September 2004. From December 2016 to December
2022, she served as an independent director of Guangzhou Port Company
Limited ( & M & B 5 & R 2 7)), a company mainly engaged in terminal
operations and whose shares are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601228.SH), and she was responsible for providing independent advice. She has
also been serving as an independent director of Guangzhou KingMed Diagnostics
Group Co, Ltd. (B M & 15 58 2 % 5 & B 2 10 B BR A &), a company mainly
engaged in third-party medical laboratory and diagnostic services and whose
shares are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603882.5H), and she is
responsible for providing independent advice since January 2024. Since February
13, 2025, she has also been serving as an independent director of Guangzhou
Restaurant Group Company Limited (E M B R S B &K B R 2 7)) a
company engaged in food manufacturing and provision of catering services and
whose shares are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603043.SH), and
she is responsible for providing independent advice.

She received her bachelor's degree in economics from the School of Management
Northwestern Polytechnical University (783t T3 K2 % 1 2 F3) in the PRCin July
2000. She received her master’s degree in business management from Northwestern
Polytechnical University (78 1t T % K 2) in the PRC in April 2003. Dr. Fan received
her doctoral degree in management science and engineering from Northwestern
Polytechnical University (75 1t T2 K £2) in the PRC in September 2006.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Du Lizhu (#3Z#), aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on June 14, 2024. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent advice and judgement to the Board.

He has extensive experience in the accounting field. From February 1997 to
October 1997, he was a statistician at Binzhou Head Crankshaft Co,, Ltd. ( /& M
BEHMBAERET AR
(V& JN R &h R ). From November 1997 to June 1998, he was an accountant at
Zhaoging Cailian Building ( % B Bf B X & ). He subsequently served as an
assistant auditor at the Bureau of Foreign Trade of Guangzhou Dongshan District
(Guangzhou Xinlian Accounting Firm) (B M R L@ N EZ B (E M E 8 <
5T B = 75 A7) from July 1998 to May 2002. He later served as an assistant auditor
at Guangzhou Huihua Accounting Firm Co, Ltd. (BN & E & M EK A
R 2 7] ) (‘Guangzhou Huihua’) from June 2002 to July 2003. From August

) (formerly known as Binzhou Crankshaft Factory

2003 to August 2005, he worked as an inspector at the Department of Finance
of Guangdong Province. He was subsequently the vice president of Guangzhou
Huihua and Guangzhou Mingxin Accounting Firm Co,, Ltd. ( & N B8 { & &t
B = 7% FT A BR 22 &), from September 2005 to September 2008, and from
October 2008 to May 2015, respectively. From June 2015 to June 2018, he served
as the vice general manager of Jonten Certified Public Accountants (Limited
Liability Partnership). Since July 2018, he has been the responsible person of the
Guangzhou Branch of Guangdong Jingxin Real Estate & Land & Assets Appraisal

Co,lid (BERREFHMET HEENEARAREMND QA

He received a college degree in accounting from China Central Radio and TV
University (F7 SR & #% 4% K &) in the PRC in January 2007 and later obtained a
bachelor's degree in accounting from Hunan Institute of Science and Technology

(4 7 2 T 2 B2 ) in the PRC in June 2013. Mr. Du obtained the Qualification
Certificate of Specialty and Technology for accountants (2 2 ¥ 1lf & 1§ &5 £)
issued by the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China (4 2 A &
N B B B ER) in May 1999, and passed the Advanced Diploma in Accounting
awarded by the International Association of Accounting Professionals (IAAP) and
obtained the Certificate of International Certified Public Accountants awarded by
the Enterprise Financial Management Association of China in May 2023.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SUPERVISORS

Ms. Li Xiaolan (Z= /M), aged 43, has been a supervisor of our Company since
December 2017 and was re-designated as employee representative and chairman
of the Supervisory Committee on April 3, 2023. She is primarily responsible for
presiding over the work of the Supervisory Committee, supervising and providing
independent advice to our Board.

She joined our Group on December 5, 2007 as a procurement director. She served
as a procurement personnel of Foshan Shunde Weize Construction Machinery
Co, Ltd (% 1L i1 B 728 [2 B 2= T 12 # W B R A &) from August 2004 to
November 2007, and she was responsible for supply chain procurement related
works. She was promoted to director of the procurement center since December
2007, and she has been responsible for the overall management of procurement
center.

She received her college’s degree in physical distribution management from
Shandong University (L 5 KX £) in the PRC in January 2016. She was qualified
as a Technician (£ ) from the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security,
The People’s Republic of China (2 A B H A E A 71 &R M+t FRZER) in
September 2018.

Mr. He Xiaocheng (& /)’ 5X ), aged 45, has been a Supervisor of our Company
since December 2017. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent advice to our Board.

He joined our Group on December 5, 2007. He served as a manager of
maintenance service department of Zhongshan TCM, and was responsible for
maintenance management service from March 2003 to December 2009. Since
August 2007, he has been a supervisor of Zhongshan TCM, and is responsible for
supervising the overall management. He then served as a leader of maintenance
parts business management center of our Company from December 2007 to
November 2016 and was promoted as a director of maintenance parts business
management center of our Company from December 2016 to September 2018,
and he was responsible for the overall management of the center. He has been a
director of asset center of our Company since October 2018, and he is responsible

for asset management.
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DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
B EERSAREERE

Ms. Liu Xiaoli (2] /)N B8), aged 39, was appointed as Supervisor on June 14, 2024.
She is primarily responsible for supervising the Board and providing independent
advice to the Board.

She has extensive experience in the logistics equipment industry. She joined
the Company in May 2008 and has served as the director of the logistics

management centre since then.

She received a college degree in logistics management from Sun Yat-sen
University (AR 1L KX 2 ) in the PRC in June 2017 and later obtained a bachelor’s
degree in international economics and trade from Jinan University (2 & X &2) in
the PRC in December 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hou Zekuan ({& 2 &), aged 56, is an executive Director and the chairman
of the Board of our Company, see the above section for his biography.

Mr. Hou Zebing (1% 2 ££), aged 50, is an executive Director and general manager
(chief executive) of our Company, see the above section for his biography.

Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan (£ B #T), aged 51, is an executive Director and deputy general
manager of our Company, see the above section for his biography.

Ms. Ma Li (55 ), aged 36, is an executive Director and secretary to the Board,
see the above section for her biography.

FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B BAET R 3 B PR A =)

ZNBLE 395 R204F6 4R EEZEAE
E ITEZEEEERETCYMESTSREBY
R o

BERYRREITEREEEEL R » RIN20085F5
AMAERRR  YALETVEPLBE -

HR2017FRESPRRPLAEY RERS S
EXEERF  WR200FNAESHRHEFAE
B ERE BT B o

EREERE
BBESEE 5658  ARANITEEREER -
HBEEHS MU LB -

BREBERE 05 ARARTEFREKE
(BREHITHRAR) HEBEEFZ2HNU LB

o

WML - S5 AARITEERDLLT
HEEE2HN L5 -

BELL 3658 ARANTESTREFENE -
HBEEF2HNU LS -



DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhou Limin (AFIE), aged 57, is an executive Director and a deputy general
manager of our Company, see the above section for his biography.

Mr. Yang Qingyuan (#3 B Jt), aged 46, has been a deputy general manager of
our Company since September 2017. He is primarily responsible for the operations
support and management.

He joined our Group on January 1, 2010 and served as a sales manager of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, including in (i) Zhongshan TCM from August 2004 to
July 2010; (i) Guangzhou Xinze from August 2010 to June 2013; and (iii) Shenyang
Folangsi from July 2013 to December 2014, where he was responsible for sales
management. Mr. Yang served as a director of our Company from October 2012 to
August 2016, where he was responsible for operations support and management.
He served as a director of sales management of our Company from January 2010
to November 2016, where he was responsible for overall sales management. He
was then promoted as a director of leasing department from December 2016
to September 2017, where he was responsible for leasing management. He also
served as a chairman of supervisory committee of our Company from November
2016 to September 2017, where he was responsible for presiding over the work of
the Supervisory Committee, supervising the Board and providing independent
advice to the Board.

He received his bachelor’s degree in financial management from Lanzhou
University of Finance and Economics (3 /1 7 22 B ) in the PRC in June 2002.

EE  EERSAREEE

BRIRELE - 575 - AAAHITEERIGET
HEEE2HN L5 -

BB IUEE - 465% 0 B017FOAREEALQFE
BEE TERHRELEXBNERE -

HAR20100F I AEMAREE - RAQAE Z @ F
NREFEHELRE - B1E)200458 A £ 2010674
E A L) 56 78 R 49 8 B AR 32 ¢ (i)20109F 8 A = 20134
6REE MR SR K (i)2013F 78 E2014%F
RAMTEGHPMEECE  TEAEHEERE -
B E B2012F10 A E2016F 8 AE T ARRIES -
TEEHELIHEMEIR - 2010918 £2016%F11
A EIAQREEERAE A EEBEE
EIBTE - RBER 20165128 E2017598 & 7+
AHREIMEE  AEHEEEIE - 2016FN
BE07F9A TARREEEXF AEXH
EEe T BEEEFQVRNEFTSRHEBY
=8

00 FAEGTERMNERREH P ER
ARRE o

—ZPUEELR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

43



44

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
B EERSAREERE

Mr. Pan Fei (& 3E ), aged 50, has been the chief financial officer of our Group
since September 2017. He is primarily responsible for financial management.

He joined our Group on April 25, 2016 and served as a secretary to the Board from
April 2016 to September 2017, where he was responsible for corporate governance
and financing. Further, from November 2016 to March 2017, he served as both a
secretary to the Board and as a deputy general manager, primarily responsible for
corporate governance and financing.

He has extensive financial management experience. Prior to joining our Group, he
served in Guangdong Qide Education Service Co, Ltd. (B R BRI EH BEREE
R 2 Al), a company engaged in study aboard consulting, from July 2010 to April
2016. He served in Luxottica Tristar (Dongguan) Optical Co,, Ltd. (BB RERCR
52)BR $% B BR A A1), a company engaged in glasses manufacturing, from October
2007 to June 2010. He also served as a manager of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA
Ltd. (Guangzhou Branch) (22 &) % 5k & 51 R 5 75 F7T & /1 93 FT), an international
accounting firm, and he was responsible for accounting works from October 2000
to August 2007.

He received his bachelor’s degree in auditing from Sun Yat-sen University (4 LK
&) in the PRC in June 1997. He was qualified as a Certified Practicing Accountant
from the Guangdong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in January 2009
and as a Certified Public Valuer from the Guangdong Appraisal Society (& R &
& ERT & %) in March 2010.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Ma Li (55 B8), see "Executive Directors” in this section.

Ms. Tang Ka Yan ( & 3= fiX ), was appointed as a joint company secretary of our
Company. Ms. Tang is currently a senior manager of corporate services of Tricor
Services Limited. Ms. Tang is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance
Professional and an associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute.
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The Board is pleased to present this report of the Directors together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

Our Company was established as a limited liability company in the PRC on
December 5, 2007 and was converted into a joint stock company with limited
liability on November 25, 2016 under the laws of the PRC. The H Shares of our
Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on November 10,
2023.

OUR BUSINESS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a leading intralogistics equipment solutions provider in China. Focusing
on intralogistics equipment subscription services, we strive to provide enterprises
with one-stop solutions for intralogistics equipment utilization and management.

OUR SUBSIDIARIES

The details of our subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including
sales of treasury shares (as defined under the Listing Rules)) (whether on the Stock
Exchange or otherwise). As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold any
treasury shares (as defined under the Listing Rules).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued Shares,
the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held by the public during
the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Pursuant to Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), the business review of the Group, including an analysis of the Group's
financial performance and the illustration of potential business development of
the Group in the future, are set out in “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions form part of
this annual report. Events which could have a material impact on our operating
and financial performance after the Reporting Period are set out in the section
headed “Significant Events after the Reporting Period” of this annual report. The
Company's major relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers and
others which have a significant impact on the Company are contained in the
section headed "Relationship with Key Stakeholders” of this annual report.

THE GROUP’S RESULTS

The Group's results for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 196 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends the declaration of a final dividend of RMB0.0293 per share
(tax inclusive) (2023: nil), (representing an aggregate amount of approximately
RMB10.20 million (tax inclusive) calculated based on the total issued Shares of the
Company as at the date of this report) for the year ended December 31, 2024 (the
“Final Dividend") (2023: nil).

The aforesaid proposal is subject to the consideration and approval at the AGM.
The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, June
19, 2025 to Tuesday, June 24, 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the Final Dividend,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s H share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
before 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, June 18, 2025. If the distribution proposal is
approved at the AGM, the Final Dividend will be distributed no later than August
13, 2025 to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on June 24, 2025. The Final Dividend is denominated and declared
in RMB. The Final Dividend payable to the holders of the Company’s H shares
shall be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The amount of Hong Kong dollars payable
shall be calculated on the basis of the average exchange rates as announced by
the People’s Bank of China one calendar week prior to the approval of the Final
Dividend at the AGM.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company and the laws of the PRC,
the Company is not subject to any pre-emptive rights and share options which
would oblige the Company to issue new shares to its existing shareholders in
proportion to their shareholdings.

TAX RELIEF OR EXEMPTION

Tax Relief or Exemption of Dividend Income of Holders of

Listed Securities

1. Individual Investors

(1)

Oversea Residents

Pursuant to the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues
Concerning Individual Income Tax Collection and Management after
the Repeal of Guo Shui Fa [1993] No. 045 (Guo Shui Han [2011] No. 348)
(KB KB 15 48 5 B8 7S B B4 2% [1993]10455% 18 BF 1L 128 A B8 18 A B
15 B BUE R RE 9 3@ ) (B B K [2011]3485%) ), dividend and bonus
income received by overseas resident individual shareholders from the
issuance of shares in Hong Kong by domestic non-foreign invested
enterprises shall be subject to the payment of individual income tax
according to the item of “interest, dividend and bonus income”, which
shall be withheld by the withholding agents according to the law. The
overseas resident individual shareholders who hold the shares issued by
domestic non-foreign invested enterprises in Hong Kong are entitled to
the relevant preferential tax treatment pursuant to the provisions in the
tax treaties signed between the countries where they reside and the
PRC and the tax arrangements between the Mainland China and Hong
Kong (Macau SAR). The relevant dividend tax rate under the relevant
tax treaties and tax arrangements is generally 10%. For the purpose
of simplifying tax administration, domestic non-foreign invested
enterprises issuing shares in Hong Kong may, when distributing
dividends and bonuses, generally withhold individual income tax at the
rate of 10%, and are not obligated to file an application.
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If the tax rate for dividends is not equal to 10%, the following provisions
shall apply:

1) for residents from countries under treaties to be entitled to tax
rates lower than 10%, in accordance with the Administrative
Measures for Non-resident Taxpayers to Enjoy Treatments under
Tax Treaties (Announcement of the State Administration of
Taxation [2019) No. 35) ((HFEERMBAZX M EFBE R
HOENB R B 4 B N 520194 $355%) ), if the individual
H shareholders are residents from countries which have entered
into a tax treaty with the PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate
lower than 10%, such individual H shareholders shall voluntarily
submit statements to the Company in order to enjoy the agreed
treatment, and keep relevant materials for inspection. If the
information provided is complete, the Company shall withhold
the tax in accordance with the provisions of the PRC tax laws and
treaties;

2) forresidents of countries which have entered into tax treaties with
the PRC stipulating a tax rate of more than 10% but less than 20%,
the withholding agents shall withhold the individual income tax
at the agreed effective tax rate when distributing dividends and
bonuses, and are not obligated to file an application for approval;

3) for residents of countries without tax treaties or under other
circumstances, the withholding agents shall withhold the
individual income tax at a rate of 20% when distributing dividends
and bonuses.

Hong Kong Resident

Pursuant to the Arrangement between the Mainland of China and the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on
Income (Guo Shui Han [2006] No. 884) (A b F & 74 45 Bl 17 B = 78
PR P15 8 o B S5 TR A0 B L M0 R B ) 22 (B 5 £ (20061884
%)) signed on August 21, 2006, the PRC government may impose
tax on dividends payable by a PRC company to a Hong Kong resident,
but such tax shall not exceed 10% of the gross amount of dividends
payable, and in the case where a Hong Kong resident holds at least 25%
of the equity interests in the PRC company, such tax shall not exceed 5%
of the gross amount of dividends payable by the PRC company.
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(3) Mainland Residents

Pursuant to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance, the State

Administration of Taxation and the China Securities Regulatory
Commission on the Tax Policies Related to the Pilot Programme of the
Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect (Cai Shui [2014] No. 81) (€ &7 Bz %5
BERBBEREESHNEERET SIS LM E @HG
=B A B B W B R &Y 3R 0D (B 5% [20141815%) ) and the Notice on
the Tax Policies Related to the Pilot Programme of the Shenzhen-Hong
Kong Stock Connect (Cai Shui [2016] No. 127) (B8 PR & Bk Z T 5
R 5 B B B E k) St B A T OB R A 3 AN (B B 12016112755 ) ),
for dividends and bonuses received by mainland individual investors
from investing in H shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
through Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect or Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Stock Connect, the H-share companies shall withhold individual income
tax at the rate of 20%.

EBABREMSRSEMEBREHIE
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2. Enterprises P EREE
() EIHEELEFE

(1) Overseas Non-resident Enterprise

Pursuant to the provisions of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({7 #E A & £ 1 B 1> % A7 18 B J%)) and the
Implementation Rules of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({1 28 A R L 71 B 1b 3 PR 15 500K B e 15 1)),
a non-resident enterprise is subject to enterprise income tax at the rate
of a 10% on PRGsourced income, if it does not have an establishment
or premise in the PRC or has an establishment or premise in the PRC
but the dividends and bonds received has no real connection with
such establishment or premise. The withholding tax may be reduced or
exempted under an applicable double taxation treaty.

Pursuant to the Notice on Issues Relating to the Withholding of
Enterprise Income Tax by PRC Resident Enterprises on Dividends Paid to
Overseas Non-Resident Enterprise Shareholders of H Shares (Guo Shui
Han [2008] No. 897) (KA BB R (bR AR MR EER %
PR B 5 B B AN AR B 0b 26 P 1S B 46 R R RE & 3 D (B A ek
[2008]897%%) ) issued by the State Administration of Taxation, a PRCG-
resident enterprise must withhold enterprise income tax at a rate of 10%
on the dividends of 2008 and onwards that it distributes to overseas
non-resident enterprise shareholders of H Shares as a withholding
agent. Upon receipt of such dividends, an overseas non-resident
enterprise shareholder may apply to the competent tax authorities
for relevant treatment under the tax treaties (arrangements) in person
or through a proxy or a withholding agent and provide evidence in
support of its status as a beneficial owner as defined in the tax treaties
(arrangements). Upon verification by the competent tax authorities, the
difference between the tax levied and the amount of tax payable as
calculated at the tax rate under the tax treaties (arrangements) will be
refunded.
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(3)

Any H Shares registered under the names of non-individual
Shareholders, including HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees or
trustees, or other organizations and groups are deemed to be held by
non-resident enterprise Shareholders. The Company will distribute the
dividend to such non-individual Shareholders after withholding the
enterprise income tax at a rate of 10%.

Mainland Securities Investment Funds

For dividends and bonuses received by mainland securities investment
funds from investing in shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
through Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect or Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Stock Connect, individual income tax shall be levied in accordance
with the Notice of the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration of
Taxation and the China Securities Regulatory Commission on the Tax
Policies Related to the Pilot Programme of the Shanghai-Hong Kong
Stock Connect (Cai Shui [2014] No. 81) (€ B Ex 3F B 2R 7 7% 48 B 75 B5
EHENEEREMSRXFIEHEBEEIA R AER KR BED
8 &N ) (81 4 [20141815% ) ) and the Notice on the Tax Policies Related to
the Pilot Programme of the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect (Cai
Shui [2016] No. 127) (KB FOR BRR R T I5 32 5 B Bk B B 1 5L Bh
6 A T M B R 0 38 ) (B B [2016]1275%) ).

Mainland Enterprise Investors

For dividend and bonus income received by mainland enterprise
investors from investing in shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange through Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect or
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect, the H-share companies shall not
withhold income tax on dividends and bonuses, and the tax payable
shall be declared and paid by the enterprises themselves in accordance
with the Notice of the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration of
Taxation and the China Securities Regulatory Commission on the Tax
Policies Related to the Pilot Programme of the Shanghai-Hong Kong
Stock Connect (Cai Shui [2014] No. 81) (87 R 26 B R B¢ 15 42 /3 2% &=
EHNEEREMSXFIEHEBHEIARAEHKRBEN
8 20 (BF 4 [20141815%) ) and the Notice on the Tax Policies Related
to the Pilot Programme of the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect
(Cai Shui [2016] No. 127)KBE R A B R ETH X H E B B @
il 5 3G A B T Uk B B9 8 &1 B [2016]1275%) ). In particular,
the dividends received by resident enterprises in mainland which hold
H shares for at least 12 consecutive months shall be exempted from
enterprise income tax according to law.

The shareholders of the Company shall pay the relevant tax and/or are
entitled to tax reliefs in accordance with the above requirements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND ISSUED SHARES

As of December 31, 2024, the total share capital of the Company was
RMB87,005,704.00 divided into 348,022,816 Shares with a par value of RMBO0.25
each (including 206,594,736 H Shares and 141,428,080 Unlisted Shares). Details
of the movements in the share capital of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 26 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s distributable reserves were
approximately RMB304,780,000.

DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the amount of charitable donations of
the Group totaled over RMB10,000.

DEBENTURES AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not issue any
debentures and convertible bonds.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this report, the Group did not enter into
or have any equity-linked agreements during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Subject to the Articles of Association and applicable laws and regulations, each
director, supervisor, auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any judgment rendered
in his/her favour as a director, supervisor, auditor or other officer of the Company
in any proceedings, or losses or liabilities incurred or suffered as a result of the
conduct of a defense in a civil or criminal proceeding in which he/she was
acquitted.

The article on permitted indemnity has been in force throughout the Reporting
Period. The Company has taken out liability insurance to provide appropriate
protection for the Directors.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings as at December 31, 2024
are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

LOANS AND GUARANTEES

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not provide any loans
or loan guarantees, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, Supervisors, senior
management and Controlling Shareholders of the Company, or any of their
respective connected persons.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at December 31, 2024, the leasehold land of RMB33,470,000 and property,
plant and equipment of RMB446,394,000 were pledged as securities for
interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings (2023: the leasehold land of
RMB34,221,000 and property, plant and equipment of RMB384,578,000).

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is dedicated to operating in a sustainable manner while balancing the
interests of various stakeholders, including substantial Shareholders, employees,
customers and suppliers.
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SHAREHOLDERS

The Group is aware of the importance of protecting the interests of its
Shareholders and effective communication with them. The Group believes
that communication with Shareholders is a two-way process, strives to ensure
the quality and effectiveness of information disclosure, and maintains regular
dialogue with Shareholders and listens to their views and feedback carefully,
which will be achieved through Shareholders’ general meetings, corporate
communications, interim and annual reports and results announcements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, revenue generated from the Group's five
largest customers represented approximately 16.5% (2023: 11.3%) of the Group's
total revenue during the year, while revenue generated from the Group’s largest
customer represented approximately 4.5% (2023: 3.9%) of the Group’s total
revenue during the year.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, procurement from the Group’s five largest
suppliers represented approximately 49.0% (2023: 44.3%) of the Group's total
purchases during the year, while procurement from the Group's largest supplier
represented approximately 14.6% (2023: 16.2%) of the Group's total purchases
during the year.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any material
disputes with the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Directors, their close
associates or, to the knowledge of the Directors, any Shareholders which owns
more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company had any interest in
any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers of the Group during the
Reporting Period.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

We recognize the importance of talent for sustainable business growth and
competitive advantages. We believe that our success depends on our ability to
attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. As at December 31, 2024, we had
2,014 (December 31, 2023: 1,733) full-time employees, all of whom were based in
China. Our total employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ and supervisors’
remunerations) were RMB260.9 million (2023: RMB222.6 million) for the year
ended December 31, 2024. The remuneration is determined based on the terms
of reference, the prevailing industry practice and the educational background,
experience and performance of the staff, the importance of the post, the amount
of time he/she devotes to the post, etc. These policies are reviewed regularly.
Besides salaries, the Group also provides other fringe benefits to its employees,
including year-end bonuses, allowances and benefits in kind.

We are committed to equal employment opportunity and employee diversity.
Equal opportunities are given to employees in respect of recruitment, training
and development, job advancement, and compensation and benefits. Under our
internal policies, the employees shall not be discriminated against or deprived
of such opportunities on the basis of gender, ethnic background, religion, age,
marital status, family status, disability, pregnancy or any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable laws and regulations.

We believe we have maintained good relationships with our employees and the
employees are not represented by a labor union. During the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report, we had not experienced any strikes or
any labor disputes with our employees which have had or are likely to have a
material effect on our business.

The Group provides training sessions tailored to the needs of our employees
in different functions. Topics covered by such training sessions include our
corporate culture, internal rules and policies and professional knowledge, know-
hows and skills. We also provide training to management and administrative
personnel at all levels, in order to enhance their leadership capabilities. Such
training sessions are conducted in both online and offline forms. We also offer

external training opportunities to our management team and technicians.

The Remuneration Committee is established to assist the Board in formulating
our remuneration policy.

Details of the remuneration of our employees, Directors, Supervisors and senior

management and the five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 8, 9 and 31
to the consolidated financial statements.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Details of the Group's retirement and employee benefits are set out in note 8 to

the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As of the date of this annual report, the Company did not have any share option

scheme.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The operating results of the Group are affected by various factors, and the major

risks are summarized as follows:

0]

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

Our business, growth and prospects are significantly affected by the
demand of our services in China.

Any economic slowdown or decrease in general economic activities may
adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and
prospects.

We incurred bank loans and other borrowings to invest in the expansion of
our equipment fleet during the Reporting Period. Changes in interest rates
of such bank loans and other borrowings could have a material adverse
impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Significant fluctuations in the price for our intralogistics equipment
subscription services may adversely affect our business, results of operations,
financial condition, and prospects.

We could be adversely affected as a result of any sales we made to
customers in certain countries that are, or become subject to, sanctions
administered by the U.S, the European Union, the United Nations, Australia
and other relevant sanctions authorities.

Our historical results may not be indicative of our future prospects and
results of operations.

(vii) The intralogistics equipment solution industry in the PRC is competitive

and we may not be able to compete successfully against existing and new

competitors.

(viii) Maintaining or increasing the utilization rate of our intralogistics equipment

is crucial for the success of our business.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS‘

EEEWRE

BARESEAE

7S 8 038 01 T 0 B ) 9 1 I AR I R
EHRAMBREM S -

BREE
HEARTERE RN AR L AT R

st

TERRBRRTEERE

AEENKREREREIEEREZNTE

=)

TE

SR

@)

(i)

(iff)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

BPNER BERMISERARELR
hEMSEHEMRBFILNZE -

A VS R o B U B B AL T B 2 P
M EEES - HBRRRAMBES
THEE -

BEDE  RABERITERREMER
REARBEFRRHREEZ ZFRTEX
R E AR SRE R R B BT e W B AT E TS
BREXERMBRANELEERTNEE -

BAIE R IR R AT RS & B A8 K 18K
BRREEHEMNEY KEXE UK
RARBIREETNEE

BMAEEeRRMAXZEEE - BB - B
BB RN B E A 4 B A% e 0 ) B
FRBHEHRNE TERNEFEITE
MHEMIZBTHEE

BMOBEXRERVRREMAKRNATR

REEEHE -
FEN BT R BRI RTREFRA
BMARERAERFEFHFRDEE -

REIRSHEMSADRREON B XY
HAEBHORDEFER -

—ZPUEELR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

55



56

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

(ix) Improper management or use of our equipment may lead to a shortening
of its useful life and/or a decline in market value, which could impact our
business.

As the above circumstances are not exhaustive, investors are advised to make
their own judgment or consult their own investment advisers before making any

investment in our shares.

See the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus for more details of other
risks and uncertainties the Group faces.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated financial results, assets and liabilities
of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 5 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended December 31, 2024, no
contracts of significance were concluded between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, and no
contracts of significance were concluded between the Controlling Shareholders

or their subsidiaries for the provision of services to the Company or its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, no contracts relating to the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of any

business of the Company has been entered into or has existed.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, June
10, 2025 to Friday, June 13, 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify to attend the AGM and to
vote at the meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s H share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. Monday, June 9, 2025 .
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group has always strived to strictly
comply with the laws and regulations on environmental protection. During the
Reporting Period, the Group complied in all material respects with all relevant
laws and regulations relating to environmental protection during its operation.

The Company is aware of the importance of environmental protection. The
Company is committed to providing an eco-friendly energy environment for
our staff and developing energy conservation and carbon reduction policies to

minimize negative impacts on the environment.

See the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this
annual report for further details.

COMPLY WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of our knowledge, the Group has complied with in all material
respects the relevant laws and regulations that have a material impact on
the business and operations of the Group during the Reporting Period. The
Group had no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations during the Reporting Period.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Directors are not aware of any material litigation or claim pending or
threatened against the Group during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this annual report.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS‘

EEEWRE

BEBRRKRR

R XELGEARNEE  FX&EE—HE
NBERETEBRERENEZRERER - KRR
SHE AEENEBEMEEATEHCE
THERRRRENMERBEEIESR -

ARARMBRRERENERN - ARAAHIR
REMANEIRE —EERRFNERRE
Wkl EERERMIRB R UR BRI ERENE

ﬁ$¢7ﬁ¢$m% CHEk

|

., \Q\}
onp
it g
fm
\

BEERER

BRMAMEN RBEEHN AEEBEMEE
KEEEEL\Q$%IW%%&@¢E§K
FENHBEEERER RBREHHE AEE
THFEBREERITETERERZRERNE
;Ro

BE R

RBEEHHEAFERSEY  EFXTHE
HEAKRERENEMNFRIZEBNEKRNF
AR o

—ZPUEELR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

57



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

OVERVIEW OF THE BOARD

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report are as

follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hou Zekuan (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Hou Zebing (General Manager)

Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan

Ms. Ma Li

Mr. Zhou Limin (Appointed with effect from June 14, 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Chuanfen (Appointed with effect from June 14, 2024)
Mr. Zhu Yingchun (Resigned with effect from June 14, 2024)
Mr. Shu Xiaowu (Resigned with effect from June 14, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chiang Edward

Dr. Fan Xia

Mr. Du Lizhu (Appointed with effect from June 14, 2024)

Mr. Wang Chuanbang (Resigned with effect from June 14, 2024)

OVERVIEW OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report are
as follows:

Ms. Li Xiaolan (Chairman of the Supervisory Committee)

Mr. He Xiaocheng

Mes. Liu Xiaoli (Appointed with effect from June 14, 2024)

Mr. Zhang Xiaolong (Resigned with effect from June 14, 2024)

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The details of the biographies of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company are set out in the section headed "Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” of this report.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
SUPERVISORS

The Company entered into contracts with each of the Directors and Supervisors
in respect of, among other things, compliance with relevant laws and regulations,

the Articles of Association and applicable provisions on arbitration.

Other than Mr. Zhou Limin, Mr. Yu Chuanfen and Mr. Du Lizhu, each of our
Directors entered into a service contract with our Company. The principal
particulars of these service contracts comprise (a) a term of three years
commencing from the date of appointment; and (b) termination provisions in
accordance with their respective terms. Each of Mr. Zhou Limin, Mr. Yu Chuanfen
and Mr. Du Lizhu entered into a service contract with our Company with a term
commencing from the date of appointment and ending on the expiration of the
term of the current session of the Board of Directors.

Each of our Supervisors entered into a service contract with our Company.

The above appointments are subject to the relevant provisions in the Articles
of Association of the Company in respect of the resignation, removal and re-
election of Directors and Supervisors.

None of our Directors and Supervisors has or is proposed to have entered into
any service contract with any member of our Group (excluding contracts expiring
or determinable by any member of our Group within one year without payment

of compensation other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, none of
the Directors and Supervisors or any entity connected with the Directors and
Supervisors had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiary or fellow subsidiary was a party during or as at
the end of the year ended December 31, 2024.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting Period
and up to the Latest Practicable Date was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to get benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other corporations;
none of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any
rights to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
corporations, or had exercised any such rights.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code, the Company has
established a Remuneration Committee to assist the Board in formulating
remuneration policy. The remuneration of each Director, Supervisor and senior
management is determined and recommended based on the main scope,
responsibilities, importance and remuneration level of relevant positions in other
similar enterprises. Details of the remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and
senior management and the five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 8, 31
and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save for the executive Directors and non-executive Directors who will not receive
any director’s fee, none of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration, and no remuneration were paid
by the Group to any of the Directors, Supervisors or senior management as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS' INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors and Supervisors of the
Company and their associates had any interest in any businesses which compete

or are likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group's business, or any
other conflict of interest with the Group.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received confirmations of independence submitted by
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and the Company considers that each of these Directors to be

independent.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ PARTICULARS

Save as disclosed below, there has been no change in the information required to
be disclosed by the Directors pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since
the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

Dr. Fan Xia, one of our independent non-executive Directors, was appointed as
an independent director of Guangzhou ng!\/\ed Diagnostics Group Co,, Ltd. (&
M & 13 B8 22 % 5 5 B I 15 B R 2 7]), a company listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603882.5H), with effect from January 31, 2024. Dr. Fan Xia
was also been appointed as an independent director of Guangzhou Restaurant
Group Company Limited (/& N B ZX & B f% 13 4 PR A 71), a company listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603043.5H), on February 13, 2025.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no non-exempt connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which should be disclosed
pursuant to Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions entered into by our Group during
the Reporting Period are disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. None of the related party transactions as disclosed in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements constitute any non-exempt connected
transactions or continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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SANCTIONS

The Directors have reviewed from time to time the execution and effectiveness of
the Implemented Measures provided in the section headed “Business — Business
activities with Customers in Relation to Countries Subject to International
Sanctions — Our Undertakings to the Stock Exchange” in the Prospectus.

The Directors are not aware that any of our business activities would put our
Company or our Shareholders and investors at risks of being in breach of
sanctions imposed by the United States, the European Union, Australia, or the
United Kingdom ("U.K.").

Since the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we have not
used the net proceeds from the Global Offering nor any other funds raised
through the Stock Exchange, whether directly or indirectly, in connection with

activities, businesses or contracts actually or potentially related to sanctions.
The Company does not have current or future business plans and intentions in

any country subject to sanctions imposed by the United States, the European
Union, Australia, and the UK.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors,
Supervisors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")) which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are as follows:

Long position in the Shares of the Company
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EE EERESTHRAERR
7 HEROEREEZEPEERN
EERkAR

R2024F 128318 MARREETME EF -
EERARRAESITERABRAQR S EEM
BB EB(EEREBAFENE(EHFRPE
BEO(KBEHRBEFEGDD) EXVIB) Y - 1/
BROREEBFHESQARE(EELPER
BIYSEXVEF SB7 % 558 B 8 A AN A) R B X BT Y
Ba kA (RREREBEEHFRPERIDEEE
BB ABEANER KAL) RO BRERA
RNERBE(EF R BAEEA)E32106M R EET
MELMANES AR  HOBRIBZEST
ABAMARR BB THERS AT

RELFRG B FR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

in the total

Number of share capital of Long Position/
Name Identity/Nature of Interest Shares Class of Shares our Company™ Short Position
RAEQTRA
R EE RENER
HE BB EatE (&) BR&oER BHABAILED HFEKR
Mr. Hou Zekuan® Beneficial owner 15,876,204  H Shares Long position
FEERSLER EmEEA H AR ue
Interest held jointly with another person 30,793,492  HShares Long position
HE-ATHRAFANER H A% e
Total 46,669,696  H Shares 1341
Eas H AR
Beneficial owner 37,044,480  Unlisted Shares Long position
EmERA NN ) S
Interest held jointly with another person 51,118,004  Unlisted Shares Long position
HE-—ATHRAFANER E NN ) e
Total 88,162,484  Unlisted Shares 2533
A E N &)
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the total
Number of share capital of Long Position/
Name Identity/Nature of Interest Shares Class of Shares our Company™ Short Position
RAEDFRA
R4 #E HENER
®A B #EME (R) KR&o¥EH MABFIEEY HEKE
Mr. Hou Zebing® Beneficial owner 15,243,384  H Shares Long position
BEERLED EmERA H A% )
Interest in controlled corporations 15,550,108  H Shares Long position
REEEEs H AR o)
Interest held jointly with another person 15,876,204  H Shares Long position
BE—ATHRBENHREZ H AR a
Total 46,669,696  H Shares 1341
#* H A%
Beneficial owner 35,567,896  Unlisted Shares Long position
EmEEA IF b iz £ A=)
Interest in controlled corporations 15,550,108  Unlisted Shares Long position
R EEER E NN ) A
Interest held jointly with another person 37,044,480  Unlisted Shares Long position
BE—ATHRBENREZR E NN ) e
Total 88,162,484  Unlisted Shares 25.33
3% FE LA
Notes: B 2

M

The calculation is based on the total number of 141,428,080 Unlisted Shares in issue
and 206,594,736 H Shares as of December 31, 2024.

Mr. Hou Zebing is the general partner of Guangzhou Daze. As such, Mr. Hou Zebing is
deemed to be interested in the 31,100,216 Shares (including 15,550,108 Unlisted Shares
and 15,550,108 H Shares) held by Guangzhou Daze under SFO. Mr. Hou Zekuan and
Mr. Hou Zebing entered into an acting-in-concert agreement on May 18, 2020 with
a supplemental agreement dated March 24, 2023 to acknowledge and confirm their
acting-in-concert relationship in our Company, pursuant to which Mr. Hou Zekuan
and Mr. Hou Zebing have agreed to continue to act in concert and reach consensus
on any matter considered at board meetings and general meetings of our Company.
Therefore, Mr. Hou Zekuan and Mr. Hou Zebing are deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by each other.

FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B BAET R 3 B PR A =)

M

1% 8 E2024%F 124318 B 3 17 #9141,428,080/% 3 L
T AR 19 F2. 206,594,736 A HAR 48 R T &

BEEAEBEMNEZNLREEA Al R
B(EHFRBEED)  BZ2REEHEEBREM
24 H #931,100,2168% A% 15 (B2 515,550,108 % IE
AR 17 $15,550,108 % HAR) R #E 5 #E 2 ° FA20204F5
A1sA EEEAABREEZEREET LRI
ek LA 2 B Ef B2023F3 8248 M 18 e hp s - LA &
REBRBESEARAN—RITHER  RIEZ
EHE EEELAHLHEEREREERELEE XK
T8 ITHREAAFEEEEZRREAGLSE
FWTMBEEEAEE At BEEERERE
ERAEEBRARBLEBENRGOPHBER -



Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, none of the Directors,
Supervisors or chief executives of the Company had any interests and short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under the SFO), or recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As of December 31, 2024, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, the interests
or short positions of each person (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief
executive of the Company) in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO or required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO are as follows:

REPORTOFTHEDRECTORSQ
EEERE

Br b SCPTH FEE SN R204F 128318 0 BEE
ECEERARAESTHRABRARARE
BESAE (TR RCESH R B EBKGDEXVER)H
i ABERMEREEFPEEERBEESRK
HA B B SEXVER 57K S8 5y B i AN AR 1A 7] K Bt
REMEZERAR (BREBEGESFRBEKRLD
WEESIHRBRABRENERRAR)  RELER
ARRRBCEHR BRI EIDGEFEN
T E R AR HARBZETAR
MARNBRBMITWER R AR -

FERRRR G K AEER G 8 #

wRAR

BE204FN2ANAE  REFAAM FAT(E
F EFLARAERITEABRINRERA
B RBERGTHERELERARE R EGE
F R BB G HI) E33616 7817 B /)5 5 it sl iR #&
(BHERHEIEM)EXVELELR F3D AR A
RAIRBMZMBEENERIOAEDT

Approximate

percentage of
shareholding
in the total
Identity/Nature of Number of share capital of  Long Position/
Name Interest Shares  Class of Shares our Company™  Short Position
RADE R
13 & B BENER
RREB,/HE 5/ EEtE (R) KROEH BHEIEY HE KR
Guangzhou Daze Beneficial owner 15,550,108  H Shares 447  Long position
BNEE EREAA HAR 1A
Beneficial owner 15,550,108 Unlisted Shares 447
ERERA ENRE )
Suzhou Eastern Bell Il Investment Center Beneficial owner 55,541,652 HShares 1596  Long position
(Limited Partnership)
(BMERE X _REBREPDL
(BBR4A %)) (“Eastern Bell II")
HEMERBE_FRERD EREAA Hfi% L)

(BEREH)(ER=H))
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the total
Identity/Nature of Number of share capital of Long Position/
Name Interest Shares  Class of Shares our Company™  Short Position
TN
Rt & B BENER
RREB,/ HE 5/ REtE (R) BRoEHR BMATALEY HFAR/ KA
Shanghai Dingxiao Enterprise Management Interest in controlled 63,541,652 HShares 1826  Long position
Consulting Center (Limited Partnership) corporations
(LBESRFCXEEEATLERER)
(“Shanghai Dingxiao”)?
TERBLEERBFATOCEREE) XEEEER Hfi% 1A
(E==2 %)
Ningbo Dingji Venture Capital Partnership Interest in controlled 63,541,652 HShares 1826  Long position
Enterprise (Limited Partnership) corporations
(ERREAERESBLEXBERER)
(“Ningbo Dingji")®
ERREEEREARCEBREY) XEZEER Hfi% 1A
(BERa&E)e
Mr. Yin Junping (F & F)@ Interest in controlled 63,541,652 H Shares 1826  Long position
corporations
FEF L LR XEEEES HAx A
Shanghai Dingman Enterprise Management  Interest in controlled 64,464,752 H Shares 1852  Long position
Co,, Ltd. corporations
(LEREGCEERRRAA)
(“Shanghai Dingman”)?
FERECXERERAR(LEBRE) e X EZERES HAR e
Mr. Yan Li (&% /1)@ Interest in controlled 64,464,752 H Shares 1852 Long position
corporations
BAOkE RyELEER Hfi% 1A
Shenzhen Xinyu Equity Investment Enterprise  Beneficial owner 18,508,576  H Shares 532  Longposition
(Limited Partnership)
(RN EBHBRERECEBERER)
(“Shenzhen Xinyu")
RNBERERECEBRER) EnlEEA Hf% )
(31 3:1) 4,000000  Unlisted Shares 115 Long position
LR A
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

in the total

EEEWRE

Identity/Nature of Number of share capital of Long Position/
Name Interest Shares  Class of Shares our Company™  Short Position
NN
Rt & B BENER
RREB,/ HE 5/ REtE (R) BRoEHR BMAFALEY HFAR/ KA
Mr. Zhang Gaozhao (5k = &)@ Interest in controlled 18,508,576  H Shares 532 Long position
corporations
KRS REEEES Hf% )
4,000,000  Unlisted Shares 115 Long position
FE MRS wE
Shenzhen Dachen Chuanglian Private Equity ~ Beneficial owner 21,440,924  Unlisted Shares 6.16  Long position
Investment Fund Partnership (Limited
Partnership)
RYITmEREABLEREREE
SEBLE(BRER)) (‘Dachen
Chuanglian”)
RINTERABALEREREESERL EREAA E %) 1A
XERABI(ERAIE)
Shenzhen Dachen Chuangtong Equity Beneficial owner 19471952 Unlisted Shares 560  Long position
Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
(RImEREIBRERERE
(5 R A %)) (“Dachen Chuangtong”)
ANTEREBRERBECEFEREY) EREAA E A ) Sy
(ERAE)
Shenzhen Dachen Caizhi Venture Capital Interest in controlled 40912876  Unlisted Shares 1176 Long position
Management Co., Ltd corporations
(YT ERMBAEREERRRDA)
(“Dachen Caizhi")®
ANTEERVEANEREBERARLR XEEEER e A ) A
(ERmEDw
Hunan TV & Broadcast Intermediary Co., Ltd.  Interest in controlled 40,912,876  Unlisted Shares 1176  Long position
(HEEEEERMARAR) corporations
("Hunan TVBI")®
HNEEREERGERARI(HEEE) XEZEER FEETMRS A
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Notes:

M

The calculation is based on the total number of 141,428,080 Unlisted Shares and
206,594,736 H Shares in issue as at December 31, 2024.

Eastern Bell Il is a limited partnership established in the PRC. As of December 31, 2024,
the general partner of Eastern Bell Il was Shanghai Dingxiao, whose general partner
was Shanghai Dingman, which in turn, the equity interest of Shanghai Dingman was
owned by Mr. Yan Li as to 52.88%. Ningbo Dingji was a limited partner of Shanghai
Dingxiao and owned 60.83% partnership interest of Shanghai Dingxiao. Shanghai
Dingman was the general partner of Ningbo Dingji. Mr. Yin Junping was a limited
partner of Ningbo Dingji and held 66.25% partnership interest of Ningbo Dingji.

Suzhou Eastern Bell Il Investment Center (Limited Partnership) (% M & & = 5 &l
XK EHRL(BRAE ) (‘Eastern Bell lII') is a limited partnership established in
the PRC. As of December 31, 2024, the general partner of Eastern Bell Il was Shanghai
Dingxiao, whose general partner was Shanghai Dingman. As such, each of Shanghai
Dingxiao, Ningbo Dingji, and Mr. Yin Junping is deemed to be interested in (i)
55,541,652 H Shares held by Eastern Bell II; and (i) 8,000,000 H Shares held by Eastern
Bell lIl.

Shanghai Dingmin Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) (= /8 & R %
EEEF L (B RA ) (‘Shanghai Dingmin’) is a limited partnership established
in the PRC. As of December 31, 2024, Ningbo Zhongding Lilong Venture Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (2K E R A EREEGE L E(BERAE
%)) (‘Zhongding Lilong") was a limited partner of Shanghai Dingmin and held 99%
partnership interest of Shanghai Dingmin. The general partner of Zhongding Lilong
was Ningbo Dingpu Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership) (28 ) 5% 58 &l
EREARDEERAER), whose general partner was Shanghai Dingman.

As such, each of Mr. Yan Li and Shanghai Dingman is deemed to be interested in (i)
55,541,652 H Shares held by Eastern Bell Il, (i) 8,000,000 H Shares held by Eastern Bell Ill
and (i) 923,100 H Shares held by Shanghai Dingmin.

Shenzhen Xinyu is a limited partnership established in the PRC. As of December 31,
2024, the general partner of Shenzhen Xinyu was Mr. Zhang Gaozhao ( 3k = B ). As
such, Mr. Zhang Gaozhao is deemed to be interested in 22,508,576 Shares held by
Shenzhen Xinyu.

Each of Dachen Chuanglian and Dachen Chuangtong is a limited partnership
established in the PRC. As of December 31, 2024, Dachen Caizhi was the general
partner of each of Dachen Chuanglian and Dachen Chuangtong. Dachen Caizhi was
owned as to 55% equity interest by Hunan TVBI, a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 000917.52). As such, each of Dachen Caizhi and Hunan
TVBI is deemed to be interested in (i) 21,440,924 Unlisted Shares held by Dachen
Chuanglian and (i) 19,471,952 Unlisted Shares held by Dachen Chuangtong.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, our Directors are not aware of

any other persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executives of the

Company) having interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or required to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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EEERE

NET PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERINGAND 2 R EFMEREFTHERAEX

USE OF PROCEEDS 18 A&
The net proceeds from the Global Offering (after deducting the underwriting fees ~ 2 EREEE TSR IE F 5 (IR B84 E A K iER
and related cost and expenses) amounted to approximately HK$116.3 million (the B AR F X 18) 4 AN1638 & 8 T (2R & Fr

‘GO Net Proceeds”). The Group has used and will continue to allocate and use S REBEFHE)) - AEEEF R L KEEZRBRA
the GO Net Proceeds in accordance with the purposes referred to in “Future Plans ~ PR ERE R [AR KB LR FAERIBB AR AT E
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The table below sets forth a breakdown & DB FE B 2B EMERIBFEE - N R H 7
of the utilization and proposed utilization of the GO Net Proceeds as at December ~ F204F 12 A3B 2 B ERMEB R B FEAE L
31, 2024 (any discrepancies between totals and sums of amounts listed in the — ¥t &R A (TR REERERTI SH T

table below are due to rounding): ZHmEERELOEME) :
Amount Expected
utilized as at timetable for the
Percentage Actual GO Net December31, unutilized GO
of total Proceeds received 2024 Balance Net Proceeds
20245 RFBALREE
BERUIN2R 128318 FEREFEN
L S Ep BERBREARE RELLER &5 BHREE

Approximate % HKD/million RMB/million RMB/million RMB/million
B 4% BEEr ARYBER ARBEER AR¥BER

Enhance our service capabilities, improve customer coverage, and 450 523 481 24 257 Bytheendof 2025
expand categories of intralogistics equipment

RARMOERBEE ) REEFEERARSANRRERE W5ERZ A

Expand and upgrade our supply chain infrastructure 200 33 214 79 135 Bytheendof 2025

BARFRAMG R ELER W5ERZ A

Strengthen our technology capabilities and infrastructure 150 174 160 7.2 88  Bytheendof 2025

RARMOREENREW RS N5ERZ A

Conduct strategic mergers and acquisitions that align with our 100 116 107 68 39 Bytheendof 2025
regional coverage, industry focus, and business priorities

EmBAMOEEAR TREL RRERECEN WBERZH
RO

General working capital and general corporate purposes 100 116 107 55 52 Bytheendof 2025

-REEEER-RATAR WSERZ A

Total 100.0 116.3 106.9 49.8 57.1

@t
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The Board will continuously assess the proposed utilization of the GO Net
Proceeds and may revise or amend such proposed utilization when necessary
to cope with the changing market conditions, and strive for better business
performance of the Group.

See the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus
and the annual report of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023 for
further details.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance
with a view to safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders. To accomplish
this, the Company has adopted the code provisions of the CG Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.
During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the principles
and applicable code provisions under the CG Code. The Directors will review the
corporate governance policies and compliance with the CG Code each financial
year and apply the “comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance

reports included in the annual reports.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee, which comprises three
members, namely, Mr. Du Lizhu (chairman of the Audit Committee), Dr. Fan Xia
and Mr. Chiang Edward.

The Audit Committee has, together with the management of the Company,
reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and the disclosure in this annual report.

The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the preparation of the financial
information complies with the applicable accounting practices and policies, the
requirements of the Listing Rules and any other applicable legal requirements,
and that adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance with
HKFRS have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the AGM of the Company.

There has been no change in auditors since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this annual report.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no significant events which could have a
material impact on the Company’s operating and financial performance occurred
from the end of the Reporting Period to the date of this annual report.

By order of the Board
Hou Zekuan
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Guangzhou City, the PRC, March 19, 2025
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EEEHE

During the Reporting Period, all members of the Supervisory Committee
complied with the principle of integrity and earnestly performed their supervisory
duties in accordance with the relevant regulations set out in the PRC Company
Law, the Articles of Association and the Rules of Procedure for Meetings of the
Supervisory Committee of FOLANGSI CO., LTD to protect the interests of the
Shareholders and the Company.

COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee currently consists of three Supervisors, among which
one of them is the chairman to the Supervisory Committee. Pursuant to our
Articles of Association, the Supervisory Committee shall comprise supervisors
who represent the Shareholders and the employees, and the proportion of
the employee representative supervisors shall be 1/3 or more. The employee
representatives in the Supervisory Committee shall be democratically elected by
the employee representative congress, the employee congress or other means.
We have one employee representative supervisor elected by our employees
and two shareholder representative supervisors elected and appointed by our
Shareholders at a Shareholders’ meeting. Each of the Supervisors elected by our
employees and/or by our Shareholders is appointed for a term of three years
which is renewable upon re-election and re-appointment.

Composition of the Supervisory Committee is set out as follows.

SHR - 2RBEFTEREREFEIADE
AEE&&%M%%%%@E@@E%%@%
ERAAEAERE  ETRERY  RERE
TEERE  #ERREAQFAHNE -

EEgdm

EreRNAa-REEAKXK HP—RERRE
E2XIF -BEAFNER EFEEERER

FNAABIRE HFBIRREFNAR
TER=HZ— - EFEFHRIRRHLT

BTEBBIKRAE BIAXGHEHMT
ARTEREL - RME—LABITEREL
MBTRREEEMEARRERRAS L&
BREAOBRRRREFT BHBIR SHER
BREANSEENEREREA=F  THEW
BRI LAET -

EESHEREIMT -

Name Position Date of Appointment Duties
A B A2 ZERH BE
Mes. Li Xiaolan Employee representative December 16,2017 Responsible for presiding over the work of
and chairman of the the Supervisory Committee, supervising
Supervisory Committee and providing independent advice to our
Board
FNEEL BIRKFRESTSLR 2017412 A16H EXREREgNIF “EEFe
VRERRBIER
Mr. He Xiaocheng Supervisor December 16, 2017 Responsible for supervising and providing
independent advice to our Board
BINKEE E= 201712 A16H BEEBEEESTMHARHEBUYER
Ms. Liu Xiaoli Supervisor June 14,2024 Responsible for supervising and providing
independent advice to our Board
g/ Brt = 202456 A14R EREEEBEEFEYMARHBUER
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WORKS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Supervisory Committee held two
meetings and the details are as follows:

On March 20, 2024, the fourth meeting of the third session of the Supervisory
Committee was held with an agenda which mainly included the consideration
of the audited consolidated financial statements together with the report of the
Directors, the auditor’s report, the results announcements and the annual report,
the report of the Audit Committee, the financial reporting system, and the review
of the risk management and internal control system as well as the review of the

existing internal audit function.

On August 21, 2024, the fifth meeting of the third session of the Supervisory
Committee was held with an agenda which mainly included the consideration of
the unaudited consolidated financial statements together with the interim results
announcement and the interim report, the report of the Audit Committee, the
financial reporting system, and the review of the risk management and internal

control system as well as the review of the existing internal audit function.
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COMMENTS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE ON
CERTAIN MATTERS OF THE COMPANY IN 2024

During the Reporting Period, the members of the Supervisory Committee
adhered to the principles of fidelity and accountability to all Shareholders and
duly performed their duties and works according to the relevant laws and
regulations. The Supervisory Committee worked actively, and supervised the
regulatory compliance and operation, financial condition, use of proceeds and
internal control, etc. of the Company through attending Shareholders’ general
meetings and board meetings and audit and inspection center as non-voting
delegates and onsite inspections. The Supervisory Committee has arrived at the
following opinions:

(1) During the Reporting Period, the Board conscientiously performed the
rights and obligations conferred by the PRC Company Law and the Articles
of Association, the Supervisory Committee is of the view that the operation
of the Company has been consistent with the provisions of the PRC laws and
the Articles of Association; the decision-making process of the Company
has been in compliance with the laws; and the Company has established a
relatively comprehensible internal control system. The senior management
also operated in accordance with the law and in a standardized manner. The
Directors and senior management were able to perform their obligations
in good faith, and there were no violations of the law, the Articles of
Association or acts detrimental to the interests of Shareholders.

(2) During the Reporting Period, the Supervisory Committee supervised and
inspected the financial system and financial position of the Company and
considered that the Company'’s financial system was sound, its financial
operations were standardised and its financial position was good, and that
the Company’s annual audit report and the independent auditor’s report
truly, accurately and completely reflected the financial position, results of

operations and cash flows of the Company.
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In the coming year, the Supervisory Committee will continue to play the role
of supervising and monitoring with an aim to protecting the interests of all
Shareholders and the Company.

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
Li Xiaolan

Guangzhou City, the PRC, March 19, 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERHRSE

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 to the Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND VALUES

Our corporate mission is “improving asset utilization and saving social resources”
and it is embedded in the way we operate. We adhere to the corporate values
of “Integrity, Passion, Teamwork, Dedication”, and integrate the business
philosophies, including “persistence in developing green economy”, “customers’
need orientation”, “value creation through services’, into corporate development
strategy. We provide training to our staff so that they understand our corporate
culture and our internal policies and procedures. We regularly seek to improve
how we operate so that we can provide greater value and transparency for our
stakeholders. We understand business expansion must be underpinned by a
robust corporate governance structure. Our Company has adopted and fully
intends to comply with the corporate governance requirements under the CG
Code. Our Group will continue to monitor for any developments and adjust
how we operate so that we are always prepared for the risks to our business and

protect our Shareholder’s interests.

Our team of hardworking and diligent individuals, from employees to Board
members, work towards our mission by constantly thinking of ways to innovate. A
key strategy of ours to drive growth is to develop and enhance our technological
capabilities. For example, we have continuously invested in our Intelligent Asset
and Operation Management Platform, which has allowed us to operate more
effectively. We believe that technology is the way to propel our business forward
and drive efficiencies in both our own operations and for our customers. This will
allow us to deliver better services to our customers, achieve greater returns to our
Shareholders and grow our business further.

We are also strong advocates for sustainability. A big part of our mission is
about making sure that we are mindful of how we best make use of what we
have. We are committed to protecting the environment through adherence
with environmental laws and regulations, as well as implementing practices to
reduce our carbon footprint. We keep in mind the importance of sustainable
growth when working with our stakeholders, such as our customers, employees,
Shareholders and suppliers. Our view is that sustainable growth will lead to the
best results for our Shareholders and bring the greatest benefits to the people we
affect.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance
with a view to safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders. The Company has
adopted the code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the principles
and applicable code provisions under the CG Code.

The Directors will review the corporate governance policies and compliance with
the CG Code each financial year and apply the “comply or explain” principle in the
corporate governance reports included in the annual reports.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors and Supervisors. Having made specific enquiries with the Directors and
Supervisors, each of the Directors and Supervisors confirmed that he/she has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

THE BOARD

The Company is led by an effective Board, which assumes responsibility for
leadership and control and is collectively responsible for pursuing the success
of the Company through the direction and oversight of its affairs. Directors
objectively make decisions that are in the best interests of the Company.

The Board achieves a balance of skills, experience, offers views consistent with
the requirements of the Company’s business, and regularly reviews (i) the
contribution Directors need to make to perform their responsibilities to the
Company and (i) whether Directors have spent sufficient time performing duties
commensurate with their roles and Board responsibilities. The Board comprises
a balanced composition of executive Directors and non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) which maintains strong
independence of the Board for the effective exercise of independent judgement.
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

Our Board consists of nine Directors, including five executive Directors, one

non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Hou Zekuan (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Hou Zebing (General Manager)

Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan

Ms. Ma Li

Mr. Zhou Limin (Appointed with effect from June 14, 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Chuanfen (Appointed with effect from June 14, 2024)
Mr. Zhu Yingchun (Resigned with effect from June 14, 2024)
Mr. Shu Xiaowu (Resigned with effect from June 14, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chiang Edward

Dr. Fan Xia

Mr. Du Lizhu (Appointed with effect from June 14, 2024)

Mr. Wang Chuanbang (Resigned with effect from June 14, 2024)

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Zhou Limin was appointed as an executive
Director, Mr. Yu Chuanfen was appointed as a non-executive Director and Mr. Du
Lizhu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, each of whom
obtained a legal opinion on June 7, 2024, and confirmed that they understood all
the requirements of the Listing Rules applicable to them as directors of a listed
issuer and the potential consequences of making false statements or furnishing
false information to the Stock Exchange.

The particulars of the biographies of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” in this annual report.
The relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the biographies of
each Director in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report. Save as disclosed above, there are no other relationships (including
financial, business, family or other material/related relationships) between the
members of the Board.

Composition of Supervisors

Ms. Li Xiaolan (Chairman of the Supervisory Committee)

Mr. He Xiaocheng

Mes. Liu Xiaoli (Appointed with effect from June 14, 2024)

Mr. Zhang Xiaolong (Resigned with effect from June 14, 2024)
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS BEEMHERL&

The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings, Board committees’ JEERNHEHEBITNEETST TR EFZL
meetings and Shareholders’ general meetings of the Company held during the EB& @& RAARIBRRASHHELSFHN X
Reporting Period, is set out in the table below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEE/EERY
Annual Other
Shareholders’  Shareholders’
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Strategy General Meetings
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting (if any)
AR R
EEfg E3x®  ENZEE®  HHZEEREe REZBE  BKZREE RRBEFAE K& (H%)
Executive Directors
BiTES
Mr. Hou Zekuan 99 N/A N/A 1N N 1N 0/0
BERLE TER TER
Mr. Hou Zebing 99 N/A 1N N/A U I 0/0
REELE TR TEA
Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan® 99 N/A N/A N/A 0/0 N 0/0
BRExED TER TER TER
Ms. MaLi 9/9 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1N 0/0
SBRt TER TER TER TER
Mr. Zhou Limin® 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/0
AR L E0 TR TER TR TER T
Non-executive Directors
FYTEZS
Mr.Yu Chuanfen® 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 0/0 N/A 0/0
AEREED TER TER TER TER
Mr. Zhu Yingchun® 5/5 N N/A N/A N N 0/0
KDFRE TER TER
Mr. Shu Xiaowu® 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 1N N 0/0
RS TER TER T@En
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHES
Mr. Chiang Edward® 99 1 N/A n 11 ”n 0/0
BREASEY TER
Dr. Fan Xia 99 22 1N N N/A [l 0/0
BERT TER
Mr. Du Lizhu? 4/4 11 0/0 N/A N/A N/A 0/0
R zED TR TER TER
Mr. Wang Chuanbang® 5/5 N 11 N/A N/A n 0/0
TERTEY TER TEm
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Notes:
(1) Mr. Zhou Limin was appointed as an executive Director with effect from June 14, 2024.

(2)  Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan was appointed as a member of the Strategy Committee with effect
from June 14, 2024.

(3)  Mr. Yu Chuanfen was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Strategy Committee with effect from June 14, 2024.

(4)  Mr. Zhu Yingchun resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Strategy Committee with effect from June 14, 2024.

(5)  Mr. Shu Xiaowu resigned as a non-executive Director and a member of the Strategy
Committee with effect from June 14, 2024.

(6) Mr. Chiang Edward was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee with effect
from June 14, 2024.

(7)  Mr. Du Lizhu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect
from June 14, 2024.

(8)  Mr. Wang Chuanbang resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from June 14, 2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, in addition to regular Board
meetings, the chairman of the Board also held a meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.

The Company has adopted the practice of convening regular board meetings
at least four times a year and about once every quarter. The notices of all regular
board meetings shall be given at least fourteen days prior to the date of meeting
so that all Directors shall have an opportunity to attend the meeting and be
informed about the agenda of regular board meetings.

For other meetings of the Board and board committees, reasonable notices shall
generally be given. The minutes shall be kept by the secretary to the Board of the
Company and their copies shall be circulated to all Directors for their information
and records.

During the Reporting Period, the Company held nine board meetings, including
to approve, among other things, the annual results of the Group for the year
ended December 31,2023.

DUTIES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS
OF THE BOARD AND THE MANAGEMENT

The Board assumes responsibility for the leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for the direction and supervision of the affairs of
the Company.
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The Board, through its committees, directly and indirectly leads and directs
the management, formulates strategies and oversees their implementation,
supervises the Group's operational and financial performance and ensures that
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors, bring a wide range of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board to enable it to operate efficiently and effectively.
The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that
the Company has a high standard of regulatory reporting and play the role of
balance when the Board effectively exercises its independent judgment on the
Company's initiatives and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all information of the Company and,
where appropriate, shall request to seek independent professional advice at the
Company'’s expense to discharge their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company the particulars of other positions held
by them.

The Board has the discretion to make decisions on all material matters relating
to policy, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve in conflicts of interest), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other material operational matters of
the Company. Management is responsible for implementing the decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the day-to-day operations and management of
the Company.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders at all times.

The Company has maintained appropriate insurance in respect of the liability of
the Directors and senior management against any legal proceedings against the
Directors and senior management arising out of the Company’s activities. The

insurance coverage will be reviewed annually.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual, to reinforce their respective independence and accountability. During
the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board is Mr. Hou Zekuan while the
general manager (chief executive) is Mr. Hou Zebing. Therefore, the division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive has been clearly
established.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Board confirms that it has:

@ reviewed the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance
and made recommendations to the Board and report to the Board on

matters;

(b) reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to the Group's employees and Directors; and

(e) reviewed the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in
the Corporate Governance Report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period, the Board has complied with the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules in relation to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors, representing
not less than one-third of the Board and one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received confirmation of independence submitted by
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, and the Company considers that each of these Directors to be
independent.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

The company has established the board independence evaluation mechanism
incorporating processes and procedures, to ensure a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows the Board to effectively exercise independent
judgment so it can better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The evaluation aims to improve the effectiveness of the Board, maximise
strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement or further development.
The evaluation process also clarifies what actions the Company need to take to
maintain and improve the performance of the Board, for instance, addressing
individual training and development needs of each Director.

Based on the board independence evaluation mechanism, the Board will conduct
annual reviews on its independence. The board independence evaluation report
will be presented to the Board which will collectively discuss the results and the

action plan forimprovement, if appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

The Directors should be kept informed about their duties with the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company, and advance with the
times.

Each of the newly appointed Directors of the Company has received a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training upon his/her first
appointment and thereafter the Company has provided relevant briefings and
professional development as and when required to ensure that the Directors have
an appropriate understanding of the operation and business of the Company and
to ensure that the Directors are fully aware of their duties under the Listing Rules,
applicable legal and other regulatory requirements and the policies related to the
Company's business and governance.

Under code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that they can continue to make informed and relevant
contributions to the Board. During the year ended December 31, 2024, all
Directors participated in continuous professional development by attending
training courses or external seminars to learn about and refresh their knowledge
and skills used to contribute to the Board.
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The training records of the Directors for the year ended December 31, 2024 are

summarised as follows:

B EZ204F12ANBIEFEE EFENEIIE M

AT

Attend training
courses including
(but not limited
to) briefings,

Read relevant
news highlights,
newspapers,
periodicals,

seminars, magazines
conferences and and related
workshops publications
HEEINRE HEMEBENE
BIEEFRRR) B ®RE-
BHRE - ATE- B BHR
Directors 2= BERIEY EE T Y
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Hou Zekuan BEERE v/ v
Mr. Hou Zebing BERLAE v/ v
Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan BB A 4 v
Ms. Ma Li BBt v v
Mr. Zhou Limin* FRMRF A v v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Yu Chuanfen* B8 255 5 A~ v/ v
Mr. Zhu Yingchun** N UIE = S 4 v
Mr. Shu Xiaowu** AT /N o HE e v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. Chiang Edward BRHEEE v v
Dr. Fan Xia BEHL v v
Mr. Du Lizhu* Y RRRVAR o s v/ v/
Mr. Wang Chuanbang** FEM L v v

* Mr. Zhou Limin, Mr. Yu Chuanfen and Mr. Du Lizhu were appointed as an executive
Director, non-executive Director and independent non-executive Director on June 14,

2024, respectively.

*%

Mr. Zhu Yingchun and Mr. Shu Xiaowu resigned as non-executive Directors on June

14, 2024, and Mr. Wang Chuanbang resigned as an independent non-executive

Director on the same day.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Strategy
Committee, to take charge of overseeing specific areas of the Company'’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company have specific written terms of reference
which clearly set out their authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
have been published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules and paragraph
C4 and paragraph D.3 of Part 2 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists
of three members, namely Mr. Du Lizhu (independent non-executive Director),
Dr. Fan Xia (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Chiang Edward
(independent non-executive Director), with Mr. Du Lizhu serving as the chairman.
Mr. Du Lizhu holds the appropriate professional qualifications as required under
Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are not laxer than those provided
for in the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to, the following:

(@ proposing the appointment or change of external auditors to the Board,
and monitoring the independence of external auditors and evaluating their

performance;

(b) examining the financial information of our Company and reviewing financial

reports and statements of our Company;

(© examining the financial reporting system, the risk management and internal
control system of our Company, overseeing their rationality, efficiency and

implementation and making recommendations to the Board; and

(d) dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board.

The Audit Committee has, together with the management of the Company,
reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and the disclosure in this annual report.

The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the preparation of the financial
information complies with the applicable accounting practices and policies, the
requirements of the Listing Rules and any other applicable legal requirements,
and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, two meetings of the Audit Committee
were held to, among others, review the annual financial results and reports, the
effectiveness of financial reporting, major internal audit issues, financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems and the internal audit
function, appointment of external auditors, engagement of non-audit services
and related scope of work and employees’ challenging potential improprieties.
The Board had not deviated from any recommendation given by the Audit
Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
auditors.

The Audit Committee also met with the external auditors once without the
presence of executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and paragraph
E.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three
members, namely Dr. Fan Xia (independent non-executive Director), Mr. Du Lizhu
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Hou Zebing (executive Director),
with Dr. Fan Xia serving as the chairman.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but are not limited
to, the following:

(@ advising the Board on the overall remuneration plan and structure of
Directors, Supervisors and senior management and the establishment of
transparent formal procedures for determining remuneration policy of our
Company;

(b) examining the criteria of performance evaluation of Directors, Supervisors
and the senior management of our Company, conducting performance
evaluations and making recommendations to the Board;

(c) formulating individual remuneration plans for Directors, Supervisors and
members of the senior management in accordance with the terms of
reference, the importance of their positions, the time they spend on such
positions as well as the remuneration benchmarks for the relevant positions
in the other comparable companies; and

(d) dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board, and if necessary,
engaging external experts to provide relevant independent services.
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, one meeting of the Remuneration
Committee was held to, among others, consider/review the relevant matters
and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy, assess
performance of the executive Directors and the senior management of the
Company, and approve the terms of service contracts and remuneration packages
of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and senior management.

The remuneration of senior management by range during the Reporting Period is
set out below:
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Number of persons
Remuneration Range (RMB) e E (AR T A"
RMBO to RMB500,000 AR®oTE A R¥5000007T 1
RMB500,001 to RMB1,000,000 A R #5000017C & A K #1,000,0007C 4

RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000

A R #1,000,0017C & A K #1,500,0007T

The Company pays remuneration in the form of salaries, bonuses, social security
schemes, housing provident fund schemes and other benefits to executive
Directors and senior management, who are also employees. The independent
non-executive Directors are remunerated based on their duties, and the
non-executive Directors are not remunerated.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management
and the five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 8, 31 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3 of Part 2 of the CG Code and
the Company is fully compliant with the board diversity requirements under
Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of three
members, namely Mr. Hou Zekuan (executive Director), Dr. Fan Xia (independent
non-executive Director) and Mr. Chiang Edward (independent non-executive
Director), with Mr. Hou Zekuan serving as the chairman.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, but not are limited to,
the following:

(@) conducting extensive search and providing to the Board suitable candidates
for Directors, general managers and other members of the senior

management;

(b) overseeing the implementation of the Board diversity policy; taking
into account various factors when determining the composition of the
Board, including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and service

tenure;

(c) examining the size and composition of the Board and its members in
respect of their skills, knowledge, experience and diversity at least once
every year, and making recommendations to the Board on any changes in
Board composition in accordance with our Company’s strategies;

(d) researching and developing standards and procedures for the election
of the Board members, general managers and members of the senior
management, and making recommendations to the Board; and

(e) dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, one meeting of the Nomination
Committee was held to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the independence of independent non-executive Directors, review the
Board diversity policy and the Director nomination policy, and consider and
recommend to the Board the appointment of executive Directors/non-executive
Directors/independent non-executive Directors and changes in the member
of the board committees. The Nomination Committee is of the view that the
diversity perspective of the Board is appropriately balanced and has not set any
measurable objectives for the implementation of the Board diversity policy.
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STRATEGY COMMITTEE

Our Company has established the Strategy Committee, which consists of five

members, namely Mr. Hou Zekuan (executive Director), Mr. Hou Zebing (executive

Director), Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan (executive Director), Mr. Yu Chuanfen (non-executive

Director) and Mr. Chiang Edward (independent non-executive Director), with Mr.

Hou Zekuan serving as the chairman.

The main duties of the Strategy Committee include, but are not limited to, the

following:

(@)

)

researching and recommending on long-term development strategy of our
Company;

researching and recommending on significant investment and financing
plans of our Company;

researching and recommending on major capital operations and asset
management project, and annual financial budget plan of our Company;

researching and recommending on significant matters relating to the

development of our Company;

monitoring the above matters and assessing, examining and recommending

on significant changes; and

performing such other duties determined by the Board.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, one meeting of the Strategy

Committee was held to discuss and develop the 2024 annual business strategy

plan.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain a high
standard of corporate governance. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy,
in reviewing and assessing suitable candidates to serve as a Director of the
Company, the Nomination Committee will consider a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and specific needs,
including but not limited to gender, age, language, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional

experience and/or length of service.

Our Directors have a balanced mixed of knowledge and skills, including but not
limited to overall business management, finance and accounting and research
and development. They have obtained degrees in various fields including
mechanical, economics and accounting etc. Furthermore, our Board has a
relatively wide range of ages, ranging from 36 years old to 57 years old and

consists of seven male members and two female members.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the diversity of the
Board, reviewing the Board Diversity Policy from time to time, developing and
reviewing measurable objectives for implementing the Board Diversity Policy,
and monitoring the progress on achieving these measurable objectives in order
to ensure that the policy remains effective.

An analysis of the current composition of the Board based on measurable
objectives is as follows:

L Age

Gender

EEEINEE

ARFEHEMEFTEZTERR(EEES L
BEDAREARMETENEFERIRERS
KENEEER REEFEZTLLBRR R
REBEEERRFABEAEEIARRESRN
BREAR B2EARANEBRARFTES
ko ®{ETARETER  BRETRRIER
Fik BE  EREEES  HEER - R
M TERREERKR S IRBEFER -

EEMAHENDNZIRE  BEETRNE
EXBEIE M e s M EA B
M ESEM  KEE 2 E2FZE
EEMEBM - S EFEFREBAYRE -
T3 ETH ALERBUEKBEMBLKE
BREHEMK -

il

i

o>
[\\y

/

ZTEBENAGERR YENERZERN
BEARMERBEN  UHERZBERKBEAR

BEAMGEMNEZHESSAITMNAKXBRS
N

Fid

Male: 7 Directors BIRESR 31-40: 1 Director 340 1REE

Female: 2 Directors Z2HESR 41-50: 4 Directors 41-505% AR EE
51-60: 4 Directors 51-605% AR E S
Position B#% Education HEESR

BITEF 5%
FHTEE %
BUFMTES 3%

BMEEE 1RES
ERbEES- 2
Ti2:5%ES
FEIRES

Executive Directors: 5 Business management: 1 Director

Non-executive Director: 1 Accounting and finance: 2 Directors
Independent non-executive Director: 3 Engineering: 5 Directors

Law: 1 Director
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Nationality = Business experience BELR
China: 9 Directors HEIRES Accounting and finance: 2 Directors SREH2BRESE

Business management: 2 Directors
Experience relevant to the Company’s
business: 5 Directors

BEETE: 2RES
HANRIELA DL
SHEE

The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view that the current
composition of the Board has met the objectives set out in the Board Diversity
Policy.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Board Diversity Policy and
measurable objectives at least annually to ensure that the Board continues to
function effectively.

GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity at all levels of the Group. The following
table sets out the gender ratio of the Group’s employees (including the Board
and senior management) as at the date of this annual report:

REZEGNREFEERR BMEZFSNAK
EEINEEESTIEERRPRENER

REZBEREVEFEESEFEZLIERR
RAIBMENBER IBREFSHEATUEE
(=

Bl Z Tt

ARRERAEESEBUNMENZT/H T
R BEXAFEREZR  AEEET(BH
EEeRhaMEBRE) ORI

Female Male

z B

Board BEEg 22.2% (2) 77.8% (7)

Senior management RREEE 14.3% (1) 85.7% (6)

Other employees HiES 24.4% (490) 756% (1,517)

Total employees Z2EBE 24.4% (491) 75.6% (1,523)
The Board aims to achieve and maintain gender diversity in the foreseeable future  ZBEE S EZ 2N R W5 K B8 I 445 £ 7l

and has achieved the object that at least 22.2% (2) of them are female directors,
14.3% (1) female senior management and 24.4% (491) female employees, and
considers that the above gender diversity is satisfactory at present.
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Our Company will take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members of the Board when selecting and recommending suitable candidates
for Board appointments to help enhance gender diversity in accordance with
stakeholder expectations and recommended best practices. Our Company also
intends to promote gender diversity when recruiting staff at the mid to senior
level so that our Company will have a pipeline of female senior management and

potential successors to the Board.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the nomination procedure
of Directors and senior management (the “Nomination Policy”), which sets out
the selection criteria, nomination procedure and succession plan in respect of
the nomination and appointment of Directors and senior management of the
Company, with a view to ensuring a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
the Board, and ensuring the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at
the Board and senior management level.

The nomination procedures set out in the Nomination Policy are as follows:

Nomination Procedure

(i)  Prior to convening the meeting of the Nomination Committee, the
Nomination Committee shall invite members of the Board to nominate
candidates (if any) for consideration by the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee may also nominate candidates who are not

nominated by members of the Board.

(i) In respect of the appointment of any candidates for Directors, the
Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due diligence on such
candidates and make recommendations to the Board for consideration.

(i)  The Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the Board to
consider the re-appointment of any existing Board members.

(iv) Please refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders to Nominate a Person for

Election as a Director of the Company” on the Company's website for the

procedures for Shareholders to nominate any candidates for Directors.
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The recommendation of the Nomination Committee shall be submitted to the
Board for consideration and decision on matters relating to the candidates for
Directors, senior management or the re-appointed Directors. The nomination of
candidates for Directors shall be submitted to the Shareholders’ general meeting
for consideration and approval after being considered by the Board.

The Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for assessing the suitability of
proposed candidates and their potential contribution to the Company, including
but not limited to:

@@ Integrity and reputation;

(b) Educational background, professional qualifications and work experience

(including part-time jobs);

()  Whether or not they have the necessary knowledge, skills and experience;

(d) Whether or not they are able to spend sufficient time and energy handling
the Company’s affairs;

(e)  Whether or not they will promote the diversity of the Board in all aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and term of
office;

(f)  Whether or not the candidates for independent Directors meet the
requirements for independence under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

(9 Any other relevant factors as determined by the Nomination Committee or
the Board from time to time.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy as appropriate, to

ensure its effectiveness.
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According to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee
regularly reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board and makes
recommendations on changes to the Board as appropriate, to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy and ensure that the Board maintains a diverse
and balanced composition. In reviewing and assessing the composition of the
Board, the Nomination Committee is committed to achieving diversity at all
levels and considers various aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
language, cultural and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, industry and regional experience and/or length of service.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 102 of the Articles of Association, directors shall be elected
or replaced by the shareholders’ general meeting, and may be removed by the
shareholders’ general meeting before the expiry of their terms of office. The
term of office of the directors shall be 3 years, and they may be re-elected and
re-appointed.

The term of office of the directors shall commence from the date of their
appointment until the expiry of the term of the current session of the board of
directors. If the term of office of a director expires but re-election is not made
responsively, the said director shall continue fulfilling the duties as director
pursuant to laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules and the Articles
of Association until a new director is elected. Subject to the relevant laws,
regulations and regulatory rules of the place where the Company’s shares are
listed, if the board of directors appoints a new director to fill a casual vacancy on
the board of directors, such appointed director shall hold office only until the first
general meeting after his/her appointment and may be re-elected.

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) of
the Company are appointed for a specific term of three years.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

It is the responsibility of our Board to ensure that we maintain sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard our Shareholders’
investment and our assets at all times. We maintain internal manuals setting
out operating procedures, internal control procedures and other policies
and guidelines. We have also adopted and implemented comprehensive risk
management policies in various aspects of our business operations, such as IT,
financial reporting, compliance, and human resources. Our Board of Directors
are responsible for the establishment, update, implementation, review and
maintenance of our risk management and internal control policies and systems
(the “Internal Procedures”), while our senior management monitors the daily
implementation of the Internal Procedures with respect to each subsidiary and
functional department. The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their roles in relation to risk management and
the design, implementation and inspection of the Internal Procedures. The
Supervisory Committee oversees the establishment, update, implementation,
review and maintenance of the Internal Procedures by the Board.

The Internal Procedures are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

We conduct annual reviews of the implementation of the Internal Procedures to
ensure their effectiveness and sufficiency.

The Internal Procedures mainly cover the following areas:

Compliance Risk Management

In order to effectively manage our compliance and legal risk exposures, we
have adopted strict internal procedures to ensure the compliance of our
business operations with the applicable rules and regulations. In accordance
with these procedures, our in-house legal department performs the basic
function of reviewing and updating the form of contracts we enter into
with our customers, partners, and suppliers. Our legal department examines
the contract terms and reviews all relevant documents for our business
operations, including licenses and permits obtained by the counterparties
to perform their obligations of business contracts and all the necessary
underlying due diligence materials, before we enter into any contracts or

business arrangements.
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Our in-house legal department is responsible for obtaining any requisite
governmental pre-approvals or consents, including preparing and
submitting all necessary documents for filing with relevant government
authorities, within the prescribed regulatory timelines. We continuously
improve our internal policies according to changes in laws, regulations and
industry standards, and update internal templates for legal documents. We
undertake compliance management over various aspects of our operations
and employee activities. We have also established an accountability system
in respect of employees’ violations of laws, regulations and internal policies.

In relation to anti-fraud, anti-money laundering, anti-bribery and
anti-corruption, we have implemented specific policies and internal control
measures, which set forth procedures for identifying potential corruption,
implementing relevant anti-corruption procedures and setting out
anti-corruption responsibilities for relevant personnel. We strictly prohibit
bribery or other improper payments in any of our business operations
according to our anti-bribery and anti-corruption policies. This prohibition
applies to all business activities, whether involving government officials,
influential personnel or private or public payors. Improper payments
prohibited by these policies include bribes, kickbacks, excessive gifts or
entertainment, or any other payment made or offered to obtain an undue
business advantage. Moreover, we keep accurate books and records
that reflect transactions and asset dispositions in reasonable detail.
We specifically require that the employees submit all reimbursement
requests related to entertainment expenditure or gifts presented to third
parties on behalf of the Company in accordance with our anti-bribery
and anti-corruption policies, and specifically record the reason for the
expenditure. Any entertainment expenditure exceeding a certain amount
per person and any expenditure incurred for entertainment not related
to business meetings must be approved in advance by our compliance
officer. Payment made in violation of anti-bribery and anti-corruption
policies is strictly prohibited. Our compliance department is responsible
for investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate measures
as necessary. We provide employees with adequate communication
channels and encourage employees to take the initiative to seek guidance
from us regarding the implementation of anti-corruption policies. We

also have an internal whistleblowing channel which is available for the
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employees of the Company to report any doubtful corruption and bribery
acts. The employees can also make an anonymous report to the internal
anti-corruption department/internal audit department which is responsible
for investigating the reported matters and taking appropriate measures.
We conduct anti-corruption and anti-bribery compliance checks and
inspections regularly on employees and senior personnel. We also have
an employee code of conduct in place, which contains internal rules and
guidelines regarding basic working rules, work ethics, confidentiality,
negligence, anti-bribery and anti-corruption. We provide our employees
with regular training and resources to explain the guidelines contained in
the employee code of conduct. During the year ended December 31, 2024,
the Company held six anti-corruption trainings and briefing meetings for the
management, departmental managers, salespersons and after-sales service
engineers. Meanwhile, various anti-corruption training sessions were held for
newly hired employees. There are no violation events related to bribery and

corruption.

Asset Security Risk Management

We are exposed to asset security risk with our intralogistics equipment
subscription services as customers may damage or lose our intralogistics
equipment, or we are unable to reclaim actual control or possession
of intralogistics equipment. During the Reporting Period, we did
not experience any incidents of loss or damage to our intralogistics
equipment from customers during the subscription period. For more
information about related risks, please see “Risk Factors — Risks Relating
to Our Business and Industry — We are exposed to risks associated with
failing to detect and prevent fraud, negligence or other misconduct
committed by our employees, agents, customers, suppliers or other
third parties” in the Prospectus. Our Intelligent Asset and Operation
Management Platform enables 24/7 remote monitoring and supervision
of our intralogistics equipment and relevant operators, so that we could
generate alerts or other actions in a timely manner upon detection of
any incorrect maneuvers of the operators. If the customer causes any
loss or damage to our intralogistics equipment during the subscription

period, we would claim compensation from customers.
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We are exposed to the credit risks associated with our intralogistics
equipment subscription service business and sales of intralogistics
equipment and parts. In order to mitigate the credit risks and ensure the
collectability of trade and bills receivables in our transactions, we have
delegated a team responsible for the determination of credit limits and credit
approvals, and have adopted credit risk measures to review and monitor
our trade and bills receivables from time to time, including implementing
security measures and monitoring procedures on customers. Before
accepting any new customers, we use Qichacha (18 & &) and Tianyancha (K
ARE) to assess the creditworthiness of potential customers and determine
their appropriate credit limits individually. The line of credit and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed regularly in order to effectively
monitor our customers. These procedures are designed to provide us with
the information needed to implement adjustments where necessary, and to
take proactive corrective actions in time. In addition, in order to manage our
exposure to credit risks, we have adopted credit management policies and
procedures that are reviewed and updated by our risk management team in
conjunction with other relevant departments. We have adopted procedures
to deal with material overdue payments, which include (i) close monitoring
of material overdue payments; (ii) evaluation of the risks based on factors
such as its payment history, and the general economic environment; and
(iii) designing of appropriate follow-up actions such as making phone calls,
issuing demand letters, visiting the customer’s office and initiating legal
proceedings. However, we cannot assure that we are able to collect all trade
and bills receivables. For more information, please see “Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to Our Business and Industry — We may not be able to satisfy
our working capital requirements if we experience significant delays or
defaults in payments from customers, or significant delays in our billing and
settlement process” in the Prospectus.
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Liquidity Risk

We aim to maintain sufficient cash and credit lines to meet our liquidity
requirements. We finance our working capital requirements through a
combination of funds generated from operations and alternative funding
resources from equity and debt.

The Company has established a whistleblowing policy to enable the
Company’s employees and those who deal with the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence and anonymously, with the Audit Committee or
legal responsible person of the Company about possible improprieties in
matters related to the Company.

The Company has established a disclosure policy to provide general guidance for
Directors, Supervisors, senior management and relevant employees in dealing
with confidential information, overseeing information disclosure and responding
to enquiries. The Company has established control procedures to ensure that
unauthorized acquisition and use of insider information are strictly prohibited.

During the Reporting Period, our Company has truthfully, accurately, legally
and timely disclosed information in strict compliance with the requirements
of domestic and foreign laws and regulations, the Listing Rules, the Articles
of Association and the disclosure policy of our Company without any false
statements, misleading statements or material omissions, to ensure investors will
be able to receive the disclosed information fairly, timely and effectively.

To monitor the ongoing implementation of the Internal Procedures, our
Audit Committee reviews and supervises our financial reporting process and
relevant internal control system on an ongoing basis to ensure that the Internal
Procedures are effective in identifying, managing and mitigating risks involved in
our business operations.

Our internal audit department is responsible for reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of our risk management and internal control systems, reporting
issues identified and improving our risk management and internal control systems
by conducting comprehensive audits, special audits or special investigations
on an ongoing basis. The internal audit department reports any major issues
identified to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors on a timely basis.
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For the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board was not aware of any material defects in the internal control of the
Group. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group twice for the year ended December 31, 2024
and up to the date of this annual report, and considered the risk management
and internal control systems to be effective and adequate and the Group has
established an effective risk management and internal control system, which
achieves our objectives of risk management and internal control and is free of
material defects and significant defects. The review has been discussed by the
Company's management and evaluated by the Audit Committee.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements with the support of accounting and financial team.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with HKFRS.
Appropriate accounting policy has been used and consistently applied, except for
the amendments, revision and interpretation of the standards.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern/adoption of the going concern approach in preparing the
financial statements. The Directors believe that the financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position, results and cash flows of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2024, and other financial information disclosure and

report complies with the requirements of relevant laws.
A statement by our external auditors about their reporting responsibilities for

the financial statements is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this
annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Details of the fees paid and payable in respect of the audit and non-audit services
provided by our external auditors for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set
out in the table below.
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Fees paid/payable

Currency

e, B

EHE%

RMB’000

Types of service BR 75 38 Bl AR® TR
Annual audit FWEE 3,000
Total #at 3,000

COMPANY SECRETARIES NAME

Ms. Ma Li and Ms. Tang Ka Yan were appointed as the Company’s joint company
secretaries. Ms. Ma is the executive director and the secretary of the Board of
the Company. Ms. Tang serves as the senior manager of Tricor Services Limited.,
which is a global professional services supplier specializing in integrated business,
corporate and investor services. The main contact person of Ms. Tang in the
Company is Ms. Ma.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Ma and Ms. Tang have
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the year
ended December 31, 2024, respectively.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 47 of the Articles of Association of the Company, the Board

may convene an extraordinary general meeting.

A shareholder holding, or shareholders holding in aggregate, 10% or more of
the shares of the Company ("Applicants’) shall have the right to propose to
the Board to convene extraordinary general meetings and such proposal shall
be made in writing. The Board shall reply in writing regarding the acceptance
or refusal to convene an extraordinary general meeting within ten days upon
receiving the proposal in accordance with the requirements of the laws,
administrative regulations, and the Articles of Association.

If the Board does not reply within ten days upon receiving the above written
request, the Applicants of such proposal shall have the right to propose to the
Supervisory Committee to convene an extraordinary general meeting by way of
written request(s).

If the Supervisory Committee does not issue a notice of the extraordinary general
meeting within five days upon receiving the above written request, shareholders
individually or jointly holding 10% or more of the shares of the Company for 90
consecutive days shall have the right to convene and preside over the meeting on
their own initiative, provided that the procedure for convening an extraordinary
general meeting shall be the same as that used by the Board when possible. If the
shareholders convene and hold an extraordinary general meeting on their own
due to the failure of the Board or Supervisory Committee to hold the meeting as
aforesaid, the Company shall bear the necessary expenses incurred thereby.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholder(s) who hold(s) 3% or more of the voting shares of the Company,
individually or in aggregate, shall have the right to submit provisional proposals
("Proposal’) in writing to the convener 10 days before the general meeting. The
convener shall, within 2 days of receiving the Proposal, issue a supplementary
notice of the general meeting to announce its contents. The contents of the
Proposal shall fall within the scope of the responsibilities of the general meeting
and shall have clear topics and specific resolutions.
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Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the
following:

Address: No. 999, Yayun Avenue, Shigi Town, Panyu District, Guangzhou City,
Guangdong Province, PRC

(To the secretary of the Board)

Tel: +86 (020) 66855746
Fax: +86 (020) 66855740
E-mail: zgb@fls123.com

Shareholders may direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s H Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The Company ensures that the H
Share Registrar maintains the most up-to-date information relating to the Shares
at all times so that it can respond effectively to the Shareholders’ enquiries.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above addresses and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going communication with Shareholders and in particular,
through annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the annual
general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to
meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To safequard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed
for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including the election
of individual Directors and Supervisors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules. Poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a Shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) in order to ensure the Shareholders
are provided with equal and timely access to information about the Company,
to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow Shareholders to
actively participate in the Company’s activities. The Board regularly reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders” Communication
Policy particularly with regards to the requirements of Part 2 in the CG Code, and
confirmed its effectiveness during the Reporting Period.

The Company has established a series of channels for Shareholders’

communication, specifically as follows:

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders can request to acquire information about their shareholdings
and other relevant matters at any time as far as they are available.

Shareholders will have the address of the designated contact person and
e-mail address and inquiry telephone numbers to ensure they can raise any
concerns related to the Company.
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Corporate Communication

Corporate communications include any document(s) issued or to be
issued by the Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities or the investing public, including but not limited to (a)
the directors’ report and its annual accounts together with a copy of the
auditor’s report and, where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the
interim report and, where applicable, its summary interim report; (c) the
quarterly report, if any; (d) a notice of meeting; (e) a listing document; (f) a
circular; and (g) a proxy form.

The Company will send any corporate communications that seek
instructions from the Shareholders of the Company on how they wish to
exercise their rights or make elections as the Company’s Shareholders to its
Shareholders (“Actionable Corporate Communications”) individually
in electronic form by email. If the Company does not possess the email
address of a Shareholder or the email address provided is not functional, the
Company will send the Actionable Corporate Communications in printed
form together with a request form for soliciting the Shareholder’s functional
email address to facilitate electronic dissemination of Actionable Corporate

Communications in the future.

The Company will make the corporate communications available
on its website (www.fls123.com) and the Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkexnews.hk). The corporate communications will be provided to
Shareholders in common language of both English version and Chinese

version in convenience for their understanding.

Shareholders have the rights to choose the language (English or
Chinese) and receivable ways (printed version or by e-mail) of corporate

communications.

The Company’s Website

The Company’s website has a special “Investor Relations” section
(www.fls123.com). The information published on the website of the
Company will be updated regularly.

The information published on the website of the Stock Exchange will be
published on the website of the Company immediately. The information
includes financial statements, results announcements, circulars and the
notices of the general meetings and relevant explanation documents.

All Shareholders’ communication will be set out in the website of the
Company.
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General Meetings

The Company will provide Shareholders with relevant data on the
resolution(s) proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The data provided shall be reasonably
necessary to enable Shareholders to make an informed decision on the

proposed resolution(s).

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings, and they may
appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf if
they are unable to attend the meetings.

Where appropriate or required, the chairman of the Board and other
members of the Board, the chairmen of committees under the Board or their
delegates, and the external auditors will attend general meetings of the
Company to answer any questions from the Shareholders (if any).

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the Articles of Association on April 21, 2023, which has
been effective from the Listing Date. The Company has not amended the Articles
of Association during the Reporting Period. The latest version of the Articles of
Association is also available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s

website.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy in respect of dividend payment. The
determination of whether to pay a dividend and in which amount is based on
our results of operations, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements and
other factors the Board may deem relevant. Any dividend distribution will also be
subject to the approval of the Shareholders in the Shareholder’s meeting.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE REPORT

This report is the second “Environmental, Social, and Governance Report” (the
"Report”) officially published by FOLANGSI CO,, LTD. (the “Group’, "FOLANGSI"
or "we"). The Report outlines FOLANGSI's concepts, practices, and performance in
environmental, social, and governance ("ESG") aspects, aiming to communicate
with stakeholders on ESG-related management approaches and progress, thereby
developing corresponding policies to respond to and meet their expectations.

Basis of Preparation

This Report is compiled in accordance with the Appendix C2 Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Code”) to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”). The relevant content regarding addressing climate
change is referenced from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s “Guidance on Climate
Disclosure” and the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

The Report is available for online viewing and provided in both Chinese and
English versions. In cases of ambiguity or inconsistency between the two

languages, the content in the Chinese version shall prevail.

Reporting Scope

This Report covers FOLANGSI's business operations from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024 (the "Reporting Period"), provides an overview of the Group's
overall ESG performance, as well as a review and outlook for certain content to
maintain the continuity and integrity of information. This Report covers FOLANGSI
CO.,, LTD and its subsidiaries, and is consistent with the scope of the consolidated
financial statements in the Annual Report.

Unless otherwise stated, the information involved in this report is derived from
the Group’s documents and statistical reports, and the monetary amounts
involved are denominated in RMB.
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Reporting Principles

This report follows the reporting principles in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, including:

Materiality: Through direct communication with stakeholders, this Report
has identified the issues of concern to them to pinpoint the issues that need
to be addressed in the Report. It emphasizes reporting on matters that
may have a significant impact on the Group’s business, investors, and other
stakeholders.

Quantitative: This Report discloses key quantitative performance indicators
and provides explanations of their implications, detailing the calculation
basis and assumptions while timely elucidating their purpose and impact.

Balance: Following a principle of neutrality and comprehensiveness, this
Report objectively reflects the Group's ESG performance, avoiding biased
influences on Report readers’ decisions and omitting crucial information.

Consistency: This Report clearly elucidates the statistical methods and
criteria of the disclosed key ESG quantitative performance indicators, aiming
to maintain consistency in indicators and calculation methods across
different reporting periods. This ensures meaningful comparison of relevant
data in the future and reflects trends in performance standards.

Feedback

The Group firmly believes that feedback from stakeholders can assist FOLANGSI
in moving towards a sustainable future. If you have any questions or suggestions
regarding this Report or the Group'’s ESG efforts and performance, please send an
email to: zgb@fls123.com, or mail a letter to FOLANGSI Headquarters Building at
No. 999, Yayun Avenue, Shigi Town, Panyu District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, 511440, PRC.

For more information, please visit the official website (http://www.fls123.com).
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BOARD STATEMENT

As a leading intralogistics equipment solution provider in China, we are
committed to our mission of “improving the efficiency of asset utilization
and saving social resources” while advancing sustainable development and
fostering the sharing economy. Operating the largest intralogistics equipment
fleet nationwide, we aim to deliver a greener and smarter future to the industry
through innovative solutions and efficient operating models.

Active Engagement and Stakeholder Dialogue

We recognize that the sustainable development of our company depends on the
support and trust of all stakeholders. To this end, we maintain regular and close
communication with stakeholders through diverse channels, such as shareholder
meetings and surveys, to listen to their concerns and respond promptly. This open
and collaborative approach not only strengthens our sense of accountability
but also ensures that every step we take aligns more closely with stakeholder

expectations.

Achieving Steady Progress Through Strong Governance

Corporate governance is the cornerstone of sustainable development. We
have fully integrated ESG into our strategic planning and daily operations,
establishing an ESG governance framework based on the “decision-making
level, management level, and execution level” to ensure operational efficiency
and transparency. To enhance governance, we have adopted a Board Diversity
Policy to improve operational efficiency and established a comprehensive risk
management and internal control system to ensure stable and sound business
operations. We uphold integrity and transparency, enforcing a zero-tolerance
policy for any violations of business ethics. Additionally, we are committed to
safeguarding intellectual property and information security, ensuring that our

operations remain compliant and trustworthy as we move forward.

Fostering Sustainability Through the Circular Economy

In the area of environmental protection, we recognize the unique value of
our business and actively promote the realization of a circular economy. By
utilizing new energy equipment and intelligent asset management systems, we
continually improve resource utilization efficiency, reduce carbon emissions, and
contribute to the vision of a “Green and Beautiful China". Furthermore, we have
formulated climate response strategies based on the recommendations of the
TCFD, ensuring that we take concrete steps in addressing climate change.

BRI - HERERAHRSE

EEEFH

TER T EIRR 135 N s AR 77 SR IR 1Y
BRI EATRREEEERAME  fiNHLEER]
RED  BAREDUSEZRMAZT LA
BE - HMELZ2BRBRANGAYRR
BER - LBIFNBAD RN MNELERR
RITEFRERR BEEEHARK -

BEBEXR HESHFRS

BARAMEENAKEERBETRASHEAEERE
THXFEREME - Bt RFBEZ TIENE
BRE G MRRAE HAEEEF THHEZ
TREEZTHE  ARFRLAREHDE -
ERANEAENREE TEERTHRMANE
TR EERMANE - TEREMNREHNEA
BITHHEIE -

TREE BTARER

CEERRAFEERNED - RABESCER
BARBAMEBAIRATEL  BETORE
E—EIEE —ATEINESGORERRE  BRE
BEFNSREEERAML - B BASET
EFEEZUEHRE RAEFERET AEIR
2HNEBREEMAGZHRER RECERRE
BE BMERBTREEBE H—UER
HEBRENTRARINZZREE AEMNBE
BEEELRETETER)  BREXEES
BMREENER LR FAT -

BRERE BHIERER

ERERETH HMAAARBIEFEXZBTN
BREE BEHIERLENER - BBE
RHFERRBENESEEELEERR BN
TEHRAZRNBBCE - BB - BIERK
BUIMBRERNE - 14 RIS ETCFDR
2 NEREEYRR BREEHREREZ
fEHE EBHBRE K -

—ZPUEELR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

109



110

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - dERERRE

Striving for Excellence in Products and Quality

High-quality products and services are the foundation of our market position.
We strive not only for excellence in our offerings but also prioritize the customer
experience, aiming to build long-term trust and loyalty. In addition, we embed
sustainability principles into our supply chain management, collaborating with
our partners to drive green transformation throughout the entire value chain,
ensuring sustainable and long-term growth.

Empowering People to Enhance Social Contribution

We firmly believe that employees are the most valuable asset of any enterprise.
We are dedicated to creating a diverse, equitable, and non-discriminatory
working environment, offering employees a variety of training and development
opportunities to support their personal growth. At the same time, we actively
engage in community activities and philanthropic initiatives, extending our
corporate social responsibility to broader areas and achieving shared prosperity
for the company and society.

Looking Ahead: Building a Better World Together

Looking into the future, we will continue to uphold the principles of sustainability,
integrating ESG considerations into every aspect of our operations. With a
stronger sense of responsibility and mission, we aim to create even greater value
for society. We will persist in innovation, proactively addressing challenges, and
striving for mutual success with our stakeholders as we work together toward a

more sustainable tomorrow!
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ABOUT FOLANGSI

Corporate Overview

Founded in 2007 and headquartered in Guangzhou, FOLANGSI CO., LTD. is
a leading intralogistics equipment solution provider in China, operating the
largest intralogistics equipment fleet among all intralogistics equipment solution
providers in China. As of December 31, 2024, the number of intralogistics
equipment units under our operation and management has exceeded 56,000
units. Focusing on intralogistics equipment subscription services, we aim to
provide enterprises with one-stop solutions for the utilization and management
of intralogistics equipment, helping them to leverage cost savings and improve
efficiency in a transformational process towards an asset-light business model.

For over 17 years, we have been at the forefront of the digital transformation in
the intralogistics equipment industry. Leveraging our deep industry expertise
and extensive practical experience, we integrate cutting-edge technologies such
as the Internet of Things (loT), big data, and cloud computing to continuously
optimize the supply, allocation, and lifecycle management of assets. We are
committed to delivering industry-leading, innovative digitalized services to our
customers, actively driving the digitalization of the entire intralogistics equipment
industry.

SRR AT AR
BBERTHORE AR UNREFE
BTARARBERMELUE  YHEFER
HEESE -

Intralogistics Equipment Subscription Services @
Through a flexible and customized subscription s)
model, combined with the use of digital

management tools, we help customers improve

equipment management and operational

efficiency, ultimately enabling them to

achieve an asset-light operation model.
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Sales of Intralogistics Equipment and Parts

In addition to meeting the diverse needs of our
customers, this business segment
complements our other service lines by
strengthening collaboration with suppliers and
enhancing our cross-selling capabilities.

FETRITENSHFE R - HIUREFERMESEZ R B - REERCOEEIRTS -

Maintenance and Repair Services

To address the diverse needs of various industries and facility requirements, we leverage our
professional technical team and extensive service network to provide tailored maintenance and

repair services.
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Corporate Culture

We uphold the corporate values of “Integrity, Passion, Teamwork & Dedication”
and integrate key business philosophies such as “persistence in developing green
economy”, “customers’ need orientation” and “creating value through service”
into our corporate development strategy. By leveraging innovative technology
applications and service models, we are building a leading B2B industrial
and intralogistics equipment shared-power platform in global. This platform
is designed to provide customers with comprehensive solutions, including
equipment development and full-vehicle development, to meet their operational
needs efficiently and sustainably.

i EXL

HAIRATHAE BB BB EINEXE
EE BIBERERSELE - INEPFEXR
ERURBAEEEISKEESRALE
EREBT  BEANORMERMREER
TEEBLNBBIEMNZ A RRES AL
FHEYE REPRHERBIR ##EE
NRERBEMEAHEN - RYE  FE®RD L
THOMXBE HBERENPHHEE -

REEEEAYE  HNLEER -

MIE BB - B B

Integrity, Passion, Teamwork & Dedication

»  BERRGGKE

- AEPERAER

»  DRBEIEEE

- RERETER

-~ RIEEAEITE

~ HBIEREEEE

= AfEHR

= Along-term strategy of developing green economy
= A customer needs-oriented approach

. Value creation through services

- Continuous innovation and improvement

. Leveraging technology to empower industry

. Data-driven operations
. Win-win cooperation
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Improve the efficiency of asset utilization and conserve
resources for our society.

ITERIRELMB2B TS NYRLES
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Build a leading global high-dimensional and shared
ecological platform for B2B industrial and
intralogistics equipment, offer our customers from
industrial and logistics sectors with one-stop
services including subscription, maintenance and
sales of equipment and components and drive the
efficiency, quality and power reform in both
upstream and downstream
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KRERNE

BB

Issuing Organization

EHR-_NERE2HERE

Golden Power Award — Forklift Safety and Service

FREXEBERE REAGVHE  ZHEBRABAEFEE (BN ARAR
China Forklift Network, China AGV Network, Hannover Milano Best Exhibition
(Guangzhou) Co,, Ltd.

SR —TEZHR PEKAXERERERD
Golden Power Award — Industry Leadership: China’s Largest

Forklift Leasing Service Provider

FREIXER  REAGVE  EHEBAFEEERE(BMN AERAR
China Forklift Network, China AGV Network, Hannover Milano Best Exhibition
(Guangzhou) Co,, Ltd.

8+ —JE [ ik 3058
11th “Top 30 New Stocks”

78 A% 10038 #F 5T P 0y
Hong Kong Stock 100 Research Center

REFEHHRAF BROR K HBE T F dR bR 2 R

The Best Annual Emerging Company Roadshow China and its sub-brand Excellent IR
FEEHBTRELX & (&

Annual Outstanding Digital Technology Enterprise Gelonghui

AEB0UFERBERMEE
Shiji Town 2024 Outstanding Contributing Enterprise

BEMTmERELEBRARBKM

People’s Government of Shiji Town, Panyu District, Guangzhou City

2024 B P B BE BR BB H AR AR
2024 Firefighting Skills Competition Outstanding
Organization Award

ERROEBARRE

Panyu District Shigi Town Government

20244F [EESG Al ¥ B B8 Z 7] 5%
2024 ESG Innovative Practice Case Award

Snow Ball
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ESG GOVERNANCE

ESG Governance Structure

To ensure the institutionalization, standardization, and professional management
of the Group's ESG efforts, we have established a comprehensive ESG governance
structure. The Board of Directors serves as the highest decision-making and
responsible institution, the ESG management team acts as the core management
and coordinating institution, and functional departments and subsidiaries serve
as ESG work execution institutions with clear functions and responsibilities.
Together, all levels work collaboratively to drive stable and orderly sustainability

management.

Through this ESG governance structure, we aim to promote a sense of
responsibility and a culture of transparency within the Group and embed ESG
considerations into the core of our operations. This ensures that sustainability
initiatives are seamlessly integrated into daily practices. By fostering a collaborative
approach and clearly delineating responsibilities, we promote comprehensive
participation in ESG management and continuous improvement in the tactical
implementation of our overall ESG strategy. We believe that this governance
structure effectively drives the Group toward achieving its sustainability goals
while creating long-term value for stakeholders, society, and the environment.

SREREAEE R E Decision-Making and Deliberation Level
EREREERAFKE  AETHHIE - B4t R EBESGHBBIN RBER KT
HAFEHEERESCRER « HREBE RARNERER RS

TEHIRGTESG BARERGEE R B IR SR - WHRILFEESGHRE

Serves as the highest decision-making and responsible institution, tasked with formulating, approving, and supervising the

ESGR I8
ESGAIE 2

BTHERAEBSCIENSIEL  BEALNE
¥LEE  BMABRL T E2ENESGCRELE
EECARSMRBENECKE  ESCEEEK
AlAZOERMAEHE  SBEdMfIREE
NE B EBPERAL MBS THESG TIEHTT
g SERRBSHHESEBEEFNAFEDR
RER -

MBSGAEER  BMECEEERIRERT
EBRMBHAEXL - WHBESGE SR A BEL ML
BRAUKEZECEREERMABEEER - &
BEEHEAFRLEZFHEENETRAR  RE
HISGEEEREBEREMN2EAL2HENEMERED
BESGE - RMIARE BRE—AELE &
HERESEEERAFEZREEE  ARKR
BHEEBES  HLEMBRRAERBEE-

implementation of ESG-related strategies and policies on a regular basis

#E=g .
TheBoard ,
of

IESG rt
Directors annua repo

Identifies and assesses significant ESG risks, ensuring the establishment of appropriate and effective risk management systems
Regularly reviews the progress of ESG goal achievement and the effectiveness of management strategies, while approving the

EPEAEE Management and Coordination Level

Group's ESG risks and opportunities

BN EEE G FESCEMARE - 2 BIFFTh kE A ESCR K BB
HlE AEMESCH R - MREREIRITASHESEIERE
BYESCEBBUEREANRE  THAEFEERTIIFEERREASHE

Assists the Board of Directors in formulating ESG strategic plans and comprehensively identifying and evaluating the

U Develops specific ESG goals and key performance indicators (KPIs) and coordinates the advancement of various initiatives

ESGEE /M

ESG Management Team matters to the Board

= Establishes ESG data collection and monitoring systems, providing regular progress updates and reporting significant

##E21% /B Organization and Coordination Level
. 1RYR R B ESGEM fil E #BFT TVEat 8130 32 37 45 B B 12 Il & AR E AR &
HELEBPINESGAERIIEAN - A E EBELIEE TIEEK

systems and operational standards
across business units

ESG management team

BEWE  BIEESGHIE - T HAE R/ MAERRNITER

Formulates departmental work plans based on the Group's ESG strategy and establishes relevant management
Organizes ESG-related training within departments and coordinates the implementation of ESG requirements

Responsible for collecting and consolidating ESG data and regularly reporting implementation progress to the

Ef8E}EE Implementation Level

operations

regions where they operate

C BRITREESCERSIE - MHAMERRARTEEE
C FRAMRESGRE B TIE - EMEITAMTENScE
. EEHLEETESGEM - #DMEHMRMNAFEERER

Strictly implements the Group’s ESG management systems and incorporates relevant requirements into daily

Carries out specific ESG projects, conducts regular performance evaluations, and implements improvements
. Promotes ESG awareness among grassroots employees and advances local sustainability practices in the
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group believes that maintaining effective communication with stakeholders
is a critical foundation for business development. Based on the characteristics
of the Group's business and industry, we have identified and defined six key
stakeholder groups: investors/shareholders, employees, clients, government/
regulatory institutions, suppliers/partners, and communities. We value
communication with stakeholders and engage with them regularly through
diversified channels, actively listening to their expectations and concerns. This
allows us to clarify the Group’s phased sustainability priorities and create value for
stakeholders.

BRI - HERERAHRSE

NmEELE2HE

AEBERERANSHBETABRINBEZE
BERNEZEAR -REASEEXEBMAET
ERE - BMBALHETREE MRR BT
BEF BN/ LE®E HER SEBHEM
HERAKRMEBEAT -  RMABRENSHRE S
MBBRM BIBZTERBE B EZHN SN
MORMABE ZOBRBMMOBEEFK .
RHEEETSEZRNEREES  RANEM
BTAIEEE -

Stakeholder Topics of interest Form of communication
MEHEES B R BERR
Investor/Shareholder - Product quality and safety Shareholder meeting

Business ethics and anti-corruption

Business stability

Regular information disclosure

Investor meeting

Corporate governance and risk management

- Responsible tax policy

REE/BRR - EmBEETSE
BERERIRER
EBIBEM
IR M AR E IR
BEENRBHE

Client - Business stability
Comprehensive solutions
Product quality and safety
Privacy and data security protection
- Business ethics and anti-corruption
®F - EBREEMN
BAMRAR
EmEERTE
BAEEIEY 2 RE
BEERIRER

BRERAE
THEERE

REEGZ

Client satisfaction survey

Client consulting, complaint and return visit
Client communication

Market research

EPREEHRE
BEP## - RFEDE
BEPRXRE

T 45 38 51
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Stakeholder
Fz=EEA

Topics of interest

A E Y AR

Form of communication

BEARX

Suppliers/Partners

HE" SEBH

Employee

Government/Regulatory
Institutions

B/ EEHE

Community

HE

Business ethics and anti-corruption
Business stability

Comprehensive solutions

Responsible supply chain management
HEERERRES

EBREMN

FRERRT R
BREENHEEER

Employee health and safety
Employee compensation and benefits
Diversity, equality, and inclusion
Employee training and development
BIREELS

8 T %r B 82 48 7

Zn - FEHRARM

8 T3 & s %3

Responsible Tax Policy

Quality and Safety

Leading Regional Economic Development
Business Ethics and Anti-Corruption
BEENRBEE
EREEelTtd
TEREKHEER
FERERIMRER

Community dedication
Leading regional economic development

AN
B R R

Tendering activities

Industry cooperation and exchange

BB ED

TRAERR

Employee satisfaction survey
Internal complaints and reporting channel

1m0

\
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B
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Government and enterprise symposium
Information disclosure

Cooperation with regulatory agency for
verification

bR e

EEKE

REEERBRZSE

Community and charity activities
Social media

Low-carbon campaign
RBEEED

R

BEMERED
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Materiality Assessment
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ERMFMGE

To gain deeper insights into stakeholder perspectives on various ESG topics, the & T 8¢ B R Ath T SR FI 254868 75 £ T B &6 15 &Y
Group engaged professional independent consultants to conduct a materiality B R AEBEZAEXNBYBERHEEEENR
assessment. Annual ESG materiality assessments were carried out through online  #F{4 » BBESMESAMOE XY HBHES
surveys targeting key identified stakeholders. The independent consultants ~ Flz BB S AEBFEESGE Z M EZ B ITE
assisted the Group in identifying 22 ESG issues relevant to our business, which 38 37 B8 & 17 Bh 7 & B 4t & 7 62 2 75 48 B8 892218

serve as the basis for future ESG management objectives.

BAEZEMNDEBESTNERNE
B [HAGEEETNESR
M R (HAEENEEE] W
B4 EERIER  FHHESGHRE
MWEEZIE - BEESGHBENER
B YRHEBRMOESCER M
HRE TR o

Using “Importance to Stakeholders”
and “Importance to the Group” as
dual dimensions of evaluation, we
assessed the materiality of ESG topics
based on stakeholder and expert
input. This prioritization process
allowed us to determine the ranking
of ESG issues and map them into our
ESG materiality assessment matrix.

Issue Identification

Issue Confirmation

ESGRERE @ EARIRMESGERBE -

AR IR B B R P FTH1E 5 E5K
HEENHEERBY  BIREE - 17
FREHNE SRR HEHAEE
BE T HEKABN22E HEER
HERE S .
The consultants, in alignment with the
latest guidance from the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, combined
sustainability trends, national policies,
industry characteristics, and the
Group's strategic development to
identify 22 sustainability issues relevant
to the business.

Issue Assessment

RERTGEEROEREN - AN

HEAMEE - EERRESGER/A

SHSEMTMAERETEMNER

o ERZAEERTERAES

FrEE R ERARR -

To ensure the accuracy, validity, and
Ep oy relevance of the assessment results, the
Board of Directors and the ESG
Management Team reviewed and
evaluated the materiality assessment
results. This process ensures the findings
align with the Group's business
characteristics and development
objectives.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX OF ESG ISSUES IN 2024
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[ Leading Regional Economic Development

o EREMEE | mEAWEE

Environmental Issues Employment Issues Operation Issues

BERER =R

Air and Greenhouse Gas Emission

REEE
® Green Operation

Fiz2cagE

Climate Change and Resilience

[ ] Community Dedication

2024 FESGR B E B B[

EREAERERE o EMEMEE
Corporate Governance Issues Community Issues

Business Stabili

BIaEEE
Employee Training and Development 'S€ Of hesources.
KERERKER

Water and Sewage Management

Responsible Supply Chain Management

o ARMEBIEIHE

EARREE Responsible Tax Policy
Comprehensive Solution

Diversity, Equality and Inclusion

Middle

Aspect
R

Environmental
BB

Impact on the Group's operations

Issue

1

1.

Air and Greenhouse Gas Emission

JEE SR B R = RS HE IR

. Climate Change and Resilience

RiRE R %

. Use of Resources*

ERE A
Water and Sewage Management

KB R BEKE I

. Waste Management*

BERYEE
Green Operation
"REEE
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Fostering Sustainability Through the Circular Economy
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Employment
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Operation
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Corporate
Governance
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Community
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Issue
RE

7. Labour Standards*
T AR«

8. Employee Health and Safety*
ETRERZ 2

9. Employee Compensation and Benefits*
& T % B 52 18 Al

10. Employee Training and Development
BT R EEI

11. Diversity, Equality and Inclusion
L FTEHEHEARME

12. Comprehensive Solution
RAmRAR

13. Responsible Supply Chain Management
BEREENHERER

14.Product Quality and Safety*
EmEEHEZ R

15. Intellectual Property Rights Protection
A B EE R

16.Privacy and Data Security Protection*

BARIEZZRE

17.Business Ethics and Anti-Corruption*
BEEERRES*

18. Corporate Governance and Risk Management
2R 18 B A fr 1R

19. Business Stability
EBIREE

20. Responsible Tax Policy
BEENRBEE

21. Community Dedication
Fan RN

22.Leading Regional Economic Development

TEHEELEER

* The mostimportant ESG issues for the reporting year.

BE - 4ERERRKRE

Responding Chapter
] & = &
Empowering People to Enhance Social Contribution

UTABE  BEREEER

Achieving Steady Progress Through Strong Governance
TRYE BTAHRER
Striving for Excellence in Products and Quality

BERE BEEMER

Achieving Steady Progress Through Strong Governance
TRBE  BIFERER

Empowering People to Enhance Social Contribution

UTABE  BEREEER

* RBEFEREEMEGHE °
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ACHIEVING STEADY PROGRESS THROUGH STRONG
GOVERNANCE

We are committed to achieving excellence in corporate governance. To this end,
we have implemented a board diversity policy to enhance the efficiency of board
operations and maintain high standards of corporate governance. To ensure
compliance, the Group has developed and established a robust risk management
and internal control system to safeguard the stable operation of the business.
Simultaneously, we prioritize integrity education and business ethics, maintaining
a zero-tolerance stance towards bribery, corruption, or related behaviors. We
also focus on intellectual property and information security protection to ensure
comprehensive corporate governance.

Corporate Governance

To maximize the protection of shareholders’ interests, the Group is dedicated
to achieving excellence in corporate governance, strictly adhering to the
requirements set forth in the Corporate Governance Code, enhancing operational
transparency and standardization, and ensuring that all stakeholders have a
thorough understanding of our business operations and future development
direction. We firmly believe that a robust and standardized corporate
governance system is the cornerstone for driving sustainable business growth
and safeguarding the Group's long-term value. Therefore, we will continuously
optimize and enhance our corporate governance structure to align it with the
Company’s strategic objectives, creating greater value for the Company and all
stakeholders.

The Group's Board is responsible for general mandate management and
business operations to maintain a sound and effective internal control and risk
management system, ensuring the protection of shareholders’ investments
and the security of the Group’s assets. Within the Board, non-executive
Directors primarily provide strategic insights on the Group's development, while
independent non-executive Directors offer impartial judgment and advice to
protect the interests of shareholders and the Group. Additionally, the Supervisory
Committee, comprising three Supervisors, supervises the Board and provides
independent opinions.

In accordance with relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and the Corporate
Governance Code outlined in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, the Group
has established four board committees under the Board, including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, the Nomination
Committee, and the Strategy Committee. These committees offer guidance on
the Group's policies and compliance from various perspectives to ensure the
Group's sound and efficient operation.
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Diversity Policy

To achieve sustainable balanced development, enhance board effectiveness,
and maintain high corporate governance standards, we have implemented a
board diversity policy aiming to promote diversity across all aspects of the Board,
fostering a more representative and inclusive Board. The current Board possesses
a well-rounded mix of knowledge, skills, and experience, encompassing overall
business management, financial accounting, research and development, as well
as specialized expertise in fields such as mechanics, economics, and accounting.
The Nomination Committee is tasked with monitoring policy implementation
and periodically reviewing the effectiveness of the board diversity policy to
ensure progress in our diversity initiatives.

=

Position/Duties and Tenure
Gender Age Responsibilities Period Academic Background/Exp Experience/Skills
3] R B,/ BEREE THFER ZEER/E8 S V1]
Mr. Hou Zekuan M 56 ED/Chairman of the Board 1 Mechanical engineering Enterprise Management
REERE £ HTEF EER Hm I hEER
Mr. Hou Zebing M 50 ED/General Manager (chief 1 Automotive engineering Enterprise Management
FEERE 5 executive) REIR rEER
HITEE BRRE
Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan M 51 ED/Deputy General Manager 1 Mechanical Engineering and Supply Chain, Warehouse
BEEEE 3 HTES BAKE Automation Management
EWmIEREH s EER
Ms. Ma Li F 36 ED/Secretary 1 Accounting Finance, Investor Relations and
5BRt x BIES EEENE a5t Equity Management, Corporate
Governance
B REEBMERER LK
BEBER GEER
Mr. Zhou Limin M 57 ED/Deputy General Manager 1 Mechanical Design and Product Technology R&D
BAFERE 5 WITES BELE Manufacturing Management
B R REE ERRMHEER
Mr. Yu Chuanfen M 52 NED 1 Materials Science and Engineering  Construction Machinery,
aESEE 3 FHITES MHRBETRE Enterprise Management
Tigkm  hXER
Mr. Chiang Edward M 44 INED 1 Literature (major in Commercial  Corporate Finance, Investor
BRALE s BUKRITES Law) Relationship Management
XB(ZEHRED) rERE RBERE
Dr.Fan Xia F 47 INED 1 Economics, Business Teaching, Enterprise
HERT x BUFNTES Management, Engineering Management
BE IHEE IR HE EER
Mr. Du Lizhu M 50 INED 1 Accounting Finance Management
HuEE 3 BUFNTES g5t HBER
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Risk Management and Internal Control

A robust risk management and internal control system is essential for ensuring
the stable and sustainable operation of an enterprise. To comply with regulatory
requirements, the Group has developed a comprehensive internal control manual
that defines operating procedures, internal control processes, and other relevant
policies and guidelines. This manual serves as the foundation for documenting
internal controls and encompasses key business areas, including procurement
and payment, sales and payment collection management, contracts and
agreements, preparation and disclosure of financial reports, human resource
policies, and the management of data and R&D centers. Our primary focus areas
for risk management include the following:

BISRIA - BIEREIOR - KERREKBERE

Financial Performance: Track financial health, business

results, and cash flow.

BB O ASAAMAEE KRN  BETEREBRE
Operational Management: Encompasses organizational
structure, business models, asset management, and

operational processes.

BIFTER - BB A - RNERSEXAIFRE
Innovative Development: Focus on investment in

research and development, application of technologies,

and factors driving independent innovation.

ANER : BEEEEBXET BIEXENGE
Human Resources: Evaluate management’s professional
ethics and employees’ professional capabilities.

ZRERRFE  WHREEELRY BEIRERRRRE
Safety and Environmental Protection: Commit to
ensuring operational safety, employee health, and
environmental protection.

C% A&

Internal

e,

@

[ B % 3 B A BB 4

ReaRBEBMALZEFHREERERELEDN
RREFZHEZ SEREBARELR K
SHEGETHAOAIETM - AR TRIERER
PR HI 2 FF A R EL A AR B BOR M #5 | 7 8t -
ZTFMERERBEMT HERAKRRERE &
Rz FHERERELRKE ANBEREEK
NRBERFERLERBSTHBERELY - A
MEBHE I RT S XA RO B - M E BRI VR
REEBELT:

ol

X

ShER

External
&

TR B E - EERE  mEHRFE
Macroeconomic Factors: Economic conditions, industry
policies, and market competition.

FEHREH  BEBHERERENREEEL
Regulatory Compliance: Continuously monitor updates to
laws, regulations, and regulatory requirements.

HeRE  FHEtexXt  EETREXE

Social Factors: Assess the impacts of social culture and
consumer behavior.

PR - BEERINE S R TH#UUEBS

Technological Development: Stay aligned with

advancements in technology and process improvements.
BARE  BIRERZ LB ALERR

Natural Environment: Monitor climate change risks and
natural disaster impacts.

At the oversight level, the Board is responsible for formulating, updating, and
coordinating internal control policies. The senior management team oversees
the implementation of internal control procedures across various departments,
conducts regular operational analyses, and identifies and addresses issues
promptly. To address a wide range of risks, we have established a risk warning
mechanism and contingency plans for emergencies. By employing strategies
such as risk avoidance, mitigation, and sharing, we aim to proactively manage
potential threats. Additionally, we conduct regular evaluations of the effectiveness
of risk management practices and continuously optimize control measures.
Our objective is to keep risks within acceptable levels to ensure the Group’s
sustainability and long-term development.
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Business Ethics

The Group adopts a zero-tolerance approach to bribery, corruption, and
similar misconduct. We strictly comply with the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Provisional Regulations on Prohibition of Commercial
Bribery, Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
other relevant Chinese laws and regulations, as well as local regulations and
policies in our operating regions. In accordance with the Group’s anti-bribery
and anti-corruption policies, we firmly oppose any form of commercial bribery or
corruption. In all business activities, we strictly prohibit the offering or acceptance
of bribes, kickbacks, excessive gifts or hospitality, and any other payments
intended to seek illegitimate business advantages. To ensure transparency and
compliance, we maintain detailed and complete records of all transactions,
clearly documenting their purpose. Employees must submit reimbursement
requests with specific details of expenses incurred when hosting third parties or
giving gifts on behalf of the Company. These measures are designed to ensure
that all expenses comply with the Company’s policies and legal requirements,
safeguarding the Group's reputation and interests.

To reinforce business ethics, the Group has established a “three lines of
defense” model: the Internal Audit Department conducts internal control
reviews, functional departments implement substantive supervision, and the
Administrative Department promotes anti-corruption culture. Additionally, the
Group has adopted and implemented specific anti-corruption policies and
internal control measures. These policies define procedures for identifying
potential corruption, executing anti-corruption programs, and outlining the
responsibilities of relevant personnel. These efforts aim to monitor internal and
external compliance with anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws, regulations,
and policies. We also conduct regular compliance checks and reviews for
employees and senior management to ensure they adhere to the Company's
anti-corruption principles. A detailed employee code of conduct has been
developed, covering fundamental work rules, professional ethics, confidentiality,
negligence, non-compete clause, anti-bribery, and anti-corruption guidelines.
We provide employees with multiple communication channels to seek guidance
on anti-corruption policies, enabling them to better understand and implement
these policies.

BRI - HERERAHRSE

BRER

AEEHRHEE RBRIEUTRAERER
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The Group prioritizes integrity education to enhance the awareness of R * AEBETERZHE UMEETI RS
anti-bribery and anti-corruption among employees and senior management. BMABMRBEHEERBEREH - EHE T A
During onboarding training for new employees, we emphasize anti-corruption  1F3lF @ ZFMEEELAFAREBRERESHNE
policies to ensure they fully understand and strictly adhere to these rules. During =B 2K + AR M 2T 7 B2 I B 48 B ~F 18 4
the reporting period, we organized 14 business ethics training sessions for B F > MMEHA » RPLB R THEER TR E
employees across various roles, totalling 46hours. The training covered a wide T HIBEEEF I - KoK REAREZ

range of topics tailored to different roles, including: & 75 | :

Senior Management (Department
Heads and Above)

BRARNLEEER I

Legal responsibilities and compliance for senior management: analysis of specific legal
responsibilities, compliance obligations, and updates on legal developments.

Strategic insights from major corruption cases: examination of industry benchmark cases, team
management risks, and cross-department collaboration risks.

Corruption risk prevention in key management processes: identification of risks in strategic
decision-making, resource allocation, and personnel appointments.

Leadership in integrity and culture development: demonstrating integrity leadership, fostering
a culture of integrity, and addressing complex interest relationships.
BREBABEEREEHAR  SIMBRERET  FRaRE® EEM&{%EJJ RE o
BRESRMNBBETEZ R BETEETRD  2MEKERER

P EER{Z B =R

3 ﬁi”iﬁ M ESERE: BRI EBEAREERSERR  BEAFERE
b~ 25 EB P15 VR L B o

@%%xﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁix{t@%& CRERRRES - BREEXE - BHEEN R
REFRIZHKE -

Middle-office Managers of
Warehouse and Procurement
Management

NERRBPLPEEEA

Regulations and policies on warehouse management: review of key warehouse-related

regulations and internal policies.

Warnings from corruption cases in the warehousing sector: analysis of industry-specific cases

and lessons learned from internal incidents.

Risk prevention in key warehousing processes: identification of risks in material receipt,

inventory management, and material dispatch.

Integrity and professional ethics development: establishing values of integrity and

strengthening professional ethics.

BREBMEEZHEGERE MEAREREYN RBELANLEFGE -

AE%AEWE/%;WJEZ/T BIMTITHE BB RA - ERANBROLHRHEI -
BERBIREE R E ?ﬁ%ﬁ%%éﬁ)\@ BB R R WA R A R A B B B o

J%éifﬁé%iﬁiﬁ&% EREE PERZREES  RCBEBERS -
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Middle-office Managers of Finance
Department

BBEHLFREEAS
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Finance-related regulations and policies: analysis of financial regulations and internal financial
policies.

Case studies on corruption in finance: in-depth analysis of industry and internal cases, with
lessons learned.

Risk prevention in key financial processes: identification of risks in budget management, fund
disbursement, and account management.

Integrity and professional ethics development: promoting integrity and reinforcing professional
ethics.

BIGHEBER MG ERE: BTUBEERERN BERRNIMABHZRE -
B RAE SR  REDMITERD - BRRTABRAZA -

B EBRARROEARNE - SANEEEE B2WNEREEEPNERE -
BRANXEBEERER - HURREES  REBEBERD -

Frontline Managers

—RREEERI

Legal red lines in decision-making and management: understanding legal responsibilities,
compliance requirements, and establishing legal risk warning mechanisms.

Reflections on management from corruption cases: analysis of industry crises and internal case
lessons.

Risk prevention in key operational processes: identification of risks in strategic planning,
resource allocation, and project execution.

Leading and practicing a culture of integrity: building integrity leadership, improving systems
for ethical business practices, and managing conflicts of interest.
REEERREERAG AMAFEREE  ZESRER B EEZRARTE
TR o

EARPINKEERERE - IMITEBERD - BERAMEILBHI -

MR EERRGOERDZE  BANEREARE  BROERBEELHTNRARE -
BROZELHEIEEEST  BRBRREE))  TERRLLHE  BENEER -

National Sales Staff

REHEER

Sales-related regulations and internal policies: understanding key commercial regulations and
internal sales policies.

Corruption warnings in the sales sector: analysis of industry-specific cases and lessons from
internal incidents.

Risk prevention in key sales processes: identification of risks in customer acquisition, contract
execution, and payment collection.

Integrity and professional ethics development: promoting integrity and strengthening
professional ethics.

HEXRBHABEREQRGERE: BHARERRE  ABRRHESEMAA -
HEBBERRMNETR  oMITERIVED - BRAFTINLEHILBRHI -
HEMBRMERDZ: BRITFHE - ARNTTRFRER K S EBE -
FRANFHBEBEERR - BHURREER REBEBERE -

13
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After-Sales Engineers Nationwide

2EERBREIREG

After-sales regulations and policies: interpretation of relevant laws and internal after-sales
policies.

Corruption warnings in the after-sales sector: analysis of industry-specific cases and internal
lessons learned.

Risk prevention in key after-sales processes: identification of risks in parts management, service
fee collection, and customer relationship maintenance.

Integrity and professional ethics development: promoting integrity and reinforcing professional
ethics.

EREBEREARNAIGIEFHMF : BBERBEEER IMARERWEMRA -
EREGHESERNET FIMTEABRRG - ERQTABRAL R -
ERERRGRRIE  HBRGEE  REERARDRREFEAFREZERNRRE -
BRANXEBEERER - HURREES  REBEBERD -

New Employees in Functional Roles -

Defining legal responsibilities: explanation of legal boundaries in corruption and occupational

embezzlement under the criminal law.

Internal policy orientation: introduction to anti-corruption policies, reporting procedures, and

zero-tolerance attitudes toward violations.

FERBERE  BEE) RS RS MBS EINEERIEX - RETRERER -
EARBHERE: NARESAEHE BRAELEERE  RFHENT

oI 7J) &t BF
BRRESE -
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Promoting a Culture of Integrity to Ensure Stable Corporate
Development

Integrity in business operations is the cornerstone of achieving sustainability.
This year, we launched a special anti-corruption and disciplinary campaign,
during which the General Manager delivered a keynote speech reaffirming the
Group's zero-tolerance stance on corruption. The speech emphasized strict
disciplinary requirements, including the prohibition of accepting bribes and the
eradication of corrupt practices. At the same time, we strengthened internal
audits, and formed an Integrity Supervision Taskforce to enhance internal

oversight comprehensively.

In addition, we promoted awareness of relevant laws and regulations and
organized anti-corruption education activities to help employees understand
the importance of integrity in business operations and strengthen their legal
awareness. These measures have not only improved internal transparency and
compliance but also cultivated a clean and efficient working environment.
Through these efforts, the Group has made a positive contribution to its

long-term development and the healthy advancement of the industry.

The Group has established dedicated whistleblowing hotlines and email
addresses to provide employees and other stakeholders with channels to report
actual or suspected cases of misconduct or fraud. Whistleblowers may choose
to report violations of professional ethics within the Group’s departments and

personnel either anonymously or under their real names.

BRI - HERERAHRSE
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}2 7 23R Receipt of Reports

EREELER BN ERERRR2EIIFRANESRRS A REERRS BT EEERR
BAETIERNETIH L KB ERAEZRE S

For reports made under real names, the Audit Department is required to report to the Chairman within two
working days of receiving the report. For anonymous reports, the Audit Department must conduct a
preliminary assessment within two working days and report to the Chairman if the allegations are
substantiated.

#1514 Preliminary Assessment

HNP R ERETHPEEEABNER AIMEA B EWNAE VBFHFPETTE EEERBBH
ERBRPLEREBAE FREEFS LU BFTLRESWERK I RIRE MNEETHE-

For reports involving general employees or middle management, the Audit Department collaborates with
departments such as the Office of the Board Secretary and the Finance Department to conduct an
assessment. Once verified, an investigation is initiated. If the report involves senior management, a special
investigation team is formed upon approval by the Board of Directors, the Supervisory Committee, or the
Audit Committee.

#1T#E Conducting Investigations

HE AR RIBEFEEFINBERBENETHE W ARE S EMHRIIEGIETHE RESERR-F
FTRBASESR AR E R B RARE M FHES

The investigation team may engage external experts as needed to assist in the investigation and evaluate the
internal controls of the relevant business units, providing recommendations for improvement. The Audit
Department informs the whistleblower of the decision to initiate an investigation and the findings of the

A EE ) Fraud Remediation and Penalties

EEBRRMELR AEEST EARSEGRAL RESCERE I TEREE RS -SSP EETREAEERN
RTEEITROBMTTHEE S AL AR SO X BUN £ & BiPIs rAA R R 12 -

In cases of confirmed fraud, the Group evaluates its internal control systems and proposes improvement
measures, which are documented in a written report. Employees involved in the misconduct are subject to
economic and administrative penalties in accordance with the Group’s internal policies. If laws are violated, the
case is handed over to the relevant government authorities or judicial institutions for further action.

investigation.

%45 B2 5342 Reporting and Archiving

BB EER A NASERE RSB E S RNERE SSeUBH 8 RE WRBHRE
R R SRR R T

The Audit Department reports the investigation results and work reports for fraud cases to management, the

Board of Directors, or the Audit Committee, depending on the nature of the case. Relevant case materials are
promptly archived for future reference.
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The Group strictly prohibits any form of discrimination or retaliation against
whistleblowers or individuals participating in investigations. It also forbids any
obstruction, interference, or hostile actions toward investigative personnel.
Employees who disclose whistleblower information or engage in retaliatory
actions are subject to disciplinary measures, including warnings, dismissal, or
termination of employment contracts. If such actions violate the law, the Group
will refer the case to relevant government authorities or judicial institutions for
legal proceedings.

During the reporting period, neither the Group nor its employees were involved
in any lawsuits related to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, or money
laundering.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Intellectual property rights are the foundation of the Group's business operations.
We have invested significant resources in the development and protection of
intellectual property. During the reporting period, the Group’s research and
development (R&D) investment amounted to approximately RMB43.9 million.
As of the end of the reporting period, our R&D team consisted of 196 members,
accounting for 9.73% of the Group's total workforce.

We strictly comply with the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Copyright Law of the
People’s Republic of China, and other applicable laws and regulations to protect
our intellectual property, including trademarks, patents, copyrights, and domain
names. Additionally, the Group has established the Regulations on the Protection
of Intellectual Property Rights within its internal control system and regularly
optimizes and updates its intellectual property management system in response
to the actual needs of business development. To further strengthen intellectual
property management, the Group has formulated the /Intellectual Property
Management Regulations, which outline details on ownership, application,
assessment, and rewards related to intellectual property. The Group’s Intellectual
Property Department is overseen by the General Manager’s Office, which has
developed a comprehensive assessment and incentive mechanism. Metrics such
as the number of applications, authorizations, and implementation benefits
are incorporated into the evaluation system of the R&D department to foster a
culture of innovation and unlock employees’ creative potential. To ensure the
value realization of innovative achievements, we have established a dedicated
performance incentive fund, coupled with a scientific evaluation system to
promote the deep integration of technological innovation and intellectual
property application. The Group has defined a clear project reward evaluation
method, using an accumulative scoring system that assesses four key dimensions:
technical content, development difficulty, brand and technological impact,
and potential economic benefits. Based on the cumulative scores, projects are
categorized into four levels (A, B, C, and D), with corresponding rewards provided
to R&D personnel according to project levels. The performance evaluation of

BRI - HERERAHRSE
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R&D projects follows a 100- point system, divided into three modules: progress
assessment (20%), technical and quality level assessment (60%), and cost
control (20%). To reflect the principle of rewarding excellence and penalizing
underperformance, the Group has implemented bonus mechanisms for early
completion of projects and cost-saving measures under the cost control
module. The final project evaluation score directly determines the allocation
of performance-based rewards, ensuring the incentive policy maximizes the
enthusiasm of R&D personnel for innovation. To protect intellectual property, we
require employees and third parties to sign confidentiality agreements, providing
clear guidelines to ensure their conduct aligns with the Group'’s confidentiality
policies and relevant laws and regulations.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had registered 25 trademarks, 23 patents,
2 copyrights associated with works of authorship, 136 computer software
copyrights, and 5 domain names in China. During the reporting period, the Group
did not encounter any significant disputes or claims related to the infringement of
third-party intellectual property rights.

Information Security Protection

With the rapid global proliferation of digitalization, the importance of information
security protection has become increasingly prominent. In our daily operations,
we collect and process data related to the operation of intralogistics equipment
and equipment service processes. The archiving and protection of this
operational data and related information are critical to the Group. Therefore, we
treat data privacy and information security as one of our top priorities, closely

monitoring the risk management of information technology systems.

We strictly comply with the Data Security Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, and
other relevant laws and regulations, and have established comprehensive data
protection policies. The Group has implemented rigorous internal controls
and data access mechanisms, along with detailed approval and operational
procedures for data storage and processing. To ensure the secure and stable
operation of information systems, we implement a strict account approval system
based on rigorous internal controls and data access mechanisms, standardizing
the management of accounts, passwords, and access permissions for information
system operators. For employees with role changes, we promptly adjust their
system access permissions and conduct periodic reviews of system accounts to
ensure appropriate authorization. For privileged users, we have implemented a
dedicated monitoring mechanism, requiring their operational logs to be reviewed
by authorized personnel to effectively mitigate the risk of abuse of privileges.
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In terms of data security protection, we have established a hierarchical
management system that classifies information based on its importance and
applies differentiated authorization usage policies. At the same time, we have
developed a robust data backup system, performing regular backups that are
stored offsite. We have also created disaster recovery plans and ensure their
effectiveness through regular drills. To strengthen cybersecurity, we have
deployed security infrastructure such as firewalls, conducted regular virus
detection and prevention, and strictly prohibited the installation of unauthorized
software. Additionally, we conduct regular data security audits to monitor
the implementation of security measures and perform comprehensive risk
assessments periodically to adjust our information risk control and security
management strategies as needed. The Group has also established an information
security emergency response mechanism, conducting regular emergency
response drills, and continually optimizing and upgrading our information
systems to maximize the protection of customer and Group information. We
require system operators to strictly adhere to authorization scopes, update
passwords promptly, and ensure the proper use of information systems. The
Group also provides regular data privacy training to employees to enhance their
compliance awareness and requires them to sign confidentiality agreements.

During the reporting period, the Group did not experience any material data or
personal information breaches that could have adversely impacted our business
operations, nor did we violate any data protection or privacy laws and regulations.
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FOSTERING SUSTAINABILITY THROUGH THE
CIRCULAR ECONOMY

As a leading intralogistics equipment solution provider, we offer comprehensive
lifecycle services for intralogistics equipment to manufacturing and logistics
enterprises, fostering the development of a circular economy. At the same time,
we actively respond climate change by setting targets for energy consumption,
water resource usage, waste management, and greenhouse gas(GHG) emissions,
contributing to both mitigating climate change and enhancing climate resilience.

Contributing to Circular Economy

Through our equipment subscription, maintenance, and disposal services, we
encourage enterprises to conserve resources and reduce environmental impacts.
Our solutions focus on maximizing resource reuse and extending the lifespan of
equipment, promoting green and sustainable development while advancing the
circular economy.

Intralogistics Equipment Solutions

Under the traditional intralogistics equipment procurement model, enterprises
often face significant one-time capital expenditures for equipment purchases,
which impose heavy financial burdens and limit flexibility in equipment
selection and deployment. These financial pressures may hinder enterprises from
adapting quickly to market changes, causing missed opportunities for growth.
Additionally, professional technical support is often required for the maintenance
and management of intralogistics equipment, and sudden spikes in equipment
demand during peak seasons can increase operating costs and management
complexity. In response to these operational challenges, intralogistics equipment
solution providers have emerged as enterprises increasingly prioritize cost control
and operational efficiency.

The Group is a leading intralogistics equipment solution provider in China,
specializing in intralogistics equipment subscription services. We provide
manufacturing and logistics enterprises with comprehensive lifecycle services
for intralogistics equipment, including subscription, maintenance, management
optimization, and disposal. By offering diverse equipment combinations, we meet
the deployment needs of various enterprises across different scenarios, helping
them reduce costs associated with fixed asset procurement and subsequent
maintenance. Additionally, we provide tailored equipment disposal solutions to
enhance operational efficiency. Compared to the traditional procurement model,
intralogistics equipment solutions can reduce lifecycle costs by approximately
20%.
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Intralogistics Equipment Subscription Services

* Asset-light: Customers are not required to
bear the upfront cost of one-time

intralogistics equipment procurement,
alleviating their financial burden.

Flexible deployment: Customers can
flexibly deploy equipment based on

their actual usage needs at any time.

v R

©)

BE - 4ERERRKRE

?ﬁ%@ﬁﬂ*

EERIMER ISR VE?%%W#@MEX
BRERT RN —ES - BRI RRI
R EBIRHEEGRERTE

BRARTS - IRETDRIMEERAE(E - FTLA
RIBRFBIEREE - BREKRAR - IERR
wiERS.

Malntenance and Repair
No additional maintenance and
repair costs: As part of our
intralogistics equipment solution, we
identify fault types and provide free
maintenance and repair services for
customers.

* Effective service: We offer predictive
maintenance and repair, significantly
improving repair efficiency, reducing
costs, and extending the service life
of equipment.
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Lifecycle Management

Diversified treatment: Depending on the

condition of the equipment, we provide

various solutions such as deep repair,

component disassembly, and sales of used
equipment.

Protecting the Environment

Under the national dual-carbon strategy of carbon peaking and carbon neutrality,
the Group places great emphasis on environmental protection. We strictly adhere
to environmental protection and energy conservation laws and regulations,
including the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China. Internally,
we have established policies such as the Water Conservation Management
Regulations and the Electricity Utilization Management Regulations. We regularly
monitor water and electricity consumption while implementing energy-saving,
water-saving, and emission management measures to reduce resource

consumption and control emissions.

During the reporting period, no confirmed violations or complaints related
to exhaust gas emissions, GHG emissions, water pollution, land pollution, or
hazardous and non-hazardous waste disposal had a significant impact on the
Group.
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Management and Optimization

Reduce breakdowns: By monitoring the operational
and maintenance status of equipment, we
minimize equipment damage.

Improve efficiency: We enhance operational
efficiency and optimize equipment utilization.
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Emission Management

Air Emissions Management

Due to the nature of our business, our GHG emissions primarily stem from the
use of company-owned vehicles and indirect CO, emissions. We are committed
to reducing air pollutants and GHG emissions. To achieve this, we plan to replace
traditional fuel vehicles with electric vehicles. This initiative not only improves
air quality and reduces environmental impacts but also lowers greenhouse
gas emissions, contributing to climate change mitigation. We will continue to
monitor and enhance air emission management measures, striving to create a
cleaner and more environmentally friendly operating environment. By taking
concrete actions, we fulfill our corporate social responsibilities and contribute to

sustainability goals.

Waste Management

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations such as the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste. We actively implement waste classification systems,
improving the processes and mechanisms for waste classification, collection,
and disposal to enhance resource recycling efficiency. In order to standardize
waste management, we have formulated environmental management policies
and measures, such as the Solid Waste Management Regulations and the
Environmental Waste Management Regulations, to implement the responsibility

of hazardous waste management to the administrative offices.

To further strengthen waste management, we classify operational waste into
non-hazardous waste (e.g,, office waste) and hazardous waste (e.g., used batteries,
waste engine oil, and oilcloth). We adopt targeted disposal methods for different
waste types to minimize environmental impacts. Hazardous waste is stored in
dedicated facilities with qualified containers and disposed of by professional,

certified entities to ensure 100% compliance.
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In daily operations, we strive to reduce hazardous waste generation through ZEBHHEEZLBEF  HPBBELREITE -
measures such as: BHRIVEEEEMNESLE  BRREEERE:

Deploying oil-saving trays and absorbent sponges in environments proneto - ££ A] A JR JH B #2 VE IR 35 M SR AL BC B 7 &0 )
oil leakage, with strict implementation by technicians. BAGOREE - WEREMA BBRSAIT ©

Using high-quality engine oil and employing preventive maintenance - ERIFEBEGEH - BATEH A &

strategies to reduce equipment malfunctions and hazardous waste AR B E R TR 1ﬁﬁﬁ% E’\JE
generation. o

Through the smart asset operation management system and predictive BRAESEEEBLTIE R G FITE B I 4 &
maintenance strategies, we reduce the frequency of equipment failures MR ERES RO REREIEER
and minimize the occurrence of major overhauls, thereby reducing waste 3 B R ER S RS SE R B B A - A i PR R R
generation. M E &£ -

Reusing oil-saving trays, absorbent sponges, and cleaning cloths to - ¥ &ML « WHEBREM RIS EERF B

continuously minimize hazardous waste output. RERBKEEEREVES -
We also conduct regular waste management training to enhance employees’  It9h I EHI R REEYEEEY RS 8
awareness of proper waste handling and encourage active participationin  THEZEVEEMNREZNEZ S E\Iia

environmental protection. By integrating waste management into our operations, {2 EIRIBRETIE - BBFENE ek -
we aim to reduce environmental impacts, build a green corporate culture,and BRI TR B YRR EFNEZEERR XL &
attract environmentally conscious customers and partners. We will continueto  RBFREB AR MANBEEEE P - R EH
strive and remain committed to advancing our sustainability goals, ensuring that 2| R iF FIREEZ ¥ B IR NE RE R A Y IR 35 E’]@T%ﬁi
our business plays a positive role in being environmentally friendly and socially EZEBRIESECEF R Ko FEZREEHR
responsible. RHEFPHEERE BMEHESN  BF
THRMHEBATREERNBE  UBARKMY
¥BERBRIFME G EE T EEERRER -
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Use of Resources

Energy Usage

Our main energy consumption includes electricity and gasoline for
company-owned vehicles. In response to the dual-carbon policy, we actively
explore the use of clean energy and promote energy-saving awareness
throughout our operations. We regularly inspect and maintain equipment to
ensure efficiency, encourage the use of energy-saving devices and lighting
systems, and engage employees in environmental initiatives to foster a
sustainable working environment.

To further improve energy efficiency, we have adopted the following measures:

Establishing an energy management system to monitor and analyze energy

consumption data regularly.

Installing smart lighting systems in office areas that automatically adjust
brightness based on natural light intensity.

Optimizing air conditioning system parameters and setting reasonable
temperatures to reduce energy waste.

Conducting regular energy-saving awareness campaigns to encourage

employee participation.

Water Management

Our water supply relies entirely on municipal systems, ensuring a stable source. To

conserve water resources, we have implemented the following measures:

Regularly inspecting all water-consuming equipment to prevent leaks and
reduce water waste. Sensor faucets have been installed throughout the
facility to increase water-use efficiency.
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Treating and reusing eligible wastewater (e.g., canteen wastewater) to reduce

freshwater consumption and promote water resource reuse.

Providing periodic water conservation training and education for employees,
coupled with the use of promotional slogans and reminders in office spaces

to encourage water-saving behaviors.

To further enhance water conservation management, we have equipped office
and public areas with water-saving appliances, such as water-saving wash
basins and toilets, and have established a mechanism for regular maintenance
and inspection to ensure that water-saving facilities operate properly. For units
and individuals that consume large amounts of water, we have set up detailed
water consumption records and conducted regular water consumption analyses
to identify and improve wastefulness in a timely manner. At the same time,
we strictly prohibit any wastage of water resources and impose penalties for
non-compliance according to the severity of the case to ensure the effective
implementation of the water conservation management system.

Through these continuous efforts and measures, we have not only established a
water-saving culture within the enterprise and reduced water consumption costs,
but also played an active role in promoting the sustainable use of water resources.
Through the participation and practice of all employees, we are committed to
establishing a water-saving, environmentally sustainable working environment.

Carbon Reduction Strategies and Initiatives

The Group has consistently upheld its commitment to sustainability and
environmental protection. Through comprehensive and systematic strategic
measures, we have achieved significant progress in reducing carbon emissions,
improving energy efficiency, and optimizing resource utilization. By leveraging
and integrating innovative technologies such as loT, big data, and cloud
computing, we actively promote the use of new energy intralogistics equipment,
enhance predictive maintenance, optimize intelligent asset operation and
management, improve used equipment disposal services, and establish a green,
low-carbon, and circular development model.
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Increasing the Deployment of New Energy Intralogistics
Equipment

To fulfill our environmental responsibilities and provide sustainable intralogistics
equipment solutions, the Group prioritizes the use of clean energy equipment.
We actively promote the adoption of lithium battery forklifts, which offer
significant advantages over traditional batteries. Lithium battery technology
features a lifespan of over 10 years, significantly reducing the frequency of
battery replacements and minimizing waste generation. These batteries are
maintenance-free, making operation simpler and more efficient. In addition to
delivering the same performance as traditional internal combustion equipment,
they also offer environmental benefits such as low emissions and low noise.
According to operational data, based on a standard eight-hour workday, a single
electric forklift can potentially reduce GHG emissions by approximately 46.4%
and energy consumption costs by up to 82.2% compared to traditional internal
combustion forklifts operating under the same conditions.
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Key Advantages of Lithium Battery Equipment
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Service Life

Capable of 4,000 charge cycles while
maintaining over 75% capacity.
Service life exceeds 10 years.
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Performance Stability

- Stable power output.
Efficient forklift operations with
no response delay.
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Environmental Performance

. Zero emissions and zero pollution during

operation.
. Enhances air quality in the workplace.
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Ease of Use

. Maintenance-free and no servicing required.
. Seamless switching between charging and

discharging without wait times
. Improve battery utilization efficiency.
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To further enhance the efficiency of lithium battery usage, we have
independently developed the Langhui Lithium Battery, which is equipped with
an intelligent management system. This system enables real-time monitoring of
critical parameters such as voltage, temperature, and charge/discharge cycles,
precisely optimizing battery performance, effectively extending its lifespan,
and reducing resource consumption. The system integrates remote diagnostics,
intelligent alerts, and low-temperature protection functions to ensure that the
battery remains in optimal working condition. Its intelligent alarm and multi-
layered protection mechanisms automatically trigger alerts when abnormalities
are detected, effectively preventing potential failures. In low-temperature
environments, the system automatically activates heating protection to prevent
charging below 0°C, avoiding battery damage and ensuring safe operation.
With intelligent management at its core, the Langhui Lithium Battery provides a
highly efficient and clean energy solution, supporting the achievement of carbon

reduction targets.

The Group has significantly increased the proportion of electric forklifts in its
intralogistics equipment fleet, actively responding to the global call for emission
reduction. The proportion of electric forklifts in the fleet rose from approximately
92.5% in 2023 to approximately 94.8% in 2024. During the reporting period, we
continued to invest in new energy equipment. As of December 31, 2024, lithium
battery equipment accounted for approximately 74.8% of our total intralogistics
equipment.
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Enhancing Predictive Maintenance to Extend Equipment
Lifespan

Leveraging our extensive industry expertise, we have built a leading predictive
maintenance technology framework. By continuously innovating our proprietary
loT terminals and Intelligent Asset and Operation Management Platform, we
have deeply integrated loT functionalities to enable real-time monitoring of
equipment operational status. This allows us to promptly identify potential issues
at their earliest stages, preventing major equipment failures and the substantial
maintenance costs that follow. Through targeted interventions and timely
maintenance, we not only optimize equipment performance in a cost-efficient
manner but also extend equipment lifespan, reducing resource waste and carbon
emissions associated with frequent replacements. Thanks to our robust predictive
maintenance capabilities, the intralogistics equipment under our management
has an average lifespan of up to 13 years, significantly exceeding the industry
average of 5 to 10 years for intralogistics equipment in China. Continuous
monitoring and predictive maintenance have also reduced the frequency of
major repairs, thereby lowering the hazardous waste and carbon emissions
generated during maintenance activities, mitigating the potential environmental
impact.

We recognize the critical role of predictive maintenance technologies in driving
sustainability and reducing carbon emissions. As such, the Group is committed to
increasing investment in this area, continuously strengthening and refining our
predictive maintenance capabilities. We will also explore and integrate advanced
monitoring technologies to further improve the precision and efficiency
of predictive maintenance. This strategic focus underscores our steadfast
commitment to sustainable practices. By optimizing operational efficiency and
adopting cutting-edge predictive maintenance technologies, we aim to make
significant contributions to environmental protection while enhancing our

operational performance.
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Upgrading the Intelligent Asset and Operation Management
Platform

In the current context of green and low-carbon development, we deeply
recognize the urgency of reducing carbon emissions. As such, we continuously
allocate resources to enhance and optimize the Intelligent Asset and Operation
Management Platform to improve equipment utilization efficiency and reduce
carbon emissions caused by inefficient operations. This platform integrates digital
technologies and services into every aspect of our business operations, offering
multiple pathways to reduce carbon emissions. By leveraging loT technology, the
Intelligent Asset and Operation Management Platform assists in the allocation,
organization, and updating of information on equipment and accessories.
This enables us to coordinate equipment usage management, optimize
resource allocation, avoid equipment idleness and waste, and minimize energy
consumption and carbon emissions. Moreover, the platform simplifies service
processes, reduces human errors, and cuts down the use of paper products,
significantly improving operational efficiency and further reducing emissions
caused by inefficiencies. As of December 31, 2024, the platform has covered 97.8%
of our intralogistics equipment.

Looking ahead, we will continue to increase investment in improving and
optimizing the platform, contributing further to achieving environmentally
friendly and sustainable development goals. By implementing environmentally
conscious practices, we remain committed to enhancing operational efficiency
and demonstrating our determination to reduce carbon emissions.

Improving Used Equipment Disposal Services

To support the circular economy and respond to recent Chinese government
policies and initiatives promoting corporate environmental protection, we have
developed a comprehensive recycling and disposal service for old and idle used
equipment. This service not only reduces carbon emissions associated with
the production, procurement, and disposal of new equipment but also sets a
benchmark for sustainable development across the industry.
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Core Components of Our Used Equipment Disposal Services:

BN —FRBEERTBRESATRUIRE

1. Professional Assessment and scrapping.

Categorization

§¥§-¥1ﬁ§ﬁﬁﬁ TEWE?@%%%E’\]%H%’\E@E‘

We have a team of experienced professionals who conduct comprehensive inspections and
assessments of used equipment. Assessments cover various dimensions, including overall
performance, the condition of critical components, and service life. Based on the results,

equipment is categorized into groups for repair and reuse, remanufacturing of components, or

BPEETEREENEXTEEE e —FREETE2ERB MM - 5F
MBRTEMARR ERFREZEHE  LREFG

ERBREOIRTTHEER THHBRENBEREESETRER -

2. Refined Disassembly and
Remanufacturing

RRFBREERE

For equipment requiring disassembly, we have established standardized processes to ensure
that all reusable components are properly preserved. After sorting and evaluation by specialists,
reusable components undergo a remanufacturing process. Our remanufacturing centers are
equipped with advanced testing and repair facilities, ensuring strict quality control to restore
components to optimal working conditions and extend their service life.
HRFBERBORE  RARLTRECHFRBRIE
HEINZERE KBHEEABNSRAGER  AFEBFNBEENZTHHHEANS
BHET - WM BEEPORE TRENRAEAERE  BRERNESES
BELETHHREZRFMNI/ERE  MERKERSES -

R & 1 7] B M R e T ER ¢

consumption and carbon emissions.
3. Preventive Maintenance
Management

R aEEER REHEASD -

For used equipment still within its service life, we implement preventive maintenance strategies.
Regular inspections, timely maintenance, and scientific management ensure that equipment
remains in optimal working condition. This proactive maintenance approach not only extends
equipment lifespan but also significantly improves operational efficiency, reducing energy

HRIMDECHBHERAN_FRE  RMBERBEHEEERRE BETHRE RkE
RENMBEE  BRIBHERKRFEREERARE ERTPEERATELR
PRERS TRENETHE B TERBFEMBBEN -

Before equipment reaches the end of its service life, we maintain it in optimal
condition through meticulous maintenance and scientific management. We
actively seek buyers with demand for used equipment, ensuring that each
piece of equipment maximizes its value throughout its lifecycle. We uphold a
highly responsible attitude, and during the Reporting Period, no equipment was
disposed of as waste or sold to unqualified recyclers.

Looking ahead, we will continue to refine our recycling and disposal processes
and explore innovative methods, such as improving remanufacturing efficiency
and expanding the scope of recycling, to achieve resource recovery and circular
reuse more effectively. By strengthening our capabilities in used equipment
processing and reuse, we aim to respond more proactively to environmental
challenges, promote sustainable development, and contribute to building a
green, low-carbon environment.

FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B BAET R 3 B PR A =)
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Green Office

The Group consistently upholds the concept of green office practices in its
operations. We are committed to implementing proactive energy-saving and
emission-reduction measures from the source while continuously exploring more
environmentally friendly business operation methods. Through concrete actions,
we aim to minimize the environmental impact of our operations. To effectively
integrate the principles of green and low-carbon operations, we continuously
optimize internal management measures based on business development and
operational needs, actively promoting energy-saving and emission-reduction
initiatives across office spaces, equipment bases, and logistics. In office spaces,
we focus on the efficient use of office supplies and advocate for green travel
to further reduce environmental impacts. We firmly believe that these efforts
contribute to achieving environmental protection and sustainability goals while
encouraging employees to participate in building a better future together.

Our Green Office Initiatives:

We have established an effective inventory management system for office
supplies, requiring that durable office items be exchanged on a “new for old”
basis to ensure sufficient supply while minimizing waste.

We promote the reuse of office paper and advocate for paperless operations.
Various application forms and paper-based materials are processed online
whenever possible (e.g., office automation systems, invoices), thereby

reducing paper consumption.

Employees are required to check and ensure that all electrical equipment,
such as lighting, fans, and water dispensers, in the office is turned off
before leaving work. Office equipment such as computers, printers,
and photocopiers must be set to energy-saving mode, and if not in use
for an extended period, they must be powered off to minimize energy
consumption from standby mode.

Our Green Travel Initiatives:

=

We have installed charging stations within the campus and increased the

deployment of energy-efficient electric vehicles within the company.

We promote online and telephone conferencing to reduce carbon emissions
associated with business travel.

We actively advocate low-carbon travel and encourage employees to use

public transportation and other low-carbon commuting options.
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Responding to Climate Change

Climate change has become a universal challenge faced by businesses globally.
Issues such as supply chain disruptions caused by increasingly frequent extreme
weather events pose significant threats to business continuity. In response, we
have established a climate change response system and governance framework.
By setting specific, quantifiable emission reduction targets and developing
contingency plans, we aim to enhance the Group’s resilience in addressing
climate change, ensuring the stability of our operations and a sustainable
development outlook.

Climate Change Management System

The Group attaches great importance to the profound impacts of climate change
and deeply understands the potential risks and valuable opportunities it presents
for business development. To further strengthen the Group's ability to address
climate change, we actively respond to the recommendations of the TCFD.
We plan to systematically integrate climate risk management into our business
strategy and risk management system, ensuring stable development in an

increasingly complex and unpredictable climate environment.

Our Actions

EMOTH

Aspect
B

P& ¥ SR fik 2 1L

REZBECKAEREEEEEMBEALE - &
MAREMFABMERNHE R EHERES

HEBOFRBEUTREREXE - Bt HMI2
YTEHRERECNREARERRE BB
TEARBNELRBEENEST REHE 12
SASEERYREECTEANIE  UER
EBEENBTUEMNAIHERRNATR -

RIFBLEERA

AEBEFFERARRELCMTRNRERE
RARBBIREBCHEBERTRNELER
RNEERE RTE-—TRALNEERYER
RSN  RMBERLDERKBEIEE
BB IEATCFD)MERE - j’[?r*ﬂﬂ%ﬁﬂ%ﬂ iy
ERERARUBANEERERBRERRR 2P -
BREEMZ mm%f'%fiiﬁ‘:F‘{%?ﬁ%IEE@ﬁé@
B -

Governance

The Board of Directors shall be responsible for comprehensive supervision of ESG related matters,

including addressing climate change issues. The ESG Working Group is established under the

Group, responsible for identifying and evaluating ESG-related risks and opportunities, including

addressing climate change problems, assisting the Board of Directors in developing corresponding

management indicators and mechanisms, and coordinating the implementation of the ESG work

in various relevant departments and branches.

=g EXgrmEEBERIRE(LE
BREREZCHEBRREKS -

EEAEANMESGHBAER  ESGIIEEa & &R M H
WHEESH CHETEEIZEES - I

I B EESG

MY REE(C THEERBEPINED QAN EEE -

Strategy

We are fully aware of the significant impact of climate change on the operations of the Group,

comprehensively evaluate the potential financial impact of climate change risks and opportunities,

promote corporate transformation through technological innovation and green operations,

reduce climate change risks, seize development opportunities, and create long term and

sustainable value for the Group and all stakeholders.
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Aspect Our Actions
B EMHTE
Risk Management Based on the TCFD framework, we identify climate change risks and opportunities related to the

Company, and organically integrate climate change risk management into the Company’s business
strategy and risk management system.

[k E 32 BFM2ETCDERB N ASERBENREZCARNEE L RIRECRRE
BERGHR A ABEBREARREERRA 2H -

Metrics and Targets We regularly monitor, statistically analyze and transparently disclose performance data related to
carbon emissions and set feasible carbon reduction targets. To ensure the smooth implementation
of our targets, we will disclose the progress of achieving our targets in our annual ESG report,
which will be used to assess the Group’s management performance in addressing climate change.
At the same time, based on the results of the assessment, we will formulate targeted improvement
programs to continuously enhance our climate change resilience.

BIZEBE HAPTEHREEA - FEat - ST E AR BRI S BUR R A B BUE - B RITTEV R B 1R
REREEMIRFHEE BB ESFNESCRETTFARERZESEE - Hit
AEEEEREREETENEREERUKT  EERER - F A RE TGS RS
EHEHUNBETR  URBRARGEE (DI -

Climate Change Risks, Opportunities, and Countermeasures RizBRAR - HBHEYHER

The Group fully recognizes the substantial financial impacts that climate change  AEBRZRFH B RIR S B RO E &
may bring. We actively conduct the identification, assessment, and analysis of ~ BAFS #22 » T MI1E 1% B &% 2 b @ B 8
climate change-related risks and opportunities to address potential challenges &y Bl « FE (G &2 D AT T1E - LA B A 20 JE % 78
and seize opportunities more effectively. Through this process, we have clearly  7EFJ B M B - MBAER B HE B & 215
identified climate change factors closely related to our business and operations, & EZ YA R IEE L EZ R EHRNE
as well as the associated risks and opportunities. This enables us to better manage B FI4% 38 - GBI T F oF b 3% &l & b - 148
risks, capitalize on opportunities, and ensure the Group's stability and sustainable ~ #38 @ R AN EBE S Z H O RIFR TPt
development in an ever-changing climate environment. HIBREFAIFERR -
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Types of climate Impact
change-related Potential Timeframe'
risks Risk description financialimpact & & K Countermeasures
RRER B f EERBYE HE Ef ik
Physical Risks ] 3 & b
Acute physical risk | Natural events such as sudden storms, floods, | Falling operating | Shortterm | «  Establish emergency response plans: track climate change
SUEMBER | fires, or extreme heatwaves may result in revenues 25 developments in real time and formulate emergency response plans to
damage to company equipment or distuptions| & 2 Yt AT B8 address natural disasters such as storms, floods, and fires, minimizing
in the value chain, leading to production halts, | Rising operating losses and disruptions.
increased equipment repair costs, and supply | costs + Enhance equipment protection: conduct regular inspections and
chain interruptions. EBERALTA maintenance of company equipment to improve disaster resilience
REMRR A AR BRRRS and ensure quick recovery and production resumption during
BA $f¢—f§€%ﬁl SEE xﬂdﬁ@ emergencies.
EhE - R ERE Eﬁuu EERE- ﬁ « Implement differentiated management strategies: tailor operational
BB AL I LA T ft FE S P BT RY 1B O0 strategies to the specific climate risks of different regions. Develop
localized safety measures to protect employees and assets, minimizing
potential losses from climate change.
BURRREMHE AMNENBHARE DL YHEM
EmAREERE KN KAFERNENERELHE
AERARERDBREAMDE -
MERERE: TRARENEELARE Bl
BREXEZERLARREEN \N’EEF‘ o
EmERCERER S HIAABENREE L - RAER
REBBRERZECERRR - BBEHNRRERS
BELCHES HTstHNNR 2R KNEREINGE
MRE EARERRIRERCATETRNER -
Chronic Long-term climate change could lead to Rising operating | Long-term | «  New site location considerations: factor in the frequency of extreme
physical risk challenges such as temperature variations, costs - weather events in different regions as a key criterion when deciding
BEMEER | rising sea levels and reduced water resources, | E& B A F site locations to ensure operational stability and continuity.
potentially impacting the stability of the « Supply chain risk assessment: evaluate key segments in the supply
Group's supply chain and increasing energy chain that may be affected by climate change and develop mitigation
costs. strategies, including diversifying suppliers and geographic locations.
REREE TR EHR F e B « Improve resource efficiency: adopt energy-saving and emission-
BEAURKERSEME oy 2 reduction measures to enhance energy utilization efficiency, reducing
SEMMREERTIN & 2 /ﬁ AR o both energy costs and the group’s carbon emission.
MREEIZS  ROZERUERERANEEAN &
BEERBRHMRARNERER IREEBNEBTENE
&t
HEERRTE W EEPAEXREE T ENER
RE HIEERHER  BRSTIBEDLE -
BERMERA: aﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ‘é/@‘c B REERNARE B
{88 R B AR BB AR
! Short-term is 1-3 years; Medium-term is 3-5 years; Long-term is 5-10 years. " EHEAI3F P EA3SF RHAASI0F -
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Types of climate
change-related
risks

k¢ bid

Risk description
B b i
Transitional Risks & & [ B

Potential
financial impact

BERHYE
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Impact
Timeframe'
FERE
EE

BRI - HERERAHRSE

Countermeasures

T

Policy and legal
risks

BRMEERR

To comply with increasingly stringent
environmental laws and regulations, the Group
may need to make additional investments and
adjust its existing business models. This could
result in cost pressures to meet compliance
requirements, such as reducing carbon
emissions and improving energy efficiency.
Any non-compliance with relevant regulations
may expose the Group to fines, lawsuits, and
reputational risks, which could adversely affect
business operations.
RESTTEMBNRBERERTES
ERERTENRENNERBNE
BEA - RENRFRARTARRE
REEERAOKEED - PR BIEM
REERYES - AATHEABER
ERNTABUREEEERTN F
DARBERR EMHEBAXKES
EETHFE -

Rising operating
costs

BERALT

Medium-term| -+

P

Compliance with regulations: stay informed and comply with
environmental laws and regulations by developing localized
environmental management plans to mitigate non-compliance risks.
Conduct training: strengthen employee training to enhance awareness
and compliance with environmental requlations, ensuring that the
group’s operations align with relevant legal requirements.

ETER BRTRNETREARER HENAEHA
RORZEEHE RETSRER -
RREN:NRETEI RRBIHRRAANAHNE
TERE BREBESHSEMARER -

Technical risk

RiER

Technological advancements may necessitate
continuous upgrades to the Group’s
intralogistics equipment, transitioning from
high-impact to climate-friendly technologies.
This transformation could demand significant
capital investment and R&D efforts. The Group
must remain agile and competitive during this
transition to address evolving technological
needs driven by climate change.

R RUERERETHARNBE
RSk NRBERRRERER
RERBRERERSNHM - 5F
EUARFEAENERANRRM
E - SEREARMEFNER DR
RREENREN  UEHREZLY
RiTERME L -

Falling operating
revenues
ERIBATRE
Rising operating
costs

BERALT

Medium-term| -+

P

Continuous technological innovation: invest in the research and
development of climate-friendly technologies, encouraging innovation
to improve the energy efficiency and emission reduction performance
of intralogistics equipment.

Technological training: provide regular training for employees to keep
them updated on the latest climate-friendly technology applications,
facilitating technological upgrades and transformations.
SERMA: REFRARERERFERMN - SERM
B3 REVRXBOAEIAERR -

RifEdl: RETREFANRMEIN - EER EZHNR
FRRFERMER  RERMENNER -

1 Short-term is 1-3 years; Medium-term is 3-5 years; Long-term is 5-10 years.
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Types of climate
change-related
risks

k¢ bid

Risk description

¢

Reputation risk As the importance of the climate change
BEERR issue continues to rise in society, stakeholders

have raised higher expectations on the
performance and actions of corporations on
the climate change issue. If the Group fails to
actively respond to climate change, enhance
the transparency of information disclosure
or respond to the demands of stakeholders,
it may result in reputational risk. The Group’s
reputation is part of its corporate value, and a
poor reputation may have a negative impact
on brand image, customer trust and investor
and consumer attitudes, which in turn may
affect the Group's business operations and
long-term development.
BERGEEEEEHEPNERUAL
B FEEBrHCEEREEL
R HRBNTHRETERNRE -
FEERREEERYRIRE L KR
FEERBERE ARG EENRIEE
TRFHR A EHBRRRMES -
SEMBERCEEEN 5 TR
MEEIRHMETE TFEEEM
&&S%ﬂﬁgﬁﬁrﬁiﬁﬁig
MY EERENEBELNRPER -

Potential
financial impact

BERHYE

Falling operating
revenues
BRIRATR
Rising operating
costs

BEKALT

Impact
Timeframe'
FERME
gE
Long term

&4

Countermeasures

T

Transparent information disclosure: strengthen communication with
internal and external stakeholders, enhancing the transparency of
information disclosure to showcase the group's proactive actions and
achievements in addressing climate change.

Develop climate change strategies: formulate clear climate change
strategies and objectives to proactively tackle climate challenges,
building a positive corporate image and reputation.

FRESRE MBHRINERESNER REEER
ENERE RIEBRARRECER LOERTHNAR -
HERRECERE: HTHENREECBBENESR AR
EHREZUE BURHNEETEANES -

1 Short-term is 1-3 years; Medium-term is 3-5 years; Long-term is 5-10 years.
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Types of climate
change-related

opportunities

BBRE

Opportunity description
BEHL
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Potential financial
impact

BENKTE

BRI - HERERAHRSE

Countermeasures

B it

Products and services | As customers’ environmental awareness grows, the Rising operating We will continue to research, develop, and introduce
= o B IR 7 demand for green products and services continues to | revenue environmentally friendly products and services to meet
increase. This presents the Group with opportunities | & A EF customers' growing demand for green solutions. By offering
to expand its product line, develop environmentally green solutions, we can expand our market share and
friendly products, and create greater revenue growth increase revenue.
potential. Conduct a comprehensive review of existing internal
RERPHRREANRS HEBERNR combustion vehicles and dispose of those with limited value
BOFROAEMEN EAKERMTTHRAE and continued use.
mig FERREMNKE  EMAEE XY Adjust the workforce structure by recruiting technical talent
WAERER o for the maintenance and repair of new energy vehicles.
BMERENENREREBREENERARE -
WRREFHGEERNBR - BRRHEZEHRR
HE BAAREATSHETRERA -
URBERREETEEES HHECREBES
BOEFETRE -
AEABRE SIAFRREREEEBORME
AT e
Market opportunities | The rising focus on environmental protection and Rising operating We closely monitor changes in environmental policies
miEikE green development by governments and society, revenue and adjust business strategies accordingly to comply with
coupled with favorable policies, supports enterprises | & 2 A EF requlations and policies. This allows us to seize market niches
in transitioning to green development. By complying and accelerate the pace of our green transformation.
with environmental requlations and participating in BMEBEIRREENE L ENAEREERR
environmental initiatives, the Group can capitalize on UHERRERNIEER  RPERTHIE
market opportunities and policy support, driving its WMRGEEERR LK -
sustainability objectives.
BNt e HRENEEEROET LM
MFBROLABEDREDCENZEER
#BE O SETNABETRRER  2HEERR
HAZFA  RRATEOEBMERNIRE
RESENTHELER -
Resource efficiency Focusing on improving resource efficiency and Decrease in operating Implement resource-saving and energy-efficiency
BRmE reducing energy consumption, the Group can optimize| costs measures to optimize production processes, reduce energy

production processes and adopt energy-saving
technologies to lower operating costs and enhance
competitiveness.
ERRRBERNAERANBEERERE £F
ANBBAREEERE  SIASRRNER
RESENE ResENERMEMBERS -

EERATE

consumption and waste generation, lower operating costs,
and improve production efficiency.
BRSEREREOMERBEREE - B4
ERE RO RERNEEDHN  BREEEK
RiERSEERE -
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Types of climate
change-related
opportunities

BBERE

Opportunity description
BEHT

Potential financial
impact

BENBTE

Countermeasures

4 i

its adaptability to climate change, and promote
sustainability across the industry ecosystem.

Decrease in operating
costs

Energy sources Adopting low-carbon, renewable, and clean energy Decrease in operating Explore the use of renewable energy sources such as solar
N sources while increasing energy reuse rates will help | costs and wind power, as well as other clean energy options. This
the Group reduce carbon emissions and environmental| 3 & i, % T B& will reduce carbon emissions, decrease reliance on non-
impacts, improve energy efficiency, and enhance renewable energy, and support the development of a green
sustainability. supply chain.
KA TEE F2RR RALRNE BRBERRARBERR MABE RS
MAZ  EHRBEREINREYE  AK AREZERIR  BRBRHENR L H B
YEEEMRRIEMAFEL - REOVKRE - RPATMNGEMEERR -
Adaptability Collaborating with suppliers and partners committed | Rising operating Collaborate closely with environmentally conscious suppliers
HEN to green transformation enables the Group to revenue and partners to establish strong supply chain relationships.
strengthen its value chain relationships, enhance BERALHA Together, we aim to drive green transformation and climate-

friendly initiatives, enhancing the Group's adaptability and
overall sustainability.

HEREEFEERNOHRERNSERHEE | BEXATR BEMEERRESRSNREENSERERNAE
BORGEEARAEERREYEETNAER BUBKOBRERAERR XAEDGEELN
& E—IRAEEEYREELOEE AREREER REARNEEREEINTHFES
THEEZLREGOURELE - Bt o
Climate change-related risks and opportunities matrix: R 2 (b A8 8 2 B B 4 38 S
High4
9 ERERE

Products and services

|
I
I
: SRR
P Energy sources
HERER AR I o
Policy and legal risks | FEE
(w] Bim
g Resource efficiency
I
s B
Lo | 2HIEAR R
- = A | Acute physical risk Phyéicél ;iAsk
83 % | FIEREREER :
2 Swrr————————- - ————————- Climate change-related 57 ] P
3. isk Transformation risk
=g % 18 rees
e et market TSR B8
! mizEg 2
o E o 2 3 Climate change-related Ol
o = BTk BIET nang
3 Reputation risk Adaptability opportunities

el 2l b
Technical risk

eI EL s
Chronic physical risk

s Rk
Market risk
& Bl AIBA0 R = &
Middle Probability of occurrence of risks and High

opportunities
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Climate Change Risk Management REBLLERER

To effectively address the challenges and opportunities brought by ABXEYH RIEZHERAOKEMEB K&
climate change, the Group has established a systematic climate change risk B ERTCFDIEZREZ Y T ZSIL R IE AR
management process based on the TCFD framework. This process integrates EIERIZE - ZAMEG AR B FHITERESR
scientific methodologies with industry best practices, embedding climate risk 2 S RIREREE M A B S E A E KA K E
management into the Group’s business decisions and operational management. EB&EIE 2 - BERIEBM T :

The detailed process is as follows:

1. Identifying Risks and - Following the TCFD framework, systematically identify climate-related physical risks
Opportunities (e.g., extreme weather events, rising sea levels) and transition risks (e.g., policy changes,
AR EEE technological advancements, market demand shifts).

Simultaneously, recognize potential opportunities arising from climate change, such as the
adoption of low-carbon technologies and the growth of new market demand.
SZEZTCDER  ZEE R RIEZCHBNYERR(NEKXE  BFE LT
MBR AR (BRI BRgES - mIHFRE(L) -

B - BRIRIERZCHEROEERS  NERRMOER FimsHKOERSE -

2. Assessing Impacts - Evaluate the potential impacts of climate change risks and opportunities on the Group's
AETE business, financial performance, supply chain, and brand reputation using both quantitative

and qualitative methods.

Utilize scenario analysis tools to simulate the potential short-, medium-, and long-term impacts
of different climate scenarios, such as global temperature increases of 1.5°C or 2°C.
BRATEMNEUENTN  FERESELCAREKEHEEER B KRR - H#
EHEkREBENEELE -

EABEINIA ERTARGRELBER(WEHRERAS 15°CH 2208 B %
R H - RHEIR BT E -

3. Prioritization and Mitigation - Prioritize risks based on their likelihood and impact to identify high-priority risks requiring

Measures focused attention.

BAHEFEEHER - Develop targeted responses, including risk mitigation (e.g., strengthening infrastructure
protection), adaptation strategies (e.g., improving supply chain resilience), and seizing
opportunities (e.g., developing green products).
BERBOATETEZEERHRRETESHEY BAIFTEHHEINGEL
e
HES SR ER  SERRER(NINRERRED &) BERR (R
FHetEE M) ARMEEBER S (NREEEER) -

4. Integration into Business - Integrate findings from climate risk and opportunity analyses into the Group's strategic
Decisions and Strategy planning, investment decisions, and daily operations to ensure climate risk management aligns
BB ERREERE with business objectives.

Establish internal policies, processes, and guidelines to ensure all business units consider
climate factors during operations.
KREZFLARERESMERBAESENEEBRRE REAXKREEE
EER BARRREAREREEZEBER -

BBNPHE  REMEBEERH BRABEBELEELPERRIEAE -
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5. Monitoring and Reporting
BRI B R

opportunities.

Continuously monitor the evolution of climate risks and the effectiveness of mitigation

measures, dynamically adjusting risk management strategies to address new challenges and

Regularly disclose progress in climate risk management, and publish transparent climate-

related financial information in line with the TCFD framework to enhance stakeholder trust.

S BN AR R (AR R

BEF B S o

MEHEROARLE  RERREESHEFEN

EHREREZCRREENER  WRIE TCFOERBMERNRRERYVBESR

IEoR M sS AR T M E(E -

6. Continuous Improvement

Regularly evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of the climate change risk management

process through internal audits and external expert consultation, and make continuous

improvement by integrating the latest policies, technologies and industry best practices.
BERAMBREINIMLEREN  EHFERERCARERREZNREEG L -
WS RFTOEE HMERTEREBERETHESE -

Environmental Targets

We recognize that in today’s society, corporations must shoulder greater social
responsibility by not only pursuing economic benefits but also contributing
to the environment and society. Based on our operational circumstances, the
Group has set targets for four key areas—-GHG emissions, energy consumption,
water consumption, and waste management-using 2024 as the base year.
To ensure the successful achievement of these ESG goals, we will establish a
comprehensive tracking and assessment mechanism to monitor progress in
each key area. Through regular reviews and evaluations, we will adjust strategies
as needed to ensure continuous progress toward our sustainability objectives.
We are committed to practicing the values of environmental protection, social
responsibility, and sustainability, demonstrating our professional capabilities and
unwavering determination through concrete actions.

GHG Emissions

BERBEK

BREARE

BARMEESHE  CEFERELEAN
HEEE TEREREERGE EEZEY
RENMHENER SR FKEERN &A%
BLA204F REESF - HEERER  KERH
Fe o BERY)ETE A NOR E RS B {E BE 52 <A
HERERE - ARRSGEEMIEFIE IR + M
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ERBRAFAERBENR - 3BBTER@I MM
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EROBETEAE KMV ERRRRE
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Reduce greenhouse gas emission intensity by 5% within the next five years

ARRAFA - BES0EERBHENEE

Energy Consumption

Reduce energy consumption intensity by 5% within the next five years

REFUH 7 RRAFA - BEAES%EERIEREEE
Water Consumption Reduce water consumption intensity by 5% within the next five years

KE R HEFE

RERER - BFIE%KEFRBERTE

Waste Management

BERYER

Reduce the intensity of hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste by 5% within the next five years

AERER  RENEEBRENTERBRE9EEBRZYTE
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STRIVING FOR EXCELLENCE IN PRODUCTS AND
QUALITY

High-quality products and services are the cornerstone of the Group’s steady
operations. We are committed to continuously improving the quality of our
products and services, focusing on every detail of the customer experience to
provide a comprehensive and satisfying user experience that fosters long-term
customer loyalty. In addition to prioritizing product and service quality as
well as customer experience, we place significant emphasis on supply chain
management. By actively building collaborative partnerships and strengthening
supplier management, we ensure transparency and stability across the supply
chain. Furthermore, we embed sustainability principles into every aspect of our
supply chain, contributing to the entire value chain.

Focusing on Service Quality

We maintain the highest standards for the quality of our products and services,
not only by continuously optimizing product quality but also through our
unwavering pursuit of an exceptional customer experience. We firmly believe
that superior and safe products and services are the foundation of long-term
relationships with our customers. To better meet customer demands, we
maintain close communication with our clients, listening to their feedback and
suggestions to understand their expectations and requirements. This enables us
to continuously refine our products and services to meet and exceed customer
expectations. Recognizing the importance of after-sales support, we provide
attentive and comprehensive after-sales services, ensuring customers receive
timely assistance whenever needed. Our goal is to build a robust service system
that demonstrates care and professionalism, fostering strong and lasting
partnerships with our customers.

Prioritizing Customer Experience

High-quality products and services not only enhance brand reputation and
customer satisfaction but also lay the foundation for steady business growth.
The Group strictly adheres to the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of
China and other relevant regulations, prioritizing the safety, reliability, and quality
of its products and services.

We continuously optimize our product offerings and service designs to address
the practical needs of intralogistics equipment users. The Group has established
and continuously enhanced its advanced comprehensive technology platform-
the Intelligent Asset and Operation Management System. By integrating loT
Smart Terminals with a nationwide service network, we provide customers
with attentive, efficient, and timely services. As a key component of our online
services, the Intelligent Asset and Operation Management System enables 24/7
real-time monitoring of equipment status. This system not only offers customers
digitalized support but also helps them improve the utilization of their subscribed
equipment. Customers can flexibly adjust the number of equipment units under
their service contracts based on utilization rates and project progress, ensuring
a more flexible and efficient service experience. This approach helps customers
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optimize asset management and operational efficiency. As of December 31, 2024,
the Intelligent Asset and Operation Management System covered over 97.8% of
our intralogistics equipment fleet.

To provide efficient and convenient services, we have established an extensive
nationwide service network and plan to continue expanding our offline service
locations to better meet customer needs. We aim for our technicians to arrive
on-site within eight hours whenever customers require services, ensuring timely
and high-quality support. As of December 31, 2024, our nationwide service
network included 85 service locations, covering 48 cities across the country.

WEEBEEWEBESNE - & 22024512731
A RN EEEEBELEEEZARBEERMR
B MR B K A9978% A £ o
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Intelligent Asset and Operation Management Platform for
Safe Operations

We have implemented an Intelligent Asset and Operation Management
Platform that integrates system configurations, asset tracking, maintenance
management, driving management, fleet management, and data analysis
with loT terminals. This solution enables real-time monitoring of equipment
operations, helping customers standardize equipment use, promote safe driving
practices, and achieve management objectives such as improved efficiency
and safer operations. To mitigate safety risks, we also offer a UWB Safety
Distance Protection Solution. When a monitored individual or object wearing
an anti-collision tag approaches a hazardous area, the system'’s distance-based
anti-collision alarm will activate. The alarm frequency adjusts according to the
risk level, proactively reminding operators and effectively preventing forklift
collisions.

[EREEEENRIENZEZER

HMBIETEREEETENRE  BRAGKS -
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Enhancing Customer Service with Wearable Technology

As a service-oriented enterprise, we understand that the technical skills and
attitudes of frontline employees are critical to customer satisfaction. To improve
service processes and quality, we have developed specialized wearable devices
for frontline service personnel. These devices not only ensure the safety of
employees during work but are also equipped with visual and transmission
modules at the equipment front end, enabling the real-time transmission
of frontline employees’ perspectives to the system backend. This facilitates
standardized service processes, ensures high-quality customer service, and
allows senior technical staff at the backend to provide timely remote technical
support, efficiently addressing complex equipment issues effectively.

In the future, we will continue to focus on technological innovation and talent
development to enhance the professionalism and service attitude of our
frontline employees. Additionally, we plan to further optimize and upgrade
the functionality and performance of wearable devices to better meet the
practical needs of frontline staff, boost work efficiency, and increase customer
satisfaction. These efforts will continuously enhance our competitiveness and
deliver superior, professional service experiences to our customers.
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After-Sales Service

The Group adheres to a customer-centric business philosophy, striving to
provide excellent products and services. To this end, we have established a
comprehensive after-sales tracking service system. Before and during the sales
process, the sales department introduces products to customers through
multiple channels, answers their inquiries, and keeps detailed records. After the
sale, we proactively contact customers to collect feedback in a timely manner.
If customers raise complaints about our products or services, we ensure proper
handling to maintain their continued satisfaction.

1 S ER Complaint Receipt Phase
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Upon receiving verbal or written complaints from customers, the sales personnel communicate thoroughly with the
customer via phone, fax, or in-person visits to understand and record the details of the complaint, clearly identifying
the specific issues raised. Once the sales personnel confirm the details of the complaint, they are required to
promptly report it to their department supervisor.

FE DT ER Investigation and Analysis Phase

ERFEERR AT - HESPIWABRER ERKPIEEERE - SRFRAE LR BPIETRE
B o RITEPIEE W ENR AR - B ARBBRIBRBAESNIZF - BANBBRENSEZRTEEEE
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If the complaint is determined to be our responsibility, the sales personnel must report the matter to their supervisor
and transfer the complaint case to the technical department for further handling. Upon receiving the complaint, the
technical department immediately initiates a verification, investigation, and analysis process using scientific and
rigorous methods to determine responsibility. The investigation results are meticulously recorded for future
reference. After completing the investigation, the technical department transfers the case to the relevant
department responsible for addressing the issue.

BEEENMER Corrective Action Phase

BEEBMUARKERRRER - BIHTHRRFIRETRADN - SHAEGR - LRH ABRARIRTTZRIA
RIABCEIE i - BB R SRR EBURFORARE - B EUREBREE - KR EPRE
EMARRBEE

The responsible department, upon receiving the complaint case, conducts an in-depth analysis of the specific issue,
identifies the root cause, and develops a targeted resolution plan along with preventive measures. These measures
aim to eliminate the underlying cause of the complaint and prevent the recurrence of similar issues, thereby
improving customer satisfaction and enhancing the Group’s service quality.

During the reporting period, the Group did not receive any customer complaints

that had a material adverse impact on our operations or financial performance.

BEHA BARKISERMELHMEE
REEEATHNZENEMEFLRF
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Driving Industry Development EHITERR

On the path to continuous excellence, the Group actively promotes industry fETNETBKEBMER - AEBEBERHES T
development by deeply engaging in industry associations and contributingto ¥ %R - BBEAELRHEITERBE  BTTERE
the standardization of practices and technological advancements. Below arethe bt BB A FEME LS T HE - A TR EMIETT

key associations in which we actively participate: (¥mEehnEELEEN:
Industry Association Position Held
TEHEER EEB
China Construction Machinery Association Industrial Vehicles Branch Executive Director
TREIRERIXRETIEXEMS S ERBEEL
National Industrial Vehicle Standardization Technical Committee Member
PETXEMEELCRNTEES g8
Guangdong Procurement and Supply Chain Association Director
BREREREERE DS BEEM

We firmly believe that by participating in industry associations, we not only ~ i1 - R EITEHE N TIE - TERLIRTF
enhance the Group's influence but also promote high-quality industry 1¥BBFEH > BERBEREZMBRAIF
development through resource sharing and collaborative innovation. EBTENRESERE -

CeMAT ASIA 2024: A Showcase of Technological Brilliance
MEZE R DR BE — % 8H 3B CeMAT ASIA 2024

Under the golden autumn skies, CeMAT ASIA 2024, the Asia
International Logistics Technology and Transportation Systems
Exhibition, opened on November 5 at the Shanghai New International
Expo Center. Themed “High-End Manufacturing, Logistics First-
Smart Manufacturing Leading the Future,” the exhibition served
as a comprehensive review of the latest advancements in logistics
technology and a profound insight into the future of the industry.

| BEE S HRIER B - CeMAT ASIA 202433 I BB ¥ % £ i 2
ERERAREGXNASEE LENERBERLEARSE - |
| RERURTETRT - SAMAENRNET2RE - L&
D ImBIE - MR TIT — BESIRRKIRBRLES HREE
REMYAZMEROZ2ERRE  BRRREREL R

AR -

Amid fierce competition with over 900 leading domestic and international companies, Frans stood out as one of the highlights of the
event due to its exceptional product offerings and innovative strategic vision. As a leading intralogistics equipment solution provider in
China, Frans showcased a range of star products and technological achievements. Among them, the forklift components series, known for
their durability and high quality, received widespread acclaim from both industry professionals and visitors. Additionally, FLS introduced
advanced digital solutions, presenting a cutting-edge intelligent asset operation management system that provided attendees with an
innovative smart logistics experience.

FEHBBIORBEAINEREENHREFT - HEANASENERERSMEHBBERFHEBENL  KARENRAZ— -
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During the exhibition, the Frans team engaged in in-depth discussions with industry peers from around the globe, exploring trends in
logistics development and directions for technological innovation. Moving forward, Frans will continue to uphold its philosophy of being
“customer-centric and driven by technological innovation,” enhancing its operational capabilities and collaborating with industry partners
to promote green transformation and sustainable development within the logistics sector.

REHE GHANBEFEREEHNEARARCRARR  ARAKSDRITENERBLEZMAIF T A - KRR - HHA
HBBESAIATPRTL  URMAFSES NES  HERTELEERL N TEITEKEBEFRE  #BHT
ENBREETETHEER -

Seizing Global Opportunities: FOLANGSI Presents at the 136th Canton Fair
REXREH SPATREMEF136EERS

On October 15, 2024, the 136th China Import and Export Fair (Canton Fair) opened grandly in Guangzhou, bringing together exhibitors

and buyers from around the world to explore new opportunities in global trade. As a comprehensive intralogistics equipment solution

provider offering intralogistics equipment subscription services, .5 \ 1 ‘ ‘
maintenance and repair, full-machine and spare parts sales(including '
parts export), FOLANGSI, through its subsidiary Guangzhou Pengze
Machinery Equipment Co,, Ltd., showcased its latest forklift spare parts,
becoming a bright scene at the fair.

202410158 F B6EFEELROE MR IS (BERE)ERE
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L S .

During the exhibition, FOLANGSI' forklift spare parts attracted numerous customers with their exceptional performance, diverse product
categories, and competitive pricing. Many international clients were also impressed by FOLANGSI" comprehensive capabilities, visiting
the company’s headquarters for in-depth exchanges. These clients highly praised FOLANGSI" achievements in product quality control,
technological innovation, and customer service, expressing strong interest in future collaboration.

ERSHE  GHNBLERNXETEFERERESUME SEERRERBARFINNER  RIITRERE
FERAK -FAR  ZUBEREFERKHBHINGAENMRS  REMEIARNABETRAZERR  XHAF
EERGERY RMEAFREPREITENRALTRENE RETRIUNAIERR -

Looking ahead, FOLANGSI will continue to strengthen its engagement with international markets, aligning closely with market demands.
We will continuously enhance our technical capabilities and service standards to provide global customers with more convenient, efficient,
and reliable intralogistics equipment solutions. In doing so, we aim to contribute to the sustainable development of the global logistics

industry.

FRERRE  BAMKEEMREBIRMENRAEE ZRMSEFER THRABSRMENRBHEKF  BEHE
PRHENERE SR AUENSANRREERLDE  AEDE2RYRTENISERREBNE -
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Collaborate, Coexist, and Win Together: FOLANGSI Chairman Attends the Construction Equipment
Leasing Industry Summit

HEg H4 AR FUNEESREFIRHMAETXES

On April 26, 2024, against the backdrop of economic globalization and industrial digitalization, the Chinese construction equipment leasing
industry embraced new growth opportunities. The 4th Construction B —d
Equipment Leasing Industry Summit, themed “Collaborate, Coexist,
and Win Together,” was held in Changsha, bringing together

government officials, association representatives, manufacturers,

ATION
coon AT

and leading domestic and international leasing companies to discuss
pathways for high-quality industry development.

mwammﬂﬁgs‘ *
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Chairman Hou Zekuan elaborated on FOLANGSI' practice of platform strategy and his thoughts on the construction of future ecological
model in his speech. He emphasized that FOLANGSI is committed to providing comprehensive, personalized intralogistics equipment
solutions for customers. By leveraging a smart asset operation and management platform that integrates loT and wearable devices, and
big data, FOLANGSI drives industry resource integration and ecosystem co-construction, achieving coordinated development across the
entire value chain.

FREREERAERETRAMLTHASEVEBRIENERENRRERRUBENTE - t13RH - HEAH RS
RREPRHEZ2TMA EHNSANARERRATR YEABEAVEE NFEARE KREBELS—BNEEE
EELEREYS HITXERBAELREHE BER2EXHENPREER -

The success of the summit provided an important platform for industry exchange and collaboration, injecting new vitality into the
direction of future development of industry. Moving forward, FOLANGSI will continue to uphold its philosophy of collaborative and
mutually beneficial partnerships, actively integrate industry resources, and work alongside all stakeholders to promote the green
transformation and sustainable development of the entire industry.

BEOKINER TERTERARTRIRGENTE BERITERKNERITFIIATHANIES « KK - RS #
BRAGIFARNESR  BRESTRER BXFTETFHE HAKPBETENSKECBRENFERR -

We recognize that technical talent is a cornerstone of industry innovation and [t 9 » 3% 13 3% &0 B 4T A 77 2 ¥ 8 17 2 A 3 B2 A]
sustainable development. To that end, we actively support university-enterprise B EEMEEE L - A RABHBRIEFER

partnerships, establishing long-term, stable collaborations with academic (A E > BBHESKEVYEHBTENAIEBEZE -

institutions. These partnerships focus on talent cultivation, practical training,and FEAAIEE BEHERESMLESSHEE
the integration of industry and research, ensuring the industry benefits froma TR AR R BTEHXETELAE TR H@A
steady pipeline of professionals equipped with practical skills and innovative  BIFTBHHNEZE AL - AR - BB HRE
thinking. At the same time, we are dedicated to building a resource-sharingand EZ—EEBRHEZ - EROHNEETLE B

advantage-complementing collaboration platform that fosters mutual growth R E#HESKAOER KK °

between enterprises and universities.
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University-Enterprise Collaboration: Hubei Communications Technical College Visits FOLANGSI
REBF  HERF - HLERXRBREENTERERERGT2BRIR

On December 27, 2024, Li Jianming, Vice President of Hubei
Transportation Vocational College and his delegation were invited i LR —g——
to visit and exchange with FOLANGSI, and were warmly received by 4 " ’
Hou Zebing, General Manager of the company. FOLANGSI and Hubei
Transportation Vocational and Technical College have a long history
of cooperation in the field of talent cultivation, and the two sides
further deepened their cooperation during this visit.

2024F 12 A7 MR ABERNERRERETEZA 17
FER BT ETTRERR  ARRKEBRZBRABERS -
AN R BB ERNEREATEEETINEEH
REA EHEWRGEPE—TRETAEERRER -

The delegation toured FOLANGSI" loT Monitoring Center, Corporate
Culture Hall, and Smart Warehouse, gaining a comprehensive understanding of FOLANGS!I" achievements in technological innovation
and intelligent management. They expressed high praise for FOLANGSI" independently developed Intelligent Asset and Operation
Management System. During a roundtable discussion, both parties explored university-enterprise collaboration models and future talent
cultivation strategies, reaching a consensus to further strengthen their partnership.

FRARBRE-—T2B THANAYBAEEESL CEVEEBUREERE - 2HE TH T # A HTE B 83 B8 8
EERTEOAR THARBIMENEEEEELEEANRToEEE - ERRERET  BHEEREAE

BARRKASTBEDRAETTRARS - LEKTE-FRCEFEOLR -

This visit laid a solid foundation for future collaboration, as both parties committed to integrating vocational education with industry
needs to cultivate more technical professionals. Together, they aim to contribute to the high-quality development of the industry and
foster long-term sustainable growth.

WRBEAAREAENRREETREER  ETRETHIREHSETERTNRERS - HABRESRMEAS -
ROIENREERRAMNE -
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capacity, delivery capability, and product quality. Additionally, we actively engage ~ HMBBHA LXETH A X T B HEEEEER
with suppliers through online and offline channels and conduct regular on-site 3% W FE IS Z O HEEETEHER - 5
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Supplier Management

Sustainable and responsible supply chain management is a key element for the
Group to achieve long-term development. To safeguard the quality standards
of our products and services as well as our corporate reputation, we have
established a comprehensive supplier management policy. This policy defines
clear criteria for supplier selection, audit procedures, and daily management
requirements. To continuously assess supplier qualifications, the Group conducts
regular evaluations of supplier performance, analyzing factors such as production

inspections of core suppliers. To strengthen partnerships with high-quality
suppliers, the Group consistently proposes new collaborative projects and
products and works closely with suppliers to drive product innovation and
research and development.

HEEEAFHTR:

Supplier Admission Evaluation Process:

160

n @

HER A E
RERLEEHABARBERS
K RREREEEERIAREE
B WHRPISRBOMENEBXK
EREBRHBRMEZ 2 EK - HfE
BEERZANKEEFAE  LER
BEoe) mRERKBEREER
VEERRIDBBARE - RIHFWN
RFGFRREMRE TR - AR EHE
HEEREN -

Preliminary Evaluation of Suppliers
The Purchasing Center and consuming
departments  select  appropriate
suppliers based on actual needs and in
accordance with supplier standards,
ensuring that purchased materials
comply with national laws, regulations,
and safety requirements. Suppliers
must possess valid business licenses,
sufficient financial capacity, quality
management systems certified to
national or international standards,
strong  service  capabilities  and
awareness, as well as adequate
production capacity.
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On-Site Evaluation of Suppliers

The Purchasing Center, together with
the Material Management Center,
Technology Center, and Finance
Center, conducts on-site evaluations

of  suppliers and provides
corresponding advice and
recommendations. The evaluation
primarily includes supplier

qualifications, business operations,
credit rating, payment terms, product
quality, procurement pricing, and
delivery timelines.
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Determination of the Qualified
Supplier List

Based on the results of on-site
evaluations, purchasing personnel
select qualified suppliers and submit
the results for approval according to
the relevant authority level. Approvals
are completed by the Purchasing
Director, the  Vice President
responsible for the business area, or
the General Manager. Once the
qualified supplier list is established,
purchasing personnel can select
suitable suppliers from the list for
procurement.
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In addition, the Group attaches great importance to the environmental and
social performance of our suppliers. By cooperating with responsible suppliers,
we are able to promote the development of the entire industry in a more
environmentally friendly and socially responsible direction, thereby facilitating
the sustainable development of the industry and the popularization of social
responsibility. When selecting suppliers, we strictly require them to provide
and regularly update environmental certificates and related approvals to ensure
that their production meets national environmental standards, energy saving
and emission reduction requirements, and that their production equipment is
certified as environmentally friendly. In order to encourage suppliers to improve
their environmental and social performance, we give priority to suppliers that
uphold environmental protection concepts, emphasize the protection of natural
resources, control and reduce sources of pollution, and promote resource
recycling. At the same time, we will also examine the green operation of suppliers
through on-site visits, and pay attention to whether they have adopted energy
saving and alternative measures to reduce the consumption of energy, water and

other natural resources, thereby reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

We uphold the principle of integrity and mutual benefit, striving to foster a
transparent and fair business environment in collaboration with our suppliers.
To this end, we require all suppliers to sign the Integrity Cooperation Agreement
to ensure that partnerships are built on a foundation of honesty and ethics. The
agreement explicitly stipulates that our employees are prohibited from using
their positions to engage in any behavior that violates business ethics, including
but not limited to bribery or accepting kickbacks. Likewise, suppliers are strictly
forbidden from offering any form of direct or indirect benefits to our employees,
such as cash, entertainment, hospitality, or other non-material conveniences
(e.g., housing assistance or overseas study arrangements). Should a supplier be
found in violation of the agreement or involved in unethical practices, we will
immediately terminate the partnership and, if necessary, blacklist the supplier,
permanently ceasing all collaboration. This approach reflects our unwavering
commitment to maintaining a fair and ethical business environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any suppliers that caused
significant actual or potential negative impacts on business ethics, environmental
protection, or labor standards. Additionally, no incidents involving suppliers with
substantial negative effects on the environment or society were reported.
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EMPOWERING PEOPLE TO ENHANCE SOCIAL
CONTRIBUTION

We uphold a people-oriented philosophy and are dedicated to contributing
to societal progress. The Group prioritizes employee rights and development
while striving to create a diverse, inclusive, and discrimination-free working
environment. We also provide a variety of training and development
opportunities to grow alongside our employees. Furthermore, we actively
participate in community activities and charitable initiatives, demonstrating our
care and responsibility toward society. Through these efforts, we aim to foster a
sustainable corporate environment and achieve a win-win situation for the Group,
employees, and society.

Caring for Employees

We firmly believe that a talented workforce is the cornerstone of a company’s
success. To this end, the Group promotes a culture of diversity and inclusion,
continuously improving employee performance evaluation systems to ensure
that employees can thrive in a fair and equitable environment that allows them
to fully realize their potential. We strictly comply with labor standards, focusing
on creating a safe and healthy workplace while addressing employees’ physical
and mental well-being. By implementing employee care initiatives, we enable the
mutual growth of employees and the company, enhancing employee satisfaction
and sense of belonging. These efforts lay a solid foundation for the Group's
steady development.

Equal Employment

The Group strictly adheres to the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China, and other relevant laws and regulations. We have
established fair, just, and transparent human resource policies and systems that
standardize the management of recruitment, compensation, and termination
processes. We verify the valid identity information of all new hires and resolutely
prohibit the employment of child labor, ensuring compliance with all applicable
laws and regulations.

In addition, the Group follows the principle of “virtue first, talent second,”
adhering to a market-driven talent selection and recruitment mechanism while
fostering workforce diversity. We strictly prohibit discrimination based on gender,
ethnicity, nationality, religion, family background, disability, or other factors and
provide equal employment and career advancement opportunities for individuals
of all genders, races, and beliefs. By considering employees’ gender, cultural
background, and experience, we promote a diverse and harmonious workforce
while continuously enhancing workplace inclusivity and the sustainability of the

company’s development.
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Our primary recruitment channels include internal referrals, campus recruitment,
and online recruitment platforms. We implement a pervasive performance
evaluation model, regularly assessing employee performance. For front-end
operation teams and management teams, remuneration is directly linked to
performance evaluations, while back-office functional departments are assessed
based on their respective job performance indicators. Performance evaluation
results serve as the primary basis for personnel decisions, including promotions,
salary adjustments, transfers, demotions, and terminations. We are committed to
building a corporate culture that respects diversity and values talent, continuously

improving employee satisfaction and aligning with the Group's core values.

During the reporting period, there were no cases of child labor or forced labor
within the Group.

Compensation and Benefits

The Group is committed to providing employees with comprehensive and
competitive compensation and benefits, establishing a sound and well-rounded
employee welfare system. We offer attractive and employee-centric welfare
policies to attract and retain top talent, thereby fostering mutual growth between
the company and its employees. Employee compensation packages consist of
a fixed basic salary, positional salary, and year-end benefits. The Group annually
determines salary and bonus levels based on employees’ skills, labor intensity,
responsibilities, and actual contributions, with periodic adjustments as needed.
To improve the salary structure, the Group has established a salary evaluation
mechanism, regularly assessing the reasonableness and effectiveness of its
compensation policies and revising them based on evaluation results. The Group
has also established a labor union to protect employees’ interests and enhance
labor rights awareness.

In accordance with relevant Chinese laws and regulations, the Group provides
statutory benefits such as pension plans, medical insurance, work injury
insurance, unemployment insurance, and housing provident funds. Additionally,
we offer extra benefits, including family leave, accommodation subsidies, meal
allowances, birthday gifts, holiday gifts, and team-building activities. To improve
the welfare system, the Human Resources Center conducts annual reviews of
the implementation of welfare policies. The center also designs competitive and
incentive-based welfare programs tailored to the Group's development needs,

which are incorporated into the welfare management system upon approval.

We regularly organize activities such as employee birthday celebrations and
team-building events to foster a harmonious work atmosphere, promote
teamwork, and strengthen employee collaboration and trust.
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to addressing employees’ personal and
emotional needs.

Employee Birthday Celebrations: Building a Warm Corporate Culture

To ensure every employee feels valued and respected, the Group regularly hosts employee birthday celebrations to extend heartfelt
wishes to employees with birthdays each period. These events not only strengthen employee cohesion but also foster closer connections
between management and frontline staff. By creating a caring and harmonious corporate culture, we demonstrate our commitment
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Mid-Autumn Care: Supporting Employees and Their Families

In celebration of traditional culture and to enhance employees’ sense of belonging and happiness, the Group distributes festive gifts
to all employees every year during the Mid-Autumn Festival. On mid-autumn festival 2024, we carefully selected holiday gift boxes that
included not only mooncakes symbolizing reunion but also healthy food items, reflecting the Group's care for employees and their
families. This meaningful tradition fosters emotional connections among employees and reinforces our people-oriented corporate culture.
It demonstrates our unwavering commitment to prioritizing employee

well-being and strengthening the bonds between the company and
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Spring Retreat: Caring for Employees and Their Families
EART BMEATRE

The International Affairs Center organized a team-building
activity in Conghua, where employees and their families
were invited to join an outdoor excursion. This initiative
highlighted the company’s dedication to supporting :
not only its employees but also their families. During the :
event, employees spent quality time with their loved
ones, deepening emotional connections while allowing
family members to gain a better understanding of the {

company’s culture and values.

BREFPLEMCERBEZ LY HHEEIH
RA—RSERPE  AOBERARHFEIRER
EMRE - RBHE BETERAAXEEREL EETRUNERBE  AROCERARRATRABDN X EE
B8 -

This activity further underscored the company’s emphasis on employee happiness, fostering a warm and harmonious atmosphere.
Moving forward, we will continue to care for employees and their families through tangible actions, helping them achieve a balance
between work and life. Together, we aim to build a sustainable corporate culture that benefits employees, their families, and the Group as
awhole.

WRESE-— PR TARUBIXSRENER  SELRBNENRE - AR BMABKENERTHHEEETH
RN HETHETREAFZHERYE  HATETHEEROEEXE -

We recognize that employees are the Group’s most valuable asset, and their  HMIAMETIRAKSERBEENYT = (MK
health, happiness, and professional growth are vital to the Group’s success. fEFE - TRMEBEEXNERHAEENXK I EBFE
Therefore, we remain attentive to employees’ needs and feedback, continuously ~ 2 o Ftt » HFIGEFERIETINETEE XA -
improving our compensation and welfare strategies to ensure that every 7N E7 MU 7 B S /& F SR RS - IR B B T#B6E
employee thrives in a warm and inclusive environment. We are dedicated to £ 88% - BAMBREFREMLKE - KRR HE
cultivating a vibrant and motivated workforce where every employee feelsa M@ £ BmE NN TEEE  E8U8
sense of belonging and accomplishment. Together, we strive to contribute tothe T EREFEE K BIFBER - K R A%
Group’s sustainable development and social progress. MARBEENMTESRERNE -

During the reporting period, there were no significant labor disputes, strikes, or ~ FREHAA » FFIIF 3 A (T ] ATRE ST R AFI RO 7S

incidents that could adversely impact the Group’s business, financial condition,or ~ B R NAKE B HBELEARTNFENE
operational performance. BEAMNET -
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Health and Safety

“Safety First” is the most fundamental principle of the Group’s operations and
management. We strictly adhere to the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, the Production Safety Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and other relevant occupational health and
safety laws, regulations, and supervisory requirements in China. The Group has
developed and implemented a series of professional and systematic internal
safety management policies and measures aimed at preventing and mitigating
potential hazards and risks in operations, thereby ensuring the health and safety
of our employees.

We have established a dedicated safety supervision department, staffed
by experienced and highly qualified personnel, to ensure professional and
effective safety management. This department conducts regular monitoring
and inspections of the safety practices of service teams, ensuring that all safety
measures are strictly implemented. In addition, our branches and subsidiaries
actively respond to the Group's safety management directives by organizing
monthly professional safety training activities to enhance employees’ safety

awareness and emergency response capabilities.
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Management Body Responsibilities
EEEE BE
Safety Production Leadership - Oversee all matters related to production safety within the company
Team - Guide the establishment and improvement of the Safety Production Management System and

ensure its effective operation
Design a safety accountability system, assigning safety responsibilities to each department
Review safety operation standards, specifications, and procedures established by departments
Supervise departmental implementation of safety training programs
Review fire safety design and acceptance for new, renovated, and expanded projects
Organize, develop, and implement emergency response plans for production safety incidents
Report safety incidents promptly and accurately to government agencies and organize rescue
efforts immediately when incidents occur
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Safety Supervision Department - Develop and revise the Safety Production Management System in line with current production
and operations
Monitor and inspect the implementation of departmental safety accountability systems
Supervise the formulation and execution of safety operation standards, specifications, and
procedures by all departments and evaluate the implementation of safety training and
education efforts across departments
Participate in fire safety design reviews and acceptance for new, renovated, and expanded
projects
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Management Body Responsibilities

EERE BE

Safety Production Management -+ Responsible for on-site safety management within the department and directly accountable
Department for its safety performance

Implement a hierarchical safety accountability system, ensuring every employee has clear
safety responsibilities
Develop safety operation standards, specifications, and procedures for the department and
evaluate subordinate units
Create safety training materials and plans, strictly enforce them, and conduct assessments of
subordinate units

REEEEERN - BEANRS L2 ERIETEEERERE
KEFLZREEREH ETOoR2E R 2HEEREINZULET
HERMBL2IEXERSHE RELRE  THTEEMETHG
HERBL2EENREM RINRE UBRREERETBECETER

Emergency Response - Responsible for on-site safety management within the department and directly accountable
Department for its safety performance

Implement a hierarchical safety accountability system, ensuring every employee has clear
safety responsibilities
Develop safety operation standards, specifications, and procedures for the department and
evaluate subordinate units
Create safety training materials and plans, strictly enforce them, and conduct assessments of
subordinate units

EsfEN - EHESENRERENENEER  2RREEERD
ABREEFHNRLEREE BSEEIE

MEBERNRE BE ERIF
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The Group upholds a professional and rigorous approach to safety education, H“EZE2HEHE AXEREFEEZERENRE

continuously advancing employee safety training programs. A dedicated safety FFEHEETHLZ 2FITIE - RMERBEEM
training mechanism ensures that every new employee undergoes comprehensive ~ B & 2153 # 5 - RSB E TE ABE
and systematic safety training upon onboarding, while experienced employees  8EEX 2MH * EMM LT 2F - EFBE A
participate in annual safety knowledge updates and hands-on practice sessions. FEHLELZ 2 MBEFMMEIRER - R
For our service teams, we organize professional safety training sessions every BB - BB EFENSEBFTENL2H -

quarter and provide essential personal protective equipment, such as gloves, WIREMNBEHNLRAR WFE - LR&E - =
safety shoes, helmets, and reflective vests, to ensure their safety and well-being  ZBFIR XK E LD REMPIE TIEPHL
on the job. To enhance workplace safety in daily operations, safety supervisors 2B o b - ABIRATIENLT 2 &
hold daily morning meetings to inspect compliance with safety standardsand Z#ITEFTAESEEHAEE REEIFH
identify any unsafe practices or violations on-site. RENEALERE BSERERRESTA -

168 FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B BAET R 3 B PR A =)



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT‘

Workplace Safety Training: Protecting Employee Health

The Group has always regarded occupational health and safety as a top
priority. This year, we organized workplace safety training sessions focusing
on high-risk activities such as machinery operation, fire safety, electrical work,
and working at heights. The training clarified employees’ safety obligations
and responsibilities while providing detailed guidance on these critical areas.

By incorporating real-life case studies, the training helped employees identify
was translated into actionable behavior.

As a result of this training, we significantly enhanced employees’ safety
awareness and skill levels, effectively reducing operational risks and
strengthening the foundation of the Group's safety management system. This
initiative highlights our “safety-first” corporate culture and demonstrates our

. potential risks and included hands-on practice to ensure that safety knowledge
f unwavering commitment to protecting employees’ lives and well-being.

The Group places great importance on emergency management and has
established a robust emergency response mechanism. This mechanism is
regularly tested and improved through safety drills and simulations. During the
reporting period, the Group conducted two comprehensive safety drills to ensure
swift and effective responses to emergencies, maximizing safety and minimizing

risks.
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Excelling in Firefighting Skills: FOLANGSI Wins the 2024 Outstanding Organization Award in Firefighting

Skills Competition
HBF R RERELES  FEFLZHEE — AT 5 202455 @

Under the theme of “Showcasing Firefighting Excellence, Safeguarding Our
Community,” the Shigi Town of Panyu District successfully hosted the 2024
Firefighting Skills Competition. The event aimed to enhance the firefighting
expertise of micro fire stations and relevant departments while advancing the
“Safe Shigi” initiative. The FOLANGSI representative team actively participated

‘\\7. »

.

in the competition and won the Outstanding Organization Award for their

remarkable performance. In various events, such as donning disposable masks - .
and firefighting gear on-site, connecting five hoses in pairs, and completing a 50-meter relay fire extinguishing and rescue drill, the team
demonstrated exceptional professionalism and seamless coordination. Their outstanding performance earned widespread praise from
the audience.

EBEREIUDEBRERT  TERARTR]AE  RNBH T0MFE S RESBES - 5 ERA ISR
R P KT R A HE[PREEIRE - BUNARRSEELELE CARHCRRLHERARS -
ERGAR-AEEEREE  MARLKEEEROCKEERANERSSEEAS FEMERT SL KRR
REA - RETRSERN —BTT -

This recognition highlights FOLANGSI" strong commitment to fire safety and its solid foundation in safety management. Moving forward,
the company will leverage this achievement to further strengthen fire safety management and build a more robust emergency response
team. By enhancing employees’ fire safety awareness and emergency response capabilities, FOLANGSI will continue to ensure the safe
and stable development of the enterprise.

WREBNES AOZBETHANYENZ2TIENSEERILENERER - KRR RABALASRHE 7%
BRLEMZ2EEMESGKOER RAZBEINENTEZEREEREN REENTE2RBERRIEHRRE
NRE -

Additionally, the Group has implemented mechanisms such as an employee ARNEBERREE TR KM BERFERE
reporting mailbox and a direct complaint hotline to promote labor protection. 4R R #E A B IREMESH > SEEH—ELE -
These initiatives provide a safe and confidential channel for employees to express RERRE > FE TR MWE R R EF Y MEL
concerns or raise issues, laying the foundation for harmonious and stable labor ~ %8 * BIT#EME - BEMNSHEERETER -

relations.
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While creating a safe working environment, the Group also places great emphasis £ & & Z 2 TERBENRE @  XEBIVFES
on employees’ physical and mental well-being. We regularly organize diverse ~ THI&OER o TR HZ N INEES)

outdoor activities, such as sports meets and ball games, to promote employees’ WEH G - IREL  BEEREEINFLRERE
health and strengthen team cohesion, injecting vitality and motivation into HEEBEBFREH  AEBNEERZERE I AFEHE
the Group's long-term development. Additionally, we hold periodic wellness 1 H ° ko RPN EFHBRITH2EE - A8
consultation events to provide employees with health check-ups and professional ~ TiR i@ RB T H BT X E 5 EMAKRET
advice, enabling them to stay informed about their health status. These initiatives R EH FEREMR R - #E— T EZERE - £ 2 HEE
further reinforce a healthy, safe, and fulfilling working environment for our ~ f&H) T{EZRIE °

employees.

Five-Day Wellness Consultation: Supporting Employee Health

To prioritize the physical and mental well-being of employees, the Group organized five-day traditional Chinese medicine (TCM)
consultation events in May and August 2024. Professional TCM practitioners were invited to provide employees with one-on-one health
consultations and advisory services. During the events, employees actively participated, gaining insights into their health through
professional advice and learning practical wellness tips to help alleviate
work stress and improve their lifestyles.
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Spring Tournament: Inspiring Health and Vitality
DEGE  BBEERED

To encourage employees to actively participate in sports
activities, improve physical fitness, and strengthen team
cohesion, the company basketball team actively participated
in the 2024 Shiji Town Spring Cup Basketball Tournament.
During the competition, employees demonstrated great
enthusiasm and team spirit, dedicating time to training and
preparation. This not only enhanced their physical health

but also fostered collaboration and mutual understanding

RBEBETEG2EBRE LY HARASRIXEEERRE)  ARERGKER2IMUFHERDENERE - £
B BIRAHSENABEELREN EREBEARTNERHEBR  TEREATHEREKY  ©RETR=E
Z A FEEZ -

This participation highlights our commitment to employee leisure activities, providing opportunities for employees to engage in
community events and showcase their talents. Looking ahead, we will continue to support diverse sports and wellness activities, helping
employees maintain a healthy work-life balance and fostering a positive and uplifting workplace culture.

WRZBEASBRATRMAVEIIREHNER RETAET2EMEIDERTAROEE - KR RABESE
XEHERLENREERFEEY  BDHETIEENIHEZHRFFLTE  SERER LOBS UL -

' among colleagues.
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Training and Development EAEER

The Group regards human resources as its most valuable asset and adheres ZAEERANEBERAATHNEEEE B[N
to the core value of “people orientation.” Talent development and growth are A BAIMZLEESR  SASBFHEEER
key components of our corporate strategy. To provide comprehensive support X BHBEHNEZENLE - IR E2FUMNKESX
for employee growth and development, we have carefully designed a tailored ~ #EIZERR[E @ STHTRIBEE THERFR
training program system to meet the specific needs of employees across various ~ HFB LR TEF TENFIREL R K
functions. These programs cover corporate culture immersion, interpretation of ~ ZH 2 % LR « RIPR B BB R R & -
internal rules and policies, professional knowledge, technical skills, and practical AR ZEH# - FMFAEZETRBENER -
operational expertise.

Onboarding Training We provide all new employees with position-specific onboarding training, which primarily
includes corporate culture, company policies, safety training, and professional skills relevant to
their roles.

AR REAEMETRFERARECECEN ARSI  T2RATRFBEEUL - RFIFIE -

ZRIF N E A R FEEE NE o

Pre-Job Training For employees in special positions, they are required to complete pre-job training and obtain valid
qualification certificates before assuming their duties.

LRl FHREMAEL FEBIEHRE BERNEREEF A LEEE-

On-the-Job Training For product technicians and service personnel, we organize monthly online professional training

sessions and quarterly offline technical training workshops. Sales personnel participate in quarterly
offline sales skills training, while the finance and warehouse management teams attend quarterly
offline management training programs. Additionally, we conduct both online and offline training
sessions for management and administrative personnel at all levels to enhance their leadership
skills.

1B B AR HREMBMABRBAE  BMSRAERR TOZTXTAEI BTEFEABR TR
MEI SHEHEEAR  BMEEEABS THHEHEREEI SRUBREEEN
BMEFEEERETEREN KMTEBAR ERETHEIREATREERITH
ABRMIFIARS HEERE S -

Promotion/Transfer Training Employees who are promoted or transferred to new positions are required to complete training
specific to their new roles. They can only assume their new responsibilities after passing the
training assessment.

FHEE 78 B R BETRTEFTETBLAAR  FETHOBEEI  HIERERE  FAIARK
EELE A
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To further enhance employees’ professional capabilities, we offer diverse training
methods. Leveraging information technology, we have developed a self-directed
learning platform, enabling technical staff to access relevant product materials
and engage in independent learning. To provide specialized training, we invite
expert instructors from product manufacturers to conduct “online + offline”
professional training sessions on product knowledge at regular intervals.

BRURIEM B8
Distribute training
materials for self-study

% e
Multimedia Learning

RRBIGHETERENREH

REDHETEZXRENZHEN » AEE2045F &
Iﬁ;ﬁiﬁﬁT*zH AER) - S EIG AT RN
ERERMREEETEETRSAEN REAST
HMERBETREEL NEHEERERR &N
ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ’]’“" EDHEIZEEERE RBAL
{}F)dzﬁb°

continuous growth of both the team and the enterprise.
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Classroom teaching

Elite Training Program to Enhance Professional Skills

To promote comprehensive improvement in employees’ professional skills, the Group organized an elite training program at its factory
in 2024. The program provided systematic training on advanced operational techniques and maintenance management for intralogistics
equipment. The curriculum included optimizing equipment operational efficiency, hands-on fault diagnosis exercises, and sharing the
latest industry standards. This initiative aimed to equip employees with advanced professional skills and improve their work efficiency.

Additionally, the training incorporated group discussions and case analysis to facilitate the exchange of professional experiences among
employees and inspire innovative thinking. Through this elite training program, not only were employees’ professional competencies

further enhanced, but the Group also cultivated a core team of highly skilled and responsible talent, providing strong support for the

BES - BB AN R AR ST TR REBTR
SRATEIMNEERE b REXBBETAGSRE

C BRI - LL&E?A#%E% Al NMEHE—
: méﬁfi E’JTZ VEBRNE - BB E R

RIEEBSTINEERS  HMARHKZTIEHIE
g BBREELCHAEEETEETS &
ABFBABYEETEARBERERETA
TER - RIEHERNFI - BT EH B
FEREEBRRNEEBMETIR E+RTIN
HEEMAMBFI -

RIS RED
Live Demonstration

&3
= A3k
Meeting

EHABRFEKE °
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To ensure the effectiveness of training programs, the Human Resources Center
evaluates and verifies training outcomes through practical assessments after
the annual training plan is implemented. This process ensures that the training
objectives are met as outlined in the plan. If issues are identified, improvement
measures are developed and implemented, and training effectiveness evaluation
records are maintained.

Connecting with the Community

The Group, with a strong sense of social responsibility, is committed to building
a harmonious community where business, society, and the environment coexist.
From internal management to external operations, we strive to uphold our
promises to the public, pay close attention to community needs, continuously
practice social values, and convey goodwill to improve the well-being of the
community. By doing so, we aim to maximize the value of our enterprise.
Through active participation in social initiatives, the Group aspires to make a
positive impact on local communities and contribute meaningfully to the goal
of sustainability. During the reporting period, the Group actively participated in
various community activities and charitable fundraising initiatives, fulfilling its
corporate social responsibility through concrete actions to give back to society.
These efforts are part of our ongoing commitment to fostering the sustainable

development of the communities we serve.

BRI - HERERAHRSE

RERBINERE  EETFEHI A
BEETKE  ANBERPLEBERIBIESS
AYEBIWRRETHENRE - KB E
BMREREZINTHIASARENEE  HiF
EREEGEME BN ERE - WIHBHIIK
REFAFEE -

DEBHEE

AEERFRANTEEERE AL EES
HNERETS R R B E HEFMIREZM
MEHENHBRBRCE - BMBTHARY
o THEIMBRER  HEERTEEE
BEMEMEEEE RARRLRARFN
FZEL WEREXNZAEBE - BRBESE
2Ete AEEFESULEFRESNZE
YRAFEERNEFELERER - EAR
THAN AEEEGR2EZBEHREHNES
B RAOAELIBTEEHLEELT  UER
THEELE X TESHREL RO FE
BR -

—ZPUEELR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

175



176

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE - HERERRE

Community Outreach Activities

During the reporting period, the Group organized 3 community outreach
activities to care for underprivileged and vulnerable groups, actively
fulfilling its corporate social responsibility. Employee volunteers visited local
communities to understand the actual needs of disadvantaged families and
provided essential supplies such as rice and sesame oil to help alleviate their

daily burdens.

At the same time, the volunteers engaged in meaningful conversations
with community members, listening to their concerns and conveying the
Group's care and warmth. These initiatives to support vulnerable groups not
only demonstrated the Group’s commitment to caring for disadvantaged
populations but also enhanced employees’ sense of social responsibility.
Furthermore, these efforts fostered harmonious relationships between the
Group and the communities it serves.

HERTBEE

BREHN  AEBEBT=SHRET DY  BERKEHBERR
BEBRETEEMLEERME BB BIEHMERASHEEESD -

THRBERENERFI K TAMMELTRK  BHFEEY
o BRBAEEES -
AR SEEEHEBETETRIN  BEAMOLE

HEBHRNAE

We took an active role in community care activities, supporting sustainability
initiatives through donations. During the reporting period, we donated over
RMB10,000, primarily to support a rural greening and beautification project in
Shigi Town. This project focuses on improving the local ecological environment,
enhancing residents’ quality of life, and creating a green, livable eco-community.
As part of the national rural revitalization strategy and sustainability goals, the
project emphasizes the restoration and enhancement of rural landscapes while
promoting the coordinated development of the local economy, society, and
environment. These efforts contribute to building a better and more sustainable

living environment in rural areas.
Looking ahead, we will continue to give back to society through concrete

actions and remain dedicated to contributing to the sustainable development of

communities.
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KEY QUANTITATIVE PERFORMANCE TABLE

BRI - HERERAHRSE

BREMERER

Environmental KPIs REBRENIEE
|

Indicators g Unit By 2024 2023
Air Pollutant? R
NOXx RARAY Kg T 2,040.74 1,462.39
SOx way Kg Fr 33.33 23.89
PM EER Y| Kg Tr 150.26 107.67
GHG? BER
Scopel Direct emission 8 ENH Z BN t-COse @E — St E = 6,051.31 433634
Scope?2 Indirect emission &5 B 2f #Z HE R t-COse —SEitiREE 2,665.07 1,971.27
Scope3 Other indirect #WE3E A tCO,e —EHmEE 56.52 N/A

emission? PEne T iE A
Total GHG emission = R tCO,e —&LiIREE 8,772.90 6,307.61
GHG emission intensity BEREH 755(” J+ t-CO,e/million RMB of —SEitixE =S 6.09 460

revenue EF%TT:)\E@J{
=1
Energy Consumption? e R H 782
Direct energy consumption BEEERER mWh JK FL B 21,975.07 15,747.23
Indirect energy consumption & % 8¢ )R JE #£ mwWh JK F B 4,622.75 3,231.06
Total energy consumption EREERE mWh JK FL B 26,597.81 18,978.29
Energy consumption intensity 8¢ R H AR E mWh/million RMBof ~ JK LB BH & 7T 18.45 13.83
revenue }\EM%W
Notes of environmental KPIs REARENIEEME

1:

Due to (i) business volume growth and (ii) the acquisition of Utile Forklift (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd. during the reporting period leading to an expanded reporting scope, the
environmental data for this reporting period has shown significant increases.

To ensure comparability of data, the data for 2023 has been restated.

Scope 3 other indirect emissions include the electricity for processing fresh water and
sewage, as well as methane generated at landfill due to disposal of paper waste.

1 HRBREHANOVEBSEERERMKRBEHZEEXE
(EB)BERATBIMERFSEERE A - WL AR
SHMIRREIRIS BB REIE -

2 AREREUERTHLME  203F HIEEEY °

3: HERHMEEENEEEERKKRSKNER
AR R ERTEENTLR -
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|

Indicators B Unit By 2024 2023

Water KE R

Water consumption KEREFEEE m? AV 56,040.55 4582911

Water consumption intensity K& JFOE R E m3/million RMB of AR/ BETT 38.87 334
revenue ARBZ

Waste? EE & Y2

Non-hazardous waste MmERBEREY Tonnes 148 7.59 157

Non-hazardous waste intensity EEREEYHE Kg/million RMB of TR/ /A& 5.26 114
revenue AR &

Hazardous waste? BEEEEY: Tonnes i 33.88 299

Hazardous waste intensity EERENER Kg/million RMB of FR/BET 23.50 218
revenue AR®BZY

Packaging Materials? B2 iR

Packaging materials BEMBAE Tonnes g 81.88 2151

Packaging materials intensity B A £ 2 Kg/million RMB of Fr/BET 56.80 15.68
revenue AR &I

4 With the commissioning of the Hefei base during the reporting period, the generation

of hazardous waste has increased this year. During the reporting period, hazardous
waste generated by the base included waste engine oil, waste gear oil, oil-water
mixtures, paint drums, waste filter cotton, waste activated carbon, sewage sludge, and
waste oil. In 2023, hazardous waste mainly consisted of waste batteries, waste engine
oil, and oily rags generated during operations. The Group has entrusted the handling
of hazardous waste to units with professional qualifications to ensure 100% compliant
management of hazardous waste.
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Social KPIs HERRBRENES
|
Indicators HE Unit By 2024 2023
Employment EE
Total employees ETHH People A 2,014 1,733
By gender =M RE 5
Male s People A 1,523 1,295
Female z People A 491 438
By age RERE D
Under 30 years old 305% AT People A 775 671
31-50 years old 31-505% People A 1,083 914
51 years old and older 518% R A E People A 156 148
By employment type REERRILED
Full-time £3id People A 2,013 1,733
Part-time R People A 1 0
By employee function e 5
Technician FEirAB People A 885 745
Sales and marketing HEREH People A 262 215
General administration — 1T People A 671 609
Research and development ot 8% People A 196 164
By educational background REFEE S
College degree and above RERMNK E People A 975 742
Junior college AHE People A 725 580
Below junior college REUT People A 314 41
By geographical region i = E 5
Guangzhou =5 People A 373 400
Hefei = People A 245 195
Shanghai & People A 199 156
Others Hb People A 1,197 982
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|
Indicators it Unit B 2024 2023
Employee turnover rate BIRKE % % 15.09 19.62
By gender %1% Bl & 5
Male 5 % % 15.36 19.38
Female 8 % % 14.26 20.32
By age REBREH
Under 30 years old 3088 AR % % 20.90 26.53
31-50 years old 31-508% % % 10.71 15.86
51 years old and older ST A % % 16.67 11.49
By employee function R ae s H
Technician Rt A B % % 18.31 2268
Sales and marketing iHE K E % % 15.65 23.26
General administration —RRITIR % % 12.67 1773
Research and development it 2% % % 8.16 793
By geographical region i@ & 5
Guangzhou B M % % 13.40 16.50
Hefei ahE % % 14.69 17.44
Shanghai & % % 15.58 14.74
Others Hth % % 15.62 2210
Training and development TR R
Total number of trained employees #&F 3l & T A £ People A 2,014 1,733
Employees training coverage BIHFNIEEER % % 100 100
By gender RMHAE S
Male 3 % % 100 7473
Female z % % 100 2527
By employee function REBEEEl 5
Technician Bt A8 % % 100 4299
Sales and marketing 35 A i % % 100 1241
General administration —RRITE % % 100 3514
Research and development it 2% % % 100 9.46
Hours of training per employee BT AHZIFE Hour N 4.98 522
By gender = BIE 5
Male =2 Hour N 5.81 6.29
Female 58 Hour N 2.38 205
By employee function Rigee sl H
Technician Kt AB Hour N 9.02 9.80
Sales and marketing $HE K E Hour N 2.35 1.86
General administration —RRITI Hour N 1.54 1.66
Research and development ot 8% Hour B 1.98 2.00
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I
Indicators BE Unit BN 2024 2023 2022
Occupational healthand safety BX(R@BEHZE
Number of work-related injuries ITZBEAE People A 15 13 16
Number of working days lostdueto  E TEMIBLRE IIE  Day H 630 575 780
work-related injuries HE#
Number of work-related fatalities ATTHMETIAH People A 0 0 0
Rate of work-related fatalities TUHMMETILRA % % 0 0 0
|
Indicators g Unit B 2024 2023
Supplier HED
Number of suppliers HEFEE Unit EX 3,774 3,327
By geographical region i = &l 5
Northern Region b &8 i (= Unit ER 465 412
Eastern Central Region B2 AR 5 [ Unit EX 2,241 1,919
Southern Region P b [ Unit EX 784 751
Western Region 7 &R i [ Unit ES 284 245
Customerserviceandproduct EFBRBERERSE
responsibility
Percentage of products recalled EnPAERLZEEHR % % 0 0
due to health and safety issues W 18] b £51
Number of product and service EmERBEFEHE  Case % 0 0
complaints
Anti-corruption RES
Number of corruption lawsuits HARRETIRER Case las 0 0
filed against the Company and WEEHENES
its employees that have been FAREH
concluded
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REPORT INDEX #} &Rl
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs Description Disclosure Sections
BE - —REER
BERENER #at HEEH

A1 Emissions

A1 BERR Y
General Disclosure Information on: Emission Management

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to air emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— R FHERIRAZERBHEN MAKRIMHOES BEEREETE HRDER

BEYHELESN:

@ BHE: R

b)) BFHBTABEAZENHEBAZERROANER -
Al The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environmental KPIs
Al R R RAR R R BUE - RIEARERER
Al3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity. Environmental KPIs
A13 FELEEREMEERTE - RIBHBERER
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. Environmental KPIs
A4 FELEEZERENREREE - RITHBENER
A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Emission Management
A15 PRI M EBER R REDELB RN L - e R
Al6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and ~ Emission Management

a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
A16 HAEEEERESEEMN L RIEARMITVHOREREER HHMER
REINEEBEMEROLRE
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Description

i g

BRI - HERERAHRSE

Disclosure Sections

REEH

A2 Use of Resources
A2ERFEH

General Disclosure

—RKE
A21
A21
A2.2
A22
A23

A2.3
A24

A24

A25
A25

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.

BEREAERBERR KR EAMRME)EE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity.
REANESNEER/IHELERAKEREE -

Water consumption in total and intensity.

BFEKENRTRE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

A PRI e IRE R R B R R AEDE LB ERMRBMOT R -
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

B Sk BUE KR ERTBE R BRE - AR PTET LBk B 1R
NMAREREE AR LB -

Total packaging material used for finished products and per unit produced.

HEmIAEERMHNAERSEESBMIGE -

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

ABRERRRER

General Disclosure

—RIE
A31

A3

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.
BMEZETAHRELRRERENERAZENEEK -
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

B EBEZHEHRERRAERNEAZERERKNEREH
TENTH o

—=F

Use of Resources

BIREA
Environmental KPIs
RIFHARENER
Environmental KPIs
RIFARENER
Use of Resources

BRE A

Use of Resources

BIRE M

Environmental KPIs
IRIBHREBUER

Protecting the Environment

SF % AR K F W
Protecting the Environment
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Description

i

Disclosure Sections

REEH

B1 Employment
B1 & &

General Disclosure

—RIEE

B1.1

B1.1
B1.2
B1.2

B2 Health and Safety

B2 REHZZ

General Disclosure

—REE

B2.1

B2.1
B2.2
B2.2
B2.3

B2.3

Information on:

(@ the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,

working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,

and other benefits and welfare.

ERFMKkERE BERES ITERE REY - TE5#e %

7L~ RIBIRIA R 558 KR F A

@ BE: R

) BFHBETABEAZENHEBEZERRINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical

region.

ZUWR - BEEE  FRANRMES S HIEELE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

RUR - FRANEBEI DN EERKLE -

Information on:

(@ the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees

from occupational hazards.

BHRHLZE2TIERERMMRBEEREBENLBSEN:

@ BHE: Kk

) BFHBETABEAZENHBEERLRINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past

three years including the reporting year.

BE-F(BRERFE)SFAITHNABRLE -

Lost days due to work injury.

AIGEATIIERS -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how

they are implemented and monitored.

RPN B RRRERR2ER  URBBRITRERTE -
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Social KPIs

e RERESIEE
Social KPIs
MHEBRERER

Health and Safety

BERZ2

Social KPIs

HEHBENES
Social KPIs
HEBERENIER
Health and Safety
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Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPls Description
BEH —REER

BREANER i

BRI - HERERAHRSE

Disclosure Sections

REEH

B3 Development and Training

B3 # & K& A
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.
— AR EE ERRTEERITIIER BN RENBUR « #HEINES -
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category.
B3.1 RUERIREEBRANESNZIEEASL
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.
B32 ZRURREEREMNE S BREETHIINN FIIFE -
B4 Labour Standards
B4 55 T 28|
General Disclosure Information on:
(@ the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— R BRI ET SR TE:
@ HE: R
b)) BFHBITABEAZENHEBAEZERROINER -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.
B4.1 i R ENEEAREET RARHST -
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.
B4.2 R IRERBREERA BB REA 5]

—=F

Training and Development

B R g R

Social KPIs
HERRENER
Social KPIs

HERRERIER

Equal Employment

Equal Employment

FEER
Equal Employment

FERR
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Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPls Description
BEH —REER

BREAMER i

Disclosure Sections

REEH

B5 Supply Chain Management

B5 i EEE R

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

— R E ERHEENREREERBRBUER -

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BS.1 BB SN HEREE -

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

B5.2 Ml B FAEAHEENED  MERTERENNHERHAE -
IARBBARITRERRIE -

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B5.3 HABHEAPIEEEGERGNREREGARNEDN UKk
HERTRERGE -

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BS54 M EREHERTREZARRER LRBHEDN - A KA
BT BERAE o
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HEmERE

Supplier Management

HERER
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Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPls Description Disclosure Sections
BEH —REER

BREANER i RESEH

B6 Product Responsibility
B6 EmEE
General Disclosure

Information on:
(@)
(b)

the policies; and

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

Protection of Intellectual
Property Rights, Information
Security Protection, Focusing

on Service Quality

— R E FHFMREHERNRBONERELZY BES SERLEBEE AHEERE FE%2
LA Bl R A RE - FTERBRE
@ BHE: Rk
) BFHETABEAZENHBEERLRINER -

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety  Social KPIs
and health reasons.

B6.1 PEEREEXEMERTRAZ>EEREAMARNKNASLL - HEHREIER

B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received and how they  Social KPIs
are dealt with.

B6.2 EEANERERBORFEHBUREH X - HERRENER

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual  Property Rights, Information
property rights. Security Protection

B6.3 R ERRENBEREETANED - MBERERE

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Focusing on Service Quality

B6.4 M EERTEBRENEMBIEFF - TERBME

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how  Information Security Protection
they are implemented and monitored.

B6.5 HEBEEEHNRERLEBERE  URBEBERATRERERTE - ERL2RE
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Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPls Description Disclosure Sections
BEH —REER

BREAMER i REEH

B7 Anti-corruption
B7 RE’5

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@ the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Business Ethics

—RIEE ERAMIERHE PR RFREBREN: FRER
@ BE: R
(b)) BFHBETABEAZENHBAZERROANER -

B71 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought  Social KPIs
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

B7.1 RERARNEBETAXAEERETEEANETHARGNE HEBERENER
ANGFRER -

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and  Business Ethics
how they are implemented and monitored.

B7.2 MM EEERBRBRETF  AREARITRERFE - BEERE

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Business Ethics

B73 HomEEREIRENRESE - [EESCR

B8 Community Investment

BSHERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the  Connecting with the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into  Community
consideration the communities’ interests.
—RIEE ERUAHEL2ERTREENEHEFTENRRAEREDHSE LEHRE
BAL RN AR o
B&.1 Focus areas of contribution. Connecting with the
Community
B8.1 IR - DB R
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Connecting with the
Community
BS.2 EEIHBERBRER - D8
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L
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Ernst & Young LK GET RN =TT
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Ko —EE271#8

EY::

To the shareholders of FOLANGSI CO,, LTD
(Established in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of FOLANGSI CO,, LTD (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 196 to 301, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated

financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certificate Public Accountants (“HKICPA”") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAS") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
"Code"), as applicable to audits of financial statements of public interest entities.
We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BB RBEEBITNR

B 3 % BRD

Tel EE: +852 2846 9888
Fax{EH: +852 2868 4432
ey.com

BEMGAHROARARIIZER
(R EA B HFNB A 7 897 R 2 7])

=z
=

B 2T AZ R 2196 = 301 H FE M 6 BA 7 AR 19
ERABI(TERAADREFAARITESEED LR
BB RE  ZEHREMEHRE BIER2024F12
AENGZEAMBERRRREEZBLFED
BABESREMEEKER  RAESEHX
AR ERER  UWRGATEBRERKFE
BREENGATBEER -

BMHRBA HAVBBERCREZT B SR
g(ZEEFMAG)RAENBTEMBREE
Algst AR EEmMA TR & & R20245F
RANEMNEAPBERRAREBEZRLLFE
MRAMBRARGAESRE  YEHERE
BARRAINBEEREZRAEH

RENER

BHPRBEFESHMOSRMNEESTER
((BEBFENDETEZ - EXFENT &
MEEEARE [ ZBMR B F AP BEREK
ARENEEIROE— ML - RIBEFE G5
MASERRARI R EBYBHRRERNE
EeimEE TR BPBIR &%
cHRMTEBRTABITEMBERE - &
PIMEGE  RPIMESHNEXREERRREE
WRERMANEZS LIRHER

o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BET RS

EY::

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Key audit matter

HREESER

Existence of intralogistics equipment

ERSAMRRE

FRETEE

REBHMANDEXHE  BAREFFTESLME
RAMENGESVBHRRTIREENER - I
MEEZEEMBRRRALZERE R KERE

HEEE MASRLEEEREFERER -

B TS - FHRERFTTEUNMAEENHE
M IALE BB F o

BMEKBTTARS (REBMRBAEATH
BRAAENEEIMOBMANERE  BIEEE
LERBAFERENES - At RFANE
SAIEBREATRER  UEURMEEKRE B
¥R Y EE K R AR BR A R B HO BT o BRAIETT
B EF(BEREBETIFEMEBMNIEF)
MER  BERMEBEMSEAMBERERMERN
u+,m\i}i1/\T§ﬁM

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNEFONNEERREENER

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held the self-owned and leased Our procedures in relation to the existence of intralogistics equipment
intralogistics equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of included the following:
approximately RMB2,2479 million, representing 59.4% of total assets H BB ER ISR R A EN B EFEEATSE:

of the Group.
2024812 H318 -
BETHEBRHEESAYRRE -
594% o

EEEHAELEBEENARBE22479 .
h BEEBEEEN

In order to meet the customers’' need of intralogistics equipment,

Conducting the internal control testing on the intralogistics
equipment management system and internal control processes;
REAMRREEERRRABENEFRARA
B

/R

BB

the Group established a service network to manage a number of -

equipment and the majority of equipment is in the sites of Group’s
customers.

RMEBPHBEANYREZAENER BEEH
WUABEBRRKERE  KRZHRBUR BE @%ﬁm%ﬂ

We identified existence of intralogistics equipment as a key audit -

matter because of the higher assessed risks due to the massive

amount of the equipment, the significant balance of intralogistics -

equipment, and very large number of locations in which the
equipment was held.
HRREHEREAN
i BB 2R ZEHEAER
MEEERBBRETEE -

BSAMRRENBRELERR
R IE I MBI E

CEiRED
ERSAY

FOLANGSI CO,, LTD | BN #EAET R B PR A &

BRZIREAE -

obtaining the external confirmations from the sampled customers
to check the quantity and specifications of intralogistics
equipment leased;
SHETEPMINEER
%z&ﬁ%v

=B P &5 AR R R R

performing physical inspection of the intralogistics equipment on
a sampling basis;

iTiﬁW%//\bux1% :Iﬁi‘[ﬁﬁﬂffﬁﬁxﬁ



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT%

B AR S
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRBEBIE BEMNEA N NEEBRRETSE
The related disclosures of intralogistics equipment are included in «  checking the relevant accounting records of intralogistics
notes 13 and 14(a) to the financial statements. equipment on sampling basis, including purchase contracts,
35 A 49 7 =R 188 B AL B 45 BR A 0 B TS SRR I RE 13 K2 14(a) © invoices, payment vouchers, and bank statements, registration

certificates and mortgage registration records; and

MR ESAYRRENER RS BEREBEL
BE NFEE ROEE ZEBREWRELCH:
K

performing the data analysis on the operating data of the
intralogistics equipment management system to identify the
unusual items and making inquiry with management for the
reasons on the items identified.
HISANMRREBEERGNETEBRETERES T - U
BRAEFHBEYMERESARREZEZHAENRA -

Impairment of long-term non-financial assets

REFESRMEERE

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying amount of the Our audit procedures for the impairment assessment of long-term
Group's long-term non-financial assets was approximately RMB2,719.6 non-financial assets included the following:

million, representing 71.9% of total assets. BMRRAECMEENRENGAETHESETFEEN
R2024F 128318 ESEERHFCREENAEREL TRIE:

RARE27196BBTT - EHREEM71.9% °

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in

The carrying values of these assets are reviewed annually by evaluating the methodologies and the discount rates used by
management for potential indicators of impairment. For assets where the Group in determining the recoverable amounts of each cash-
such indicators exist, management performs detailed impairment generating unit (the “CGU") to which these assets related;

reviews, taking into account, inter alia, the impact of revenue - HREMAABEEERHBIHHRMYE EEBRETZ
assumptions and technical factors which may affect the expected EEENENSReEABMN(BReEELEEM)HATK
remaining useful lives and carrying values of the assets. B & B AR A RITIRREITIT 4
ZEERENRHEHEEESFETHML UEETRERE
EEEREDR WEEGEABNR BIEE#ITAE . evaluating the underlying data used in the management’s cash
RREE  EPstR(EPBE) T EEEE AR % flow projection on the future revenues and operating results by
AFAFHEEEAENRAREEETEEZNZE - comparing to the financial performance of each CGU during the
year ended 31 December 2024;
BB REE204F2ANBIEFREREEEELHHT
BRE FHEEERARBRARKCEEEELRSR
2 T8I A # A8 B 2R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BET RS

EY::

Key audit matter

BRBEBIE

We identified the impairment assessment of long-term non-financial
assets as a key audit matter because the assessment involved a
significant degree of management judgement and estimates in
determining the key assumptions such as expected revenue levels. -
AR R ESRMEERERNERECHRRRKR(WMEHK
AKTE)EE - ATRE S R = 12 2 B B 1R 8 2 B R (A 5T - i
MG BT EERSEREEAETE - .

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
&ﬁmgﬁmﬂﬁﬁmﬁ¥ﬁ$ﬁ

evaluating the management’s assumptions of growth rate of each
CGU by examining the business development plans and historical
annual growth rate of each CGU; and
BAREXEBERAENSRGELEUNBEFERE -
HEEREEHURREELE

BB RERERNEBRR: &

checking the mathematical accuracy of the computation

supporting the value in use model used by management.

The significant judgements and estimates and related disclosures of -
these long-term non-financial assets are included in notes 3, 13, 14(a)
and 15 to the financial statements.

ZERHISHEENERAHRGEARBERESH A Y
TEMRARMEES ~ 13~ 14() }&15 ©

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B 3 BAET AR 3 B R A 7]

BEXRE
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FEREMAHNEMGER

BERRESFAHEMENAR - HBEREHE
FEREANER BT EREMBHRER
HPIREEI RS -

BAESEEMBERRNBERILTRERMES
BT AEZEFEMENEREIARANER
P

& o

BARMNERAUBERENETS  ZANEE
EHBEEMER  FlBRET EEEGBER/
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EY::

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT{

B AR

EERARS
£

BERAEZRAAERBEESHMAERME
EAUBHREENSAHENRFTEQBEROIN
BRERERBEEMPENGREMBERER - XL
HERRBEFRAVMBERINBHAFEHRN

MB/RAEXKRENE

EMERMERNNE X ERT VTR ILE
HEaE-
EREGAVERRE S BSRAREFETEET

ff EXEREKLENREN YEERBART
?&Eﬁéﬁiﬁim%%ﬁfﬁﬂ’]%ﬁ AR (ERFEE
ERETER BRI BERARERERRE &
S RIEESNPEEMREANRE -

ERRESEERZBREHH T
B EEENMBEBRSERE-

BRBEARET REMBRRAE
EHNEME

BZAMER RERCUBHRERBERS T
R SERE R E RN E KRG A2
ReE THABRRAMEENZEMRE - K
PER BTHERSBRB)®RE  BRILZIER
SHEEMAN RMATERARENAETR
EMEMALA ERAREREE -

AAEBER

AFERBESKENRE ETRERBERE
/%%EJMEE\'JL??E’U%?rﬁ%—ikﬁ%i&ﬁﬁﬁv
REEHE - HBAUREHNERNBRIIE 1
%/\EETE/HH EREBNELBERAEZEER
ERBEEMBERRAMELNLERE - AA
R RARBIEERX -
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EY::

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B 3 BAET AR 3 B R A 7]
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EY::

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units
within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Hui Kin Fai, Stephen.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
19 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEakEMAZERER

Years ended 31 December 2024 # E2024F12831H L& E

196

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5% AR®T T ARETTT
REVENUE PN 5 1,610,867 1,371,805
Cost of sales Eick=— BN (1,147,142) (954,406)
Gross profit EF 463,725 417,399
Other income and gains H g A R &= 5 43,284 6,322
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (99,210) (91,099)
Administrative expenses ERER (190,345) (169,492)
Impairment losses on financial assets CREERMBEEX 18 (8,090) (2,442)
Other expenses HtEA (1,054) (45,194)
Finance costs % E A 6 (104,475) (85,102)
Share of profits of associates FE (5 B & A R A E 16 1,532 241
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B A0 R 8 7 105,367 30,633
Income tax (expense)/credit B (BR),HR 10 (3,406) 587
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FARHE 101,961 31,220
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREEWZAE
FOR THE YEAR 101,961 31,220
Profit and total comprehensive income BRI SENME R
attributable to: 2EW 4T
Owners of the Company RATHEEA 101,961 31,220
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO FEREAATNEREZF
THE COMPANY
Basic and diluted HEARK#E 12 RMBO0.29 RMB0.09
AR #0.29T AR B0097T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION{;‘
ll‘/T == /jﬁ%;{ﬁ;ﬂl%

1 December 2024 2024412 A 31

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
B & ARET T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WERF 13 1,204,149 1,092,855
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14(a) 1,478,742 1,079,423
Intangible assets EREE 15 36,714 7,882
Investments in associates REE RAINRE 16 12,334 10,802
Deposits biogera 19 149,475 104,551
Deferred tax assets EIEFTIS T & B 24 6,345 5,756
Total non-current assets FREBEES 2,887,759 2,301,269
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories & 17 163,946 91,010
Trade and bills receivables ZoRBFERERERE 18 389,226 373,964
Prepayments, deposits and TENHIE -~ e R EA
other receivables JE W 5k I8 19 84,421 107,640
Restricted deposits X PR ﬁ =K 20 50,490 73,128
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEBY 20 205,394 200,760
Total current assets REBEES 893,477 846,502
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and bills payables B 5 EN B R BN ER 21 389,267 306,670
Other payables and accruals Eﬁﬂfgﬁ KIE K FEET B A 22 172,004 161,834
Interest-bearing bank loans and AERITERREMER
other borrowings 23 830,939 648,005
Tax payable ERXME 2,702 781
Total current liabilities REBEESE 1,394,912 1,117,290
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEEFHE (501,435) (270,788)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRDAMR
LIABILITIES 2,386,324 2,030,481
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
maBEmRiRE

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2024 2023
20245 20235
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 55 AR¥TT ARETF T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Interest-bearing bank loans and FTRRITER R HABERK
other borrowings 23 1,179,666 934,853
Other payables and accruals HEtEMNRIBNESER 22 24,496 18,257
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFEHARE 24 3,412 582
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBES 1,207,574 953,692
NET ASSETS REE 1,178,750 1,076,789
EQUITY ¥ &
Equity attributable to owners EBEBRARAEEBE AR
of the Company &
Share capital % A 25 87,006 87,006
Reserves #H 26 1,081,548 989,783
Proposed dividends BERE 11 10,196 —
Total equity i 1,178,750 1,076,789
Hou Zekuan Ma Li
RER BE
Director Director
EE EE
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€
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

SEEDEER

Year ended 31 December 2024 # E2024F 128318 It F &

Statutory
Share Share surplus  Retained  Proposed
capital  premium reserve profits  dividends Total equity
EE
Bx  RGEE BHRAR  HENE BERE ERLEE
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WE ARETT ARETR ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETr
(note 25) (note 25) (note 26)
GEZ N GEYS) (ft&£26)
At 1 January 2023 83972 545,274 25,780 243923 — 899,461
Profit for the year — — — 31,20 — 31,20
Issuance of ordinary shares relating to %ﬁ%% (ERA
initial public offering (IP0") NERENBAE
25 3034 156,279 = = = 159313
Share issue expenses BROETRES 25 = (13.205) = = = (13,205)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve ERZEERBLE - - 2882 (2882) — -
At 31 December 2023 12023124318 87,006 688,348* 28662* 272,261* — 1,076,789
At 1 January 2024 87,006 688,348 28,662 272,261 — 1,076,789
Profit for the year - - - 101,961 - 101,961
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BRZEERBLE - - 5,421 (5,421) = =
Proposed final 2024 dividend BRuERBRE " - - — (10,196) 10,196 -
At 31 December 2024 R04F12A318 87,006 688,348* 34,083* 358,605* 10,196 1,178,750

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB1,081,548,000 (2023:
RMB989,783,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

H?

EREREERERA

MBARRRPOE MR

#51,081,548,0007T (20234 : A R #989,783,000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

ll‘/_.]_\AIE.'ﬁ/ﬂbE%%

Year ended 31 December 2024 #, E2024F 128318 L F &

2024 2023
20244 20235
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
P & ARBT T ARBTIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REZHELNRERE
Profit before tax: 754 B0 I 105,367 30,633
Adjustments for: HUTHERE:
Interest income A B U A 5 (4,013) 2,002)
Share of profits from associates FE {5 Bk i N B I 16 (1,532) (241)
Fair value gain of financial assets at fair value WARBEGEAEESH
through profit or loss AEHERNEREEN
AREERR 5 - (93)
Finance costs HMsER 6 104,475 85,102
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE - BERXENE 7 191,930 209,164
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7 223,303 228671
Amortisation of intangible assets ﬂﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ 7 5,548 1,59
Foreign exchange differences, net B i I 2 7 (2,451) (1,177)
Impairment of trade receivables ﬁ%%”&ﬂ Iﬁﬂfﬁ 7 8,090 2442
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RTARRMER 7 - 41
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment BREVE BERREN
W & 7 (42) (288)
Gain on bargain purchase in relation to HBIWE-RFARABNZ
the acquisition of a subsidiary B s 7 (27,414) =
603,261 553,848
Increase in inventories FEEM (60,519) (6,508)
Increase in trade and bills receivables B 5 R IE Kk BN EEE M (7,067) (82,369)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BAME - ZekEMEKFIE
other receivables 2 (18,652) 9657)
Increase in trade and bills payables BHENFIERERNFRLM 67,958 44110
Increase in other payables and accruals H e 2008 K FE ST E BN 17,390 47834
Decrease/(increase) in restricted deposits 2R HI7FFOR D/ (5 ) 22,638 (42,278)
Cash generated from operations REEENRE 625,009 504,980
Interest received B S 4,013 2,002
Income tax paid B MEH (2,352) =
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBEANREREFE 626,670 506,982
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS .

FERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 # ZE2024F12A318 It F &

2024 2023
2024%F 20235
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B & AR TR ARETT
Net cash flows from operating activities ReZPELEMEESREFE 626,670 506,982
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHELENRERE
Acquisition of items of property, plant and equipment BEVE BEKREBER (137,145) (253,556)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant REVE BERZEBEEM
and equipment B3R 255 577
Additions to intangible assets BREERNE (14,543) (794)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit BEURAEEGAEAEE
or loss HFARHEENEREE — 40,093
Proceeds of disposal of financial assets at fair value BREUAABEFTZAEE
through profit or loss FTAEHESEN SR EERR
FHR — (40,000)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—KF20 27 (21,041) =
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETHABREREFE (172,474) (253,680)
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHMARERE
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares relating to HERAREESRTERRM
initial public offering BHE 25 — 159,313
Share issue expenses BHETHRX — (30,231)
New bank loans and other borrowings FILRITER R EMER 353,968 321,944
Repayment of bank loans and BERITERREMER
other borrowings (295,938) (203,981)
Principal portion of lease payments HENFHAL TS (405,568) (330,787)
Interest paid BRFE (104,475) (91,454)
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEZHMARSREFH (452,013) (175,196)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASHEQUIVALENTS  BRE& kB &S EYFEM 2,183 78,106
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FNReRBESEEY 200,760 120638
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXSHNTLE T8 2,451 2016

—=
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE2024F 128318 It F &

2024 2023
2024 20235
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Pt 5 ARBT T ARBTIT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FERAERACEEY
OF THE YEAR 205,394 200,760
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH RERBEZEUEH DN
EQUIVALENTS:
Cash and bank balances as stated in the consolidated RiZEMBRRARREERER
statements of financial position and the consolidated ERIIENHRE RBTEH
statements of cash flows 20 205,394 200,760
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R AR M A

31 December 2024 2024512 H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 RAIREEER
FOLANGSI CO., LTD (the “Company”) is a company established in the BMEAEEROERARTARARD AR
People’s Republic of China (“PRC") with limited liability. The registered office RAZEARKFBE (FE DK ZHBRAR -
address of the Company is No.999, Yayun Avenue, Shigi Town, Panyu District, AR ERitit APBEERSE E
Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, PRC. M T R @A £ 88 O B K8 9999% °
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred RERN ARl REFAR(HBIAEEH])
to as the “Group”) are mainly engaged in the provision of intralogistics FERZFRESAYRZET RS (B
equipment subscription services (including leases of equipment), provision REHE) REEELEECRBEURSAY
of maintenance and repair services and sale of intralogistics equipment and mERERREGHEE -
parts.
Information about subsidiaries EBEFATNEHR
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: AARIEEFRARIMNFBHOT :
Nominal value
Place of of issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMRL FM BRTZERE
AR EH HHREERY /ERRAEE SERAXATNEZEIN TEER
Direct Indirect
B i
Foshan Folangsi Forklift Co,, Ltd. PRC/Mainland RMB520,000 100% —  Provision of intralogistics equipment
(BILm BRI EFR AR China subscription service, maintenance

and repair services, and sale of
intralogistics equipment and parts

LT R EFRAR* RE /BRI A RK5200007 100% — RESRORREITRARYE  #
ERERBIRIZ AR &
RECHHE
Guangzhou Pengze Machinery Equipment - PRC/Mainland RMB500,000 100% —  Overseas trading of intralogistics
Co,Ltd. (BMISERMEZEERE  China equipment and parts
A"
B BB R EERAT FE/FERE ARES0007E 100 —  BAMRRERREIES
Shenyang Tianshun Toyota Forklift Sales  PRC/Mainland RMB5,000,000 — 100%  Provision of intralogistics equipment
Co,td BB RIELENEHES  China subscription service, maintenance
RAaE") and repair services, and sale of
intralogistics equipment and parts
BEHRIELHREHEFERAT  RERENM ARE50000007 - 100% RESAMRRETRRS  #
ERERBIRIZ AR &
RECHHE
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 AEIREEERE
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRFLARNERE)
Nominal value
Place of of issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
TEMRL EfR ERTEBERE
DEEH WEREERY /EMRAEE BERFAANEREINL TERK
Direct Indirect
H# &
Anhui Folangsi Machinery Co, Ltd. (‘Anhui - PRC/Mainland RMB60,000,000 100% — Installation, transformation and repair
Folangsi’, & B Bk SR ST w5 R A China of special equipment
A"
ZHHAFERER AR hE/RE R, ARE 100% — RERBNZE WERER
(M= BB ) * 60,000,0007C
Guangzhou Folangsi Forklift Co, Ltd. PRC/Mainland RMB20,000,000 100% —  Provision of intralogistics equipment
(‘Guanzhou Folangsi’, " & /1| 3% &t China subscription service, maintenance
XEHRRAE" and repair services, and sale of
intralogistics equipment and parts
BEMBRAEXEERA hE/RE R, ARE 100% — RUESAMRRGEIRRE %
(TEMBRE) * 20,000,0007T EHEERBARSAMRR
REMHHE
Hefei Langyun 10T Technology Co,, Ltd. PRC/Mainland RMB10,000,000 100% —  Software development and internet of
("Hefei Langyun, " & AE BA = ) B China things technical ("I0T") Services
REARAT
BEAEYHMEERLA hE/RE R, ARE 100% — HHRABERDEE(MEE])R
(&ERZE]) 10,000,0007T 1 B 75
Hefei Langhui New Energy Technology PRC/Mainland RMB20,000,000 100% —  Research and development of
Co, Ltd. (‘Hefei Langhui’,"& IEBAZH  China emerging energy technologies and
ERBBRERAR manufacture and sale of battery
and parts
BERAEME R EERAT hE/RE R, ARE 100% — WERERRMMELRELRE
(&RESRZED~ 20,000,0007C HOEERHE
Tianjin Folangsi Technology Co, Ltd. PRC/Mainland RMB20,000,000 100% —  Provision of intralogistics equipment
("REHAREHE AR AR China subscription service, maintenance
and repair services, and sales of
intralogistics equipment and parts
REBAIBRERDA" hE/RE R, ARE 100% — RUESAMRRGEIRRE %
20,000,0007C EEBRBURSRDRR

REfHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 ARAREEER(E)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBRFLARKNER(ZE)
Nominal value
Place of of issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration and registered attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
MR ER ERTEBRE
AEEH WEREERY /EMRAEE BERFAANEREINL TERK
Direct Indirect
E# &
Hefei Langhui Machinery Co, Ltd PRC/Mainland RMB1,000,000 100% —  Provision of intralogistics equipment
(RESABRAER AR China subscription service, maintenance
and repair services, and sales of
intralogistics equipment and parts
RIEEERBAERAR R /BRI A R%1,0000007 100% — RESADRREIRRSE  #
ERERBIRIZ AR &
REMHE
Folangsi (Hong Kong) Co, Ltd Hong Kong HKD10,000,000 100% —  Investment holdings
(GREAET (FE)BERAF")
R () BRAR B 10,000,0007% 7T 100% — REZR
Nichiyu Forklift (Shanghai) Co, Ltd. PRC/Mainland USD33,500,000 — 100%  Provision of intralogistics equipment
("Nichiyu Shangha| "NEEXE China subscription services, maintenance
(EB)ARA and repair services, and sale of
intralogistics equipment and parts
NEBXE(LB)BERAA hE/HRERS 335000005 T — 100% RESADRRE RS - %
(ThEE(LEE)]* ERERBIRIZ AR &
REHHE
*  These companies were established in the PRC in the form of domestic * ZERANRECENEAERREKT
enterprises.
During the year, the Group acquired Nichiyu (Shanghai) from independent RER ARRIMBILE=FREHNEE(L
third party. Further details of this acquisition are included in note 27 to the ) BB E—PFBRHRUBE R
financial statements. T EE27 o
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion ERINEHARAIEST(EF)RAEAEE
of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), principally affected the FAEBEEATENARAFRAF &
results for the year of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, ERE JEEMFATMNFBESENRE
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length. BBRILE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB501.4 million. The Directors consider that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its operation and meets
its financial obligations as and when they all due in the foreseeable
future after taking into account, inter alia, the historical operating
performance and the unutilised borrowing facilities of the Group
amounting to RMB2,603.6 million for the next twelve months from the
date of this report. Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 on a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2 FETHEGEE)
21 2HEEE)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(©) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date

that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions

between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an

equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

HEEE(E)

R—BREATHEEZBRERTEK
ZHIEZIHETE - MARREBLINIRE
HEXZBERERFEURNANER -
AREERTHEREGHAUREY
FOENREZR—EREERER -
B

@ HEREBEHREMEREFSAEANGH
E 73

(b)) EtAKRBEMmELNER K
© AEENKREENEBEREE -

FRBMNPBRRIZERNRF R ZH
TH O OYER-—HEHBRER- T
NEIEEBASEEGEHIEZ AR
EBAR YHBEGEAREEREE

B AL o

EahkEMzmKaESAKED B
RAEEN T REEAARSFERER -
BfE I B S BB AR s B B Al S 2R
PESBERARIBNEERARE - #5
WA BRARBEAKEARRRERZS A
BRNRERERGEAARK 2BEEH -

o

WEREERBERBR L =18
ERP-HAZEBMNE  AAEE
FEE2ENAMRCHREGRERE
B AW EAREITHENBRT
FTRBINMEREGEIREDZRS
N

AL E R ESFRABNZESE - 2
RIFEREHEEE(REBE) AR
WHEBRAEIEARERENRR
BEEREAREELENRBRNEAR -
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ERSIFREMNB(ER)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE IR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards for the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BB YW E AR F165% (B ETAN)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BEGHEAFE IR (EFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1

R EICACEIRY)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

BEAGHENETRREEMBERE
ZERIZE75% (B FTAS)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting Standards

are described below:

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERHEAHEERE

2 BIREGE
22 BHBRNBHRAE

AEBRAFEFBERRAEREAT
JIRERT B AMBRME LGSR -

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)
H B & 73 28 53 i B 26 FE it B ([2020FF & 5T A8 ])
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the 2022 Amendments”)

BB R A 1 a9 I B B (& (120225 & RT A )

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HREBBEZH

RIETEBV B RS ERNSTTEAND

MERFEFH AT :

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a (@

seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a

sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does

not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the

right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and leaseback

transactions with variable lease payments that do not depend

on an index or a rate occurring from the date of initial application

of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact on the

financial position or performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities
as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the classification
of its liabilities as current or non-current remained unchanged
upon initial application of the amendments. Accordingly, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or

performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the
amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

(b)

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2 EFEERE)
22 FHBRNBHRHE(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 BIBEE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING 2.3 B EME S REMWE BB IEHR
STANDARDS EEBSFER

REBRARZEVBEREPEMAT
I B 48 45 18 18 R A A FTET R SIS ET
in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new BEEMBRELEAGTER - AE
and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they BRZEFTITRKEEITEAMBRE
RS ERE N BAZEHI R
KETBBMBHREER(MER) -

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’
BB S BI85 B 3R % 69 2 5 & #2553
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures®
7 78 B 75 i 5 22 B F195% WERNB IR MR FLA] - 15
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification
HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial Instruments?
BV B RE LR FEH R 2 HTADER G EEET
BB RS R E7R (B ETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
7 7 B 75 5 S B S5 K
B S LR E75 (BR]A)

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity?

HRAKFEE R EERE T )& AP

210

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
HE I S RIS 105% K&
BB ERAF2858 (IBFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 21
B AR ENH(EFT )

Annual Improvements to

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

REZHABPENF AL ELRZFHHEEL &2 )T E

Lack of Exchangeability’
k= A] LRt
Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
BB R R & A R B F R
2 — Z11

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2 EFEERE)
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS
1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and
discontinued operations and to present two new defined subtotals.
It also requires disclosures about management-defined performance
measures in a single note and introduces enhanced requirements on
the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of
information in both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which
is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely
applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows,
HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments
to other HKFRS Accounting Standards are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group is currently analysing
the new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the
presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end
of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined
in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that
prepares consolidated financial statements available for public use
which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect
to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering
the application of HKFRS Accounting Standards 19 in their specified
financial statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING

212

STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on which a
financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an
accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system before the settlement
date if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets with
environmental, social and governance and other similar contingent
features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually
linked instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial instruments with
contingent features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively
with an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component
of equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time or
only the amendments related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain
or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available

for adoption now.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate
comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity, where
appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 set
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (@nd the accompanying Guidance
on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of
the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs
IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for
the purpose of simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and terminology
used in other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all
the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does
it create additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the

Group's financial statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING

214

STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a
lessee has determined that a lease liability has been extinguished in
accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or
loss. In addition, the amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments clarify
that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just
one example of various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term
“cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the
prior deletion of the definition of “cost method". Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on
the Group's financial statements.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the profit or loss
and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates. Dividend from associates is recognised as a

reduction from the carrying amount of the investments.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other case, upon loss of significant influence over the
associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is

recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2 BRBEGE)
24 EREFHBK(E)

RBERTHRE(E)
WEeEtBRRERAER  SELHEARER

= o

AEBREBERFBBEREERE
hEmWE DRIt AESE k&G A EM
EERERT - I HEERBER
ANESERAZE WAKERESE
a2 REREBETAZE(WE
A - REBEHEABERFRMRXZHR
BERWRREBEBRESATEEREE A
AR ERREH MM AEREE
RAEREERERNRERRI - WK
BHEQRRELANEEARIMELAS
BN EARNEREN— D - BER
AN SR BREREERD

;

MREELEAFNKREERETEGE R
AMIRE  RZIPA - BIRBERZTE
et E - RAR ZREHEBRES
ERE o EFTAHAMIBRAT - KA EH
ERRMEAZEN G  NEBIRRA
KRENAARBETELEREMREB
WE - REERFTENEHERAR
EEAANEEAEERERENAAE
BErMHEMSRECANEENESR
NTER o

,ﬂJ_J ikM/\jm%Xﬁf\*E%?%ﬁ?i%

AR B BN RELENESRFFEL &
#YFE T B) B E R AU A ERENER ©

—ZPUEELR | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

F o

(A
K
&

215



216

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's previously
held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are

assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for

goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative financial
instruments and equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,

assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax
assets, and non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those

expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 B BERGE
24 EREFHBEE)

220

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwiill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the partyis a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or

of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 ESEREGE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 ERERBERGE)
Related parties (continued) BHB5(E)
(b) (continued) ) (#&)
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third (il ZEBEAEEARA-—F=
party; THEERE:
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other ivv —HEBARE=-FTEBHNEE
entity is an associate of the third entity; Tt - ME—EBRZFE=A
ERMBE R
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the Vv ZEBAASESEAEEHAF
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity EE@ZAELE’MEA?'L&- hvawd
related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers of the BEBENTE BERBBERN
post-employment benefit plan; TElZEE fEEE ;
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) 7% B BB () Pk B A 1% il 5k
identified in (); HRE S
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the i) R@QOFTHMATYHEREES
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of A& 77 SEZEREZE
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and BB ATDBEREREAE R
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, (vii) Z BN EFTBEB M TR
provides key management personnel services to the Group BERAIMASESAEEHE
or to the parent of the Group. AEIREEREEABRSE -
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation WE BMERZXEHITE
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, Y BB REEGEEIRERINIEK
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment AR REHITE R AT AR E B K5 R
losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as E-EYE BEARESERFEL
held for sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for EXEHEAMA }32 SERFIFHEND
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS BHAN—HOR  HBAFTEWRIEK
5. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its BEEMERE QE— E'J E55% ABR o W% -
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset WMEREZEBRENKABELBERER
to its working condition and location for its intended use. SHREEEEEHAERRNRMNEMN

TEERTE RGN EA B EEEKRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and

depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Buildings 3.1%
9.0% to 45.0%

Over the shorter of the
lease term and 33'/3%
19.0%

33/3%

Intralogistics equipment
Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year/
period the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B 3 BAET AR 3 B R A 7]

2 B BERGE
24 EREFHBEE)

WE BERREETEE)

ME BEMERERERAEFERE
EOXH(EERRE) —RRELEH
MEEEHE ENAERTENS
AT TERENTHEREEREET
EAEREHR - HYE BERREE
2RV AR-BRRER  AAEER
ZEBOERBSEBREAEBFH
B ME B E E - WARBRHERITE -

MEDZSENE  BERREREN
MESRR KEREMEERAZH
FepEEAE -RURANETESH
ExmT:

S 3.1%

% AW & 9.0% Z45.0%

HEMERE 10 & HA f2331/3%

(AR EHE /%)

AE 19.0%

RE BTEEE 331/3%
EE ]

W% BMERXBEB RO HAE
REHTR - MZBEENKARAEE
ENZI D ZEDE - & B DRI
E-FNupEE UEAFHRTELZE
ELRNE M BEFEE R R EE
R) e

ME BMENRREEE (BRI 6EER
MERMEARBD) R EEXIEHE AL
HE P& EE A R IR B SR AR L RERR
REERIBERFE HERERSR
R o] SRR R s sk B e - TR
HEEHLEMSRIBFHEARKREEN
ER e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of

property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intralogistics equipment included in the property, plant and equipment
is transferred to inventories at its carrying amount when it ceases to be
rented and becomes held for sale in ordinary activities.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Technical know-how

Purchased technology know-how is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 10 years, which is determined by the expected usage
period after considering the technical obsolescence and estimates of
useful lives of similar assets.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 3 years, which is determined by the expected usage period after
considering the technical obsolescence and estimates of useful lives of

similar assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Customers’ relationship

Acquired customers' relationship is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
duration life of 5 years, which is determined by the expected duration
after considering the estimation for rententiu race of customers.

Exclusive agency

Purchased Exclusive agency is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 5 years, which is determined by the expected duration of the agency

arrangements.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the
technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the
ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.
Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria
is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for

all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and

right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the estimated useful life. Otherwise, the right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms, and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises 1.5to 7 years

Intralogistics equipment 3to 10 years
Leasehold land 50 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of
the asset. When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising
purchase options, the carrying amount of the relevant right-of-use
assets are transferred to property, plant and equipment.
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses
the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate), a
change in the lease term or a change in assessment of an option
to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing bank
loans and other borrowings.
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2 BRBEGE)
24 EREFHBK(E)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
() Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of office premises and intralogistics
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a stand-alone selling price basis. Revenue from
operating lease is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
term and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as revenue
from operating lease. Contingent rents or variable lease payments are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as

finance leases
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a
finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption,
the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset (debt instrument) to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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2 BFBERE)
24 EXEFBEE)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair

value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognised as other income in profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e,,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)

when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates
if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 BIBEE

The Group generally considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are one year past due. The Group has rebutted
the 90 days past due presumption of default based on reasonable
and supportable information, including the Group's credit risk control
practices and the historical recovery rate of financial assets over 90 days
past due. However, the Group may also consider a financial asset to
be in default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full

before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 EAEGFHEEK(E)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)) SHEEHEE)
General approach (continued) — R % (&)
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A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the EHEEXNATENESREELE—RA
general approach and they are classified within the following stages ETAREEEARE  HIRNUATERE
HERERNBERSE EAT XA
ST R B 5 e WA BIBR S o

for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs
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Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but that are
not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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PHEREABANSHEGENERIA

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors

specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., customer type).
The Group classifies its customers into categories A, B, C based on
the account management models and calculates the ECLs of trade
receivables in these categories. The account management model
mainly considers the likelihood of credit loss, customer behavior,
and payment patterns, all of which determine the loss patterns. The
categories of trade receivable are as follows:
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Category A Key account customers in PRC, who (i) subscribed 50 units or more in that particular year, or (i) subscribed
50 units or more in the preceding year and continued to subscribed intralogistics equipment (one unit
or more) from the Group in that particular year under the intralogistics equipment subscription services
business.

AR FENAER  HORZFERBEOOBIMNA L KNP E—FERBEOARIIA L - T RZF
ERSANMRRETRREEBEENRNEETBSAYREE(— B L) -

Category B Customers in PRC, excluding those in Category A
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Category C Oversea customers
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial

liabilities at amortised cost, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of financial liabilities at amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank
loans and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables and interest-bearing
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is

included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying

amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable value is
based on the estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and held for the purpose of

meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group'’s cash management.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting periods,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the

country in which the Group operates.
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 B BERGE
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

236

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, with certain exceptions.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2 BRBEGE)
24 EREFHBK(E)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or Services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or Services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method.
For a contract where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant

financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@) Intralogistics equipment subscription services

Intralogistics equipment subscription services represented
one-stop services for a full-cycle management on intralogistics
equipment, covering the entire life-cycle of equipment from
procurement, utilisation, maintenance and repair.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE IR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group provides one-stop services bundled together with
the lease of intralogistics equipment to the customers. The
intralogistics equipment subscription services are comprised
of two performance obligations: 1) the operating lease of
intralogistics equipment, which is accounted for in accordance
with the policies set out for “Leases” above under HKFRS 16;
and 2) the stand-ready comprehensive services packages
("Comprehensive services”), including equipment management,
vehicle route planning, quick vehicle dispatch, maintenance
arrangement, as well as real-time equipment status supervision.
The stand-alone selling price of the operating lease and the
Comprehensive Services underlying, which are capable of being
distinct and separately identifiable, is determined at contract
inception. The Group estimates the stand-alone selling price
regarding Comprehensive Services using adjusted market
assessment approach. In the absence of the directly-observable
market data for the stand-alone selling price regarding the
operating lease, the Group will estimate the stand-alone
selling price of operating lease as the difference between the
total transaction price and the stand-alone selling price of the

Comprehensive Services.

The nature of the Group’s Comprehensive Services is a single
performance obligation under the Services contract to stand-ready
to provide an unspecified quantity of Services each day
throughout the contract period. Revenue from Comprehensive
Services is recognised evenly over the contract period.

(b) Maintenance and repair Services

Maintenance and repair Services mainly include one-off repair
Services and a Services plan for a fixed Services period. The Group
issue invoices either on project basis for one-off repair Services,
or on monthly basis for Services plans with valid contract periods

covering equipment specified in relevant agreements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)

Maintenance and repair Services (continued)

Revenue from stand-ready maintenance and repair Services is

recognised evenly over the contract period.

Except for revenue from stand-ready maintenance and repair
Services, the Group recognises revenue from maintenance and
repair Services over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the Services, because
the Group creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs. The Directors assessed the stage
of completion based on the proportion of the costs incurred
for the maintenance and repair Services (i.e., direct labour costs
incurred, cost of materials and other miscellaneous costs directly
attributable to these Services) performed to date relative to
the estimated total costs to complete the satisfaction of these
Services.

Sales of intralogistics equipment and parts

Revenue from the sale of intralogistics equipment and parts
is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customers, generally on receipt of the industrial
products by customers.

Other income

Interest income is recognised, on an accrual basis using the effective

interest method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated

future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument of

the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is

reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching

conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense

item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods

that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or Services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or Services to the customer).

Other employee benefits

The employees of the Group's subsidiary which operates in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. This subsidiary is required to
contribute 5% of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in

accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements is presented in RMB, which is the Company's
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.

Allocation of the transaction price to operating lease and
the Comprehensive Services for intralogistics equipment
subscription Services

The Group has entered contracts with customers for intralogistics equipment
subscription Services that contain operating lease and Comprehensive
Services. For such contracts, significant assessments and interpretations are
required to determine the appropriate method to allocate the transaction
prices among the operating lease and the Comprehensive Services. The
Group estimates the stand-alone selling price regarding Comprehensive
Services using adjusted market assessment approach. In the absence of the
directly-observable market data for the stand-alone selling price regarding
the operating lease, the Group will estimate the stand-alone selling price of
operating lease as the difference between the total transaction price and
the stand-alone selling price of the Comprehensive Services. The Group
applies significant judgement to determine the appropriateness of such
method given the specific circumstances, based on, inter alia, the availability
of information and historical transaction/pricing history and observable

market data.
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

242

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Estimated useful life and residual value of property, plant
and equipment

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives and residual
value for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives and also considers technical or
commercial obsolescence of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. The management will increase the depreciation charge
where useful lives are expected to be shorter than previously estimated, or it
will write off or write down obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned. Changes in these estimations may have a material impact on
the results of the Group.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix, or other applicable approaches, to
calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e, by customer type, and initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates, supplemented by relevant external information
as appropriate). For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the specific group of customers,
the corresponding historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount
of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of long term non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for long
term non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the end of
each reporting period. These non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indications that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in
use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash

flows.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain

entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into business units
based on their Services and products and only has one reportable operating

segment.

The information reported to the Directors, who are the chief operating
decision makers, for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of performance does not contain discrete operating segment financial
information and the Directors reviewed the financial results of the Group as
a whole. Therefore, no further information about the operating segment is

4

REDHEFR

RERME ARELFRELRERE
RESEBEN - BEE—ET2ROEY
\BO

P B
okt |

AERRIELERRE)BRENERE
BROVPENMKBEFGETHLNEENIEE
BNRENBNMBER BEFEER
BASENHBEERE Bt Y EREHRA
KD E—FER o

presented.
Geographical information i & & B
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KESEBEF KA
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREF T
PRC H 1,396,359 1,184,278
Overseas* 8 S b @ * 214,508 187,527
Total revenue U A 1,610,867 1,371,805

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the

customers.

* The Group exported its products to customers located in overseas
countries, Mainly in Asia, Europe, North and South America and Australia.

(b) Non-current assets

All non-current assets of the Group are located in PRC (other than Hong
Kong) as at the end of 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Information about major customers

No revenue from sales to a single customer or a group of customers under
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA Hatlg A R &=
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows: REBENRADHTAT :
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Intralogistics equipment subscription services % N W) 3% 5T R IR TS 796,049 766,811
Maintenance and repair services HEKIEIRT 202,830 185,818
Sales of intralogistics equipment and parts 5 A Y 2R R BL 8 S 611,988 419,176
Total revenue BULA 1,610,867 1,371,805

Analysis into: BB
Revenue from contracts with customers BEPAEHWA 1,026,125 778,651
Revenue from operating leases (included KEHERAGIAS TR
in intralogistics equipment subscription BB A R)
services) 584,742 593,154
Total revenue U A 1,610,867 1,371,805
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

EFEEHWA
@) 7HUAEH

WA~ Bt A B2 Uk g5 (42

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Types of goods or Services BmRREER
Intralogistics equipment subscription services BRI E] A RTS
(excluding operating leases) (TEELEHE) 211,307 173,657
Maintenance and repair services HEEERS 202,830 185,818
Sales of intralogistics equipment and parts 3% N7 % 1 R R SE & 611,988 419,176
Total revenue from contracts with customers EFEHWABE 1,026,125 778,651
Geographical markets i & ™ %
PRC H 811,617 591,124
Overseas* TSI [ * 214,508 187,527
Total revenue from contracts with customers EFEHKABE 1,026,125 778,651
Timing of revenue recognition LON: AL
Goods transferred at a point in time RE-—FEHEBERNE @ 611,988 419,176
Services transferred over time R—EBRERAES RS 414,137 359,475
Total revenue from contracts with customers EFEHKARE 1,026,125 778,651

AREE R EM - BN - JEEM - BRI
FEMNEBIBEREOER -

* The Group exported its products to overseas countries in Asia, Europe,
North and South America and Australia.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA Httk AR = (&
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) BEFESHWAE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (a) A ZH (&)

The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

TREFNBEHHVAAGNAEBLR
BEHNREBTEAREIMERNA
BEHREERRASER:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T AREET T

Revenue recognised that was included in contract ~ R 3R EHF A G LI A (

liabilities at the beginning of the reporting BRI A
period:
Sales of intralogistics equipment and parts AR E D S ki

&y

10,489 14,559

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group's performance obligations is summarised
below:

Intralogistics equipment subscription services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and short-term advances are normally required before
rendering the services. The services under intralogistics equipment
subscription services are mainly for periods of one to four years, and
were billed periodically. The Group’s trading terms with its customers
are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period is generally one to three
months.

(b) BHIEF

FRAEERNEEHERBMAOT

B AW A% 8 AT AR T

BHOEEBRBRE -RERAET
BEERMRBEAASNERBRNR -
5 YR R RT A AR 7 B AR 7 HA IR B
BEA—ENF YEHEE AEEHE
EPENEZGRARTIZARERE - B
BEEERFIEFPEMNR - ERE—
BR—==f@A" -
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA HibWg A Rz (7
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFEEHRAE)
(b) Performance obligations (continued) (b) BHELE (&)
Intralogistics equipment subscription services (continued) BNY TR AT AR ()
The amounts of the transaction prices allocated to remaining RRANBEDEEF B EFECREITHE
obligations (unsatisfied or partially satisfied) as at 31 December are as PBRITRSBEEREENAT
follows:
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue: i ERABRANESEE:

Within one year —FNR 146,425 108,837
One to two years —ERF 73,864 43,778
Two to three years ME=F 28,227 17,345
Three to four years —EZmF 8,837 4,200
Total FSEy 257,353 174,160
Maintenance and repair services HEEAEEIRTE
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are BHABERRERE —REEANET
rendered and payment is generally due within one to three months NRBERRBERE—ZE=EARNE
upon the completion of services. By o
Sales of intralogistics equipment and parts B AY 7R R A &
The performance obligation is satisfied upon the receipts of the B 4B E R W EI5 A YRR E & B4
intralogistics equipment and parts and payment is generally due with ‘BT NFARE R RS A YR E
one months, extending up to three months for key customers, after the BREHE —EARIB(EZERRA
receipts of the intralogistics equipment and parts. EEZE={EAR)-

248 FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B 3 BAET AR 3 B R A 7]



<
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31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA Httlg ARW = (&
(continued)
Other income and gains H b g A R Uk &=
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARET T

Gain on bargain purchase in relation to HIgE—RF R AN
the acquisition of a subsidiary (note 27) BU R W == (T it27) 27,414 —
Rental income HERA 6,763 659
Interest income FLE U A 4,013 2,002
Foreign exchange differences, net PE N Z RS 2,451 1177
Government grants* IEX 7T 58 Bl 2,428 1,821
Fair value gain of financial assets at fair value through NAREBEGSEBEAES
profit or loss EERNERMEEDN
A EEK SR — 93
Others H A, 215 570
Total K 43,284 6,322
¥ There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies related to these government * ZE BN B A AT ] R AR S E SR
grants. FIE o
6 FINANCE COSTS 6 MBEER
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBEBEBRTWT :
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Interest on bank loans IRITERF B 14,728 16,840
Interest on other borrowings H & 3R 2 22,807 8,354
Interest on lease liabilities (note (74b)) HEB BB 72 (14b) 66,940 66,260
Total interest expense on financial liabilities CREBENERAZBE 104,475 91,454
Less: Interest capitalised B BAME A B — (6,352)
Total st 104,475 85,102
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAX

N

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Bt A R B

AEBBAFBE LR, GIAATEE

BER:
2024 2023
2024F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5% ARBT T AR T T
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERKAR 632,799 449,175
Depreciation of property, plant and M - WEREZERTE
equipment* 13 191,930 209,164
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* FREEERE&E 14(@a) 223,303 228,671
Lease payments not included in the AEHEBERREADN
measurement of lease liabilities HMERMK 14(c) 19,059 1,007
Amortisation of intangible assets EmEEAEHH 15 5,548 1,596
Research and development costs** fift 25 8 7 *> 43,915 42,175
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR & B 3,000 3,000
Listing expenses**** i B S e — 39,189
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EERAALZ
directors’ and supervisors' remunerations (N BIEWFsFmEES
in note 8): REEEHB) -
Wages and salaries TERF 226,983 193,087
Pension scheme contributions RS EI R
(defined contribution schemes) (REMKETED 33,917 29,545
Total #EEt 260,900 222,632
Foreign exchange differences, net*** PE X =R F g 5 (2,451) 1,177)
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 WK IBRE 18 8,090 2,442
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary**** HE—RF ARIE LM EE — 41
Gains on disposals of property, plant and BEWMHE WMELZREDN
equipment*** LT 2 2 (42) (288)
Gain on bargain purchase in relation to the B —RFREIAEN
acquisition of a subsidiary*** i 18 5 B L e 5 (27,414) —

* X BERRBARCHAEEETES
SPAREPHHERA] [HERDHER]
RIEREM]-

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is
included in “Cost of sales”, “Selling and distribution expenses” and “Administrative
expenses” in profit or loss, respectively.

**  The amounts are included in “Administrative expenses” in profit or loss. » ZEREHABRTHNIEEER]-
o ZERBEABRPHOEMKA -

The amounts are included in “Other income” in profit or loss.

**%% The amounts are included in “Other expenses” in profit or loss. ok ZEREABZPHEMER] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS{

8 DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 8

SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)@), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

EEX BRSTHAEBRESH
)

Rz EM AR A & &R &P 5383(1)@)
O OROBEARDR(REEEFREER)
BROIE _MBEENEERZESTHRAER
FENFHHMT :

Group

A EE
2024 2023
20244 20234F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AR T
Fee ik 256 185

Other emoluments: HE & :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREYEF 4,278 3,376
Pension scheme contributions RIKE 58I 5k 180 140
Subtotal /INEF 4,458 3,516
Total fees and other emoluments we kEam e B8 4,714 3,701

(@) Independent non-executive Directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors during the year

were as follows:

() BYFHITES

RAFEENBIYFATESTNHE DA
T

2024 2023

2024 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

Mr. Chiang Edward EREE s 84 45
Dr. Fan Xia HEEL 84 60
Mr. Du LiZhu® YAV i s =) 46 o
Mr. Wang Chuanbang® FERLED 42 45
Ms. Zhang Jie© R4 to _ 15
Mr. Song Xiaoning®©@ KR/NEBHE A _ 50
Total et 256 185
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

8 DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(@) Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Notes:

(@  Mr. Du LiZhu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
14 June 2024.

(b)  Mr. Wang Chuanbang retired as an independent non-executive Director
on 14 June 2024.

() Ms.Zhang Jie and Mr. Song Xiaoning retired as independent non-executive
Directors on 3 March 2023 and 3 April 2023, respectively.

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the

8 EX BETHBAERESEH

o (&

@ BYFBITES(HE)

GEE

@)

(b)

©

IS S R2024F6 B14H E R T A TE

MIFHMITESE -

T E % A 1R2024F 6 A48 B X B L 3F

HITES -

RRZ+ kR EE E 5 B R2023F3

=

A3B R2023F4A3A B E B IENITE

(b) MITES - FUTEEREST

chief executive BABE
Salaries, Pension
allowances and scheme Total
benefits in kind contributions remuneration
e RMR BN
BYEA s8I X E0 FoR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T ARET T
2024 2024
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Hou Zekuan BEERE 1,258 37 1,295
Mr. Hou Zebing* BRI A 1,234 37 1,271
Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan BT ST A 909 37 946
Ms. Ma Li SELL 472 37 509
Mr. Zhou Limin@ AR LA 405 32 437
Subtotal INET 4,278 180 4,458
Non-executive directors: FEHITES:
Mr. Yu Chuanfen® BES A — — —
Mr. Zhu Yingchun® KiF Lo — — —
Mr. Shu Xiaowu® FIRANTW o= oG] — — —
Subtotal INET — — —
Total @t 4,278 180 4,458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

8 DIRECTORS', CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

8 EE BRETBRABREEH
M (=
(b) BITES - FHUTESBEREST

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the

chief executive (continued) BAB(E)
Salaries, Pension
allowances and scheme Total
benefits in kind contributions remuneration
e EMK BRE
EWE R a1 & 3K e FCk
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AR T AREFT
2023 20234
Executive directors: HWITES:
Mr. Hou Zekuan BERELEE 1,079 35 1,114
Mr. Hou Zebing* EEES A 1,055 35 1,090
Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan SRR L A 778 35 813
Ms. Ma Li SEZT 464 35 499
Subtotal INEF 3,376 140 3,516
Non-executive directors: FEMITES:
Mr. Zhu Yingchun RBDEFFLE — — —
Mr. Shu Xiaowu NG — — —
Subtotal INET — — —
Total et 3,376 140 3516
* M. Hou Zebing is also the general manager (chief executive) of the ¥ REEBESENAARDABEE(ZRIT
Company. BAE)-
Notes: B 5E -
@  Mr. Zhou LiMin and Mr. Yu Chuanfen were appointed as executive directors @ RAFNRSER&IESEER2024F6R14

ORI ERERSIITESRIFNTES -

and non-executive directors respectively on 14 June 2024.

(b)  Mr. Zhu Yingchun and Mr. Shu Xiaowu retired as non-executive directors (b) KF A& RE/NR L ER2024F 614
on 14 June 2024. ABHEFANTES -

RFEALBESE  EFLARSTHRAR
MEXREREETHM 2 5k -

There was no arrangement under which a director, supervisor and the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

8 DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(c) Supervisors

8 EX BETHBAERESEH

B (=
() BE=
Salaries, Pension
allowances and scheme

benefits in kind contributions

Total
remuneration

e 2R Bihe
BYEFA B RN 20 FCRC
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARET T
Year ended 31 December 2024 5 £20245F
128318 LELFE
Ms. Li Xiaolan =N pedan 326 29 355
Ms. Liu Xiaoli® 2B L 381 29 410
Mr. He Xiaocheng BN E 381 29 410
Mr. Zhang Xiaolong®! FRNBEFREO — — —
1,088 87 1,175
Year ended 31 December 2023 H £20235
12A31BLEE
Ms. Li Xiaolan EIN; e 301 29 330
Mr. He Xiaocheng BN & 316 29 345
Mr. Zhang Xiaolong R/NEESE A — —
617 58 675
There was no arrangement under which a director, supervisor and the REAWREE EFHHERTHAR

chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the

year.
Notes: (T
(@  Ms. Liu Xiaoli was appointed as an supervisor of the Company on 14 June @ 2I/NE
2024, NAEE -
(b)  Mr. Zhang Xiaolong retired as an supervisor of the Company on 14 June (b) SR/ANE
2024. %$ )

FOLANGSI CO,, LTD | BN #EAET R B PR A &

MEHRBREERMFTIHZ 25 -

B TR204F6 4R EZE AN

ESLER2024F6 A14B BHEAR R



€
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9

The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors
(2023: two directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2023:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

IEREHESR

RAEE hEaEaFEEEREMBES
QUBF MBEZF) HFMARHRLEX
M 5E8 - RAEFE - BT =8 (023F : =8)
ERFEEREVIARAEELRRHIT
BAB)NFMFBMDT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREUEF 4,648 3,437
Pension scheme contributions BRIRE AT B 206 192
Total HET 4,854 3,629

The number of non-director, non-chief executive and non-supervisor
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands

FMNFRTIBENIFES  FRFTT
BAEBRFEEESFHEEARNT:

is as follows:
Number of employees
BEAH"

2024 2023

2024 20234

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T — 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017 7T 21,500,0007%8 7T 2 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T 2 2,000,000 7T — 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0017% 7T £ 3,000,000/ 7C 1 —
Total BEt 3 3
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

10 INCOME TAX

10 FTB8 %

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Current BV HA 4,273 408
Deferred tax (note 24) iR SE B I8 (B 7F24) (867) (995)
Income tax expense/(credit) FTEMER,(E5) 3,406 (587)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or
derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group are domiciled
and operate.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and the respective
regulations (the “CIT Law"), the Company and the subsidiaries which
operates in Mainland China is subject to corporate income tax at a rate of
25% on the taxable income unless those are subject to tax exemption set
out below.

The Company is qualified as an “High and New Technology Enterprise” and
therefore was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years
from 2022 to 2024. This qualification is subject to review by the relevant tax
authority of the PRC every three years.

Except for Anhui Folangsi, Guangzhou Folangsi, Nichiyu Forlift (Shanghai)
and Hefei Langhui, other subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC are qualified
as “Small and Micro Enterprises” and therefore were entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 5% to 10% during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

10 INCOME TAX (continued) 10 FRGBI(4E

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the RRASEFZELLMENPEBEEB

statutory tax rate for PRC where the operations of the Group are substantially R EHNEARBRAA BN SRER -
based to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows: HIZEEMEFTELNMERE ANER

FONNE

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

Profit before tax 75 B Al B 105,367 30,633
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) 12 A TE B % 25% (20234 : 25%)
AHEE IR 26,342 7,658
Lower tax rate for specific provinces or enacted by 4 TE & 17 sk ith 77 & B 28 47 H9
local authority AR B = (12,368) (2,718)
Additional tax deduction for qualified research &R EE BN R
and development expenses (6,604) (6,347)
Income not subject to tax BARBA (4,346) —
Expenses not deductible for tax AR E A 382 820
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BRAEBERTEAENHRIA
X H 3,406 (587)
11 DIVIDENDS 1nRE
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AREET T

Proposal final-RMB0.0293 (2023: nil) RHEAHSRTEK
per ordinary share A R #0.02937C (20236 : &) 10,196 —
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the FAMEHARAREBAELARTRERE
company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. [ERRBERG EHER - FAEE -
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO RAQPFNEBEREEAELER

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 348,022,816 (2023:
337909,483) outstanding during the year after adjusting for the Subdivision
defined as below, on 10 November 2023 (the “ Listing Date").

On the Listing date, the Company subdivided each authorized issued
and unissued ordinary share of a par value of RMB1.00 in the Company
into four ordinary shares of a par value of RMBO0.25 each pursuant to the
resolutions passed by the shareholders of the Company on 21 April 2023 (the
“Subdivision”).

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amount
presented for the year for a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive

ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on:

& ¥

R EARAEF € 58Ty E R R2023F11510
HIEm RSB EBRARREEARIES
ANFARFBEREFB(ERETOAE
% B F A B 1T 7E J1348,022,816/% (20234 :
3379094830%) B AR Fy N HE T HGTE o

R EMBA - ANRQFR KR AR 7[R R 7K2023
FARAVNABBEMNARE  BARAFRERE
BEAREIQOITAEECEHTRRETER
A% 7 48 & U AR = AR B A R 850,25 /Y I i
B (M4 )) -

HRARERFAL BBTENEEHE
ERE BYEREHFEZINERE
AENSEEHETRE -

BRERBNNFELIER:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT
Earnings ZF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders EERNARREAREEAN
of the company: A - 101,961 31,220
Number of shares
KRG8 E
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Shares g7y
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FRBEITEINERRINETHEH
outstanding during the year 348,022,816 337,909,483
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT BYX- BERRKHE
Furniture,
Intralogistics Leasehold Motor  fixturesand  Construction
Buildings  equipment improvements vehicles  equipment inprogress Total
B BE BE EE
BT NRRE ES3] RE  RERRE ERIR A5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR AR®TR ARETR ARBTr ARMTR ARETR

31 December 2024 202451231
At 1 January 2024 R04F1R1R
Cost XA 340,410 1,443,928 17,813 24,842 24,535 4,329 1,855,857
Accumulated depreciation 2EtiE (14,060) (704,302) (13,834) (15,825) (14,981) = (763,002)
Net carrying amount REFE 326,350 739,626 3,979 9,017 9,554 4,329 1,092,855
At 1 January 2024, net of R04F1AIA -
accumulated depreciation MR &5 E 326,350 739,626 3979 9,017 9,554 4,329 1,092,855
Additions RE = 211,062 4,684 4,701 3,534 = 223,981
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE-RFAH
(hote 27) i) - 20,298 479 - 294 — 21,071
Disposal BE — - - (185) (28) — (213)
Exercise of purchase options IRAEREA
of leased intralogistics MmN
equipment (note 14(3)) BEEEE
(ii46) - 152,663 - - = = 152,663
Transfer to inventories 3 Ay — (94,278) — — — — (94,278)
Transfer to construction in BERZERIRE
progress - (27,565) - - - 27,565 -
Transfer from construction in ERATRIR
progress - 21,269 - - - (21,269) -
Depreciation provided during FERHRENE
the year (11,022) (170,966) (3,166) (3,198) (3,578) — (191,930)
At31 December 2024, net of RAAE AR
accumulated depreciation MR 25T E 315,328 852,109 5,976 10,335 9,776 10,625 1,204,149
At 31 Decernber 2024; R04F12 /318 :
Cost KA 340,410 1,843,588 22,976 28,114 28,004 10,625 2,273,717
Accumulated depreciation and ZHFTERAE
impaiment (25,082) (991,479) (17,000) (17,779) (18,228) —  (1,069,568)
Net carrying amount RHEFE 315,328 852,109 5,976 10,335 9,776 10,625 1,204,149
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31 December 2024 20249 12A31H

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13 Y%  BERZRE (&)

Fumniture,
Intralogistics Leasehold Motor fixturesand ~ Construction
Buildings equipment  improvements vehicles equipment in progress Total
5R HE BA - EE
B MR VEST RE  KERRE EEIR @zt
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL ARETRT ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:

31 December 2023 2023%12A31A0
At 1 January 2023: R0B3EI AR :
Cost KA 241,039 1,22049% 14170 23177 23,445 39942 1,562,267
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (4,569) (665,508) (10,683) (13,209) (11,765) — (705,734)
Net carrying amount FRFE 236470 554,986 3487 9968 11,680 39,942 856,533
At 1 January 2023, net of R0BEIAIA -
accumulated depreciation Mk 25 E 236470 554986 3487 9968 11,680 39942 856,533
Additions NE = 248,891 3,644 2465 1816 61453 318,269
Disposal RE - - - (183) (106) = (289)
Exercise of purchase options TRHAESA
of leased intralogistics MmN
equipment (note 14(3)) BREEER
(Hiiti46) = 169,721 = = = = 169,721
Transfer to inventories HREEE = (#2,215) = = = = (@215
Transfer to construction in EREERETR
progress — (16834) — — — 16,834 —
Transfer from construction in EREERIR
progress 99371 14529 — — — (113,900) —
Depreciation provided during FRHIENE
the year (9491) (189,452) (3152) (3233) (3836) = (209,164)

At 31 December 2023, net of R03ERANE

accumulated depreciation MR 25T E 326350 739626 3979 9017 9554 4329 1092855
At 31 December 2023: R03%E12A318
Cost KA 340410 1443928 17813 24842 24535 4329 1,855,857
Accumulated depreciation 2HE (14,060) (704,302) (13834) (15825) (14981) = (763,002)
Net carrying amount EEEE 326350 739626 3979 9017 9554 4309 11092855
Notes: Bt 5
@ As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain of the Group’s and Company’s @ HR2024%F K2023F12A318 - lREFEH 5 A
intralogistics equipment with net carrying amounts of approximately %9 A R %446,394,0007T & A R #384,578,0007T
RMB446,394,000 and RMB384,578,000 were pledged to secure bank loans and YN SR [ K AR A B T 45 9 W) i 5% 4
other borrowings granted to the Group, respectively (note 23 (i). AMEER B T A S B /9 SR 1T B 5Kk K B h 18 3 (Bt
FE23(i) ©
(b) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fully-depreciated items of property, (b) 20244 K2023F12A31H - BEEEED R A
plant and equipment with the gross carrying amounts of RMB34,487,000 and A R #34,4870007T & A R #30,344,0007T &) &
RMB30,344,000 were still in use, respectively. HWEYE BELXEEBDECRST -
(© As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had not obtained ownership © H2024F K2023F12A31H - ASEREFE
certificates of certain buildings with net carrying amounts of RMB8,067,000 and 2Bl A A R 88,067,000 & A K #8,3470007T
RMB8,347,000, respectively. BB TEFE RIS #EE

260 FOLANGSI CO., LTD | EM #EAHT R A B R A 7
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R B ERR M

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

14 LEASES 14 #HE
The Group as a lessee AEBEEREHEA
The Group has lease contracts for various office premises and intralogistics AEEFERAREKLENSERAMER
equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront LRAYRRENHEESY K ERBA
to acquire the leasehold land with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing SOFMMEE LB —RMREMAR - B
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office TEREZETHHEENERRFENRK -
premises generally have lease terms between 1.5 and 7 years. Generally, the MAGHHEENHB—RABISEIFAE -
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased office premises —mE AKEHRHEEENH RS
outside the Group. FrEE R HEREEI -
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEELEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the AEENGEABREENREHERRA
movements during the year are as follows: FEMSBHNOT:
Office Intralogistics Leasehold
premises equipment land Total
WRBHR  BAYRRE HELH @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR¥ETT

Asat 1 January 2023 M2023F1 A1H 32,828 981,520 34972 1,049,320
Additions N 15,690 412,805 — 428495
Transfer to property, plant and BEENE HER
equipment (note 13) KB (A E13) = (169,721) — (169,721)
Depreciation charge nEER (13402) (214,518) (751) (228671)
As at 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A31H
1 January 2024 R2024F1H1H 35,116 1,010,086 34,221 1,079,423
Additions NE 25,048 744,396 — 769,444
Acquisition of a subsidiary (rote 27) B —R F A H
(Htit27) 5,841 - - 5,841
Transfer to property, plant and BRENE BRER
equipment (note 13) B3 - (152,663) - (152,663)
Depreciation charge WEER (16,530) (206,022) (751) (223,303)
As at 31 December 2024 20244128318 49,475 1,395,797 33,470 1,478,742
Note: B 5T -
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the leasehold land of the Group were 20245 K 2023F12A31H - AEB WA
pledged to secure bank loans and other borrowings granted to the Group, ETHEERARERASEERNIRTE
respectively (note 23(ii)). TR B H 2 FR (B 5E23(0) ©
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

14 LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

14 HE(EZ

AEBMEREBAGE)

(b) HEERE
HEAEGIAGERITREMES) D

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under interest-bearing

bank and other borrowings) and the movements during the year are as

follows:

REERRAFENEESHMNT

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% T ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1ATE R EREE 883,810 786,102
New leases MEE 769,444 428,495
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 27) WE—RFRRI(HE27) 5,841 —
Accretion of interest recognised FARRNF EIEE
during the year 66,940 66,260
Payments NEA (472,508) (397,047)
Carrying amount at 31 December R1R2AINENEREE 1,253,527 883,810
Analysed into: BR3P
Current portion mB) D 497,330 402,579
Non-current portion EREE D 756,197 481,231
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 34 to the HEAGEMIBBRITEERTB

financial statement.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

AR M 34

(c) RIRBZABZEHEEHNE

leases are as follows: BEMT -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB T AREF T
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 66,940 66,260
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRAEEENTEEZR 223,303 228,671
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHHERENAX 19,059 1,007
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RESERANESRE 309,302 205,938
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

14 LEASES (continued) 14 HE(E

The Group as a lessor AEBEEREHEA

All intralogistics equipment included in property, plant and equipment is FFAME  BERZRERNESZAYREE
available for lease. The lease of the Group represented the operating lease in HAAREE ASENHEEARRESLS RN
its Services contracts under intralogistics equipment subscription services, VMnREITRARBRERBEORNMHLEE
which is allocated based on the residual method to estimate the stand-alone HE HESANMRREITRARBTEENR
selling price for the operating lease after deducting the total revenue WAFRHBR IR ELFEERBHB AR - £
derived from the intralogistics equipment subscription Services by the A#BEEFACEHENBILIERE  HiF
allocated revenue in Comprehensive Services, details of which are disclosed 15 B8 70 B 7S HR R BT 5224 o

in note 2.4 to the financial statement.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the M2024F12 4318 + 1R B E M P &Y S Al #EE
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating lease with its MERE  NEE R KRR E M E K KBS
tenants are as follows: RHEENHAT:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Within one year —&FA 405,199 371,752
After one year but within two years —FREMFNA 204,403 149,532
After two years but within three years MFEBEB=FRK 78,110 59,243
After three years but within four years =FRENFA 24,454 14,340
Total Bt 712,166 594,867
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 B EE

264

Technical Customer’s Exclusive
Software know-how relationship agency Total
L EE R EFHRE BRRAE @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR%®TR AR%Trn AR¥Trn AR¥Txn
31 December 2024 202412 A318
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of H2024F1 A1 KIRA -
accumulated amortisation MR 25 8H 3,422 4,460 — = 7,882
Additions NE 971 - 13,572 - 14,543
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 27) Wi —RT ARIH227) 900 = = 18,937 19,837
Amortisation provided FNFHREH
during the year (1,066) (541) (2,679) (1,262) (5,548)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A318 4,227 3,919 10,893 17,675 36,714
At 31 December 2024: PR2024F 12 A31R ¢
Cost XA 10,585 5,406 13,572 18,937 48,500
Accumulated amortisation g 3 (6,358) (1,487) (2,679) (1,262) (11,786)
Net carrying amount REFE 4,227 3,919 10,893 17,675 36,714
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31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 15 B EE(E
Technical
Software know-how Total
i B R st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT AR®BTRE

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated 2023 F1 B1B A AL AN
amortisation Mk Rt 2 i 3,683 5,001 8684
Additions NE 794 — 794
Amortisation provided during the year FAETIRE (1,055) (541) (1,596)
At 31 December 2023 20235124318 3,422 4,460 7,882
At 31 December 2023: P20235%12 A318 -
Cost B AR 8714 5,406 14,120
Accumulated amortisation R X (5292) (946) (6,238)
Net carrying amount BREFE 3,422 4,460 7,882
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

16 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

16 RBEERFNKRE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARET T

Share of net assets EEEEFE 12,334 10,802

B RA]MEEISAT

Particulars of the associates are as follows:

266

Percentage
Particulars Place of of ownership
of issued registration interest to
Name shares held and business the Group Principal activity
AEBERS
BEE#T = 2 FREREER
£ R K FH 1B =+ 05 BAatk ETEBXER
Ferretto Intelligent Equipment Ordinary shares Shanghai, PRC 2490%  Manufacture and sale of
(Shanghai) Co,, Ltd. ("Ferretto intralogistics equipment
Intelligent”, " 35 B /Z %5 A% 3% 1%
(E®)BRAR"
HREEERERE(LS) AR e 2490% HAYRREWEIENHEE
BERAR(FEES D
Hefei Langxun Intelligent Equipment Ordinary shares Hefei, PRC 27.74%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. ("Hefei Langxun’, intelligent equipment
”é%%ﬂ%%&ﬁﬁ@ A"
SREMAAEERBERRA TR REE R 2774% BEERBEERHEE

(& EeA 1)

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group’s associates were not individually

material at the end of 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the

Group's associates:

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

16 REBEERRANREE)
TRHAAREB S ARG EBIAHER

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARET T
Share of the associates' profit for the year JE A& Bk & A Bl 4 R A1 1,532 241
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive JEEHE AR 2 E KSR
income 1,532 241
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEEREEQARRERN
investments in the associates BRE A 12,334 10,802
17 INVENTORIES 17 7 &
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Finished goods 2K i 163,946 91,010
18 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 18 EFEUREREKRRERE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARET T
Trade receivables =) e 391,494 359,289
Bills receivable & W 2= 4% 26,406 34,913
417,900 394,202
Less: Impairment B RE (28,674) (20,238)
Net carrying amount BREFE 389,226 373,964
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE IR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

18 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period is generally one to three months. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise credit risk.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The
Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivable are non-interest-bearing.

The fair values of trade and bills receivables as at the end of reporting
period approximated to their corresponding carrying amounts due to their

relatively short maturity terms.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as

follows:

1BESRUFERBRERE(E

AEEREFANEZRREZARES
T EBRFEERMEFREANR - ERH
—RAE—EZE=EA - BREFHERRE
REBE - AEB BN HE R B E K KA
MEFRERRES  YRAEMEZEMPIAL
ERRRRERE SREEETHRE
BHER AEHEZREFELEZXED
RNEFER MUBERNEARABRES -
AEBEYAREEZRWFIAGERTEE
R R EMERIERIRR - B 5 EUK
HABTFRE -

MR AHRBERE BEFREFER
FUEEERREHB RO LEEREENR
FEBRTE B4R -

BHRKAEREREBENBREHRER
HZEAHRMBBERABENRESITOAT

2024 2023

20244 20234F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARET T

One to three months —Z==@A 290,156 276,177
Four to six months AN D= 65,312 64,856
Six to twelve months NE+T-EA 17,415 16,643
Over one year —F Uk 16,343 16,288
Total 4@t 389,226 373,964
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

1BESRUFEREBRRERE(E

BoRWHBNRERKBEGES N :

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARET T

At beginning of year F 4 20,238 19,042
Impairment losses, net (note 7) WEE R FEN Z7) 8,090 2,442
Acquisition of subsidiary Wi —RF QA 2,771 —
Amount written off as uncollectible AN ] Uy [B] i 85 1 BB (2,425) (1,246)
At end of the year FR 28,674 20,238

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns
(i.e., customer type). The Group classifies its customers into categories
A, B, and C based on their business models. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current condition and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if they are past due for more than
three years and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Impairment on bills receivable is measured as 12-month expected credit
losses. The expected credit losses for bills receivable are minimal since the
settlement were made from creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

% S B R ER R B AR T RUE DT
Nt EHEBMEREBR BEXDERAS
BLUBERRANZ EEF AR BIRE
FEAEDNBMREEE - AKERE
HEPHMEBRABEEFDR/AL BE
RCE - ZtERRAEMENELER B
BREEENREAHRTESERBESEMN
B AR R R R R AR OE AR OR TROR R & 38 A
EEH - —RMNE BHEWKIAMA B
BRE=FRBAXRNAHNTESHA T
VAR 3H o

EUREENREIZ12EABEREABERE -
HRERERRHEERFAEEILBEYD
BRI IRITHEITAE - M R2024F K 20234
RAJNBMEKREENTBHEABRE ) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

18 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 1BEZERRERERRERE(E
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the EHAEERARBERATENE S EK
Group's trade receivables using provision matrixes: REREARRERSFINNT
At 31 December 2024 12024512 A31H
Category A A#

Past due
1 5
Less than Over

Current 1year 1year Total

B &9 1A 1E B E At

Expected credit loss rate (%) TEHREREBRE% 0.0 2.5 100.0 0.2

Gross carrying amount @R (A

(RMB'000) (AR®TT) 87,892 8,830 — 96,722
Expected credit losses TEE{E AE K

(RMB'000) (ANRETT) 22 219 — 241

Category B B#
Past due
1 5
Less than Over

Current 1year 1year Total

BN 58 1R 1B E At

Expected credit loss rate (%) TEHEREBRE% 3.1 11.8 100.0 10.1

Gross carrying amount @R (A

(RMB'000) (ANREFT) 225,581 31,458 17,159 274,198
Expected credit losses TEEERE XL

(RMB'000) (AR®TFT) 6,885 3,727 17,159 27,771

270 FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B 3 BAET AR 3 B R A 7]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

18 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 18EFEUREREBEKRERE(Z
At 31 December 2024 (continued) 72024128318 (&)
Category C c#
Past due
A H
Less than Over
Current 1year 1year Total
BN &8 1F R 1E £ st
Expected credit loss rate (%) T8 HA {5 FI 48 K & (%) 0.7 2.8 100.0 3.2
Gross carrying amount HEREE
(RMB'000) (AR®ETT) 18,592 1,487 495 20,574
Expected credit losses TEHEREX
(RMB'000) (AR®ETT) 126 4 495 662
Total 24 =
Past due
A
Less than Over
Current 1year 1year Total
Bp &R 1A 158 £ st
Expected credit loss rate (%) T8 HA {5 FI 48 K X (%) 2.1 9.5 100.0 7.3
Gross carrying amount RERHE A
(RMB'000) (AR®ETT) 332,065 41,775 17,654 391,494
Expected credit losses TEHEREX
(RMB'000) (AR®F7T) 7,033 3,987 17,654 28,674
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IIV_\éﬂjﬁiﬁ%Mj.H

31 December 2024 20249 12A31H

18 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 1BESEURERERER(E
At 31 December 2023 720235F12A31H
Category A A
Past due
Pl
Less than Over
Current 1 year 1 year Total
BV ER 15 AR 1A £ it
Expected credit loss rate (%) FEEAE AERE% 0.0 2.5 100.0 0.2
Gross carrying amount HEREE
(RMB'000) (AREFT) 74,733 6,177 — 80,910
Expected credit losses TEHEREX
(RMB'000) (AR®FT) 2 155 — 157
Category B B#
Past due
#1 B
Less than Over
Current 1 year 1 year Total
BV ER 15 AR 1A £ it
Expected credit loss rate (%) FEEAE AERE%) 3.0 1.0 100.0 74
Gross carrying amount HEREE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 223,180 31,250 9,365 263,795
Expected credit losses TEHEREX
(RMB'000) (AR®TFT) 6,644 3,442 9,365 19,451
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

18 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 1BEZERRERBERREE(E
At 31 December 2023 (continued) R2023F128318 (&)
Category C c#
Past due
pel
Less than Over
Current 1 year 1 year Total
B ER 1EAR 1A E #Et
Expected credit loss rate (%) T8 HA {5 18 K X (%) 0.6 24 100.0 43
Gross carrying amount HEREE
(RMB'000) (AREBTT) 13,063 1,000 521 14,584
Expected credit losses TEHEREX
(RMB'000) (NEREEFT) 85 24 521 630
Total 24 =
Past due
#1 B
Less than Over
Current 1 year 1 year Total
BV ER AR 1A E et
Expected credit loss rate (%) T8 HA {5 FI 48 K X (%) 2.2 94 100 56
Gross carrying amount HEREE
(RMB'000) (ARETF T 310,976 38427 9,886 359,289
Expected credit losses TEHEREX
(RMB'000) (AR®TT) 6,731 3,621 9,886 20,238
The Group endorsed certain notes receivable accepted by certain banks in AEBREETHEREEAFRENE T
the PRC (the “Endorsed Notes”) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle BITELOETRERREE(EEEEZE]D
the trade and other payables due to such suppliers (the “Endorsement”). NEERNZEHRERNE S R HMER

RETEED -
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RE IR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

18 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 18 ESREWNHREREKRNEEZ

At 31 December 2023 (continued)

The Endorsed Notes had a maturity from one to six months as at the end of
years. In accordance with the Negotiable Instruments Law of the People’s
Republic of China (“#7 ZE A & £ F1 B & #8 /%) and relevant discounting
arrangements with certain banks in the PRC, the holders of the Endorsed
Notes have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the
“Continuing Involvement”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards relating to certain Endorsed Notes. Accordingly, the Group
has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the derecognised notes
receivable. The maximum exposure to loss from the Group's Continuing
Involvement in the derecognised notes is equal to their carrying amounts.
In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the Group’s Continuing

Involvement in the derecognised notes are not significant.

For the rest of the Endorsed Notes, the Directors believe that the Group
has retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks
relating to such Endorsed Notes, and accordingly, the Group continued to
recognise the full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Notes. Subsequent
to the Endorsement, the Group did not retain any rights on the use of the
Endorsed Notes, including the sale, transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Notes
to any other third parties.

The breakdown for the Group’s Endorsed Notes during the year is
summarised as follows:

M2023F12A8318 (&)

REEZBRFREE—ENEAREH -
BRCPEARAMEBE T B IE) N E o B 1
ETRATTZAABUBRLE HhEA
RITEN RBREERBRAAHAKRES
ERE(REZ2H] -

A

EERR AKECEBRBAMOEET
REZZBRABOARMBRH - Bt - K
SEERUIBABRIERREEENME
FRHEE - REASERKLERAREBENR
BzuENEsBRERRENEREE - &
ERR AEEARRIBRARERESH
BRANEELTERK -

RREEZBRBHOME ARESEH
EAKENDREBERRRMNBH  BHEEF
MZELEEZBNENRAR  RAEE
BERAKEEZRNMERAE - X5
ER FAEEYTERBEALBEEREN
EEERN BERATAEME=FHE -
HELORKEEERR -

RAFE AEENKEEEZERHEE
B

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARB T ARETF T

Amounts of Endorsed Notes KEEZESE 50,571 45237
Less: Amount of derecognition upon the BB EREILERNEHE

Endorsement (29,662) (22,918)
Endorsed bills receivable that have not been AR IR BB AR EEHA

derecognised and not yet due (note 22) KEERKRER (W it22) 20,909 22319
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

19 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

19 AANRE - BEREMEKRRK

RECEIVABLES |
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARET T
Deposits bidcira 162,330 113,977
Tax recoverable A] U [B] £ 51 50,023 78,815
Prepayments FEN FRIE 19,487 18,082
Other receivables H b JE UG 58 2,056 1,317
233,896 212,191
Less: Current portion R E I D (84,421) (107,640)
Non-current portion ERE I D 149,475 104,551

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables

for which there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. As

at the end of the reporting period, the loss allowance of the Group was

assessed to be minimal.

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

L ZERTEENEREER IR EE
WREMB BN EUGRIER R - R#&R
SHRRX ARENBREGEETGERR

1K e

0B ERBEESEEYURZRE

RESTRICTED DEPOSITS (RN

2024 2023
20244 20234F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AR T
Cash and bank balances R & RIRTT & R 255,884 273,388
Less: Restricted bank deposits R BRI R 1T K (50,490) (73,128)
Cash and cash equivalents ReLBASEFEY 205,394 200,760

Denominated into: AT &8 E
RMB (note) AR (B 7E) 157,643 143,478
Hong Kong dollars T 93,395 130,410
American dollar ETT 4,832 —
Japanese yen H 14 —
255,884 273,888
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Note:

At the end of the reporting period, the RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates.
The bank balances and restricted deposits are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

21 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
RESTRICTED DEPOSITS (continued)

20 RERBEEFEBYUARZIRE
TFRE
G

RBEEPR ARBTTEALBRASEMEYE
ST AR IR R B A A S BE B R MR D) A R A B -
ERNEEERE AREREBEEETINE
EBHRTIBARELBLSEMER -

FRI|ITHHRENERARITERMER
FEMEERDA R - BT HFRNER
PN F-—REREATE  BFAEEME
IR & F KM E - I 1% 18 Bl A2 3 E 3 77 K
MEBREA R - RITHE B R X REIF KT
PR BT I B HE R AR SR B R 4 BV ERTT o

21 ESRNREREARE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

Trade payables Z 5 e IR 225,940 153,454
Bills payable EREE 163,327 153,216
Total KT 389,267 306,670

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

BHRNFEANENERRBREHRRER
HRBEMORE DT

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Within three months =@EAA 350,176 267,305
Three months to one year “EAZE—%F 33,003 33,839
Over one year —F 6,088 5,526
Total @t 389,267 306,670
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

Trade payables to both third parties are non-interest-bearing. The trade

payables to third parties are normally settled on credit terms of one to three

months after the invoice date.

The fair values of trade and bills payables as at the end of the reporting

period approximated to their corresponding carrying amounts due to their

relatively short maturity terms.

22 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

21 ESFRNRERBENRE(E)

BNE=NEZRBRTE - BNE=]
B ARERAREAREF —E=@A
MERBEHE -

MR HMRAEERE  REHERNE
ZENFTBARENZENRAALEBEEEN

FERRE(EHRE -

2HMENRERESER

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Contract liabilities (note (i) SR EEB T 22,872 10,489
Other payables (note (ii) B th B AT SR IE (B 7 ) 117,530 102,774

Endorsed bills receivables that have not been REXERER B R B B A

derecognised and not yet due (note 18) KEERKEIR (M T8 20,909 22,319
Accruals fE =t & M 7,796 18,965
Salary and welfare payable BRI TE&E A& F| 20,399 19,300
Other tax payable H b & BH 3K 6,994 6,244

196,500 180,091
Less: Current portion B mEE (172,004) (161,834)
Non-current portion EmENE D 24,496 18,257

Notes:

()  The balances of contract liabilities as at the end of the reporting period
represented the advance received from customers for sales of parts of

intralogistics equipment.

(i)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and would be settled in a period

ranging from three months to five years.

B 2
() SRR AN A IS 8B R
REEEHERESRE -

(i) HMEMFERTEHE
ERFNBMEBAESE -

WK F=EA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE IR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

23 INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND OTHER 23t ERITERK HMER
BORROWINGS
2024 03
2024 13
Effective Effective
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 interest rate (%) Maturity RMB000
BRAIZ(%) HEA INGL R ERAZW JER ARETT
Current ik
Bank oans — secured RITEN—FHEA LPR*+Margin 2025 2,122 [PReMargin 2004 =
LPR*+E 5 2005F PR+ £ % WHE
Current portion of long-term bankloans - & BT B REBH A
— secured —HHER LPR+Margin 2025 90,187 LPR+Margin 2004 79787
LPR+EY 20255 (PR WHE
Other borrowings — secured HipfE s —EER LPR+Margin 2025 219,300 LPRtMargin 2024 165639
LPR+E 2005F LPREE WHE
Lease liabilties (ote /415) REAEW Zap) LPR+Margin 2025 497,330 LPR#Margin 2004 402579
LPR+EY 2005F (PR EE WUE
Total — current & -y 830,939 648,005
Non-current FRE
Bank loans — secured BOEH—AER LPR+Margin 2026-2029 199,232 LPR+Margin 2025-2029 263719
LPR+EE  2026522029F PReEE 0552 A0E
Other borrowings — secured EbfH—BER LPR+Margin 2026-2028 24,237 LPR+Margin 205-209 189903
PR+EE 20265220285 PR+EE  05FZN09F
Lease labilties rote /415) REBEWZ M) LPR+Margin 2026-2030 756,197 [PReMergin 20052029 48131
LPR+EE 2026520305 PReEE  05F 205
Total — non-curent B %Ry 1,179,666 934853
Tota o) 2,010,605 1582858

*

278

LPR stands for loan prime rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

23 ERITERREMERGE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARBT T

Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: JEEZBIRITER:
Within one year or on demand —FANIEER 114,309 79,787
In the second year FF 66,413 86,119
In the third year to fifth year, inclusive FE-FEFRAF(BEEEWF) 132,819 166,600
Beyond five years AFMNE — 11,000
Subtotal INEE 313,541 343,506
Other borrowings repayable: JE {8 32 Ho At {8 5K :
Within one year or on demand —FANIEER 219,300 165,639
In the second year E-F 153,667 126,099
In the third year to fifth year, inclusive F=FEZERTF(BEEEEMSF) 70,570 63,804
Subtotal INEE 443,537 355,542
Lease liabilities repayable: [EEEHERE:
Within one year or on demand —FANIEER 497,330 402,579
In the second year E-F 346,934 252,369
In the third year to fifth year, inclusive FEFZERTF(BEEEEMSF) 409,263 228,172
Beyond five years AFMNE — 690
Subtotal INEE 1,253,527 883,810
Total HET 2,010,605 1,582,858
Notes: Bt 5

(i) Allinterest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings are denominated in RMB.

(i) As at 31 December 2024, the leasehold land of RMB33,470,000 and property,
plant and equipment of RMB446,394,000 were pledged as securities for
interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings (2023: the leasehold land of
RMB34,221,000 and property, plant and equipment of RMB384,578,000).

(i) The Group's total facilities for bank and other borrowings amounted to
RMB4,614,197,000 and RMB3,032,161,000 of which RMB2,010,605,000 and
RMB1,582,858,000 had been utilised as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

(iv)  Allinterest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings bear interest at the floating
interest rate of LPR plus margin.

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

il st RITERR AR U A RE
fA -

2024124318 + & 1 #h A R 33,470,000
TTRMEF - BE K& E A R %446,394,0007T
(2023 : HE L1 A R¥34,221,0007T R % -
R B K 5% 8 A R #6384,578,0007T) B K IR E A
FTERITER R EMEROEFR -

R2024F }2023F 12 A318 » AEBRITR HAith
BRI EE BEE D 5 A A R¥4,6141970007T K&
A R #3,032,161,0007T © £ A R ¥2,010,605,000
7T & A R #51,582,858,0007T 2 f# F ©
FIBTERTERREMETIRERTER
EF R MELAZFEFI RS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE IR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

24 DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as

follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

2024

24 EEEFTS R

EEFESHAs
2024

BRIEFFSHABREENFANZHBERWOT :

Fair value
adjustments
arising from

acquisition of
subsidiaries
W
FRAREEW
AREEFE
RMB’000
AR¥TT

At 1 January 2024

Acquisition of a subsidiary (hote 27)

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss
during the year (note 10)

12024F1 518

W —=RFRal(Hit27)

FAGFABRIELEREH
(Ha10)

582
3,108

(278)

Deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2024

R2024F 12 A31BMIELEFTSH aE

3,412

2023

2023

Fair value
adjustments
arising from

acquisition of
subsidiaries

e i

T RAIEEH
ARBEHAE
RMB'000
ARBTT

At 1 January 2023
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss
during the year (hote 10)

H2023F1 A1H
FERNFABZAELETEH
(#1a#10)

652

(70)

Deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2023

2023 F 12 A3BMIEEFREHaE

582
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

24 DEFERRED TAX (continued) 24 BB (E
Deferred tax assets BEERMBSHERE
2024 20245
Tax losses
available for
offsetting
against future Impairment
taxable profits provision Total
A AR 85
RRERB
FE
REE IR B Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®TT AR®TT AR®T T
At 1 January 2024 202451 518 740 5,016 5,756
Deferred tax (charged)/credit to profit A (B8 Hk%),~
or loss during the year (note 10) T A = B T
1S B¢ (A &2 10) (740) 1,329 589
Deferred tax assets at 202412 A318 K
31 December 2024 RIEPTIS & BE — 6,345 6,345
2023 20235
Tax losses
available for
offsetting
against future Impairment
taxable profits provision Total
AR 85
IR ERTR
AE A9
5t 75 B 18 BB B st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFTT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 20231 A18 — 4,831 4,831
Deferred tax credit to profit or loss FAFAERZAEL
during the year (nhote 10) FRS 8 (it 10) 740 185 925
Deferred tax assets at R2023F12 A31B Y
31 December 2023 RIEFTS & BE 740 5016 5,756
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H
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25 SHARE CAPITAL 25 IR A
Shares &)
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AR T T
Issued and fully paid: BEETREE:
348,022,816 (2023: 348,022,816) 348,022,816 1% (20234 : 348,022,816% )
ordinary shares with par value of FREEAR®0255T (20234 :
RMBO.25 each (2023: RMB0.25 each) fREE A REE0257T) 8 8 AR 87,006 87,006
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows: AARIBRAEEEABMELT
Number
of shares Share Share
inissue capital premium Total
2RITRA
2B [N B 5 EE # st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETx
At 1 January 2023, R2023%1 A18 83,971,704 83,972 545274 629,246
Share split (note (a)) B& 0 7% 48 (47 52 () 251,915,112 — — —
Issuance of ordinary shares MERARBEEET
relating to IPO (note (b)) AR (A A w) 12,136,000 3,034 156,279 159,313
Share issue expenses DT — — (13,205) 13,205)
At 31 December 2023, 202312 A318
1 January 2024 and 2024F1 A18
31 December 2024 K 2024512 A31H 348,022,816 87,006 688,348 775,354

Notes:

(@)

On the Listing Date, the Company subdivided each authorised issued and
unissued ordinary share of a par value of RMB1.00 in the Company into four
ordinary shares of a par value of RMBO0.25 each, resulting in the increase in the
number of shares in issue of 251,915,112.

In connection with the IPO, 12,136,000 ordinary shares of a par value of RMB0.25
each were issued at a price of HK$14.28 per share at a total cash consideration,
before deducting the underwriting fees and commissions and other
estimated listing expenses, of approximately HK$173,302,000 (approximately
RMB159,313,000).
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(@)

REWRE - ARBHARFEEA RO
TLHYE B B BT R AR B 1T X B AR I 40 B PO AR
BREEARESTTHERE  ERE %
1TR% 5 B 3 HN251,9151128% ©

MERXARBEEME © 121360008 &% @ E
AR ¥0257T B & @ A% B 12 & 1428 T A
BI&31T - IS BR(E X /173,302,00078 7T (4
A R #159313,0007T) * RN B & A KA
A REMMEF EMRAX -
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26 RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statements of
changes in equity on pages 199 of the financial statements.

Share premium

The share premium account represents the amount paid by shareholders for
capital injection in excess of the par value of the shares issued.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the share of capital contributions
of the Group's associates.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of association of
the subsidiaries established in the PRC, the Group is required to appropriate
10% of its net profits after tax, as determined under the Chinese Accounting
Standards, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
relevant PRC regulations and in the articles of association of the Group,
the statutory surplus reserve may be used either to offset losses, or to be
converted to increase the share capital of the Company and subsidiaries
provided that the reserve balance after such conversion is not less than
25% of the registered capital of the Company and subsidiaries. The reserve
cannot be used for purposes other than those for which it is created and is
not distributable as cash dividends.

27 BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 31 August 2024, the Group acquired a 100% interest in Mitsubishi
Logisnext from an independent third party. Mitsubishi Logisnext is
principally engaged in the sale, service and leasing business of Nichiyu
brand’s all series high-quality forklifts. The acquisition was made as part of
the Group's strategy to expand the Group's asset scale and broaden the
scope and depth of the Group's customer base and regional coverage. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition, amounted to RMB24,122,000 was
in the form of cash, and has been paid by the end of 2024.

26

27

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

18
AEBAEFERBEEENEREER
HBBER TR Y EE B 09H 04 A B
S DEL LR

IR 4 7% &
BmaEERERRMTIEBLEHTRN
E{E MR BR °

EXRDTE
AEBEAREEASEBBANLENSR

EEBBAE

e el C /N B N Sl = VA SIS SR/
ARAER AEBEARPESER
10%RIBRREF B FEREEAETRBATRE
HEEABEEBIERH0%EME AR - RIEAE
EAREERERAEBNARERZMHEE T
R - AT BB ATE AR EIEKE
BIENARR R T ARKRABE EE A
BEBTBIRARA R T AR FEMER
B925%) o AR A AR E K B B AN A
®BTMEARESBEDIR °

L Sl

R2024F8A3IR  AEBEBE—RBBILE=H
W == ELM0o0nEs ==yELt
FERENEEREZRIELEXERHEE
FREMBEZER - AKBEEREALE
EEEN—BY BEEBALEEMNEE
RENREEASEEFSHENREEES
MEEREE - HAKEEENESERE
BARE241220007T  WIREFERAIN - B
2024 F R X+ ©
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

27 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 27 ¥ &8t (E
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Mitsubishi Logisnext RKREBY Z=ZWEANTHNEER
as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BEMNAABEBNT:
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
U R
BANDIAEE
Notes RMB’000
B 2% AR TR
Property, plant and equipment M BEREE 13 21,071
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(b) 5,841
Intangible assets EmEEAE 15 19,837
Cash and cash equivalents ReMBESEEY 3,081
Inventories FE 12417
Trade receivables B 5 W RIA 16,285
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERIE - He R EMmERFIE 3,053
Trade payables B 5N RIA (14,639)
Other payables and accruals HMENRERETER (6,461)
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings ATERITER R EAMERK 14(b) (5,841)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFMEH AR (3,108)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value RARBEFENAHRINEEE
#E 51,536
Gain on bargain purchase recognised in other income 7 8 25 7 &9 E 4th W A K2 U 25 7 52 5
and gains in profit or loss 7k (B I s 27414)
Satisfied by cash AR & 24,122
The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB267,000 for this acquisition. REBARBRUBEENRINABAR
These transaction costs have been expensed and are included in other #267,0007C - ZERXR S AE A E A 5T
expenses in profit or loss. ABRTHEMER -
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31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

27 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 27 BB (E
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of the subsidiary is WHEFARMNRSRESTAT
as follows:
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Cash consideration ReRE (24,122)
Cash and bank balances acquired W g IR & M IRIT 48R 3,081
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in cash AARERSMAREERENE SR
flows used in investing activities ReEBMRLFE (21,041)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash flows FFAREEHEEANB S RENNE
from operating activities RS (267)
Total net cash outflow IR F R A E (21,308)
Since the acquisition, Mitsubishi Logisnext contributed RMB79,547,000 to B U HE DA R - AN &R B B 202412 4318 Ik
the Group’s revenue and a net profit of RMB10,582,000 to the consolidated FE AR A R#795470007T & 4R & FH
profit for the year ended 31 December 2024. Had the combination taken A R 510,582,000 K F FE R B =2 M3
place at 1 January 2024, the revenue and loss of the Group would have been ft o & BFR2024F 1 1B 1T - Bl A K

RMB173,997,000 and RMB103,136,000, respectively.

F U A K & 1B E D R A A K #173,9970007T
B A R #£103,136,0007T °

28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 2 RERERERME

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

@ EXFBREXRSH

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had H E2024F R 2023F 12 ANHIEFE - A
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets of RMB769,444,000 and SENEREEEFEERENAIA
RMB428,495,000, respectively, with the same amounts of lease liabilities, A R #769,444,0007T & A K #428,495,000
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for office premises and 7T - EFRE B EI QY E RIS AR E

intralogistics equipment.

BOHELZFABNSEREERARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 28 B BEERERMIT(E

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

b) REEFHELENEESE

Interest-bearing
bank loans and
other borrowing

FEBITENR
& H &K
RMB'000
AR T T
2024 20244
At 1 January 2024 R20244E1 A1H 1,582,858
Changes from financing cash flows MERESRELE (452,013)
New leases THE 769,444
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 27) WEE —KF Al (M it27) 5,841
Interest expenses FERAXZ 104,475
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A318 2,010,605
2023 20235
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1 /18 1,367,187
Changes from financing cash flows HEREREH (304,278)
New leases FHE 428,495
Interest expenses A ERX 91,454
At 31 December 2023 72023412 A31H 1,582,858
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28 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflows for leases

The total cash outflows for leases included in the consolidated

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

28 FEREREBRMEGE

€ HERESRELHAHE
SAGEHERBRNBERSRD

statements of cash flows is as follows: FEECR N
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AREETF T
With operating activities TEES 19,059 1,007
With financing activities & & 472,508 397,047
Total BEt 491,567 398,054

29 PLEDGE OF ASSETS 29 EEHH

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings,

which are secured by the assets of the Group, are included in note 23 to the

financial statements.

30 COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end of each

of the reporting period:

AEEFERITERREMERALEHE
BEFBEMNFBRNPBERRME23 -

30 AKiE
REBRSHBER  REBBUTELRE:

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT

Construction in progress FREIRE — 25,899
Purchase of intralogistics equipment BEISZAYREE — 20,000
Total Bt — 45,899
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RE IR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES

The directors of the Company are of the view that the following parties/
companies related parties that had material transactions or balances with

the Group during the year.

(@) Name and relationship of related parties

Name

rE BB

3N BEBAERIRERR

(a) BABE S BB R BAR

Relationship
RS

Mr. Hou Zekuan

BERLE

Mr. Hou Zebin

BEEEE

Mr. Qian Xiaoxuan

R

Ms. Ma Li

BBt

Mr. Zhou Limin

BARMER % &

Mr. Zhu Yingchun

KDFFE

Mr. Shu Xiaowu

EgAN W

Mr. Yang Qingyuan

BB IITEE

Mr. Pan Fei

EIERE

Guangdong Santouliubi Information Technology Co.,
Ltd.

ER=ZSEANEEZEREERAR

Ferretto Intelligent

FHE S 8

Hefei Langxun

& REEAR

288 FOLANGSI CO., LTD | EM #EAHT R A B R A 7

An executive Director

BITES

An executive Director

BITES

An executive Director

BITES

An executive Director

BWITES

An executive Director

BITES

A non-executive Director (resigned on 14 June 2024)

FEHITES (R204F6 148 B 1)

A non-executive Director (resigned on 14 June 2024)

FEHITEE (R2024F6A14A B (1)

Key management personnel of the Group

AEBEFEERBASR

Key management personnel of the Group

REBTEEBR AR

Company significantly influenced by Mr. Zhu Yingchun,
a non-executive Director

HIFRATEFTRAELREEAZENQRR

Associate of the Company

AN o) RN

Associate of the Company

ZAUNSTE o) /N

ARRBERR UTEF/RARARFE
HEAREBEAERNR S AR R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS{

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(b) Significant related party transactions during the year
were as follows:

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

BN ARZIRER(E)

b) REENEXRBEBLIXZMT:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Associates: kNG
Sales of intralogistics equipment and parts B35 A W) 5% e M B 4 115 325
Companies significantly influenced by XEIZEEEEAZENAR:
key management:
Provision of intralogistics equipment RS AYREEE] AR
subscription services 1,019 2,399

The Directors consider that the purchases and sales of intralogistics
equipment and parts and provision of intralogistics equipment
subscription Services with related parties were made according to the
prices and conditions similar to those offered to the other customers or
those offered by the other suppliers of the Group.

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

The outstanding balances with related parties as at the end of the
reporting period only included the trade receivables and payables with
the Group's associates and companies significantly influenced by key
management, details of which are disclosed as follows:

()

EERRERBINBEREESA
V)RR 1 I B A DA e 1R 95 A RR
HRTARB R 5Tk R AR H P12
ok ASEEMEEREEHERNBS
BAR R ARIFHETT ©

HEEBIOARERELH

TA 5 HA R R B2 B Bt 07 MO R (EUE 4 ﬁ%
EEEEASEBRE AR IR
@ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ’]“?ﬁ’]fé%ﬁﬂ&m
KENFIE  EFERENAT:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Associates: /NG
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 194 9%
Trade payables H 5 e KIA — 281
Companies significantly influenced by key XEZEBEEATXEN NG :
management:
Trade receivables B 5 e KIA — 136
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 31 BMAERIRER(E
BALANCES (continued)
(c) Outstanding balances with related parties (continued) (c) EEBAENKREZRLER(E)
The balances with related parties were unsecured, interest-free and HEBTNERREERR 28 kK%
settled on terms of one to two months. —EMEANHREE -
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the d ZEEFTEEE A B HMH
Group
Details of the compensation of key management personnel of the AEEFTZERAENFTMNOFER
Group are disclosed as follows: BT
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe FMEREVET 5,708 5,096
Pension scheme contributions RINE T EI R 229 223
Total B Et 5,937 5319
32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY NREMIESE
Both the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at the end of the AEBRBERRRNEREERBEY
reporting period were measured at amortised cost and their carrying REEKAG R REEBENT:

amounts are as follows:

Financial assets EWMEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T ARET T
Trade and bills receivables B IR HIE R ERERE 389,226 373,964

Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits T ATEfFRIAE ~ & K EAfb
and other receivables JEWGRIEN € jb & B 164,386 115,294
Restricted deposits X PR il 77 3K 50,490 73,128
Cash and cash equivalents HeREEED 205,394 200,760
Total st 809,496 763,146
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

NEMIBEDEE)

<
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

(continued)
Financial liabilities cRAaE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Trade and bills payables B RN FRIE R ENRE 389,267 306,670
Financial liabilities included in other FT A EL M FE 5 FRIE K FE AT
payables and accruals ERAMEmaE 146,235 144,058
Interest-bearing bank loans and AERITER R EMER
other borrowings 2,010,605 1,582,858
Total @t 2,546,107 2,033,586

33 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial instruments,

other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair

values, are as follows:

EHER

BEMIENAALAEBERAAE

AEBERITANEEER A LBERE
BEEARBEAEEEERINGOT:

Carrying amounts Fair values
SREE AREE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023 20245 20235
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT AR¥ TR ARETT
Financial assets cREE
Deposits, non-current portion BZe GERBH) 149,475 104,551 127,304 90,096
Financial liabilities EWERE
Interest-bearing bank loans and FTERITER R EAM
other borrowing (other than e (R E B ERIN
lease liabilities), non-current (3ER ) 423,469 453,622 423,469 453,622
Other payable and accruals, HoAth JE 1 5018 K BT
non-current ERGERD) 24,496 18,257 20,632 14,784
Total “at 447,965 471,879 444,101 468,406
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

33 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted deposits, trade and bills receivables, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (current), trade and bills
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals (current),
interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings (current), approximate
to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables (non-current), financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals (non-current) and the non-current interest-bearing
bank loans and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (non-current),
and interest-bearing loans and other borrowings (non-current) as at 31

December 2024 and 2023 were assessed to be insignificant, respectively.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports directly
to the chief financial officer and the board of Directors. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer.

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank loans and other borrowings, restricted deposits and cash and cash
equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables and trade and other

payables, which arise directly from its operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors of the Company
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with a floating interest rate.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in RMB interest rate, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

MU KEREEEERBEK(E

AEHESRTAEANETZRARASF EE
R ERERNMTEMERR KAARES
SERELABEESEZERR (RT3 Ha)
R SR

M=EERE
AEEHBNTSMNXESEER T EEAKR

SHEEFERITIERER -

TREMEN GRS E R TEOER
FAKEGHBAFEHAREF LA ET
EEDHHBEERETLERNYE) -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in basis in profit
points before tax
2E i A0 R E
#n, R ) i Cr )
RMB’000
ARET T
2024 20244
RMB AR 100 (20,106)
RMB AR (100) 20,106
2023 20234
RMB AR 100 (15,829)
RMB AR (100) 15,829
Credit risk ERRK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is
the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is
not significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the functional
currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit
terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

AEBERERUEEERKINE=TT#
IS - AEBENBRATE  FIERRER
FRETRINEF HEARXERRE
BF - Wi AEBKBEERERKKAS
e TEEHERNERER - HRARMN
HAKLEERNIEESAENRS &
AREEEHIENRFRILET  AEH
TERHEEREK -
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31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES MBKEBREREERBEK(E
AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BRERREEREE
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to TRINRRZANBERANE EEABE(E
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past EZERBHEN KRIEBEFTNEILED
due information unless other information is available without undue cost or BN BN ] 1S Bt B A A R F R
effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. BorEmEREEREARBRREAMO -
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. FrElleAeMEENMKREE -
As at 31 December 2024 12024512 A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 7 1
EREX 2HREHEREX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—ER EER EZER Rl p7s @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR%T:n

Trade receivables* B 5 U IR — — — 391,494 391,494
Bills receivable e 26,406 — — — 26,406
Financial assets included in STABERNHIE - EAty

prepayments, other receivables JE WO IE 2 EoA

and other assets EEMSREE

- Normal** — [ 164,386 = — — 164,386
Restricted deposits RBRHFER

—~Not yet past due — A AR 8 Hf 50,490 — - - 50,490
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkHRLEEN

~Not yet past due —mABH 205,394 - - - 205,394
Total Mgt 446,676 - — 391,494 838,170
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31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES M KRAREEEERBRE(Z
AND POLICIES (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BABEBREERRE)
As at 31 December 2023 72023%F12A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 AFEH
EREX HEBEREL
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-BE& FRR FoRE 5k b Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL ARNMTT ARETn ARNTR ARETR

Trade receivables* B 5 R MGIE" — - 359,289 359,289
Bills receivable eSS 34913 — — — 34913
Financial assets included in STABERNHIE - Eftr
prepayments, other receivables JE WA 2 EoA
and other assets BENEREE
— Normal** —EE* 115294 — — — 115294
Restricted deposits XRHFER
— Not yet past due — MR 73,128 — — — 73128
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkB2EEN
— Not yet past due — AR 200,760 — — — 200,760
Total gt 424095 — — 359,289 783,384
*  For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for * BAEBEERBEGLCITENESERNKIE
impairment, information based on the provision matrix and exposure to credit imE - EREEERERERRRMRANE
risk is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements. 7 B 7 SR 2R BT T 184 BB o
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits »* REAEMNRIE ReREMERRENS
and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due MEEMS  MEEYREGH  BREER
and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant BATEREENERARRE VIR ERARE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the Z1m - EEREERHEAIESE] - BAI -
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. CREENEREEREAIFR] -
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk ERASBEHRENESIBERREEENE
arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 18 to the financial AR B EAE 2 SR ER Y BRI
statements. 718 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES MU BRAREEEERBEE

AND POLICIES (continued)

7 B 1 L B

AEEEERETRORS R IEREEN
WEERBES BN - A EEEREE
BE SR E MRS REARE S IR
HEEASER -

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its
liquidity requirements. The Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of funds generated from operations and alternative
funding resources from equity and debt.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of each of

AEEERABERERETHEAREREGLH
AR AR B EE R T :

the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is
as follows:

296

At 31 December 2024 72024512 A31H
2024
204F
Less than
On demand 1year 1to2years 2t03 years 3to5years Over 5 years Total
REX £k -ERE WEZE SEEE BENE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Group A5H AE®TR  AR®TR  ARMTn  ARETz  ARETr  AR®Tn  ARETR
Trade and bils payables BHRATERENZE 9,839 379,428 - - - - 389,267
Finandial abities included i~ TAEMERZER
other payables and accruals N ERNEREAR - 121,739 8,809 8173 7514 = 146,235
Lease liabilties HERR - 610,960 423,351 296,549 189,762 = 1,520,622
Interest-bearing bankloansand ~~ #F 8 BTEH R EffEH
other borrowings (excluding (TRERERRE)
lease lablties) = 346,094 227,495 143,723 66,461 12,391 796,164
Total @i 9,839 1,458,221 659,655 448,445 263,737 12,391 2,852,288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

31 December 2024 20244 12H31H

MU KEREEEERBEK(E

Liquidity risk (continued) B RS (F)
At 31 December 2023 R2023512A31H
2073
13F
Less than
On demand 1 year 1102 years 2t03years 3to5years Over 5 years Total
BEX —ER —EmE ME=F “ERf ik it
RMB1000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000
Group A5E ARETT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETz  ARETT  AREfR  ARETR
Trade and bills payabls BFRNAERENZE 13583 293087 = = = = 306670
Financial fabilties includedin ~ FTA M ERTFAIE R S
other payables and accruals ERNSRAR = 125802 5465 351 9260 = 144058
Lease liabiltes HEAR - 493,145 308754 175940 %,1% 690 1074725
Interest-bearing bank loansand 718 R{TE R Al
other borrowings (excluding (TREREAE)
lease liabilities) — 271836 233559 130,039 115,566 11,122 762122
Total @i 13583 1183870 547,778 309510 21022 11812 2087575
Capital management EXrERE

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. In the opinion of the directors, the Group
had operation profits and unutilised facilities of approximately RMB2,603.6
million as at 31 December 2024. Capital risk is not significant for the Group
and measurement of capital management is not a tool currently used in the
internal management reporting procedures of Group.

AEBEAEENTIEZERRREAEH
MRFELENREN AREFERNVER
R AXFHFEEBLERREERAL -

AREBEEERHEAERE URKCEBLY
PREBREENRRESBIELRE - A#
B ABRERERE ASEAUREARRRKR
HRFEMRESE  MRERESAKHE
THFBRG - NREETZERINDIE N E
RBEELY - EERA - NEBER20245F12
AIBBEELEFERARBARENARKE
26036B BT © EANE ¥ AL E M E LA
EX BAIBEARAEENRNEEBRRER
FHEREREREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES B BEAREEEERBE(E
AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued) EXEHE(E)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is calculated based AREEFRERLEEREZER HERELEX
on total interest bearing borrowings as of the end of each year divided RBEESEFANGEEREERAEBEZER
by total equity as of the same date. The gearing ratios as at the end of the AR ARG E BEREHARANER
reporting periods were as follows: 5z IS
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARKET T

Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings &1 2 $R1TE 3k & E M & 5K 2,010,605 1,582,858
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BREREARBEEANER 1,178,750 1,076,789
Gearing ratio B = 170.6% 147.0%
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35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the

end of the reporting period is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %

R B ERR M

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

35 2B B 5k O 3R

ARBRBMEMERNFBEARRKREHDOT

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T ARKET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 849,300 885,326
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 963,493 1,058,858
Intangible assets EREE 14,278 3,422
Investments in subsidiaries RFRARIKIZE 110,586 91,086
Investments in associates REE RFNEKE 12,334 10,802
Deposits birgoia 109,777 104,551
Deferred tax assets BELEFTISTHEE 3,693 4,159
Total non-current assets IRBEEEH 2,063,461 2,158,204
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories U= 80,361 88,069
Trade and bills receivables B 5 R GRIE K EWRE R 462,177 336,300
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR RIE - ke & H M E W RIE 59,485 91,249
Restricted deposits PR #Il 1 3X 50,490 73,128
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRESEEY 162,261 198,832
Total current assets MEBEEAR 814,774 788,078
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables B 5 EN B R BN ER 312,276 297,601
Other payables and accruals HMENRERETER 102,448 113,696
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings 578 R 1T E 3% & EAb {8 5K 547,143 608,133
Tax payable R E 1,932 639
Total current liabilities mENBEEE 963,799 1,020,069
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEFEHE (149,025) (231,991)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRDAMR 1,914,436 1,926,213
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

31 December 2024 20244 12A31H

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35 KD R BB RREK(E)

COMPANY (continued)
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkRBEE
Interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings STRIBTER K EMER 775,211 847441
Other payables and accruals HMENRERESER 24,496 18,256
Total non-current liabilities ERBEESFT 799,707 865,697
NET ASSETS REE 1,114,729 1,060,516
EQUITY Ew
Equity attributable to owners of the Company EENARREE ANER
Share capital A& s 87,006 87,006
Reserves (note) 1 8 (B ) 1,017,527 973,510
Proposed dividend BZERE 10,196 —
Total equity AT 1,114,729 1,060,516
Hou Zekuan Ma Li
BRER BE
Director Director
EF Ea
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR R MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 35 KD B MR R KR (ZE

COMPANY (continued)
Note: Bt 5
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RABIREEBRRT :
Company AAT
Statutory
Share Capital surplus Retained
premium reserve reserve profit Total
B35 E BADE EEBHLE BEFE i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®BTrT ARKETRT ARETRT AR®BTR
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A18 K
R 545,274 512 25,780 230,055 801,621
Profit for the year FRFHE — — - 28,815 28,815
Issuance of ordinary shares relating to IPO Bt & IR ABI 3 &
BITEAK 156,279 — — — 156,279
Share issue expenses R BEITHRS (13,205) — - — (13,205)
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BRELATRH
N — — 2,882 (2,882) —
At 31 December 2023 and R20235F12H318 Kk
1 January 2024 202451 A1 688,348 512 28,662 255,988 973,510
Profit for the year FRH — — - 54,213 54,213
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve EE L TE A
N - - 5,421 (5,421) =
Proposed final 2024 dividend B304 K H
Ba — — — (10,196) (10,196)
At 31 December 2024 2024412 4318 688,348 512 34,083 294,584 1,017,527

36 APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of Directors on 19 March 2025.

36 #tE B HRK

B HRERBEETGN2025F3H190R#L/E T K
RET % -
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DEFINITIONS

In this annual report, the following expressions have the meanings set out below R AFERERN B X E B BFTEI 0 THFH

unless the context otherwise requires:

"AGM"
ERBFRE]

"Audit Committee”
[EzZEgl

"Auditors”
[% SR

“B2B"
[B28J

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

Exg]

“CG Code"
[ X885

“China” or “the PRC"

=

"o

“Company”, “the Company”
or “our Company”

RN ANCIN

“Controlling Shareholder(s)"

[ B B 3R

"Director(s)”

[E =]

“Forklift”

[XE]

FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B BAET R 3 B PR A =)

EABUTESE:

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, June 13,
2025
KRB R2025F6 ABE(EHR) BITNEERRBEFAS

the audit committee of the Board

EFgE%%Ee

Ernst & Young
2K G A E P

business-to-business
EHME

board of directors of the Company

ARREFS

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
FHARAIMEQE2B O AE B EE ST

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purposes of this annual report, Hong
Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China and
Taiwan

PEARKNE REAFEREMS  TEESE  PEARARMBERPM
FRITTIRR & & E i 2

FOLANGSI CO, LTD (& N % 87 H7 % 19 B IR 2 &) (formerly known as Guangzhou
Folangsi Machinery Co,, Ltd. (& M 3 BA H7 # #% 5 PR 2 &))), a limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC on December 5, 2007 which was converted into a joint stock
company with limited liability on November 25, 2016 and listed on the Stock Exchange
on November 10, 2023 (Stock code: 2499)

JE& )1 155 BA BT % 1 B PR 7 &) (AT A8 B M 8 BA HT # A B BR 2 B1) - — R 720074F 12
AsBEFRBEEMERZHARAR - R2016F11 A2sB K ARHER AR &
FR2023 511 A10 B TEBE 32 AT BT (BR 49 AR 5% - 2499)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and in the context of this annual
report, refers to the controlling shareholders of our Company, namely Mr. Hou Zekuan,
Mr. Hou Zebing and Guangzhou Daze
AEFmRAETHOREREAFERSEM S - BARRIERKR(BIEZ
RAEA - FEEEEREMNESE)

director(s) of the Company
KARIES

an industrial equipment with a metal fork platform attached to its front that can be
used to lift heavy loads by inserting the fork platform under cargo, pallets, or machines
for moving them or placing them in warehouses, production sites, distribution centers
and other scenarios

—BIXRXRE A EEEeBXEe FRAAKIXEEAEY TR
WETHREAEY UNEEEE £ERS EXFLMAMSRTE
BN EEY



“GDP"
[GDP]J

"Global Offering”

(2 E]

“Group”, “the Group”,

“our Group”, “we”,
“s” or “our”

[ SRE 3 3R]

“Guangzhou Daze”
[ i 2

“H Share(s)"

[H A% ]

"HKFRS"

[FEMBRSER

“Hong Kong”
[&E]

“Hong Kong dollars”
or "HKS"
(%7l

“intralogistics equipment”

[15 N ¥ i 5% 5 )

“loT”
[ Bt 48

“Listing Date”

[ETHEE

DEFINITIONS

gross domestic product

BANLtEALE

an offering of 12,136,000 H Shares, comprising a final Hong Kong public offering of
1,213,600 H Shares and a final international public offering of 10,922,400 H Shares

B 812136 000/ HAR - BIE RS B QB 512136000 HKR K & & BB L
7 B 510,922,400 % H %

the Company and all of its subsidiaries, or any one of them as the context may require

ARBREMBEFRARARENEMREEEREMN—RQF

Guangzhou Daze Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) ( & M Z 2 1% B &
B HE(ERAE)), alimited partnership established under the laws of the PRC on
August 16, 2011 and one of the Controlling Shareholders
BMEEREGRLEERAR) —KPR20NFsHI6EREHBEEEK
YHEREBRLERIERRE 2—

overseas listed foreign ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a
nominal value of RMBO0.25 each, subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong dollars and
listed on the Stock Exchange
RARBRAFEFREEARBEOTHFEIINLETIIEL B  ABTREX
BEIWRBR EH

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
HE B RS ER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEBEBRENITRE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B BREEER

an industrial machinery used to replace intensive labor in mechanical work, such as
carrying, moving, sorting, and stacking of cargo and heavy loads, in manufacturing
plants, logistics parks, warehouses, airports, ports, and other similar worksites
LAMRREE RBIERE ARBEATELYEY  fIERETK -
mRER - 2E- #5 BOFHALIESHKRE RE DRARER
MR EYEERMAERE

internet of things, the network of physical objects that are embedded with sensors,
software, and other technologies for the purpose of connecting and exchanging data
with other devices and systems over the internet

MR RAERS  AGRHEMRTOHYEEREE  BBEHEEE
RN R E N R EUE

November 10, 2023, the date on which the H Shares of the Company were listed on the
Stock Exchange
2023F 11 A10H - AR B HARER R P £ EY A 5
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“Listing Rules”
[ 7 # 8l
“Main Board”

[ER]

“Model Code”

[ 2% <7 A1l
“Nichiyu (Shanghai)”
MEE(LES)]

“Prospectus”

[ ER]

“Reporting Period”
[k & 57 ]

“RMB”
AR

“Share(s)"
A% 5]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ ]

“Stock Exchange”
['B6 22 P |

“Supervisor(s)”

(855
“Unlisted Share(s)"
[FE ET AR 7]

“U.S. dollars” or “USS”
E

0"

1%

FOLANGSI CO., LTD | B BAET R 3 B PR A =)

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

R P EE = E AR A (R ERT ~ MR AR T N E )

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operate in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange
BRXAEFNRERIA(TBERETS) B 0B R ATGEM B B X I
1TEE

the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
FHARAIMEGH S EHETAZTRTETEFRHNIRETA

Nichiyu Forklift (Shanghai) Co., Ltd* (/1 2 18 X B ( L&) A IR 2 7)), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company as at the date of this annual report

NEBXE(LBERQR RAFERSAHAR/REARRLZEFAA

the prospectus of the Company dated October 31, 2023
RNARB A A2023F10A3BMBRER

for the year ended December 31, 2024
BHE204FNANALEE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR®E  HBEDEEES

ordinary share(s) in the capital of our Company with a nominal value of RMB0.25 each,
including both Unlisted Shares and H Shares
ARARRAFEFREEARE2STTHEBR - BIEFF LM R M MHK

holder(s) of the Share(s)
RESTEUN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBARGABRAF

member(s) of the supervisory committee of the Company

ARRIEFEKE

ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of RMB0.25
each, which are not listed on any stock exchange

ARRBRATEREEARKTHERR  REEFEFRSA LT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

X XEREEER

per cent

Ba
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